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ABOUT
FRASERS GROUP

Founded as a single store in
1982, Frasers Group Plc (Frasers
Group, the Group, the business
or the Company)is today the
UK’s largest sporting goods
retailer by revenue.

The Group operates a ¢ d portfolio of sports

fit cmium lifestyle and luxury fascias in oy
count ) more than 30,000 colleggues

MISSION STATEMENT

TO SERVE OUR CONSUMERS WITH
THE WORLD'S BEST SPORTS,
PREMIUM AND LUXURY BRANDS.

BUSINESS ETHOS

OUR IMPACT
SINCE 2007

We became a listed public company in 2007. In
the years since we floated, the Group has greatly
contributed to the British economy. This includes:

£250m

Approx. £250m paid in stoff share bonuses

30,000

Have a workforce of approx. 30,000 people
Worldwide, approx. 22,000 of which are in the UK

£2,300m

Contributed approx. £2300m in VAT and Duty

£200m

Approx. £200m paid in sales commission
to retail bonuses

£700m

Contributed approx. £700m in UK Corporation Tax

£200m

Contributed approx, £200m in NI
employer contributions

GROUP
OUTLOOK

We are delighted to report a record-breaking
year for Frasers Group with an adjusted profit
before tax of £339.8m (FY21: loss £39.9m),
despite the significant economic headwinds and
well-chronicled challenges across the sector.

Qur Elevation strategy has remained laser focused,
and we have re-structured our team to execute

it with conviction. It is underpinned by our core
strengths and rock-solid foundations. Although the
backdrop remains challenging, this momentum
gives us the confidence of achieving an adjusted
profit before tax of between £450m and £500m for
the next financial year.



CONTENTS

01. HIGHLIGHTS AND
OVERVIEW

002  About Frasers Group
004 Group at a Glance
006  Financial Highlights

008  Strategic & Operational Highlights

02. STRATEGIC REPORT

010  Chair's Statement

012 Qur Business

014 Our Strategy

016 Key Performance Indicators

o018 CEO Report and Business Review
028 Financial Review

o1 Non-Financial Inforrmation

032 Workers Representative Report
033 ESG Report (Including TCFD)
048 5172 Statement

050  Principal Risks and Uncertginties
063  Viability Statement

03. GOVERNANCE

065 Corporate Governance Report
072 The Board

075 Nomination Committee Report
or7 Directors’' Remuneration Report
089  Audit Committee Report

095  Directors' Report

101 Directors' Responsibility Staternent

GROUP FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Independent Auditor's Report
to the Members of Frasers Group Plc.

Consolidated Income Statement

Consclidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Consolidated Cash Flow Staterment

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

Notes to the Financial Statements

COMPANY FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

Company Balance Sheet
Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Notes to the Company
Financial Statements

GLOSSARY

Consolidated Five Year Record and
Alternative Performance Measures

Company Directory

Shareholder Information




FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GROUP AT
A GLANCE

UK SPORTS RETAIL

55.0%

Total Group Revenue

£2,6401m

0.7%

UK Sports Retail includes core sports retail store
operations in the UK, plus all the Group's sports

retail online business [excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern
Mountain Sports and Sperts Direct Malaysia), the gyms,
SRL, the Group's Shirebrock campus operations, retail
store operations in Northern lreland, Evans Cycles and
GAME UK.

Qur store footprint is significant, with 808 stores across
the UK, totalling approximately 6.7m sq.ft. of retail
space. The majority of stores are operated under the
Sports Direct, USC, Evans Cycles and GAME fascias.

EUROPEAN RETAIL

16.4°%

Total Group Revenue

£790.2m

0.5%

European Retail includes all the Group's sports

and approximately 3.7m sq.ft.

During FY22, management continued to elevate
the Group's Euro stores and work to further
tailor the G g lue propositions to
our local mar




F

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

PREM'UM LIFESTYLE The Group's Premium Lifestyle division offers a broad range of clothing,

footwear and accessories from leading global contemporary and luxury
retail brands through eur fascias in the UK: FLANNELS, Cruise, van mildert,
House of Fraser, Sofa.com and Jack Wills along with their related websites.
22 o Total The majority of these fascias operate as multi-brand premium retail

.0 /0 Group Revenue destinations and are focused on providing fashion conscious consumers
with high-end and on trend products.

The segment is supported by our Group-wide centralised commercial and
support functions, giving the benefits of scale and operating efficiencies
to each fascia. The segment Is a significant part of the Group's new
generation retail concept and as such, in certain locations, Premium and
Lifestyle stores are co-located alongside our Sports retail stores to benefit
from increased customer footfall and operating synergies.

The total Premium Lifestyle store count is 179 stores and approximately
4.0m sq.ft. of retail space.

REST OF THE WORLD RETAIL
3.1% Group

Rest of World Retail includes sports and cutdoor retail stores in the US

under the Bob's Stores and Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their

carresponding e-commerce offerings. It alse includes the Group's retail

stores in Malaysia, under the Sports Direct fascio, and its corresponding £15° 3
e-commerce offering. Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and ~<m
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding e-commerce

offerings were disposed of,

As at the period end, the total Rest of World store count is 76 stores and
approximately 1.3m sq.ft. of retail space.

WHOLESALE & LICENSING

The Wholesale & Licensing segment operates our globally renowned

o Total heritage Group brands (such as Everlast, Lonsdale, Karrimor and

3-5 ,0 Group Revenue Slazenger) and our wholesale, licensing and distribution relationships
across the World, as well as our partnerships with third party brands that
we license-in to sell certain products.

The Group's own brands are managed both individually and centrally within
£1 68.1 m this segment. This unique, integrated approach to brand management
leverages the expertise of our people, encourages innovation, and

ensures consistency. :

0.7%
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

32.5%

Strong financial performance as we
recover from Covid-19, with Group revenue
up by 32.5%

Excluding ocquisitions and on a currency neutral basis,
revenue increased by 31.2% T

Premium Lifestyle revenue increased by
43.6%, largely due to new FLANNELS
stores, continued growth in online, and the
strong reopening of stores after the last
lockdown in March 2021

Excluding acauisitions, revenue increased by 43.3%;

Reported profit before

tax was £335.6m, up

3,848.2% from a profit

of £8.5m driven by the

strong reopening of

stores after lockdown,

new FLANNELS stores,

continued growth in online

in the Premium Lifestyle

segment, continued

operating efficiencies, FY21

including Covid-19 related

lockdowns and current

period property related

impairments of £227.0m Cash inflow from operating activities
compared to £317.0m increased to £628.9m compared to
in Fy21. £578.3m in the prior period

3,848.2%




UK Sports Retail revenue
increased by 34.1%,
largely due to the strong
reopening of stures after
the last lockdown in March
2021 and the comparative
period being impacted by
lockdowns as a result of
Covid-19

Excluding acquisitions, revenue
increased by 30.1%

£339.8m

£(39.9m)

Group adjusted PBT? increased to £339.8m
compared to a loss of £{39.9m) in the
prior period

Excluding acquisiticns and on o currency neutral basis,
Adjusted PBT * increased by £3%4.0m’
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28.4%

T

European Retail revenue increased by
28.4%, largely due to strong growth in
Ireland and the lockdowns experienced in
the prior year

Excluding acquisitions and on a currency neutral basis,
revenue increased by 33.4%

T

As at 24 April 2022 net assets increased to
£1,308.6m from £1,211.0m at 25 April 2021
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STRATEGIC AND
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

FURTTRIER GROWTH

Further growth of our key brand partner relationships, alongside establishing new and innovative brand partners

& BOSS

OUR
EEEVAIO/N
STNATIEG)Y
HAS COME

TO LIFE
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MISSGUIDED  studio

UNE@CI
NEW E-COMMERCE

CAPABILITIES

Strategic acquisitions, including Missguided (post period end) and Studio Retail (SRLY, enable the
Group to unlock new e-commerce capabilities and access a wider customer base

MPROVED  £980m
THEDIGITAL .o

which now stands at £980m

CONSUMER
EXPERIENCE /198.2m

Significantly improved the digital consurmer experience across Returned £193.2m to shareholders through a
all touchpoints within the Group significant share buy back program

HUGO BOSS

Supported our strategic brand partner Hugo Boss AG, with an increased
investment reflecting our growing relationship and confidence in the brand's future
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CHAIR'S STATEMENT

CEO Appointment

Earlier this year, Michael Murray transitioned into

the role of Chief Executive of Frasers Group and was
formally appointed on 1 May 2022, With Michael's
leadership, we remain laser focused on the growth of
the business, through keeping up the momentum of our
Elevation strategy, investing in our people and building
out the proposition for brands.

Michael has set out a clear vision for the business -

to provide consumers with access to the World's best
sports, premium and luxury brands by providing a
World-leading retail ecosystem, and through that, he
has significantly improved our relationships with our key
brand partners and grown our presence across the UK
and Europe, through the development of our

store portfolio.

With the Group's new leadership, and a clear direction,
Michael continues to redefine the culture, employee
value proposition and strategy of Frasers Group, which
all contribute to the efficiency of the business and our
strong performance.

Business Performance and
Financial Highlights

We are pleased that our business has performed

above expectations since stores reopened in March
2021, following the final period of closure due to the
Covid-19 pandemic. We are a cash generative business
which enables us to continue to invest in our strategies
and withstand some of the pressures and impact of

the pandemic, Brexit, global supply chain challenges
and political and economic uncertainty at home and
abroad. Notwithstanding our business resilience, these
macro-economic factors have contributed to our
canservative judgements and estimates, leading to some
significant non-cash accounting impairments of £232.7m
(FY21: £326.1m) to our asset base, further details can be
found in notes 2, 17, 18 and 19.

+ Revenue increased to £4,805.3m (FY21: £3,625.3m)
» Profit Before Tax increased to £335.6m (FY21: £8.5m})

» Adjusted PBT increased to a profit of £339.8m
(FY21: loss £39.9m)

- Net assets at FY22 £1,308.6m (FY21: £1,211.0m)
Looking forward, we will continue to invest in the high
street alongside our online and digital capabilities.

Following the success of the business's first Sports Direct
flagship on London's Oxford Street, which opened to

great acclaim last June, we recently opened our second
Sports Direct flagship store in Birmingham - further
demonstrating the strength of our elevated consumer
experience, and the direction of the Sports Direct brand.

The FLANNELS business continues to perform
exceptionally well and we are excited about the recent
opening of our 120,000 sq. ft. FLANNELS flagship store
in Liverpool. The store is our largest store opening to
date and saw an impressive investment of approx. £30m
from the business. Our expansion plans for FLANNELS
are crucial to the on-going success of the luxury side

of the business and through our new brand vision to
become the leading destination for new luxury, we are
delighted to be expanding into new markets and new
locations throughout the UK and Europe, including the
expansion into Ireland with openings planned for Dublin,
Blanchardstown and Cork,

Acquisitions

We continue to see opportunities that strengthen Frasers
Group's brand proposition and our recent acquisitions of
Studio Retail Limited (with its significant knowledge and
experience in consumer credit) during FY22. Missguided
and | Saw [t First {with their focus on womenswear and
its digital platforms} subsequent to the period end are
examples of our drive to expand and acquire businesses
and brands that can strengthen the Group, and our
connection to our consumers.

Operations

We are continually developing our automation
capabilities in our Shirebrook distribution facility,
including the launch of a Dematic Shuttle machine
which covers a floor plate of 200,000 sq. ft and
increasing the size of our AutoStore facility, which was
already the biggest in Europe. In the second half of the
financial year, we completed the purchase of land in
Bitburg, Germany, where we have plans for a significant
distribution centre which will service mainland Europe
from both a store and digital perspective.

Our People
Our people are the key asset to the business.

Under Michael Murray’s ieadership, the management
tearn has been strengthened. The business has created
several new roles including the additions of a Managing
Director of Sports, Ger Wright (formerly a Nike Executive),
and a Managing Director of Luxury and Premium, David
Epstein. Alongside the management team, we will look
to support the business by adding relevant talent and
expertise to the Board when appropriate.



This year the Group will receive its third annual intake of
highly talented individuals into the Elevation Programme.
The programme is aimed at high potential graduates
seeking a career in commercial management, and

we have twenty-six (FY20: twenty-seven and FY21:
twenty-five} young, ambitious new joiners who started
in September 2022, Over the past three years, we

have been monitoring the success and benefits of the
Elevation Programme and are pleased to confirm that
we will be rolling out the scheme across our finance
department, which has seen five gradugtes start in
August 2022.

Sustainability

Sustainability and Elevation go hand in hand and

both ore important priorities for the Group and its
stakeholders. We have built a Sustainability Team
structure within the organisation with our CFO

Chris Wootton as the executive sponsor, There are
Sustainability Champions across the business and
hundreds of dedicated people across our stores who
are responsible for helping deliver against our priorities.

We have set ourselves targets to reduce emissions and
single use plastic, and improve our waste management
and recycling. We now offer a carbon neutral delivery
option on the web.

We have outperformed our target of a 10% reduction
in our UK stores energy usage, achieving a reduction
of 15%. More detail of our various achievements and
targets can be found in the ESG Report on page 33.

This is the first year of Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures {TCFD). During the year we have
worked closely with expert external advisors to enhance
our understanding of the potential impact of climate
change on Frasers Group and to inform our future
strategy risk management approach and the metric and
targets we will use to monitor our progress, The TCFD
section can be found in the ESG report

on page 40.

Refinancing

In our Half Year reporting we noted the successful
refinance of our Group facility whereby we have access
to a combined term loan and revolving credit facility
(RCF) of £930.0m for a period of three years, with the
possibility to extend this by a further 2 years. This facility
has increased in size to £980.0m since then. We believe
this is a great endorsement for the business and our
Elevation strategy and | want to say thank you to our
banking partners for their support.

Disposals

Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountgin Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of for
consideration of $70m. The Bobs and EMS store estate
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does not include any of the new elevated stores which
are core to the FG Elevation strategy. The disposal of
these non-core businesses allows Frasers Group to have
on even greater focus on delivering its Elevation strategy
by focusing on store experience, digital and product. The
board of Frasers Group is grateful to staff in Bobs and
EMS for their loyal service and wishes these businesses
every success for the future,

The Group disposed of a number of freehold and
long leasehold retail parks held by its wholly owned
subsidiaries post pericd end for o total of £205m.
Frasers Group fascios will operate from leases within
these properties where appropriate. Frasers Group in
the ordinary course of business purchases and sells
properties from time to time.

Outlook

Under Michael Murray's direction and leadership, we are
confident the Group is well positioned for a successful
year ahead.

Relationships with our key brand partners are better
than they have ever been, and we will continue to invest
in supporting and growing these relationships.

The business cannat overlook the many significant
economic factors which are headwinds on the business,
including challenges with supply chain, increased energy
costs and cost of living - these factors could have an
impact on business potential.

However, we look forward to growing the business both
organically and through acquisitions, to ensure we
remain a market leader globally. We believe the growth
factors will mitigate these headwinds and we will be
looking to grow our Adjusted PBT to between £450m
and £500m in FY23.

Dividend and Share Buybacks

The Board has decided not to pay a final dividend in
relation to FY22 (FY21 £nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility and facilitate
future investments and other growth opportunities. The
payment of dividends remains under review.

Our share buyback programme during the year has
continued which is a demonstration of our commitment
to shareholder returns, our confidence in the Company
and the strategy for future growth.

David Daly
Non-Executive Chair of the Board
20 September 2022
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OUR BUSINESS

Business Model

Founded as a single Store in Moidenhead in 1982,
Frasers Group Plc today operates a diversified portfolio
of sports, fitness, premium lifestyle and luxury store
fascias. The Group's colleagues work together with our
suppliers and our third-party brand partners to serve
customers in over 20 countries. The Group aspires to

be an international leader in sports, lifestyle and luxury
retail. The Board is committed to treating all people with
dignity and respect. We value our people, our customers
and our shareholders and we strive to adopt good
practices in our corporate dealings. We aim to deliver
shareholder value over the medium to long term, whilst
adopting accounting principles that are conservative,
consistent and simple. Our strategy is set out in the ‘Our
Strategy — To build the World's most compelling brand
ecosystem’ section of this report.

Our business model remains consistent in providing
customers with the World's best brands. This requires

us to have the right product, in the right place, at the
right time and at the right price. Our vision is to become
the elevated, multi-channel platform for our Sports
Retail and Premium Lifestyle fascias. To this end, we are
elevating across all channels to enhance the customer
journey every step of the way.

The Group's business model is explained in greater
detail below. This includes an outline of our fascias and
retail channels, management of our property portfolio,
our people, our third-party brand partners, our Group
brands and our centralised support functions.

Business Structure

The Group is structured across five business segments:
UK Sports Retail, Premium Lifestyle, European Retail,
Rest of World Retail and Wholesale & Licensing.

In UK Sports Retai, we offer a complete range of
sporting apparei, footwear and equipment through our
predominant fascig, Sports Direct. This segment also
includes our lifestyle fascia USC. Our current forward-
looking view is that the majority of our offering to
customers must include leading third-party brands.

The elevation of our sports retail proposition is key to
ensuring we are fully aligned with the future direction
and ambitions of these brand partners. UK Sports
Retail includes core sports retail store operations in the
UK, plus ali the Group's sports retail online business
{excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern Mountain Sports and
Sports Direct Malaysia), the gyms, SRL, the Group's
Shirebrook campus operations, retail store operations in
Northern Ireland, Evans Cycles and the GAME UK stores
and oriline business.

In Premium Lifestyle, we are developing the Group's
premium and luxury offering, which consists of the
FLANNELS, Frasers, House of Fraser, Jack Wills and
Sofa.com fascias, along with Cruise and van mildert. We
aim to offer fashion-conscious consumers a luxurious,
multi-brand retail destination with high-end and
on-trend products.

In European Retail, we are evolving our customer
proposition in line with the Elevation strategy, while also
seeking to increasingly tailor our proposition to the local
markets in which we operate. These include the Republic
of Ireland and continental Europe.

in Rest of World Retail, we operate stores trading as
Bob's Stores and Eastern Mountain Sports and we

also have stores trading as Sports Direct in Malaysia.
Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of, further detail
can be found in note 16.

In Wholesale & Licensing, the Group retains a portfolio
of World-famous heritage brands, which we offer via
our fascias, and also wholesale and license to partners
internationally. Our own brands include Everlast,
Lonsddle, Karrimor and Slazenger. The Group is also
proud to have a number of sporting and entertainment
personalities as ambassadors, as well as supporting
sporting events.

Multi-Channel Elevation strategy

QOur Elevation strategy continues to work towards
improving our offering to customers across all our
channels, including marketing, social media, praduct,
digital and in-store. This aims to enable the Company,
along with our third-party brand partners, to connect
with customers via a consistent voice across multiple
platforms, including online, mobile and on the high
street. This strategy enables our stores and our online
operations to complement each other.

The websites for each of our core fascias in the UK,
including SPORTSDIRECT.com, USC.co.uk, FLANNELS.
com, Houseoffraser.co.uk and GAME.co.uk, have
undergone significant enhancements to facilitate
optimum appeal to consumers. Our product offering
across these core fascias, both in-store and online,
aims to create a compelling shopping experience in
key categories that include, omongst others, football,
women's, kids, running, cycling, lifestyle, fashion, luxury
and gaming.



We offer product across a range of price points,
including good, better and best. This enables us to

offer more premium products, which is net-new to

the business. This gives consumers a greater range

of choices for those who wish to shop for premium
products, whilst still retaining our criginal entry-level and
continuity product offerings.

Progression of the Elevated Store Model

The Group remains firmly committed to the Elevation
strategy across fascias and territories building on the
momentum gained over recent years.

For Sports Direct, the beginning of the financial period
welcomed the opening of the Oxford Street, London
flagship store following a significant refurbishment.
This store showcases the elevated flagship concept in
one of Europe's most iconic retailing destinations. A
further flagship Sports Direct store was opened after
the financial period end in Birmingham city centre,
and additional markets are being explored to deliver
equivalent flagship stores.

To complement the elevated Sports Direct concept,
store-in-store models continue to be refined for our
Evans Cycles and GAME fascia's providing a more
diverse offer in-store.

A significant milestone aver the period was the first
FLANNELS flagship store opening in Sheffield, with
this large format incorporating new categories such as
beauty and food & beverage. After the period end, the
FLANNELS flagship concept reached new heights with
the opening of the largest FLANNELS store to date

in Liverpool, covering 120,000 sq ft over seven floors.
The new store introduces new experiences such as the
boutique fitness brand Barry's Bootcamp.

Post period end a new Jack Wills concept store was
launched in Derby. To complement this new concept a
store-in-store model has also been developed, having
been launched in selected USC locations.

Finally, a new Everlast Gym concept was delivered in
Denton, Manchester. This elevated concept sets the
new standard for the division, with more sites to follow,

Our People

The Group's policy is to treat all our people with dignity
and respect. Frasers Group colleagues work together
across all areas of the business and we are proud that
Frasers Group Plc is one of the first public companies

in the UK to make an elected Workers' Representative

da Board member, We welcome all new colleagues into
the Group following the acquisitions in the year and post
period end and those who joined us through the Frasers
Group Elevation Programme as well as all other

new recruits.
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Remuneration and Rewards

Our policy is to foster a reward-based culture that
enables our colleagues to share in the success of the
Group. It is Company policy to pay above the statutory
National Minimum Wage, including rates that are
above the statutory National Living Wage for those
over 23 years of age in the UK. In addition to this, in the
current period the Group paid awards and incentives of
approximately £15.0m, from which both permanent and
casual colleagues benefitted.

Qur Fearless 1000 share scheme will result in 1,000 of our
Fearless colleagues, who live and breathe our values -
thinking without limits and take the team with you, don't
hesitate and act with purpose and own it and back
yourself - being eligible to receive share bonuses ranging
from £50k right up to £1m, if the share price is at £10 at
the vesting dates. See note 25 for further details.

Workers' Representative

The Frasers Group Workers' Representative is Cally
Price, a Manager at our Cardiff Bay store. The Workers'
Representative has a unique insight into the Group

and will speak on behalf of the Group's workforce at all
scheduled meetings of the Board, in order to facilitate a
healthy and constructive dialogue.

Colleague Engagement

In addition to the Workers Representative, the Company
has an ongoing dialogue with colleagues vio an
initiative called "Your Company, Your Voice.' This is a
system whereby colleagues are able to raise any issues
of their choosing via a number of different routes, both
physical and digital. This feedback is passed to senior
management and the Workers' Representative for
review and appropriate action.

Our Global Third-Party Brand Partners

We work with our leading third-party global brand
partners and provide significant prominence for them
with our customers across all our platforms.

Our third-party and Group brands are managed by
central brand and marketing teams. This centralised
structure significantly benefits the Group by enabling
the individual brands to participote in Group buying
and sourcing; aggregated supplier relotionships and
enhanced supply chain disciplines; Group inventory
monitoring and replenishment; and more inspired and
harmenious visual merchandising in-store.
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OUR STRATEGY

Frasers Group believes in the power of brands. We serve
them, nurture them, and invent them. Today more than
ever, the World looks to Brands for ideas, inspiration
and meaningful change, crexating value for people and
elevating the everyday.

Cur strategy is aligned to this purpose and is based on
three interconnected focus pillars - the brands we sell,
our digital offering and cur physical stores. These are
supported by a set of enablers, focused on our people,
systemns, automation ond data. By continuing to elevate
our performance across all areas of our strategy, we will
achieve our vision: to build the World's most compelling
brand ecosystem.

TO

BUILD

THE
WORLD'S
MOST
COMPELLING
B RIAIND
EC@SHSEN




Strategy

Key Achievements in FY22

Priorities for FY23

Brands

Qur customers look to brands to elevate their
everyday. They want to have the choice of the
World's best brands, whether in sports, lifestyle or
luxury. Accessibility is essential for our success. To
achieve our vision, we focus on building exceilent
relationships with our brand partners, unlocking
the best talent and product.

This powerful brand offering is supported by our
complementary range of own brands, where we
aim to offer unrivalled choice and value, and
drive growth through meaningful partnerships
and brand collaborations. We will continue

to consider strategic acquisitions that bring
ottractive brands into the Group.

During FY22, our achievements included:

Further growing our relationships with key
brand partners, such as Nike, adidas, Gucci,
Balenciaga, Mulberry and Hugo Bess, and
establishing new, innovative brand partners
such as Hermes Beauty, On Running

and Jacquemus.

Suppotting our key strotegic brand partrer,
Hugo Boss AG, with an increased Strategic

Investment, reflecting our growing relationship,

our confidence in its future ond the potentiol
for synergies between our businesses.

During FY23, our priorities are to:

+  Continue to nurture and strengthen our brand

partner relationships and further improve our
access to their best product and talent.

+  Invest in and grow our own-brand portfolic, to

ensure they remain relevant to consumers and
pioneer the market.

«  Invest in the best tedent for our businesses, so

that cur partners continue to have consistent
and effective communication, to ensure that
they have clear insight into the businesses’
strategic goals.

Digital
‘We aim to elevate our digital experience to meet

the demands of consumeres and brands and offer
an outstanding experience.

Through our digital Elevation strategy, we

are continuing to invest more than £100m to
elevate our proposition ocross our channetls. This
investment has and will further build on our core
digital foundations, to support future growth
and agility.

A key focus remains our onfine customer
experience, which includes investment into
platforms that will reinvent engagement, data,
morketing and customer service,

During FY22, our achievermnents included:

Significantly improving the digital consumer
experience across all touchpoints within the
Group.

Investing and working alongside industry
leaders, ensuring our web business has
remained relevant with strong performance.

Integrated 360 marketing initiatives to
demonstrate a cohesive and better reflecting
brand image for our fascia’s.

Durirng FY23, our priorities are to:

«  Continue to invest in cur online retail

capabilities, particularly on the luxury

side of the business, which will focus on
merchandising, brand adjacencies and visual
representation.

+ Pioneer our approach to digital marketing
through the latest trends and consumer
insights, to ensure we gre industry leaders
within this market.

+  Invest in our payment platform strategy.

Physical

The elevation and concept innovation of our
physical store portfolic is a fundamental part of
our Group-wide strategy.

Across our three pillars of Sports, Premium and

Luxury, we will continue to:

+  lnvest in new strategic locations and
acquisitions.

+ Elevate and improve our current estate,
particularly for Sports Direct.

+  Give consumers access to unrivalied luxury
destinations across the UK.

+  Invest in retail efficiencies which will improve
our operating, technology, and stock
capabilities.

During FY22, our achievernents included:

Qpening a series of our new-concept flogship
stores, including:

+  FLANNELS Sheffield and FLANNELS
Leicester, which also saw the delivery of
our first ever food & beverage concepts
and the launch of
FLANNELS Beauty.

+  Sports Direct Birmingham New Street

Continuing to open new location stores
across UK and Europe, including Brighton,
Southampton, and Hertfordshire.

Significantly investing in our flagship
FLANNELS Liverpool on Parker Street, which
opened to great acclaim in

June 2022,

Committing to over 500,000 sq. ft of vacant
retail space in the Irish market with recent
store openings in Derry, Cork,

and Galway.

Acquiring Boucher Retail Park in

Northemn Ireland.

During FY23, our priorities are to:
»  Roll out new elevated stores across
the Group.

»  Invest in new concepts and retail partner
colloborations across key categories which
will focus on fitness, home, and beauty.

+  Develop and improve operational excellence
across our retail portfolio.

+  Progress the ongoing elevation and
improvement of our existing store portfolio.

«  Strategise and select key destinations across
Europe for exponsion,

Enablers

We need to have talented people who will
enable us to succeed, supported by training that
empowers them to achieve.

To attract new talent, we will continue to develop
our employer brand, while further improving
intermal communication to drive engagement
with existing colleagues.

We will also continue to invest in our systerns and

automation to enhance efficiency, and in our data
capabilities, so we can make data~driven decisions.

During FY22, our achievements included:

Doubling down on our investrent in people,
launching a new careers website, introducing
new roles and programmes focused on
learning ond development, reinvigorating our
retail pay rates and incentives and recruiting
over 60 new high-potential people into our
eorly careers programmes.

Connecting through regular communication
and videos, to create transparency with our
Leadership team.

Further investing in automation, now claiming
one of the largest auto stores in the World.
Enhancing data sharing with suppliers
through electronic data interchange {EDI),
improving management of stock and
streamlining supplier payment processes.

During FY23, our priorities are to:

»  Build out clear career pathways in our
Commercial function, to enable the growth
we need in this area over the coming years.

«  Continue to drive a high-performance culture,
with the introduction of more regular updates
and support around colleague performance.

«  Significantly expand our Retail development
offering,

» Launch a new internal comms and
engagement plotform to better connect
people across our business and share key
updates and successes.

+  Continue onboarding products and suppliers
onto EDI.

»  Capture customer data and insights through
growth in our digital business, digital
marketing and the roll-out of our loyalty
programme.



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board manages the Group's performance by reviewing a number of key performance indicators {KPls).
The KP!s are discussed in this Chief Executive's Report and Business Review, the Financial Review, the Environment
section and the '‘Our People’ section.

The table below summarises the Group's KPls.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 26 April 2020
Group revenue £4,8053m £3625.3m £39574m
Reported PBT £335.6m £8.5m £143.5m
Adjusted PBT™ £339.8m (E£39.9m) £115.9m
Cash flow from operating activities £6289m £578.3m £425.2m
Net assets £1,308.6m £1,21.0m £1,280.3m
Non-Financial KPls
Number of retail stores'? 1,552 1547 1534
Workforce turnover 38.3% 289% 28.6%
Packaging recycling®™ 14,405 tonnes 1,164 tonnes 12,358 tonnes

] Tre metnod for calcuating odjusted PBT is set out in note 4 and the Glossary

The Directors have adopted Alternative Performance

Measures {APM's). APMs should be considered in N ShBRT i or SPORTSLIREC  com ot on st 1 it GAMIE
addition to IFRS measures. The Directors believe and Sofa com roncessions

that Adjusted profit before tax {PBT) provide further Wl Goraboaia ana piastic recyling

useful information for shareholders on the underlying Management has taken this decision for the following
performance of the Group in addition to the reported reasons:

numbers, and are consistent with how business
performance is measured internally. They are not
recognised profit measures under IFRS and may not be
directly comparable with ‘adjusted’ or ‘alternative’ profit
measures used by other companies.

. with the continued significant investrment in and roll
out of our Elevation strategy, on both the physical
and digital fronts, the importance of depreciation
and amortisation to both the Board and our
stakeholders in terms of assessing performance has

From FY22 management changed the main reporting grown;

KPI from Underlying EBITDA to Adjusted PBT. Adjusted . ]
PBT is profit before tax less the effects of exceptional . oour und_erstarjdlng from a number °f financial
iterns, realised foreign exchange, fair value adjustments sectors including the banking sector is that

to derivative finonciol instruments included within f::ccour\'ting f_or IFRS 16 Leos.es is b‘ecomlng an
Finance income/costs, fair value gains/losses and profit increasingly important consideration; and

on disposal of equity derivatives, and share schemes. . with this new measure being introduced we are
This change has been reviewed by the Audit Committee trying to align with the Financial Reporting Council's
which has appropriately challenged management on thematic standpoint with regord to ‘alternative
the presentation and the adjusting items included in performance measures' as far as possible whilst
this APM. retaining a degree of interpretation given factors

outside of our control, such as FX and fair value
movements in our Strategic Investments which
are exceptionally difficult to forecast, particularly
months in advance.




Group Revenue

The Board considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of the Group's growth.

Reported Profit Before Tax

Reported PBT shows both the Group's trading and
operational efficiency, as well as the effects on the
Group of external factors as shown in the fair value
movements in Strategic investments and FX.

Adjusted Profit Before Tax

Adjusted PBT shows how well the Group is managing
its ongoing trading performance and controllable costs

and therefore the overall performance of the Group.

Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

Cash inflow from operating activities is considered
an important indicator for the Business of the cash
available for investment in the Elevation strategy.

Net Assets

The Beard considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of the Group's health.

Number of Retail Stores

The Board considers that this measure is an indicator
of the Group's growth. The Group's Elevation strategy
is replacing older stores and often this can result in the

closure of two or three stores, to be replaced by cne
larger new generation store,

Workforce Turnover

The Board considers that this measure is a key indicator
of the contentment of our people. for more details refer
to the retention section of the ‘Our People’ section of this

report.
Packaging Recycling

The Board considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of our impact and commitment to the best
environmental practices. for more details refer to the
environment section of this report.

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT AND
BUSINESS REVIEW

Clear Vision

We are accelerating our strategy to provide consumers
with access to the World's best sports, premium and
luxury brands by providing a World-leading retail
ecosystem. Aligned with this vision, we have defined the
Group's purpese:

To elevate the lives of the many by giving them access to the
World's best brands and experiences.

To deliver on this mission and purpose, and to maintain
the momentum created by the Elevation strategy, we
will continue to work closely with our key brand partners
such as Nike, Hugo Boss and Stone island, to align
plans. Our brand partnerships are deeper and stronger
than they have ever been in the Group's history. These
relationships will allow us to continue improving our
product offering and customer experience, by creating
the best platforms to enable our brands to succeed.
We are also redeveloping our sustainability strategy to
ensure we set ambitious targets and meet them in

the coming years,

Strategic Delivery

Our focus has been on executing our Elevation

strategy, with investments across our store portfolio,
brand partnerships and further innovations across our
operations. The strategic investments we made during
the year offer exciting new opportunities for Frasers
Group, whilst also supporting the long-term future of the
existing retail businesses, saving the jobs and

livelihoods of many.

Our recent acquisition of Studio Retail Limited provides
expertise and synergies which will enable us to deliver
flexible payment models in the future. Our post period
end acquisitions of the digital-first fashion brands
Missguided and | Saw It First allows us to unlock the
latest trends in women's fashion and e-commerce.

To strengthen our European expansion strategy,
subsequent to the period end we acquired the leading
Danish sport retailer SportMaster.

We will also continue to divest non-core assets that fall
outside our vison and key focus segments, such as our
post period end disposal of Bob's Stores and Eastern
Mountain Sports in America. Further details can be
found within note 16.

Increased PBT Guidance

We are alive to the challenging economic conditions at
present, with inflationary pressures and supply chain
disruption causing challenges for many businesses
operating in the retail sector. As well as the significant
increase in general running costs, we are fighting
against a fundamentally flawed business rates system
which is yet to be addressed. Linked to these are the
cost-of-living pressures facing many of our consumers.

As a result, we have been conservative in our forecasting
for the next financial year. However, with our proven
strategy and strong operational backbone, we are
confident of achieving a healthy growth to between
£450m and £500m of Adjusted PBT.

Store Openings

Qur Elevation strategy keeps exceeding our
expectations. Its strength is demonstroted by our recent
store openings of FLANNELS Liverpool and Sports
Direct Birmingham.

FLANNELS Liverpool is one of the largest luxury retail
investments in the UK to date. This revolutionary

seven floor, 120,000 sq. ft store in a historic building
brings a ground-breaking fashion, beauty, wellness

and restaurant experience to the North of England. it
boasts a leading collection of experiences including
boutique fitness phenomenon Barry’s Bootcamp, the
first ever of its kind in a retail environment. Our regional
flagships do not only benefit the physical environment,
but also allow us to bring in new categories and brands
that our consumers can access online through our
omnichannel platforms.

Sports Direct Birmingham follows our Oxford Street,
London, opening last summer. Both stores demonstrate
the pinnacle of our journey and showcase the strength
of our Elevation strategy. The consumer experience
has been enhanced at every stoge including digital
touchpoints, activations and integrations of other
group brands such as Evans, USC and GAME, giving
access to a wider variety of products and experiences.



Big Believers in Physical Retail

We have consistently criticised the archaic business rates
regime and the need for reform. Unfortunately, these
issues remain unaddressed and are now coupled with
soaring construction and store fit out costs, making

for an extremely challenging environment to open and
operate physical stores. While others have shied away
from committing to physical retail in these difficult times,
we are convinced that consumers will still flock to stores
for great brands and experiences. This belief has allowed
us to build remarkable momentum, bucking market
trends. We will continue to invest in new store openings,
refurbishments and flagship opportunities, to bring

the World's best brands and experiences to untapped
markets.

Digital and Operational Transformation

As part of our growth strategy, we are continually
innovating across our supply chain and logistics to
drive further efficiencies. At our Shirebrook site, home
to our distribution centre, we have invested over £200m
in automation. This makes us the biggest AutoStore in
Europe and vastly improves our digital capabilities.

This has provided us with significant operational
efficiencies and supported the smooth integration of
acquisitions into the Frasers Group platform, enabling
both our own brands and brand partners to benefit from
our World-leading operations and logistics capabilities.
At Shirebrook, we now have approximately 2 million sq,
ft of warehousing, which enables us to process up to 4
million units per week. This still leaves us with capacity
for further growth.

We have continued to iterate and improve across the
entirety of our Frasers Group platform. Most notably

we have trialled a new headless e-commerce platform
on our Malaysian site, with a view to roll-out across

the Group, This will be a transformative step for the
Group, allowing us to be more agite when entering new
territories or deploying changes to our technology stack.

Global Growth

We also have extensive ambitions to grow the business
outside of the UK and will be exploring the potential

for further international expansion through acquisitions,
joint ventures and organic openings. We have already
begun to expand our operational capabilities in Europe,
with a new development site in Bitburg, Germany set to
open in the coming years. This will have up to 2.4million
sqg. ft of warehouse and distribution space, handling
approximately 300 million units annually. This will
support our growth across continental Europe.
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Talent and Partners

To support the Group in executing our ambitious strategy,
I am proud to have built an excellent senior team made
up of outstanding talent, They are the driving force
behind the Group's ambitious culture, bringing together
dynamic, talented and motivated teams to drive
growth across the business. | have made it a priority

to strengthen Frasers Group's management team by
creating several new roles, Alongside the management
tearn, we will look to support the business by adding
relevant talent and expertise to the Board

when appropriate.

Finally, thank you to our people and partners for your
continued support. | am proud of the steps we have
taken this year in transforming the trajectory of Frasers
Group and look forward to another exciting year of
innovation, impact and growth.

Michael Murray
Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2022
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Performance Overview

Group revenue increased by 32.5% to £4,805.3m in

the year. UK Sports Retail revenue increased by 34.1%
to £2,640.1m, Premium Lifestyle revenue increased by
43.6% to £1,056.6m, European Retail revenue increased
by 28.4% to £790.2m, Rest of World Retail revenue
decreased by 1.6% to £150.3m and Wholesale &
Licensing revenue increased by 9.7% to £168.1m.

Group gross margin in the year has improved compared
with the prior year with a small increase of 130 basis
points from 42.2% to 43.5%. UK Sports Retoil margin
increased 100 basis points to 43.19% (FY21: 42.1%),
largely due to the continually improving product

mix. Premium Lifestyle's gross margin was 44.9%
(FY21:44.9%), consistent with the prior yeor as product
margins were maintained over the period. European
Retail gross margin increased to 42.7% (FY21: 39.0%),
largely due to continually improving product mix in

the core business. Rest of World Retail gross margin
increased to 51.0% (FY21: 41.9%), largely due to
decreased inventory provisions within the US businesses
as inventory management was significantly improved.
Wholesale & Licensing gross margin decreased to 37.5%
(FY21: 44.1%), largely due to product mix within the US
wholesale division.

Group Selling, distribution and administrative expenses
increased by 20.5% largely driven by increased store
costs due to the reopening of stores after lockdowns
due to the Covid-19 pandemic, no repeat of the prior
year Government support schemes such as CJRS
{Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme), business rates
relief in the prior year particularly in House of Fraser and
increased investment in marketing.

There were property related impairments in the period
totaling £227.0m (FY21: £317.0m), including £76.8m in
relation to right-of-use assets [FY21: £168.2m), £106.5m
in relation to freehold land and buildings (FY21: £84.4m),
£2.0m in relation to long-term leasehold (FY21: £3.9m),
£40.7m of other property, plant and equipment (FY21:
£59.9m) and £1.0m of investment properties (FY21:
£0.6m). Property related impairments have been
recognised following a reassessment of future expected
cash flows largely driven by supply chain issues, the
increased cost of living, the change in consumer
behaviour in moving from physical to online shopping,
the impact of direct-to-consumer and increasing costs
as a result of Brexit. Further details including sensitivity
analysis are included within note 2.

Depreciation and amortisation charges have decreased
by 15.4% to £260.0m (FY21: £307.5m) largely due to prior
period impairment and a decrease in freehold land and
buildings depreciation, following the change in useful
economic life estimate in the period. See accounting
policies for further details.

As a result, Adjusted PBT for the year was £339.8m (FY21:
loss £39.9m). Excluding acquisitions and on a currency
neutral basis, Adjusted PBT increased to £371.9m from

a loss of £22.1m. UK Sports Retail Adjusted PBT was
£196.9m up from a loss of £12.8m in FY21, while Premium
Lifestyle Adusted PBT was £10.5m, up from a loss of
£7.8m in FY21. European Retail Adjusted PBT was £88.6m,
up from a loss of £51.3m in FY21. Rest of World Retail
Adjusted PBT was £32.7m, up from £122m in FY21 and
Wholesale & Licensing Adjusted PBT decreased to £11.1m
from £19.8m.

Group profit before tax increased to £335.6m (FY21:
£8.5m), driven by the strong reopening of stores after
lockdown, new FLANNELS stores, continued growth

in online in the premium lifestyle segment, continued
operating efficiencies, and the FY21 comparative
including Covid-19 related lockdowns, mitigated to some
extent by property related impairments of £227.0m.
Basic EPS for the year increased to 52.9p

{FY21: loss of 16.5p).

Within other comprehensive income, the Group's
hedging contracts increased by £43.8m (FY21: decreased
by £16.5m) as a result of the fair value movements in the
period. With regard to the Group's long-term financial
assets, fair value movements have resulted in a loss of
£8.m (FY21: gain of £77.3m) in the pericd.

The Group generated cash inflows from operating
activities during the year of £628.9m, up from £578.3min
the prior period, largely due to the increase in operating
profit year on year, offset by the increase in inventory.

Total Net assets as at the pericd end totalled £1,308.6m
compared to £1,211.0m in the prior period, largely due to
the profitability of the business mitigated by significant

share buybacks.



FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REVIEW BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

UK Sports Retail UK Sports Retail Store Portfolio®
The UK Sports Retail segment includes all of the 24 April2022 25 April 2021
Group's sports retail and USC store operations in the England 387 394
UK (including Northern Ireland), all of the Group's online Scottand 7 9
businesses {excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern Mountain Woles 20 ”
Sports, Baltics and Malaysia), the Group's gyms, Evans
' ' Northem Ireland . 2
Cycles, GAME UK stores and the Group's Shirebrook T
. o . . Isle of Man 1 1
campus operations. UK Sports Retail is the main driver of
the Group and accounts for 54.9% (FY21; 54.3%) GAME UK () 259 247
of Group revenue. Evans Cycles 2) 57 48
usc 18 25
52 waeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 L—-——-”‘—-‘ﬁ‘h
{£m) (Em) Opened 90 93
UK Sports Retail Revenue 26401 1968.5 Closed (88} (98}
Cost of Sales {1.503.3) (1139.2) Acquired - 42
Gross Profit 11368 8293 Area (sqft) approx. 6.7m approx. 6.5m
Gross Mar’gin % 431 421 WH The GAME UK store numbers include 125 concessians operating within

Revenue increased 34.1% to £2,640.1m. Excluding
acquisitions, revenue increased 30.1%, largely due to

the strong reopening of stores after the last lockdown in
March 2021 and the comparative period being impacted
by lockdowns as a result of Covid-19.

UK Sports Retail gross margin increased to 43.1%
{FY21: 42.1%), largely due to the continually improving
product mix.

Adjusted PBT for UK Sports Retail was £196.9m (FY21:
loss of £12.8m), largely due to the strong reopening of
stores after the last lockdown in March 2021 and the
comparative period being impacted by lockdowns as
a result of Covid-19 and a reduction in property related
impairments in the current period (FY22: £103.4m
compared to FY21: £201.9m).

Sports Direct fascig stores (FY21 711 and does not include BELONG arenas,

21 The Evans Cycles store mumbers itc ude 2 concessions operating withan
House of Froser foscia stares (FY21 1),

i3 Tab e excludes the Group's standalone gyms
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Premium Lifestyle

Premium Lifestyle Store Portfolio

Premium Lifestyle consists of FLANNELS, Cruise, van 24 April2022 25 April 2021

mildert, House of Fraser, Jack Wills and Sofa.com fascia FLANNELS 53 41

stores and corresponding web sales. Jack Wills? 52 60

52 weeks ended 52 1 ded House of Fraser / Frasers # 39 43

24 April 2022 25 April 2021 Sofa.com® 23 24

(£m) {£m) Cruise 5 5

Grass Transaction Value (GTV)}™ 11338 788.1 8 Montrose 4 3

Revenue 1,056.6 7356 van mildert 1 1

Cost of Sales {581.8) (405.3) Garment Quarter 1 1

Gross Profit 474.8 3303 Psyche 1 1

Gross Morgin % 449 449 Totol 179 179
- [ s S - ]

Adjusted PBT . i
i 105 7.8) Opened 2 2
1 GTV being gross sawes pet of VAT discaunts and returns, and grose sales where tne Closed {21 {17
Group acts gz agent.
. Acquired - 5
Revenue grew 43.6% to £1,056.6m. This was largely due ‘Area (sqft) approx, 4.0m approx. 42m

to new FLANNELS stores, continued growth in online,
growth in House of Fraser, and the impact of Covid-19
related lockdowns on the prior period comparative.

Gross margin was 44.9%, consistent with the prior year
as product margins were maintained over the period.

it should be noted that despite year-on-year trading
improvements in the House of Fraser business, business
rates in their current form continue to be a significant
and disproportionate cost to House of Fraser.

Adjusted PBT for Premium Lifestyle increased from a
loss of £7.8m in FY21 to a profit of £10.5m for the period,
largely due to new FLANNELS stores, continued growth
in online, the strong reopening of stores after the last
lockdown in March 2021, offset by more significant

property related impairments in the current period (FY22:

£103.5m compared to FY21: £40.9m).

1k Scfa.com store numbers incluce 17 concessions operating within House of Fraser
fascia stoves (FY21 17),

12) Jogk Witis and Frosers stores in Repuplic of Ireland are shown i the Earonean
store TdMmders as onposed to the Premearm Lifestyle stare numbers



European Retait

The European Retail division includes the Group's sports
retail store management and operations in Europe,
including the Group's European distribution centres in
Belgium and Austria, stores and corresponding web
business in the Baltic regions and GAME Spain stores

and corresponding web business.

52 weeks ended 52 waeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

[Em) (Em)

Revenue 790.2 6152
Cost of Sales (4529) (375.5)
Gross Profit 3373 2397
Gross Margin % 427 39.0
Adjusted PBT 886 (51.3)

Revenue increased 28.4% to £790.2m. On a currency
neutral basis and excluding acquisitions, European Retail
revenue increased by 33.4%, largely due to temporary
store closures as a result of Covid-19 in the prior period

comparative,

Gross margin increased to 42.7%, largely due to
continually improving product mix in the core business.

Adjusted PBT for European Retail improved from a loss of
£51.3m in FY21 to a profit of £88.6m for the period, largely
due to the strong reopening of stores after lockdown, the
comparative period being impacted by lockdowns as a
result of Covid-19, especially in Ireland and significant
property related impairments in the prior period of
£7.6m compared to £17.9m in the current period.

All of the fallowing stores are operated by companies
wholly owned by the Group, except Estonia and Latvia
where the Group owns 60.0% and Lithuania where the

Group owns 51%.
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European Retail Store Portfolio "

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
GAME Spain 235 236
Republic of Ireland® 43 39
Belgium 34 34
Portugol 2 20
Estonia® 20 21
Austria 19 20
Lithuania® 19 18
Latvia? 18 17
Poland 13 14
Slovenia 13 13
Czech Republic 12 12
Spain 10 9
Hungary a 8
Cyprus 6 6
Holland 5 5
Slevakia 5 5
France 4 4
Luxembourg 2 2
Germany 1 2
Iceland 1 1
Total 489 486

H

Closed {9} (38)
Acquired - -
Ared (sq.ft) approx. 3.7m approx. 3.6m

&l Excluding Heotons fascio stores

-

e} fmcludes oniy stores with SPORTSDIRECT.com and SPORTL And fastias
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Rest of World Retail

Rest of World Retail includes sports stores in Malaysia
trading under the Sports Direct fasciq, retail stores in the
US trading under Bob's Stores and Eastern Mountain
Sports and their online businesses. In Malaysia the stores
are 51.0% owned by the Group.

52 } ded 52 k ded

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em} (Em}

Revenye 150.3 1527
Cost of Sales (73.6) 88.7)
Gross Profit 76.7 64.0
Gross Margin % 510 19
Adjusted PBT 327 122

i GTV being gross sales net of VAT, discounts and returns, and gross saies where the
Group octs os agent

Revenue decreased 1.6% to £150.3m, mostly due to the
US businesses offset by an increase in Malaysia. Gross
margin increased to 51.0% from 41.9%, largely due to
decreased inventory provisions within the US businesses,
as inventory management was significantly improved.
Adjusted PBT was £32.7m, compared to £12.2m in FY21,
largely due to overall operating efficiencies in the US
businesses.

Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of.

Rest of World Retail Store Portfolio

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
Malaysia 34 33
Bob's Stores 2 22
Eastem Mountain Sports 21 2
Total 76 76
Area (sq.ft.) approx. 1.3m approx. 1.3m

Wholesale & Licensing

The portfolio of Group brands includes a wide variety of
World-famous sport and lifestyle brands. The Group's
Sports Retail division sells products under these brands
in its stores, and the Wholesale & Licensing division
sells the brands through its wholesale and licensing
activities. The Wholesale & Licensing division continues
to sponsor a variety of prestigious events and retains a
variety of globally recognised celebrities and sporting
professionals as brand ambassadors.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 Apii2022 25 Apdil 202

{Em) (Em)

Wholesale 1453 131.5
Licensing 228 28
Total Revenue 168.1 153.3
Cost of Soles {105.0) {85.8)
Gross Profit 632 67.5
Gross Margin % 375 441
Adjusted PBT 1 198

Revenue increased by 9.7% to £168.1m. Wholesale
revenues were up 10.5% to £145.3m and Licensing
revenues increased 4.6% to £22.8m, largely due to the
prior period comparative being impacted by Covid-19.

Total gross margin decreased to 37.5% (FY21; 44.0%),
largely due to product mix within the US wholesale
division. Adjusted PBT decreased 43.9% to £11.1m (FY21:
£19.8m), largely due to impairment of goodwill in

the period.
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PROPERTY REVIEW

The beginning of the financial year welcomed the
opening of the refurbished Sports Direct on Oxford
Street, London, showcasing the elevated store mode!

in one of Europe’s most iconic retailing destinations.
Further Sports Direct flagship locations in the pipeline
include Birmingham, which opened shortly after the
financial pericd end and Manchester, due to open late
FY23. Opportunities to deliver this flagship concept are
also being considered in various European capital cities.
In addition, a refurbishment model has been trialled
and is under development, to elevate appropriate stores
which are currently trading.

FLANNELS experienced significant new store activity
over the period with 15 new openings. The most notable
opening was delivering the first FLANNELS flagship store
in Sheffield incorporating beauty and food & beverage
elements across 55k sq ft. The outcome is a World-class
luxury offering receiving industry recognition. A second
FLANNELS Flagship store was also opened in Fosse Park,
Leicester, in the period. Further flagship sites have been
secured in Liverpool which is now trading, along with
Cardiff and Leeds which are both due to open during
FY24. FLANNELS will also be expanding its store network
into Ireland over the coming financial period. These will
be the first store openings outside of the UK. for the
brand having secured sites in Dublin, Blanchardstown
and Cork.

The Group continues to identify large sites, which
working with collaborative landlerds can be configured
to provide a multi fascia offering. Over the period sites
have been secured at Derby, Cork and Newbridge in
Ireland, to develop into Frasers and Sports Direct stores.

The main objective for the Group's estate remains the
move to turnover-based rents. There has been significant
investment into new store concepts across all the
Group's brands, including more recently the new Everlast
Gym concept as well as enhancements to existing brond
concepts such as the Sports Direct and FLANNELS
Flagship concepts. Where landlords are prepared to
co-invest in new stores the Group is prepared to enter
into long leases,

The Group remains acquisitive across fascias and
territories, with an exciting pipeline of new stores due to
open in the coming financial year; the number of new
store openings is expected to be comparable to FY22.
However, caution is being applied over shop fit costs,
which are being monitored closely and could influence
the store opening pipeline. In the usual manner, freehold
investment activity will continue to be used as an option
to secure space for the Group.

The business rates regime continues to be a challenging
jandscape to navigate, particularly on large stores
and former department stores. With further clarity
required on the new regime effective April 2023 and the
uncertainty around transitional relief arrangements, the
Group is taking a cautious view on future rates liabilities.

Store Portfolio — UK Retail
Sports Stores in the UK (including Northemn Ireland):

J Sports Direct Is currently operating 387 stores in
England, 37 in Scotland, 30 in Wales and 19 in
Northern Ireland. There were 18 openings and 30
closures over the period. The majority of closures
were linked to new larger store openings and
closures, following the acquisition of the DW Sports
estate in FY21.

+  Noteworthy openings include the Oxford Street
flagship (55k sq ft), Leicester Fosse Park (35k sq ft)
and Cheshunt (25k sq ft), a new market opening
following the successful asset management plan of
the retail park that the Group acquired in FY20.

- Store-in-store GAME/BELONG and Evans Cycles
concepts have been developed to complement
Sports Direct formats in selected locations. All new
store openings include a USC zone providing a
lifestyle offering, as part of the elevated store model
across all size formats.

Store Portfolio - Evans Cycles:

«  There are currently 57 Evans Cycle stores trading, an
increase of nine stores over the period as a result
of ten openings and one closure. The Evans Cycles
store-in-store concept continues to be refined and
will be rolled out into selected future store openings.

Store Portfolio - GAME UK:

«  The relocaticn program transitioning GAME stores
into selected Sports Direct stores continued over
the period and will continue throughout FY23. With
GAME now forming part of a significant number of
new Sports Direct store openings, the overall number
of GAME stores for the UK estate increased to 259,
having closed 50 and opened 62.

. The BELONG gaming arenas form part of GAME
stores in selected viable locations and have been
introduced to a number of elevated Sports Direct
stores. Note the GAME store numbers do not
include BELONG.
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Store Portfolio ~ Premium Lifestyle
FLANNELS, Cruise and van mildert:

Across the FLANNELS, Cruise and van mildert
fascias there was significant store activity with
16 openings and four closures resulting in a net
increase of 12 stores. Combining these fascias,
the total estate at the end of the financial period
amounted to 59 stores.

Key openings for FLANNELS include the
Meadowhall flagship being the first FLANNELS store
to incorporate a beauty offering and F&B along
with the Leicester Fosse Park Flagship opening
shortly after. FLANNELS wos alse introduced on the
South Coast of England for the first time opening at
Southampton, Brighton and Portsmouth.

After the financial period, the largest FLANNELS
flagship store to date was opened in Liverpool
covering seven floors over 120,000 sq ft and
introducing new experiences such as the boutique
fitness brand Barry's Bootcamp.

A refit programme refreshing older stores to the
new standard continued over the period and
will continue throughout the upcoming financial
period. There will be a focus on securing further
new stores in key incremental markets as well as
flagship locations,

Finalty, FLANNELS is due to launch in the Republic
of Ireland over FY23 having secured three new store
locations over the period. The secured locations are
in Dublin, Blanchardstown and Cork.

House of Fraser (HoF):

At the end of FY22 there were 39 House of Frasers
stores trading, a net decrease of four stores after five
closures and one opening.

Having come back into effect following relief over
the pandemic, the current business rates regime
remains q significant burden on the Hof estate
particularly given the large store sizes. Clarity
around the new regime effective April 2023 is
eqgerly awaited and will be an influential factor on
the Hof estate.

Whilst a significant proportion of the Hof estate
rernains on short term flexible leases, progress has
been made on securing long term solutions. New
Frasers stores due to open over FY23 include Derby
along with Cork and Newbridge in Ireland.

Jack Wills:

Over FY22 there were eight store closures reducing
the estate to 52 stores. Negotiations with landlords
continue to transition to long term leases.

A new store concept for Jack Wills was delivered
shortly after the FY22 period end in Derby and
additional locations to deliver the new concept are
being pursued, Further to this a new shop-in-shop
concept has been develaped and implemented in a
number of USC locations,

Store Portfolio - European Retail:

Republic of Ireland (ROI):

At the end of the financial period there were 43
stores within the Republic of Ireland (ROI), a net
increase of four stores. Key new openings included
Sports Direct stores in Galway, Newbridge and Cork
Mahon Point Shopping Centre, which are all new
incremental markets.

Further incremental markets and upsizes across the
ROl are actively being pursued for Sports Direct.
Aleng with the new store pipeline, a refit programme
is underway elevating appropriate Sports Direct
stores to the latest concept.

During the financial period three FLANNELS
locations were secured in RO and due to open over
FYZ23. This is a first for the fascia and the territory.
The secured locations were Dublin, Blanchardstown
and Cork.



Store Portfolio Europe (excluding ROI):

The Group continues to operate sports stores in 19
countries in Europe.

211 Sports retail stores in Europe (excluding RO, plus
26 non-core, speciality and cutlet stores).

Total sq.ft. of approx. 2.7m of all sports fascias
in Europe (including Sportland, Lillywhites,
SportsWorld etc),

Closed 1 GAME store in Spain during the period.
Seven openings in six different countries.

Eight closures in five different countries either due
to poor performance, beneficial trade transfer or
landlords required the units back.

During the period four elevated Sports Direct stores
incorporating a USC were opened totalling 47,012

sq ft of retail space. One of these was a freehold
purchased in FY20 that has been refurbished and
opened as an elevated Sports Direct store alongside
a right-sized Toys R Us store.

As is the case in the UK, the Group is firmly
committed to the rollout of elevated stores across
Europe. Due to the accelerated shift to online
experienced across Europe due to the effects of
Covid-19 and a number of retailers reducing their
portfolio size, the Group believes it can capitalise
on these market conditions to efficiently expand
our physical estate, focussing on capital city and
flagship opportunities,

We further expanded our geographical coverage
with the purchase of Denmark’s number one
Sporting Goods chain, Sportmaster, shortly after
the financial period. This increased our sports store
numbers by a further 75.

Store Portfolio -~ Rest of the World:

34 stores in Malaysia following 4 openings and 3
closures over FY22, Qur flagship store at Sunway
Camival totalling 18,284 sq ft and incorporating a

USC lifestyle area on the ground floor, opened in the

period alongside our Frasers Group Asia HQ at the
Sunway Pyramid retail and leisure complex.

The Malaysian elevation and expansion drive
continues with all long term stores now elevated
into the latest Sports Direct fit outs. Five of these
stores now have USC areas within and we will
look to roll-out this concept across the estate
where appropriate.

42 stores in the USA, following one closure in FY22.
The Group subsequently sold the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports business shortly after the
financial period end.
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Freehold / Long Leasehold Property:

Over FY22 a total of 14 properties were acquired
across the Group, totalling £121.3m. The most
significant purchase was Boucher Road Retail
Park in Northern Ireland for £40.0m. One site was
acquired within the EU consisting of development
land for a logistics scheme.

Disposadl of property assets continues to be standard
practice for the Group. Over the period eight
disposals completed in the Group totalling £36.8m.
There were no disposals across the EU or RowW.

For the upcoming financial period it is anticipated
that Freehold acquisition activity will be broadly in
line with previous financial years.

Michael Murray

Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2022




FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Financial Statements for the Group for the 52 weeks
ended 24 April 2022 are presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Summary of Results
52 b ded 52 ks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em} (Em)
Revenue 4,805.3 36253
Reported profit before tax 335.6 8.5
Adjusted PBT™ 339.8 {399)
Earnings per share (EPS} Pence per share Pence per share
Reported basic EPS 529 (16.5)
Adjusted basic EPS? 539 (27.3)

(1 Adjusted PBT 's profit before tax less the effects of exceptiona items, realised
foreign exchange fair volue adjustments o denvative financial instruments
mcluded within Finonce income / costs fair volue goins/losses and probit on
dispozal of eguity derivatives, and share schemes Further detail on this
caiculahion can be found in the Glossary

2} Adjusted basic EPS is reported bosic EPS less the effects of exceptional items
realised fareign exthange, fair value adjustments to derivative finoncial
Instruments incluged within Finance inceme/costs, foir voiuie gaing/1osses and
profit on aisposa. of egquity cervatives, and share schemeas Furiner detorl on this
calculation car be found in note 15

Foreign Exchange and Treasury

The Group reports its results in GBP but trades
internationally and is therefore exposed to currency
fluctuations on currency cash flows in various ways.
These include purchasing inventory from overseas
suppliers, making sales in currencies other than GBP and
helding overseas assets in other currencies. The Board
mitigates the cash flow risks associated with these
fluctuations with the careful use of currency hedging
using forward contracts and other derivative

financial instruments.

The Group uses forward contracts that qualify for hedge
accounting in two main ways — to hedge highly probable
EUR sales income and USD inventory purchases. This
introduces a fevel of certainty into the Group's planning
and forecasting process. Management has reviewed
detailed forecasts and the growth assumptions within
therm and is sotisfied that the forecasts meet the criteria
for being highly probable forecast transactions.

As at 24 April 2022 and as detailed in note 30c¢, the
Group had the following forward contracts that
qualified for hedge accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, meaning that fluctuations in the value of
the contracts before maturity are recognised in the
Hedging Reserve through Other Comprehensive Income.
After maturity, the sales and purchases are then valued
at the hedge rate.

Hedging Currency

Currency agolnst value Timing Retes
ush

UsD / GBP inventory  USD 480m Fr23 141
purchases
usD

usD/ EUR inventory USD 120m FY23-FY24 126 -131
purchases

EUR / GBP Eurosales  EUR600Om  FY23,FY25 099 -1.08

The Group also uses currency options, swaps and spots
for more fiexibility against cash fAlows that are less than
highly probable and therefore do not qualify for hedge
accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The fair
value movements before maturity are recognised in the
Income Statement.

The Group has the following currency options and
unhedged forwards:

Expected Currency

Currency use value Timing Rates
ush

usD / EUR inventory USD 120m FY23,FY2s 126 -1
purchases

EUR/ GBP Euro sales EUR 740m FY23, FY26 0.99-1.08

The Group is proactive in managing its currency
requirements. The Treasury team works closely with
senior management to understand the Group's

plans and forecasts, and discusses and understands
oppropriate financial products with various financial
institutions, including those within the Group Revolving
Credit Facility (RCF}. This information is then used to
implement suitable currency products to align with the
Group's strategy.

Reqgular reviews of the hedging performance are
performed by the Treasury team alongside senior
management to ensure the continued appropriateness
of the currency hedging in place and, where suitable,
to implement additional strategies and / or restructure
existing approaches, in conjunction with our financial
institution partners.

Given the potential impact of commeodity prices on raw
material costs, the Group may hedge certain input costs,
including cotton, crude oil and electricity.

Taxation

The effective tax rate on profit before tax in FY22 was
23.5% (FY21: 1,017.6%). The prior year was impacted by
more significant property impairments and disallowable
depreciation compared to FY22,




Earnings

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing
the earnings allributable to ordinary shareholders

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial period. Shares held in
Treasury and the Employee Benefit Trust are excluded
from this figure.

52 weeks ended 52 weehs ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Pence Per Share  Pence Per Share

Reported EPS {Basic) 529 {16.5)

Adjusted EPS {Basic) 539 (27.3)

Weighted average number of 471,675,282 501,955,281
shares {actual)

i Adjusted egrnings per share measures provide additional useful infarmation for
sharcholders on the underlying performance of the business ond are consistent
with how husiness oerfarmance 1s meosured internally Adjusted carnings 1s net o
recognised profit measure under IFRS cnd may not be arectly comparable with
adiusted profit meosures used by other companies Further details con pe found in
the Glossary

Dividends

The Board has decided not to pay a final dividend in
relation to FY22 (FY21 £nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility ond facilitate
future investments and other growth opportunities. The
payment of dividends remains under review.

Capital Expenditure

During the pericd, gross copital expenditure {excluding
IFRS 16} amounted to £323.2m (FY21: £219.4m), which
included £121.3m on freehold and investment properties
{FY21: £84.3m) and £36.8m on warehouse automation
(FY2%: £48.5m).

Strategic Investments

The Group continues to hold various strategic
investments as detailed in note 21. In addition, the Group
also holds indirect strategic investments within contracts
for difference and options.

The fair values of the contracts for difference and options
are recognised in Derivative Financial Assets or Liabilities
on the Group Balance Sheet, with the movement in fair
value recorded in the Income Statement.

~ Acquisitions

On 25 February 2022, the Group acquired the entire
share capital of Studio Retail Limited and certain other
assets of Studio Retail Group Plc (in administration).
The consideration for the transaction comprised cash
and the release of SRG from its liabilities to the lending
banks under its revelving credit facilities resulting in

a cash payment by Frasers Group to the lenders of
£28.3m. As Frasers Group seeks to elevate its customer
journey including a flexible repayment proposition,

the acquisition of SRL will provide Frasers Group with

expertise and synergies that will accelerate this ambition.
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Related Parties

MM Prop Consultancy Limited, a company owned and
controlled by Michael Murray, who is a member of key
management personnel as per IAS 24, continued to
provide property consultancy services to the Group
during FY22. During FY22, MM Prop Consultancy Limited
was primarily tasked with finding and negotiating the
acqguisition of new sites in the UK, Europe and Rest of
the World, for both our larger-format stores and our
combined retail and gym units but it alse provides
advice to the Company's in-house property team in
relation to existing sites in the UK, Europe and Rest

of the World.

In the year, all properties have been assessed

that are considered to have created value across

all the outstanding freehold and long leasehold
properties over the applicable pericd from the MM
Property Consultancy agreement commencement

to 29 September 2021, they have been valued by an
independent valuer who confirms the value created by
MM Prop Consultancy Limited. The Group's independent
Non-Executive Directors then review and agree the value
created and have full discretion to approve a payment
to MM Prop Consultancy Limited of up to 25% of

the value created.

On 1 May 2022 Michael Murray was appointed as

CEO. Prior to his appointment MM Prop Consultancy
Limited and Frasers Group finalised the terms on which
any relevant prior consultancy services agreements

are terminated. The Board has now completed its
assessment of the unsettled value created by MM Prop
Consultancy Limited to the Group, with the assistance of
independent third-party experts.

MM Prop Censultancy Limited is entitled to up to 25%
of any value created by services provided to the Group.
MM Prop Consultancy Limited has agreed to waive
contractually due omounts, including part crediting
previous payments under this agreement, such that

the Group receives a 40% discount as part of the
finalisation and cessation of the consultancy agreement.
The final payment to be made by the Group to MM
Prop Consultancy Limited fellowing the application of
this discount is £20.9m which was paid in the year {FY21:
£2.5m was accrued and subsequently paid in FY22).
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During FY21 the Group entered into an agreement Cash flow:
with M.PM Elevation Limited, a company owned and
controlled by Michael Murray, in relation to Elevation 52 ;’:‘"’ ‘I"'zg‘d 52 ‘2'5“""'“2‘6';
strategy services, M.P.M Elevation Limited was paid April 2022 Apr
£0.Im in relation to the provision of the Elevation _ — Em) {em)
strategy services (FY21: £0.1m). Cash inflow from operating octivities 6289 578.3
N . . Income taxes poid {121.0) (59.3)
OCther related patrties are disclosed in note 35. " ™=
Cash Flow and Net Debt C;P‘L;:t:::;sde of subsidiaries, net of cash ©2) (39.4)
Net debt increased by £242.2m, from £2489m at 25 April Purchase of listed investments 198.4) 13:3)
2021 to £491.1m at 24 April 2022 (including the £232.0m Proceeds on disposal of listed
borrowings acquired due to the acquisition of Studio investments and derivatives 2354 70
Retail). Interest on bank loans and overdrafts increased Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary
to £13.6m (FY21: £11.1m} largely due to increased usage of undertaking 10 )
the RCF in the period. :e'?_lc;;dv:'s” relation to equity 7.4 481
Analysis of Net Debt: Net capital expenditure (280.2) (192.3)
24Apd12022 25 April 2021 f;::“br;gl:n':;'emem on 01 5.3)
{Em) {Em) Investment income received 1.0 0.5
Cash and cash equivalents 3368 4570 Finance income received less finance
Borrowings {8279) {705.9) costs paid 126.5) @26
Net debt {4911) {248.9) Lease payments 1176.2) {78.0]
L. Purchase of own shares (193.2) (43)
On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing Borowings oquired through
borrowings and entered into a combined term loan and business combinations (232.0) -
revolving credit fuci!ity_ of £930.0m for' a period of three Repayment of acquired debt _ 4
years, with the possibility to extend this by a further two Dividend paid to non-controling
years. This facility increased to £940.0m as at 24 April interest n.3) (05)
2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end. (Increase) / dacrease in net debt (2422) w1

The Group continues to operate comfortably within its
banking facilities and covenants and the Board remains
comfortable with the Group's available headroom.

Note: Due to the timing of payroll and supplier
payments, net debt at calendar period end 30 April 2022
was materiaily higher than at 24 April 2022.

Summary of Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Extract)

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em)

Property, plont and equipment 816.3 9152
Right of use assets 194.7 2497
Investment properties 89.2 141
Long-term financial assets 206.6 2633
Deferred tax assets 100.8 668
Inventory 12776 1096.6
Trade and other receivables 8414 546.5
Provisions 4330 3612
Trade and other payables 7298 646.3
Lease fiabilities 620.6 7227
Borrowings 8279 7059

The maijority of the decrease in property, plant and
equipment relates to the impairments of freehold land
and building and plant and equipment due to the
significant economic factors which are headwinds on
the business, including challenges with supply chain,
increased energy costs and cost of living.



- FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

IFRS 16 right of use assets have decreased largely due to impairments. Lease liabilities have decreased largely due to
lease payments during the period.

Long-term financial assets have decreased during the period due to the reduction in the valuation of Studio Retail
Group plc.

Inventory has increased due to the acquisitions in the period, these being the single individual reason.

Receivables includes a £88.3m reimbursement asset in relation to the Group's ongoing non-UK tax enquiries (FY21:
£118.3m), £243.9m relating to deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments {FY21: £131.0m) with the increase
mainly relating to Hugo Boss and £234.2m credit customer receivables relating to the Studio Retail business (FY21: £nil).

Provisions have increased mainly due to the acquisition of SRL in the period.
Payables have increased largely due the acquisition of SRL in the period.
Summary of Company Balance Sheet {Extract)
24April2022 25 April 2021

(Em) {Em}
Investments 1443.6 14949
Debtors 5128 1629
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year {985.7 {609.0)

Investments relates to investments in subsidiaries and long-term financial assets. The majority of the decrease relates
to Studio Retail Group Plc,

The majority of the movement in debtors relates to an increase in collateral to cover margin requirements for derivative
transactions held with counterparties.

Creditors largely relates te amounts owed to
Group undertakings.

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table below sets out where the information required by sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006 can
be found in this Annual Report.

Requirement Location Relevant Policies
Environmental Matters Environment pages 38 to 39 Environmental policy
Staff Handbook
Employees ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Employee Data Privacy Statement
Acceptable Use Policy
Social Matters* ESG Report pages 33 to 37
Hurmnan Rights ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking Policy
Staff Handbook Anti-Bribery & Corruption policy
Anti-Bribery & Corruption policy ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Whistleblowing Policy

Code of Conduct / Supply Policy

* We continually work to ensure that we Improve in Lhis sector Cur policy 15 nat sufficiently formaliscd mithough evidence of what we do can be located on pages 33 10 37
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WORKERS'
REPRESENTATIVE REPORT

| have now been in the role of Workers Representative
and Non-Executive Director for three years and during
this period, my relationship with both my colleagues and
the Board have gone from strength to strength.

Although this past year has had challenges for the
retail sector as a whole, this has not detracted from

the wellbeing and development of our people being
key focus. | continue to have full control and ownership
of the colleague welfare portal, where every colleague
has the opportunity to raise concems or queries directly
to me. 1 operate with complete transparency and any
findings from these platforms are shared with the rest
of Board or, if appropriate, in accordance with our
whistleblowing policy.

A key success of my role this year was being able to host
and present to all cur Retail Managers at conferences
held at our London and Shirebrook offices. At the
conferences, we celebrated our people and rewarded
every Manager with a selection of gifts for their efforts
over the past year, including a number of points under
the Fearless 1000 scheme to managers and

their colleagues.

Furthermore, | am pleased that despite the challenges
that the retail sector faces, this year we have revived our
retail colleague bonus and launched new reward and
recognition incentives, reinforcing the value we place

in our people.

Continuing my focus on our people, | am working across
the UK facilitating focus groups with colleagues of
varying seniority and experience to ensure our peopie
are consistently given a platform for their voices

to be heard.

This year, 1 have attended both the Rermuneration and
Nomination committees, so | have full transparency and
insight into everything at Board level. This has not only
proved useful to me for my own personal development
but has given me a greater depth and understanding of
the topics that are discussed at Board level. With each
passing year, | am confident that | continue to add value
to both our Non-Executive and Executive teams.

| am looking forward to the year ahead and supporting
our incoming CEQ Michael Murray, to ensure that
Frasers Group continues to place our people at the heart
of the business.
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Our People

We have approximately 30,000 people across the Group.

Building on strong foundations around how we manage
and support our people, during FY22 we have continued
to invest in and improve the experience of working for
Frasers Group.

Culture and Values

Our culture and values continue to be integral to the
environment we are creating for our colleagues to

work in. We have maintained a focus on embedding
our values through every aspect of the colleague
journey, including recruitment, reward and recognition,
leadership and learning and how we measure
performance. Having this thread running through our
approach around people ensures we are clear about
what is important and what success looks like, so our
people understand how they can develop and progress.

Qur values are:
»  Ownitand back yourself
»  Don't hesitate and act with purpose
Think without limits and take the team with you

This year we have developed our recruitment process
to include a specific culture and values assessment,
ensuring that we select those people who are most
aligned with our business and ways of working,
improving their experience and their chances of
achieving success with us.

We have dlso focused on continuing to drive awareness
of Frasers Group as an employer externally, driven by a
social media strategy designed to:

. raise the reputation and profile of Frasers Group;
and

+  bring the organisation to life for potential
future talent.

This strategy has driven an increase in followers of 71%
across our Frasers Group Linked In account and an
increase in followers of 34% on Instagram. We have also
undertaken an external survey, representative of the UK
working population, with our specialist employer brand
partner and we learned that 78% of those who are
aware of Frasers Group would consider working for us.

We also recognise that internal communication is
an integral part of engaging our colleagues with
the business and our culture and this year we raised
the bar with a significant levelling up in our internal
communications approach. We have delivered

a monthly newsletter from our senior leaders to
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all colleagues, updating on key events across the
organisation, as well as regular updates cetebrating our
success through programmes like our monthly Frasers
Champion awards, weekly round ups of all comms
messages and more focus on driving function updates
via our central comms teams, to improve consistency
and accessibility.

We also held our first Retail Managers Conference in
over two years following the pandemic. This event

saw our Retail Managers across the UK and Europe
come together over three weeks to thank them for their
hard work and dedication during the pandemic and

to recognise their incredible efforts since returning to
work. Here we also re-invigorated our retail incentive
schemes, recognition events and awarded points under
our Fearless 1000 bonus scheme (more details below).
We also held dedicated conferences for the first time for
some of our key support functions across the business.

Attraction

We aim to hire the best people within each discipline
across our organisation. Our ability to do so is key to our
strategy and success.

This year, we launched a new careers website, designed
to engoge and educate potential new hires about

who Frasers Group are, our culture and values and the
people who make our business what it is. This was also
underpinned by the introduction of a new Applicant
Tracking System, to improve our ability to source the best
candidates for all roles across the business and improve
the experience our candidates have when applying for
roles with Frasers Group.

We understand that one of the best ways to find people
who are suitable for our organisation is through the
recommendation of people that already work for us, so
this year we also re-lounched an internal referral scheme,
encouraging colleagues who work for us to recommend
people they know for key roles.

Retention

Alongside hiring the best people, we aim to retain their
knowledge, skills and commitment within the Group.

FY22 saw one of the most challenging landscapes

for colleague retention in recent times and as a result,
we saw an increase in the attrition of our UK salaried
colleagues to 33% (29% in FY21). Pleasingly however,
across our Store Manager population within Sports
Direct, our stability increased to 91% from 84% in FY21.
Our Assistant Manager stability increased to 87% from
B6% and our Footwear Manager stability decreased
slightly to 91%, compared to 94% in FY21.
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Development

Continuing our ohjective of populating the organisation
with high-calibre, well traoined people to be the future
leaders of Frasers Group, this year we have started

an investment of over £1m in the development of our
people. We have introduced a new Head of Learning &
Development to shape and develop a comprehensive
offering of operational, technical and soft skills
development. Our new group L&D team provides a
shared service across the business, with a key focus

on management and leadership development, retail
capability, commercial training and the leaming
experience of our colleagues. We have also invested in
new 'Head of roles in each of these areas and, true to
our core principles arcund promoting from within, all of
these roles have been filled by internal talent.

We have already launched a new Leadership Academy,
which houses a trio of options for our pecple leaders
across the Group, These include premium digitol
on-demand content from our strategic partners
Sporting Edge, our own in-house development
programme, Managing Without Limits, as well as access
to professionally accredited qualifications from the
Chartered Management Institute (CMI) in partnership
with Corndel and Imperial College's Business School.

We have also kicked off our most significant cohort of
internal apprenticeships yet, with 154 people from our
early career talent pool enrolled on our new Retail Team
Leader programme, investing almost £700k from our
apprenticeship lavy funds.

Within Retail, we have revised our new store on-boarding
programme for Management colleagues and developed
a new programme for our CAST teams to ensure that
they receive a World class start to their careers with
Frasers Group.

We have also undertaken a full refurbishment of our
Shirebrook Learning Academy facility, with significant
investment in new technology and an upgrade of our
facilities, with a focus on improving the representation
of all our Group fascias and further enhancing the
experience colleagues have when they come to

the campus.

Diversity and Inclusion

Frasers Group is o company of growth, elevation,
determination and a global community of diverse
and talented people. We welcome and celebrate
individuality and take pride in only allowing a
colleague's contribution to define their path. We
empower individuality through our core values and
our attitude is championed within our brands through
diversity and inclusion amongst sport, fashion and
lifestyle, and is a considered and crucial part of our
approach. As we continue on our elevation journey as
one team, we are clear that the success of our business

is dependent on the success of our colleagues. We
aspire to create an environment where everyone can be
the best that they con be, every day. To us, diversity and
inclusion are about being the business that our people
want us to be,

We will not tolerote discrimination on grounds of gender
identity, sexual orientation, race, nationality, religion, age,
disability or any other grounds.

Included in our Management Without Limits programme,
launched in FY22 is an entire module dedicated to
promoting difference within our workforce, to help our
managers understand the importance and benefits of
diversity and inclusion and educate them on concepts
like conscious and unconscious bias.

We endeavour to meet our responsibilities to train and
employ disabled people. Applications for employment
by pecple with any disability are given full and fair
consideration for all vacancies and are assessed in
accordance with their skills and abilities. People who
have a first language other than English are important
to our business. In our Warehouse, we have this year
begun the introduction of personaiised workwear

to enable easy identification of colleagues' native
language and we are also offering translators in training
and meetings.

The table below shows the gender diversity of our
workforce at the period end. Approximately 54% of

our workforce is female, including 36% of our senior
management and their direct reports (FY21: 35% UK
workforce). We aim to ensure that both male and female
candidates are provided with equal opportunities to
apply for and work in all positions across the Group.

Female Male
Directors 29% 71%
Other senicr monagers and
direct reports 36% 64%
Other employees 55% 45%



Gender Pay Gap

Our gender pay gap report for 2021 was published

in April 2022. We are pleased to report that we have
maintained a 0% average gender pay gap across the
Group for three years in a row, compared to 6.3% in 2017.

We continue to work vigorously on aligning roles and
putting transparent structures in place across all areas
of the business. When it comes to rewards, we have
been lifelong champions of growth in earnings through
performance related bonuses. We encourage all our
people to reach their maximum potential and reward
the achievement of appropriate targets, set within the
respective discipline of the business. This is reflected

in the high percentage of males and ferales earning
a bonus, which are all gender neutral by design, and
continues to reflect the equality which we strive to
achieve across our business.

We recognise there is a difference in total earnings
between female and male colleagues. We are therefore
continuing to explore and implement methods that will
establish enhanced processes and training tools for our
employees ond engaged workers, to achieve maximum
earning potential through our various bonus and
commission schemes (more details of which below).

Talent and Capability Development

Our strategy and future goals rely significantly on our
ability to nurture and grow the best talent in our industry,
and this year, alongside the investment in our people
development capability mentioned above, we have
continued to build on our ability to identify and support
talent to progress within Frasers Group.

This year, we have continued to run our Fearless Focus
performance review process, aligning individual goals

to our broader Group objectives and ensuring that every
colleague has a clear plan to progress their careers. This
has also enabled us to identify those colleagues who

we believe have the potential to develop and grow to
become future leaders of our organisation.

We have also introduced new leadership roles across

our Retail, Digital and Technology and IT functions,

to ensure that we have the right people at the right

level to support the achieverment of our goals and the
development of future talent within their business areas.
We have also re-organised our structures within our
Retail and Commercial functions to align with our Sports,
Premium and Luxury pillars, ensuring these key teams
are best positioned to deliver our purpose and strategy.

We have continued to see success from our Elevation
Programme, with two colleagues from our first cohort
being promoted into senior leadership roles in our
Commercial team at the end of their second year in the
programme. We have also seen our second cohort of
25 new colleagues start their programme in September
2021 and the recruitment for cohort three being
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completed, with another 26 high-potential individuals
who joined Frasers Group in September 2022. We
levelled up our approach to attracting the best calibre
of early careers talent this year, running an onsite and
digital marketing campaign that saw us voted third in
the category for Best Student Marketing Campaign at
the National Graduate Recruitment Awards 2022, We
also extended our Elevation Programme to our Finance
team in FY22, with five new graduates recruited, wha
joined in August 2022,

Remuneration and Reward

We foster a reward-based culture that enables cur
colleagues to share in the Group's success. In the UK,
our policy is to pay above the National Minimum Wage,
including rates that are above the National Living Wage
for people aged over 25. We offer bonus schemes and
incentives depending on the role and the fascia, and
colleagues receive discounts across all fascias.

In FY22, we started the year with a full review of our
Retail pay structures, resulting in increased rates of pay
across the board, including management and casual
workers. In November 2021, we also re-invigorated our
Retail commission and bonus structures, making them
more accessible than they have ever been before and
paying out over £15m to our colleagues through our
bonus and commission schemes over the course of this
financial year.

We also reviewed our Fearless 1000 bonus scheme and
made a number of changes, to ensure that the scheme
is working in the best interests of our colleagues.

These included:

+  extending the scheme for a further 12 months te
account for the impact of the pandemic in the first
year of the scheme and increase the opportunity to
achieve the goal of hitting the £10 share price for 30
consecutive days;

«  increasing the number of points available to retail
leaders to recognise the number of people under
their remit; and

- moving the points allocation window to half yearly
to enable more time for great work to be visible to
senior leaders who are awarding points to
our colleagues.
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Casual Workers

We strive to ensure our arrongements for casual staff
are fair and equitable. All casual workers are paid the
same rates as permanent employees in the same role,
We premote stability in working hours, while our casual
workers also benefit from the flexibility to decline shifts
at any time. This flexibility also benefits the Group,
enabling us to adjust staffing levels to cope with peak
times and quieter periods.

Casual workers are aiso included in our commission
schemes and in the Fearless 1000 bonus scheme.

Health and Safety

The Group's health and sofety programme has
continued to evolve, to support business growth. The
Company has safely operated through the Covid-19
pandemic and we have successfully implemented

a number of significant general health and safety
improvement measures that we are ¢onfident will help
drive and support our continuous improvement plans,

Over the last 12 months the Company continued to
respond effectively to the Covid-19 pandemic. Across
our distribution, office and warehousing operations and
together with our retail team, we maintained robust
social distancing and cleaning policies, meeting or
exceeding guidelines, to ensure customers were able

to enjoy a safe retail experience and maintain a safe
workplace for our teams.

We have implemented a number of measures to
strengthen our health and safety programme, focusing
on identifying and sharing good practices across the
business and, where appropriate, harmonising our
health and safety policy and procedures. Specific
initiatives include:

. the introduction of a bespoke online accident
reporting system, which is delivering improved
accident reporting and data analytics to inform
organisational learning and accident prevention;

. a significant increase in our Health and Safety team
in our Shirebrook warehouse to provide additional
expertise and support for our operational teams;

. supporting the retail team to help implement and
sustain in-store health and safety standards; and

= investing in our health and safety capabilities with
our regional H&S officers undertaking specialist
training on fire risk assessments.

We continue to positively engage with fire service and
local authority enforcement representatives and there
have not been any environmental enforcements or
prosecutions in the post 12 months.

All accidents and incidents are investigated in a timely
manner, to prevent recurrence.

The Group's Reporting of Injuries, Disease and

Dangerous Occurrences (RIDDOR) incidents in the last
12 months all involved over seven-day incapacitation. In
total six incidents were reported in FY22, a reduction of
45% on the 11 incidents reported during FY21.

The accident rate for the distribution, office and store
workforce was 2.5 accidents per 100,000 hours worked
in FY22, an increase on the rate of 1.8 compared to
FY21. A direct comparison between periods is adversely
affected by extended periods of Covid-19 related
disruption, across operations and teams, including store
closures. The FY22 rote is more representative of regular
business activity.

In prior years, we have calculated the number of
accidents to the general public as a rate per £10m of
store turnover, using a 12-month rolling average. The
FY22 accident rate was 6.6. A comparison with FY21
is not considered to be meaningful, given the impact
of Covid-19 restrictions and associated store closures
during this period.

During FY23, we will pursue our continuous improvement
programme to further develop and sustain effective
health and safety across the business.

Wellbeing

Colleague wellheing continues to be a focus for us,

as the understanding and impottance of health and
wellbeing and its impact on our colleagues grows. We
maintain and have further embedded our relationship
with the Retail Trust this year. Our partnership gives all
Frasers Group colleagues access to free and confidential
wellbeing support, including advice, financial assistance,
face-to-face and telephene counseliing, cognitive
behavioural therapy, non-repayable grants, career
development support, legal guidance and on-site critical
incident support. The helpline is gvailable 24 hours a
day, seven days a week. We also offer an enhanced
counselling referral service to colleagues who require a
greater level of support.

In FY22 we have developed and launched a mental
health and wellbeing series through our digital learning
platform for colleagues and manaogers, to access
support people who are dealing with issues related to
their mental health.



Human Rights and Modern Slavery

We are committed to respect and maintain equal
treatment for all people.

We recognise that modern slavery is an ongoing
challenge for organisations, especially those dedling

in consumer goods, and we remain committed to
addressing this risk. Uitimately, we strive to ensure that
no slavery or human trafficking takes place within our
business or supply chain. We have policies in place
aimed at proactively identifying and mitigating these
risks. These policies aim to send a clear message that we
do not tolerate these practices.

We have a range of tools in place, including videos and
literature to educate colleagues about their rights, and
a number of communication channels, including an
internal telephone hotline and comment boxes on site,
for reporting any feedback or concerns. Anyone making
d report can remain anonymous if they choose. We also
continue to review and develop our colleague training,
monitoring processes and evaluation of outcomes, and
work with our employment agencies and other relevant
bodies, including the Gangmasters and Labour Abuse
Authority and the police, to support our training

and knowledge.

If we find, or suspect, that any organisations or
individuals are participating in modern slavery, we will
take immediate action. Accordingly, we have a policy of
reporting any suspicious activity to the police, who have
historically assisted in ensuring successful convictions.
Our s54 Modern Slavery Act statement can be found on
our website www frasers.group.

Community and Charity

We are commiitted to engaging with the local and
wider communities around our stores and our offices in
London and Shirebrook, and we aim to minimise any
detrimental impact on them.

Our Sports Directory subsidiary has been a specialist
supplier of sports equipment to the education sector
for nearly 30 years, and part of the Frasers Group since
2016. Sports Directory plays a key role in giving back to
schools in the UK and helping to keep our young people
fit and healthy. Through its ‘My School’ scheme, schools
purchase sports equipment from Sports Directory and
the business gives them the opportunity to claim a
voucher for every purchase. To date, Sports Directory
has issued over 65,000 vouchers to UK schools, which
equates to more than £4.5 million worth of free

sports equipment,

Sports Directory has also, via the Professional
Footballers' Association, donated free equipment to 72
football league clubs, helping to support

local communities.
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For more information on Sports Directory visit: www,
sportsdirectory.com

The Group has also run campaigns to encourage
children to become active in sport. This included the
Monster Kickabout campaign launched by Eric Cantona.
Over 3,000 schools participated in this campaign and
the Group donated £500,000 of football kits to the
schools. Four schools were also given the experience of
a lifetime at St George's Park, where they received the
opportunity to train with FA coaches.

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Group has an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy

in ptace, which was originally created following the
introduction of the UK Bribery Act. As a result of the
Act, all policies and procedures were reviewed to ensure
compliance measures were put in place to mitigate
colleagues being offered and/or accepting bribes.

We have a zero-tolerance approoach to bribery and
corruption at Frasers Group, and we encourage our
people to speak up if they have concemns that bribery or
fraud is taking place. No instances of bribery, corruption
or fraud have been reported during FY22.

Whistleblowing

The Group has an approved whistleblowing policy and

a number of processes in place which support our policy,
including Your Company Your Voice, our Retail Support
Unit Asset Protection hotline, as well as a dedicated
whistleblowing e-mail address.

During the financial year the Audit Committee reviewed
and recommended to the Board the approval of an
updated Whistleblowing Policy, which was subsequently
adopted by the Group and rolled out to colleagues,
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ENVIRONMENT

ESG is an increasingly important area to Frasers Group.
We recognise the importance of sustainability to cur
stakeholders and to the future success of the business
and take seriously the part we must play to change the
paradigm of the retail and manufacturing industries,

We welcome the progress made at COP26 and

are actively working with our parthers to identify
apportunities to work together to tackle climate change,
patticularly in relation to carbon emissions from
transport and waste.

Frasers Group supports the introduction of the Taskforce
for Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).
Significant analysis and scenario modelling went into
producing our disclosure. The findings have given us

a robust foundation to mitigate climate related risks
and inform oppeortunities going forwards. Our full TCFD
disclosure can be found at page 40.

The role of the sustainability team continues to evolve as
we further embed sustainability throughout the Group,
linking sustainability to Group strategy and vice versa.
TCFD has further helped to formalise this approach

and the Group's sustainability manager is an integral
member of the newly formed Climate Risk Group.

There has been a particular focus on materiality and
data gathering over the past year, to better inform the
direction of the Group's ESG journey. Notably, there
has been improved data collected on energy use and
savings, product material composition and

single-use plastic.

We expect continued improvement in the quality of data
we collect and in the way we use and share that data, to
better inform agile decision making as the information
and the opportunities that presents become clearer.

Campaigns through the year included our Save the
Bumblebees campaign, which aimed to engage and
educate our customers on biodiversity, giving out
free seeds and information booklets and temporarily
rebranding our popular Sports Direct bag for life and
mug with the #savethebumblebees logo.

Carbon

This continues to be a priority focus area for the Group,
as evidenced by our newly created Carbon Reduction
Manager role. It is one of the areas where we have made
significant improvements in data gathering and

target setting.

The plans we already had in motion last year to reduce
our energy use and emissions have cushioned the Group
from some of the impacts of a volatile energy market

and associated increased energy costs and will continue
to bring cost savings year on year. This approach has
bought about both commercial and environmental
benefits.

Of note, we have accelerated our LED upgrade
programme, investing more than £5M in replacing LED
lights in 124 stores and 1 warehouse. The project will save
more than £2.5M per year [as an average of our energy
costs last year} and more than 3.0Mtco2e annually.

We glso introduced q store colleague incentive to reduce
energy use, dubbed Top of the Shops.’ The incentive
rewards store colleagues for best practice in energy
saving measures, such as ensuring the escalators were
only turned on when the stores are open to customers.
Impacts of the savings were communicated to stores
regularly and stores were able to measure themselves
against each other in a Top of the Shops league table,
fostering healthy competition. We were delighted with
the engagement level from store colleagues, We had
forecast a 10% reduction in UK electricity use for the
year but exceeded this to achieve a 15% reduction
(from a 2019 baseline, measured against like-for-like
stores. 2019 baseline used as a comparative year due to
coronavirus lockdowns affecting data in 2020 and

early 2021).

Our pilot trial of infrared overdoor heaters has
demonstrated their improved efficiency compared to
the traditional electric blow heaters. Infrared heaters will
now be installed as standard practice in all new stores
and store refits,

We installed 18 EV charging points at cur warehouses
last year which have been well utilised by colleagues
and visitors.

Aside from our estate, we have also been working

hard to reduce emissions in our supply chain, notably
from delivery of goods, building on the success of our
pioneering container optimisation programme which
maximises the space used per container. We have
further expanded the number of brands we collaborate
with and have also increased the number of deliveries
that are optimised frormn our existing brand partners,

Delivering to us in this way reduces the number

of deliveries by 25% on average. That means
approximately 25% has been saved in delivery costs and
the greenhouse gases associated with those deliveries.

Container optimisation complements our growing
automation system, reducing manual handling and
processing time from leaving port of origin, to arrival
with our customers.



For last mile deliveries, customers now have the option
to select DPD Carbon neutral delivery at check out.
Approximately 32 tco2e was saved in FY22 by customers
selecting this option.

Acknowledging the urgency of the climate crisis, Frasers
Group's primary focus for the coming year will be to
further investigate our scope 3 emissions and gather
decision-useful data, to enable us to target high-impact
areas effectively.

Frasers Group has responded to the Science Based
Targets initiative's (SBTI) urgent call for corporate climate
action, by committing to align with 1.5°C and net-zero
through the Business Ambition for 1.5°C campaign.

The Group now has 24 months to submit a target for
validation to the SBTI.

Waste

Waste has always been managed very well from our
Shirebrook DC and we have detailed collection data
going back to 2014. In FY22 we recycled 86% of our
waste, of which 68% was cardboard.

This last year we modernised the way we collect and
share information to help further improve our recycling
rates. We have set a target for FY23 that 90% of

the waste that goes through Shirebrook DC will be
recycled, This includes even more packaging waste that
we expect to receive back from our stores, due to the
store recycling initiative that is being piloted, to drive
behaviour change and bring down waste rates. We are
proud of this achievement, as reducing waste has a
big impact on the environment. However, we recognise
that whilst perfecting the system at Shirebrook DC, we
have not had the same focus on our other warehouses.
We acknowledge that we have a lot of work to do in
collecting baseline data for those and looking at the
systems in place to see where improvements con

be made.

Packaging

Detailed data is being gathered on the material
composition of the Group's own-brand core

product packaging, to enable us to lock for more
envirohmentally responsible alternatives such as FSC
card and alternatives to virgin plastic packaging. This
work was already being undertaken to reduce and
improve the packaging we use but has been accelerated
and other streams of data added, to account for the
Plastic Packaging Tax that came into force in April 2022.

The additional data collection also brought into scope
other plastics we procure, such as e-commerce and
carrier bags. All of our carrier bags are now fully FSC
certified and recyclable or from 100% recycled and
recyclable plastic (80% post-consumer waste, 20%
factory waste).
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We are in a strong position to report for the tax
requirement and have already been able to implement
changes to some of our packaging to remove or reduce
plastic content, thereby falling out of scope for the tax
whilst improving the environmental impact.

Elevated Product

Frasers Group acknowledges its responsibility as part
of the fashion industry to reduce the amount of textiles
waste that is sent to landfill and to maximise the ful
value of textiles already in circulation.

As part of the Elevated Product pillar of our strategy, we
have gathered data on the material content of 91% of
our own-brand core textile products. This will give better
visibility of the composition of materials we use and
enable us to choose more sustainable materials in the
future. We are in a good position to report the first-year
submissions to the Textiles 2030 initiative, of which we
are a member.

For Spring/Summer 2022, 100% of our own-brand
seasonal swimwear was from 100% recycled nylon

and we plan to extend use of recycled nylon across the
ranges for next year, as well as working with our brand
partners to encourage the use of more sustainable fibres
in third-party products,

Looking at circularity in fashion, we are delighted to
announce our partnership with Sharewear in piloting

a clothing take-back scheme, which launched in five
House of Fraser stores in April 2022, Sharewear's unique
RelLived scheme is the only clothing collection scheme
that guarantees all useable clothing will go to someone
in poverty in the UK, free of charge. The collaboration

is part of Frasers Group's commitment to reduce our
impact on the environment by ensuring that textiles

are kept in use for as long as possible. Not only does
this initiative protect the environment, but it also helps
people in need in our local communities. Frasers Group
was the only retailer to pilot the scheme with Sharewear,
providing a supply of clothing that enabled people to
attend interviews, leading to work and training, and send
their children to school warm and dry.

Future Progress

We are pleased with the progress made during the last
year and recognise that there is much more work to do
in all areas of sustainability.

Whilst we are keen to address every issue with urgency,
we are mindful that it takes time to deliver large scale
adjustments and we are committed to working with our
partners and colleagues to deliver changes that are long
lasting and impactful.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-
RELATED FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES (TCFD)

Frasers Group supports the aims of the TCFD, which
we believe is an important step in tackling climate
change. In this section of the report, we are making
the disclosures recommended by TCFD, to provide
stakeholders with useful information on climate-related
risks and opportunities relevant to our business.

During the year, we have worked closely with expert
external advisers to enhance our understanding of the
potential impact of climate change on Frasers Group
and to inform our future strategy, risk management
approach and the metrics and targets we will use to
monitor our progress. This work has included:

. a gap analysis, to identify key gaps between our
practices and the TCFD recommendations;

. identification and shortlisting of our key potential
climate-related risks and opportunities;

- qudlitative scenario analysis for both physical and
transition risks and opportunities, over time and
across two different temperature scenarios; and

«  development of actions to integrate climate-risk
considerations into our Enterprise-wide Risk
Management framework (ERM).

The two temperature scenarios we considered were
increases of 1.50¢ and 4oc above pre-industrial levels.
We selected two pathways as we identified that there
are two potential futures ahead of us. A scenario where
we actively move towards a lower-carbon economy to
keep warming to 1.5oc would introduce more transitional
risks to our business. 1.50c was identified as a best-case
scenario of the Paris Agreement at the COP21 summit in
2015, was reiterated at the COP26 summit in November
2021, and also aligns with the objectives of the SBTi.
Alternatively, if efforts are not made to limit global
warming to the agreed 1.50c, we could face a worst-case
scenario of 4oc of warming, which would pose a lot
more physical risks such as extreme weather events.

Governance

The Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring
effactive risk management and that our strategy

takes account of the risks and opportunities we foce,
including those related to climate change. The Board
has delegated its oversight of climate-related risks to the
Audit Committee, which reports to the Board on these
matters on a quarterly basis, and are tasked with:

. Monitoring progress against climate-related goals
and targets.

«  Continuous review of the Group's ESG risks
and opportunities.

. Keeping under review the materiality of climate-
related risk and its impact on financial statements.

. Monitoring adherence to externally applicable
sustainability codes and principles.

During the year, our external advisers presented

twice to the Audit Committee, sharing their work

on the identification and assessment of transitional

and physical climate-related risks, and proposals for
enhancing our risk management processes in relation to
climate. Qur Sustainability Manager also presented the
external advisers' findings to the Board in the February
2022 Board meeting.

Going forward, we plan to establish our Climate Risk
Steering Group to manage any current or upcoming
identified risks relating to climate whose responsibilities
will include:

. Providing direction and input into our targets and
goais, and ensure the continual evolution of our
action plans

- Owversight of the delivery of our action plan and
improvement roadmap, targets and emerging
climate-related risks.

Our Sustainability Manager who will be an integral
part of the Climate Risk Steering Group, will then
communicate findings from the Group into the Audit
Committee and Compliance & Risk Group on a
quarterly basis.
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Reporting to the Climate Risk Steering Group, cross
functional management are responsible for managing
on a day-to-day basis the climate related risks and
opportunities of the business.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for
our management of risk, supported by his direct reports,
who are accountable to him for managing the risks that
fall within their remits. In addition, the Compliance &
Risk Group has a range of important roles in relation to
risk management, as described on pages 50 to 62.

Strategy

Scenarios are hypothetical in nature describing a path
of development leading to a plausible future state.
During the year, we worked with our external advisers
to identify the potential physical risks, transition risks
and opportunities that could affect our business in

both a 1.50¢ scenario (low physical risk, high transition
risk), as recommended by the TCFD recommendations
and in line with the 2015 Paris Agreement and a 4cc
high emissions {high physical risk, low transition risk}
scenarios. We compiled the list on both a top-down and
bottom-up basis, across each of our business areas. We
refined the list to exclude those where our assessment
of their potential likelihood and impact meant the risks
were not material*, or to combine certain risks (such as
heatwaves and water stress) where they arose from

the same cause.

* The matenniity of the clmate reialed rsks were assessed by talung into account probability of
fauure and productivity loss uaives aver time for each risk and theirr impoct on Frasers Group
locaticns and operations using o quontotive approach in live wath our nisk managamert
frameiuori

Physical Risks

From our shortlist of physical risks, we identified the
following potential hazards:

. riverine flooding;

. surface water flooding;
«  extreme wind;

+  coastal inundation; and
+  extreme heat.

To understand the potential impact of these hazards, we
aggregated our business operations into three areas:
sourcing, logistics and retail. Underlying these three
areas are 11 sectors of operation, covering the breadth
of our value chain, as shown in the diagram below. We
then reviewed these sectors across 11 key countries

of operation.
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the range of opportunities to mitigate that impact are

shown in the table below. Overall, we see these risks as

arising in the medium to long term, Without mitigating

actions, we are likely to see the impact of these risks on

the business in around 20 years. .
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across Jocations.
Explore other supplier
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Retail: An increase in
the productivity loss
impact of physical risks
could be felt across
mast retail activities.




Transition Risks

The risk identification process described earlier
highlighted several potential risks related to the
transition to a low-carbon economy. These were:

+  the cost to transition, as a result of rising energy
costs and the switch to renewable energy generation;

«  increased costs of raw materials and production;
+  carbon taxes and other carbon-pricing mechanisms;

+  regulatory changes, reporting obligations and
increased stakeholder concerns; and

+  shifting consumer preferences and supplier
requirements, which also presents opportunities for
us (see below).

We analysed the potential impact of rising costs

of energy, raw materials and production, and the
introduction of carbon taxes or pricing, using our
external adviser's specialist modelling tools. The effect
of regulatory, reporting and stakeholder changes, and of
shifting consumer preferences and supplier requirements,
were assessed using qualitative reviews, analysis of
trends and identification of key drivers. All of these
analyses were conducted for both the 1.50¢ and 4oc¢
scenarios. This enabled us to project the likely trajectory
of costs, taxes and other variables, to give a potential
impact for each year over the period from 2020 to 2050.
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The risks, their potential impacts and the mitigations
available are summarised in the table below. Overall,
while these risks may arise in a shorter timeframe

(less than five years), and continue to impact over the
medium to longer term, we are working to mitigate these
as shown in the table below;

Risk Potential impact :uiiiig‘,tm:sMihbh &
Cost to +  Increased energy costs, -  Business planning to

transition to as low-carbon energy factor in higher energy
a low-carbon and technology tends costs and capital
economy to be more capital expenditure.

intensive. +  Develop a robust

«  Increased capital transition plan aligned

expenditure, for to the business strategy.

example to implement

renewable energy

generation on Frasers

Group sites.
Increased +  Increased costs and - Engage with suppliers
cost of raw reduction in profitability and gain increased
materials and if supplier costs are visibility of supply chain
production passed through as a operations.

result of fluctuating raw | Develop methods to

m",al prices, carbon improve agility of the

price rises efc. supply chain, to avoid
major disruptions.

Carbon tax + Increased cost base «  Measure Scope 3

and other as a result of higher emissions, to determine

carben pricing carbon prices, felt materiality of supphy

mechanisms directly or indirectly chain exposure to
across most activities in carbon prices.

the sector. «  Engage with suppliers,
to influence mitigotion
of supply chain
emissions.
+  ldentify products
that are less emission
intensive.
Regulatory +  Regulations are »  Set up repeatable
changes, changing rapidly, climate-related data
reporting adding to existing collection processes.
oblig'qtions reporting requirements. Engage with
andincreased . |0 rcient stakeholders to enable
stakeholder transparency in our oversight of new
concerns operations could regulatory requirements.
lead to litigation and - Regular stocktakes
reputational risks. and assessment of
regulatory compliance
measures,
Shifting + Increased consumer »  Develop supplier
consumer dernand for highest selection eriteria to
preferences levels of low-carbon identify leaders in the
and supplier compliance and domain and screen out
requirements greater transparency of suppliers who do not

operations. meet the criteria.
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Opportunities

We have identified opportunities in relation to the transition to a low-carbon economy. These have the potential to
increase our revenues, enhance our efficiency and optimise costs, and open up a broader range of financing sources.

The opportunities are set out in the table below:

Transition opportunity Benefit for Frusers Group

Potential actions

Optimisation ond efficiency of
processes and assets
across the value chain.

There is on opportunity for Frasers Group to reduce
costs by upgrading and improving assets and processes ,

Improve building and infrastructure efficiency.
Switch to an all-electric vehicle fleet.
+  Optimise logistics and the supply chain.

Financing +  There may be opportunities to raise debt capital to +  Identify potential opportunities to finance climate

finance climote projects.

A robust approach to managing climate risks and
opportunities can help us to attract and retain new

shareholders.

projects using debt capital.

Continue to enhance our climate-reicted reporting and
our sustainability reporting more generally.

Shifting consumer preferences  + There may be opportunities to capitalise on the
ernergerxce of a new and growing market for

and supplier requirernents

Engage with suppliers and brands who are leaders in
sustainability.

sustainoble, cleon and responsibly sourced products.

Risk Management

The process through which we have identified and

assessed our climate-related risks during the year is
described in the Strategy section above. Our overall
risk-management framework is set out on page 50.

We have begun work to fully integrate the identification,
assessment and management of climate-related risks
into our Group-wide ERM. This work is based on the
following principles:

. Disaggregation. We will assess climate risks as
individual physical and transition risks, across our
regions and sites,

- Cross-cutting. We will integrate climate risks into
existing processes, so they can be considered
alongside our other operational and business risks,
including their interaction with those risks.

- Appetite. We will set an appropriate risk appetite for
each disaggregoted risk.

- Ownership. We will set clear roles and
responsibilities, from the top down.

. Escalation. We will establish a process to escalate
risks to senior managemertt, if necessary.

. Moenitoring and evaluation. We will set up a
continuous process for monitoring, evoluating and
reporting across the business.

Our work to date includes climate risk being included
within our ESG principal risk and ensuring that
physical and transition risks are included in the
functional risk registers owned by the respective
business risk owners, such as finance, property,
logistics, commercial trading, supply chain and
people which can be found in on page 33,

Our plan is then to discuss potential actions with each
team, based on the principles described above. We are
implementing a Climate Risk Group, which will meet
regulorly to discuss and drive forward our approach to
climate risk management. This will include all of the risk
owners menticned above with executive sponsorship
and Audit Committee oversight, to ensure we remain
focused on the risks and opportunities for the Group

We will report on our progress with integrating climate
risks into the ERM in our FY23 Annual Report.



Metrics and Targets
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Information on our greenhouse gas erissions can be found on page 46. Currently we do not have an approved
greenhouse gas emissions reduction target as part of our metrics and targets. However, we have submitted our
commitment to the $BTi, which has now been approved and we plan to have a target in place within the next two
vears. The table below sets out the metrics we will use to monitor pregress with managing our climate-related
opportunities and risks, as well as the targets we have set in relation to them.

Metric Category

Climote-related Target

Climate-related Metric

Reasoning

Transition Risks

All sustainability-related mandatory
reporting obligations met on time
annually

% sustainability-related regulatory
disclosures met within required
timefrarme annually

We continue to be committed to
complying with ongoing regulatory
changes and support the aims of
initiatives such as TCFD to prepare
companies for climate change.

Physicol Risks

Counter-cost the top 40% of our
own brand contributing lines with
alternative manufacturers by end
of FY23

% of products by contribution with
an altemative manufacturer pion
in place

To migitate the risks of coastal
inundation and extreme heat we
plan to counter cost the top 40%
of our own brand contributing lines
with alternative manufacturers

to provide us with on attermative
partner, should our current partner
become unavailable.

Physical Risks

Ensure top manufacturer by
contribution has risk mitigation in
place in line with 2050 projected
floadplain by end of FY23

Risk mitigation in place Y/N

Following our analysis as part
of TCFD we pilan to share the
projected floodplain information
with our manufacturers to help
them mitigate their potential
physical risks in their locations.

Climate-related Oppertunities

90%+ Sports Direct GB stores with
o lease of 2 years or more and no
planned fixed breck to be fitted
with LED lighting by end of 2023

Y% of Sports Direct GB stores with
LED lighting

Lighting was identified as

the greatest energy reduction
opportunity within our estote, We
chose Sports Direct stores as a
starting point as they are the largest
percentage of our estate.

Climate-related Opportunities

Increase our container fill rate by
5% by end of FY23 basedon a
2020 base year

Average units per delivery

By maximising the fill rate of our
containers we reduce the number
of containers transported thereby
reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and costs related to those deliveries
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Energy Consumption

Reporting period 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2022

Bassline year™ FY20

Consolidation approach  Financial control

All entities and facilities globally, either
owned or under finoncial control, were
included. Emissions from air conditioning and
refrigeration units are exchuded due to the
cost of data collection. These are expected to
be a negligible percentage of scope

T emissions.

Boundary summaory

Organisations are encouraged to align
information to finoncial yeors, to oid
comparability and consistency of information
with financial performance. SECR reporting
has been prepared on an annual basis to 30
April 2022, which is aligned with the financial
year of Frasers Group. The difference in
emissions of these date ranges is expected to
be negligible.

Consistency with
financial statements

DEFRA {BES) 2021 has been used for all
emissions sources.

Emission factor
data source

Assessment methodology The footprint is calculated in accordance
with the Greenhouse Gas {GHG) Protocol
and Environmental Reporting Guidelines:
Including streamlined energy and carbon
reporting guidance. Scope 2 reporting uses
the market-based calculation approach.

18% of the energy data (kWhj} and 16% of the
emissions data (FY20: 10.3% of the energy
data (kwh) and 7.6% of the ernissions data)
used to prepare these results is based on
estimations or extrapclotions, as calculated
by a third-party provider.

Emissions per £m of revenue

Intensity ratio
m Due to the impact of Cowid-19, the base vear chosen for all future SECR
companisons is FY20 (1 May 201% to 30 Apr 20201
The Group has engaged a third-party provider to assess
emissions and energy consumption for the periods
reported in these results.

Scope 1 emissions comprise the emissions associated
with the combustion of fuels by the Group, as well as
additional emissions sources such as transport fuel.
Scope 2 emissions comprise the emissions associated
with electricity consumption by the Group, as well

as emissions from any generated electricity. Scope 3
emissions are other indirect emissions occurring as a
consequence of the activities from sources not owned
or controlled by the Group, including indirect transport
from travel in employee-owned cars and lease/hire
cars not owned by the Cormpany, transmission and
distribution losses and wel! to tank losses. The non-UK
emission factors are those published by |EA and specific
to each country.

CO2 equivalent factors are used, which ensures we have
reported on all of the emission sources required under
the Companies Act 2006 Regulations. Consumption
considers ali Group companies and no adjustments
have been made to comparatives for prior periods for
subsidiaries newly acquired in the period.

The Group's CO2 emissions and supporting metrics are
detailed in the following table:

Year FY22 ¥Y20
Scope 1 CO2 emissions {tonnes) 38913 20987
f;z'::ef ;ﬁ'};‘i‘:::) 40077 68162
Scope 3 COZ emissions {tonnes) 13,081 7,550
Total Scopet,2and 3 S2,0M 96,695
emissions {tonnes)

CO2 emissions (tonnes) / £m turnover 19.2 244
CO2 emissions vs turnover Index 78.7 oo
(2020 =100}

74.7% of Scope 1 and 2 emissions relate to the UK and
UK offshore areas.

The table below shows the Group’s energy consumption.
Scope 1 consumption relates to the consumption of

fue! and consumption from facilities operated by the
Group. Scope 2 consumption is based on the amounts of
electricity purchased through the period, as well as heat
and steam the Group generates for its own use.

Year FY22 FY20
Scope 1 consumption (kWh) 184,646,729 101,337,857
Scope 2 consumption (kWh) 305,169,529 276618584
Total Scope 1and 2 489.816,268 377956881

consumptions (kWhj

The majority of the increase is due to the later part of
FY20 being impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

The table below shows energy consumption for the UK
and UK offshore areas only:

Year FY22 FY20
Scope 1 consumption {(kWhj 156,504,302 80,667,717
Scope 2 consumption (kWh} 224,494,586 195475533
Total Scope 1and 2 3809958888 276,143,250

caonsumptions (kWhj

Frasers Group is committed to responsible energy
management and sustainability, which it practises
throughout the organisation where it is cost effective
to do so.



During the reporting year the Group has implemented
the following energy and carbon efficiencies across the
organisation, to ensure that energy consumption and
associated emissions are reduced:

»

Energy consumption for each Retail site in the UK
is monitored, to make sure they are operating in an
efficient way and to ensure that levels are reducing.

We continue to upgrade fluorescent lighting to
LED. for the Retail sites all opportunities to replace
lighting during a refit were taken and the resulting
consumption has reduced by c. 52% for those sites
that have had a full refit of lighting to the latest
LED technology.

Face-to-face meetings with colleagues and
suppliers have reduced through the increased
availability of video conferencing thereby reducing
the amount of trave! and further reducing Frasers
Group's carbon footprint.

We are implementing mini Building Management
Systemns that are highly flexible based on common
industry standards and provide excellent

energy savings.

We are using additional submetering within

sites and properties, to improve real-time energy
consumption and promote granular in-depth review
of facility energy data.

Heating and ventilations systems are undergoing
trials that include retrofits to improve
energy efficiency.

We are implementing voltage optimisation projects
that provide cost-effective solutions ond deliver
optimised supply voltage.

A number of other energy efficiency measures are

under consideration for implementation during the next
reporting year.
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

The Board confirms that, during FY22 it has acted in
the way it considers, in good foith, would be most

likely to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its members as a whole, having regard to

the stakeholders and matters set out in s.172(1}{a)-(f) of
the Companies Act 2006. This statement sets out the
matters considered under each subsection of s.172(1}
(a)-{f) and provides cross references to where further
information can be found in the Annual report. The
areas the Board focused on during the year and the key
decisions made are set out on page 65 to 7t and our
report on stakeholder engagement during the year is on
page 66.

A. The likely consequences of any decision in the
long term

When making key strategic decisions, the Board
takes into consideration the strategy, purpose,
values and culture of the Group. The Board is
focused on the sustainability of the Group and
mindful of the impact the decisions may have on
this objective. for each matter, it also considers
the likely consequences of any decision in the
long term, identifying stakeholders who may be
affected and carefully considering their interests
and any potential impact part of the decision-
making process may have. During the year, the
Board has made decisions based on Board papers,
presentations from senior executives, information
documents, discussions with external advisors
and reports.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

Key appointments to positions of senior leadership
within the Group which included:

Preparation for the transition of Michael Murray who
was appointed as CEO on 1 May 2022 as part of the
Board's long-term succession planning. The Board felt
Michael had proved himself to be a valuable asset to the
business, as an external consuitant in reiation to property
matters and the elevation of the physical store estate.
More recently, in his role of Head of Elevation, he has
built up a strong rapport with a number of key brands.

The approval of the appointment of Dave Al-Mudallal
and Sean Nevitt as Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Commercial Officer respectively, so that more focus can
be placed on areas of the business that will add value
and contribute to the ongoing Elevation strategy.

The decision to continue the share buyback programme
was also key during the financial year to demonstrate
that the Board continues to maintain confidence in the
performance of the Group.

The Board continued to be acquisitive throughout the
year. The acquisition of Studio Retail Limited was of
strategic importance to the Group due to its credit
offering which is an area that the Group is keen to
explore for its other fascias. SRLs expertise in this regard
will provide valuable insight for the Group.

B. The interests of the Company’s employees

Detuails of the initiatives and engagement with our
colleagues is detailed in the Workers' Representative
report, the Our People report and the

Directors’ report.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

The Non-Executive Workforce Director remains the
primary method that we use to ensure that colleagues
are listened to and responded to by somebody who
fully understands their situation. Cally Price remains the
Workers' Representative on the Board and retains full
control of the colleague welfare portal.

The Group has olso implemented a new e-learning and
development programme which includes a new learning
platform for colleagues which not only covers regulatory
learning, including daota protection, but also personal
development and wellbeing courses that can be used
outside the business.

It has also been decided that a Leadership Academy
that provides professional accreditation and fosters
home grown talent from within the organisation should
be offered. This allows us to invest in our people

and retain our talent, which helps with the long-term
planning and sustainability of the Group.



C. The need to foster the Company’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Group aims to develop and maintain

mutually beneficial business relationships with

all our suppliers and government agencies and
other stakeholders. Details of the Company’s
business relationships with suppliers, customers,
regulators and lenders are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

+  Our new loyalty programme has been launched.

. We have increased the available customer service

contact channels for our customers to provide
greater choice.

»  We are focusing on increasing the number of

satisfaction surveys to assist with our strategy of
improving overall customer satisfaction.

. Reworked operating hours, to be aligned to

customer demands and activity.
D. The impact of the Company's operations on the
community and the environment

The ESG report on page 33 details the initiatives
we have undertaken in sustainability and the
community.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

- We have developed and published our ESG policy.

The Group has signed up to the textiles 2030
initiative to address sustainability issues within the
supply chain,

+  We have developed extensive metrics and targets

around TCFD reporting (see page 40).

The Group has responded to the SBTi's urgent call
for corporate climate action, by committing to
align with 1.5°C and net-zero through the Business
Ambition for 1.5°C campaign.

As part of our sustainability plans, the Group has
launched a pilot - the Relived Scheme, which is aimed
at recycling used clothing so it can be redistributed to
the people in the communities that need it the most. We
are also supporting the Bumblebee Conservation Trust
and have launched a campaign to save the bumblebees.
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E. The desirability of the Company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct

At all times we endeavour to adhere to strict
Corporate Governance standards. The Board
continues to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code as well as industry best practice.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

Following recommendations from external consultants,
the Board approved the review and elevation of the
Group's internal policies and procedures to bring them
into line with industry standards and best practice.
These new policies and procedures implement greater
levels of transparency within the business.

F. The need to act fairly as between members of
the Company

All shareholders of the Company hold ordinary
shares which attach the same rights and benefits.
We ensure that all shareholders have the
opportunity to express their concerns to the Board
throughout the year, with the existence of our
investor relations contact on the Group's website,
and endeavour to respond when appropriate. The
AGM allows an opportunity for shareholders to ask
questions and to discuss issues in more depth.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

The Group recognises that the interests of our
institutional investors and other shareholders may not
always align with that of our majority shareholder. As
a result, certain resolutions at the AGM are required to
pass on @ majority of independent shareholders vote.

The Group invites and analyses feedback from investors
in relation to their votes on resolutions put forward

at the AGM as well as internal policies. This feedback

is routinely presented to the Board for consideration
during its decision making and long-term planning.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Our Risk Management Framework

The Board has overall responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group's systems of risk management ond internal
control. These systems are intended to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failing to achieve business
objectives, and they provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against the risk of material misstatement or
financial loss.

The Audit Committee supports the Board with
discharging its responsibilities, under a delegated
authority. The Chief Executive Officer has overall
accountability for managing risks in the business, and
his direct reports are accountable to him for effectively
managing those risks within their remits.

The Group's risk management framework comprises

a top-down and bottom-up approach to risk
identification, evaluation and mitigation. Principal risks
are discussed and agreed by executive management
through the Compliance & Risk Group and by the Audit
Committee on behalf of the Board. The Board and/

or its sub-committees discuss each principal risk at
least annually and receive presentations and detailed
risk reporting from risk owners on a cyclical basis. Risk
owners re-evaluate principal risks in advance of each
Compliance & Risk Group discussion. Any changes are
reported to the Audit Committee, as part of our Group
Risks Profile reporting.

The Compliance & Risk Group provides connectivity
between executive management's responsibilities

for risk management and internal controls and the
oversight roles of the Audit Committee and the Board. It
facilitotes cross-functional discussion and collaboration
across principol risk areas and matters of internal
control. It also facilitates horizon scanning, emerging
risk discussions, and challenges the appropriateness of
internal controls and their effectiveness. The Compliance
& Risk Group's activities are reported formally to the
Audit Commiittee. Our Steering Groups also report
formally to the Compliance & Risk Group, completing
our governance structure.

Our approach to risk management is illustrated below:

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORX

Boord | Audit Committee | Sub-committees
Compliance & Risk Group

Steering Groups
THREE LINES MODEL
First line Second line Third line
Management Compliance & other Internal Audit
assurance functions

RISK CONTROLS ASSURANCE

RISK
GOVERNANCE

*includes structure,
appetite & evaluation

MONITORING &
ASSURANCE

COMMUNICATION
& TRAINING

GROUP
POLICIES

PROCEDURES,
STANDARDS
& GUIDANCE

Operational teams and Functional level risks

Risk Identification

We have continued to identify and assess both our
principal and functional risks with management which
has enabled us to further develop our risk management
framework. Horizon scanning and emerging risks

form part of our structured compliance and risk group
discussicns.

Risk Controls and Responses

We have continued to enhonce clear definitions relating
to controls assessment, probability and impact, to
ensure our risks are clearly prioritised in line with our
defined risk appetite across each of our principal and
functional risks.



Governance and Monitoring

The responsibility for identifying, assessing and
managing risks resides with management ot a
functional and executive level. The Complionce and

Risk Group provides reports and detailed evaluation of
key principal risks to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee on behalf of the Board, undertakes an
annual effectiveness assessment of the risks and internal
controls of the Group.

During the period, the Audit Committee, on behalf of the
Board, has: undertaken a full review of the Group risk
register and received risk owner presentations, detailed
risk reporting and summary update reporting on the
Group's principal risks profile, for further discussion

and challenge.,

Audit and Assurance

We have a number of assurance functions that provide
second line monitoring and controls assessment e.g.
Health & Safety, Digital risk, Information Security and
Retail Support.

Our Group Internal Audit function provides independent
assurance that controls are working effectively and
reports its findings to management and the Audit
Committee as per an agreed annual cudit plan.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

These are defined as our most significant risks that

could affect our strategic ambitions, future performance,
viability and/or reputation. Principal risks are cascaded
to operational teams and central functions for discussion
and action on risk mitigations, as part of operational risk
management activity, Operational risk management
facilitates the elevation of risks to the Compliance & Risk
Group, for onward reporting to the Audit Committee.

Board Review

The work of the Audit Committee and the Internal
Audit & Risk team has been presented to the Board

for discussion. The Board is satisfied that the Group's
systems of risk management and internal control
{including financial, operational and compliance
controls) have operated effectively during the financial
period, up to and including the date of this report,

and no significant failings of internal control were
identified during the period. The Group is committed to
continuously improving its risk management framework
and methodology, in line with regulatory standards and
the Group's Elevation strategy.
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Assessment of Principal Risks

We have carried out a robust assessment of our
principal and emerging risks in the period and our
principal risks profile has been updated to reflect where
our risks have changed.

We have continued to respond well to the on-going
challenges presented by the Covid-19 pandemic in light
of the uncertainty around lockdowns in Europe and new
variants during the period. The effects of the pandemic
on economies and society at large were more prominent
than expected and we remain cautious with a number
of well publicised macroeconoemic headwinds on the
horizon in the form of but not limited to cost increases,
supply chain issues and potential squeezes on consumer
spending power.

Environmental, social and governance (ESG} issues
feature more prominently in our disclosures. Climate
and sustainability risks have remained an integral part
of our commitment to ESG and our business operations,
but have previously been incorporated into our broader
disclosures on corporate and social responsibility.

The following risks and mitigations are an extract from
our principal risks profile and are not presented in any
order of priority. Principal risks are those which we
consicler pose a threat to our business model, future
performance, prospects and/or reputation.
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Reference To Strategy

Building excellent relationships
with the World's best brands

Elevation in our digital offering

tlevation of our physical stores

Enablers : People, Training,
Brand, Communication, Systems,
Automation, Data

Risk Trends

T Increasing

<=3 Unchanged

* Decreasing




F
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

Strategy

The Group continues to deliver its Elevation strategy, which focuses on the brands we sell, our digital offering and our
physical stores. Qur vision is to become the elevated multi-channel platform for sports, premium and luxury brands.

We continue to deliver well against all aspects of our strategy, and the on-going support of our key partners and
investors for our strategy has enabled this risk to reduce over the past 12 months.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
We fail to deliver our strategy efficiently, effectively and on a +  The Board and senior management set and agree the Group
* timely basis, or we adopt the wrong strotegy, which impacts our strategy and undertake both regular and detailed reviews.
long-term growth, performance and ambition.

+  Qur Group is diverse in terms of geography and product
and executive management is able to respond to strotegic
opportunities and challenges with agility, to maximise
achievement of our strategic ambitions.

+  We continue to evaluate strategic brand acquisitions, to
provide product and choice in line with our brand strategy
and add attractive locations to the store estate.

+  Effective mancgement of our property portfolio supports our
elevated direction.

+  We monitor our performance, markets and competition on an
ongoing basis.

+  Qur strong financial controls, reporting and analysis help to
optimise resource allocations, maximise profits and cash flow
and support efficient and effective strategic delivery.

+  We perform ongoing research for insights into consumer trends.

+  Ongoing internal and external communication of our strategic
direction supports understanding, engogernent ond
effective delivery.
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Third-Party Brand Relationships, Key Suppliers and Supply Chain Management

Key brands, brand suppliers and major manufacturers are central to our business and Elevation strategy. Our strategic
acquisitions and business model aim to bring attractive brands into the Group, to support custormer demand and
choice.

Qur supply chain is international and is subject to stringent management of supply chain logistics and working capital,
we continue to navigate through the well-publicised global supply chain issues to ensure the flow of product is in line
with our strategic ambition,

We have continued to strengthen our brand and supplier relationships during the pandemic, demonstrating the
strength of our business model and strategic performance. This also supports new product availability, in line with our
elevation ambitions.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strotegy  R1K Controls and Mitigations
— We fail to mancge and leverage our supplier and brand partner  «  The Group has a policy of forging close long-term commercial
relotionships successfully, to secure the right products for our relationships, which are underpinned by our commitment to
business at the right price and quality, and to meet or exceed product, elevation and customer excellence.

our customers' expectations, Failure to mitigate these risks might

The £l (¢ tegy t forgi i i
impact our elevation targets, performance and long-term growth, @ Elevation strategy targets forging stronger rejationships

with key brand partners, and this continues to be an
ongoing priority.

* Dedicated relationship portners, procurement and commercial
teams support truly integrated supplier engaogement.

+  The Group utilises two leading supply chain companies to
procure much of its own-brand products. A Group-owned
supply chain entity further diversifies risk.

+  Our stock levels supported our ability to trade through
the Covid-19 pandemic and supply chain delays. We have
cohtinued to secure ongeoing supplies, due to the depth and
breadth of our commercial relationships.

»  Suppliers sign-up to the Group's Supplier Marua!, which
enables us to monitor and benchmark supplier performance.

»  Strong service level agreements are in place, which help to
support an effective supply chain network.

»  Qur own-brand investment targets consumer trends and
complements third-party brands, supporting consumer choice.

+  Influencer partnerships and brand collaborations provide
opportunities for own-brand growth.

+  Electronic Data Interface (ED1} capability improves our process
efficiency through the commercial cycle and enhances
supplier engagement through a dedicated supplier portal.
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Global Macro-economic Conditions, Events {Pandemic) or Political Factors

The current geo-political events and the on-going global pandemic are core aspects of this risk in the period under
review. We also monitor global and national political change on an ongoing basis, for impacts on our strategy and
supplier networks. These are external events and we respond well to those factors we can control. The strength of our
business and our performance enables us to generally absorb the broader indirect economic impacts associated with
these risks {including the challenging economic conditions at present, with inflationary pressures and increased energy
and cost of living) olthough we remain cautious at all times,

The current macro-economic pressures and geo-political events occurring in Eastern Europe have clearly increased
this risk and we continue to monitor these events and the potential impacts on the Group.

Risk Trend and | . .
Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
f Failure to anticipate, evaluate or appropriately respond to Pandemic:
external events, or broader global/macroecanomic conditions, We h . impl t effecti
events (pandemic) or political foctors, may risk the achieverment e have cantinued to implement & Ive response

of our performance targets, im our st i direction or procedures, with Board oversight and prioritisation.

longer-term viability, or result in lost opportunities for growth. +  Our mandated safe working and operating standords
prioritise colleague and custorner wellbeing.
»  We deployed new sofety requirements quickly, with external
validation and ongoing evaluation, review and monitoring.

»  Investments in our online copability and custorner service
delivery support our accelerated growth in e-cormnmerce.

- Effective supplier and supply chain management optimises
working capital and leverages ond strengthens our
commercial relationships.

»  Effective monagement of cash flows and committed facilities
supports our liquidity, long-term viability and trading
partner support.

+  We conduct ongoing scenario analysis, with timely reporting
to monagement.

+  We leverage opportunities for investment, through strong
management oversight.

Monitoring of economic and political change:

+  We ensure ongoing financial and commercial evaluation of
economic and political change, with senior management
oversight and Board reporting.

+  The executive-led Compliance & Risk Group holds emerging
risks discussions, with oversight reporting to the
Audit Committee.

« Immediate online closure of sanctioned countries for deliveries

or trade through our web platforms wos octioned during the
current conflict.
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Treasury, Liquidity and Credit Risks

Short, medium and long-term funding arrangements support our business operations and our ability to meet our
financial obligations and deliver our strategic ambitions.

Funding availability remains a principo! risk but the overall risk level trended downwards towards the end of the period,
based on our trading performance and strategic delivery through the height of the pandemic and the successful
refinancing of our Group facility to 2024, however with the acquisition of Studio Retail Group, we remain cautious of
our exposure to credit risk in respect to ‘Credit customer receivables’ and therefore the overall risk remains unchanged.

Interest rate risks arise on net borrowings. Foreign exchange risk arlses from internotional trading, future soles and
purchases in foreign currency, loans to non-UK subsidiaries and unhedged options to buy or sell foreign currency.
Credit risk arises primarily through cur Wholesale and Licensing customers and there is some level of counter-party
risk exposure, although we do not consider this to be material.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strotagy "ok Controls and Mitigations
” ) Failure to appropriately manage our funding and liquidity +  Our Board reporting on debt, covenants, funding and cash

positions and secure access to funding markets might impact our flow positions includes stress testing and extensive business
plans for growth, the ability to manage our trading requirements, risk scenario analysis, including Brexit, Covid-13, mandated
meet longer-term liabilities and the ongoing viability of store closures and related costs.
our business. +  The Group Treasury function manoges liquidity, interest rote
and foreign exchange risks.
= The Group treasury policy, with Board oversight, cutlines
delegated authorities for operation, monitoring and reporting.
+  We have refinanced our Group facility until 2024 with on
option to increase the term by an additional two yeors.

»  Ongeing monitoring and reporting of going concern and
viability ore part of our standard suite of intemal and
extarnal reporting.

»  Our hedging strategy is reviewed and approved annually
as part of our treasury governance, with hedging activity
reported to Board.

+  Investments of surplus cash, borrowings and derivative
investments are made under pre-approved investment criteria.

+  We use forward foreign currency contracts to hedge against
highly probable foreign currency trading transactions.

+  We conduct regular monitoring of customer and
counter-party credit risks.

See note 3 to the Financial Statements for further detail on financial risk management.
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Customer

Customer engagement and retention is vital to our Group, whether through our physical stores or online. Continuing
to harness customer value and loyalty consistently across Lhe Group Is complex as it is underpinned by our product
offerings, price and service.

We have enhanced our e-commerce offering and significantly improved our customer experience through our
Elevation strategy, as well as our customer service and the underlying platform for our digital business.

We continue to strengthen our elevation through our new concept stores and flagship multi-fascia offerings.

Risk Trend and "
Links To Strategy Risk Controls ond Mitigations
2 g UM to onticipate and respund to customer needs or changes -+ We conduct ongoing monitaring of customer insights and
in consumer trends and spending, or to drive and deliver competitor and market trends.
C""Stot':t?r servg:e excelllence,g.nfxy impact our growth, value, +  We review and update our customer policies periodically which
repultation and strategic ambition. enables us to respond to and drive our customer-led strategy.

« Continued investment in our customer service offering,
systems and cornmunication enables us to understand and
improve our customer experience, working ocross all channels
including social media.

+  We continue to develop and invest in our online offering, in
line with customer demand.

+  Ongeing enhancement of our ESG agendos supports our
strategy, in line with our custormer focus.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The legal and regulatory landscape in which we operate is constantly changing. Our commitment to delivering
robustly on our obligations is central to our culture and values.

We have increased our assessment of this risk in the period, based on factors which continue to impact the legal and
regulatory landscape in which we operate. We are conservative in our assessments and are confident in our ability
to manage these risks effectively. The trend we are reporting recognises anticipated changes through our horizon
scanning and emerging risks evaluations, until we have implemented our response plans.

Risk Trend and . " N
Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
An action or incident may occur which results in a legal or +  Qur experienced and qualified in-house Legal team provides
1 regulatory breach and which impacts our business financially, core services and advice as well as oversight of new and
commercially or reputationally and/or may result in litigation. emerging legislative and regulatory requirements.

«  External advisers provide additional services and training in
specialist areas, as required by the business and legal team.

- Key legislative and regulatory compliance risk areas are
prioritised [including but not limited to), FCA regulation, GDPR/
data protection, health and safety, P rights, Listing Rules and
Troding Standards as an ongoing priority.

+  Qur Code of Conduct supports our ethics, behaviours and
culture, and our regulatory policies include, for example,
Anti-Bribery & Corruption, Corporate Gifts & Hospitality ond
Conflicts of Interest.

+  We review the approach and content of mandatory induction,
policies and engoing training across relevant areas, for
all colleagues.

+  The Legal team is a key contributor and adviser to the
Compliance & Risk Group,
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Technology Capability and Infrastructure Renewal

We operate in a competitive and challenging customer-focused market. Our systems need to be built with customer
experience at the forefront, supporting an end-to-end supply chain logistics service. Technoiogy is constantly evolving
and managing change and transformation in this environment is a key focus.

We have invested heavily in our automation, enhancement of IT platforms and delivery capabilities, which support a
modernised online and in-store customer experience, built on resilient infrastructure.

Risk Trend and .
Links To Strategy Controls and Mitigations
e Failure to maximise the use of our existing technology or to +  We continue to develop our Group technology strategy, which
renew our infrastructure in a timely ond effective way may affect is aligned to the business strategy.
our ability to keep up with the pace of change and deliver cur

Our forward programme of infrastructure renewal enables us
to operote our business efficiently and support our ability
to compete.

+  Our streamlining and decommissioning programme supports
acquisitions and integration activity.

+ Investments in our online trading capabilities, warehouse
management systems and in-store technology enhance the
end-to-end customer experience.

+  Qur experienced Technology team, supported by cngoing
skifls training, helps us to keep abreast of emerging
technologies and customer-leading insights.

strategic ambition.

*  We develop an ongoing cycle of internal training programmes
. to support effective use of existing and new technologies
! across our businesses, as they ore introduced.

+  Strengthening our information security capability has
enhanced cur transformation programme, our strategic
technology delivery and the robustness of our
second-line oversight.

Cyber Risks, Data Loss and Data Privacy

Attempts to attack or gain unauthorised access to systems and data are becoming increasingly sophisticated. Our
! systems are critical to our operations and trading. We have legal and commercial obligations to protect the security
and privacy of the data we hold and process.

We combine the continued investment in our digital offering, automation and technological change with the
strengthening of our people and in-house capabilities, to deliver on our risk mitigations.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations

lost trade, as well as our reputation and our ability to operate. +  We colloborate ¢losely with our industry leading service
Failure to aodequately protect our processes and the data we hold partners, who provide care services beyond our in-house
may result in legal or regulatory breach, koss of trust and financial capabilities. Copabiiity delivery, security and savings ore
loss. core drivers,

*  Protection tools, including encryption, and detection tools are
in place to support effective monitoring and reperting, and are
reviewed regularly.

We have enhanced our information security capabilities and
strengthened our second-line monitoring.

+  We conduct an annual external review of our cyber
infrastructure and penetration testing across the Group.

i - Strengthening our data protection mandate, enhancing our

policies and procedures and ongoing intemal training help
to mitigate dato protection and privacy risks and support
delivery of our change ond transformation programme.

*  We have an ongoing prograrmme of security and privacy
monitoring across our Group and extended enterprise.

+  Ourin-house Legal team supports second-line manitoring and
reporting of legislative compliance.

i * We have continued to invest in data protection training and
communications {and local legisiative equivalents in cur
overseas operations).

*  We routinely action and retain Data Protection
Impact Assessments.

PR A cyber-attack may result in data loss and/or denial of service, »  We haove strategies and policies in place to support our (T
I impacting our business financially through fines and penalties or security, with continued development and review.
|
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Business Continuity Management and Incident Response

Our Head Office and Distribution Centre at Shirebrook and our e-commerce activity are critical to our business
operations. There is an ongoing and increasing reliance on the availability of technology across our Group. We heed
the ability to respond to incidents effectively and on a timely basis, to ensure continuity of operations and trade.

We have continued to invest in our warehouse automation and develop appropriate documented contingency
strategies allowing this risk to move downwards over the period.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations

Failure to respond effectively or on a timely basis to operational - Our business continuity plans are fully documented and are
or IT incidents or events might impact the Group financially scheduled for continual review, revision and testing as required.
through lost revenue or have a reputational impact, based on our |

- Our governance structure su rts agile incident response,
copability and communications. ppons ag po

with clear roles, responsibilities and reporting lines.

+ Annual external review and challenge of our processes
supports our commitrment to continuous improvernent.

+  Ongoing training supports good practice and knowledge
sharing for continuity.

= Intemmal ond external communications, marketing and PR
capabilities are integral to our incident response plans.

*  Recovery prioritisation of IT systerns ond processes forms port
of our business impact analysis review.

+  We have recovery time targets for both critical and normal
service functions.

+  Critical recovery capabilities align to our appetite and controls,
supported by appropriate insurance cover.

Group Entities and Extended Enterprise

Our Group is complex and extensive and includes oversight of our third-party and extended enterprise partners and
suppliers. We are committed to ensuring we have the right levels of transparency, consistency and monitoring across
our Group, to enable effective oversight in line with our values and culture.

We have an appetite for acquisitions as part of our strategic growth agenda. Qur integration strategy continues to be
developed to support ongoing efficient and effective acquisition engagement and management.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

— Failure to effectively monitor activities across our Group entities, - Transparency across our Group and extended enterprise
partners and suppliers, who form part of our extended enterprise, and its changes is an engoing priority. It is subject to regular
may result in financial, reputational or legal compliance issues. review and discussion and forms part of our risk manogement

framework and reporting.

«  Oversight roles and responsibilities across our Group structure
support risk-based functional monitoring and assurance.

*  We maintain strength in our supply chain manogement and
supplier and partner relationships.

»  Risk and controls reporting across the Group is subject to
continuous improvement, including self-assessment processes
for confirmation of compliance with key policies, contrals and
cther Group requirernents.

+ Govemance and menitoring are in place for new investrments,
acquisitions and opportunities,

+  The Group Internal Audit team is developing third-line
monitoring to support the broader internol controls framework
across the Group.

Risk Controls and Mitigations
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People, Talent Management and Succession

Our business benefits from strength and depth of knowledge, talent and experience, which has long been pivotdl to its
success. Retaining and protecting this talent, providing for succession and an ongoing programme of attracting and

developing new talent is core to our people plans and objectives.

We have made significant progress in the period in this area and when new initiatives have time te embed, we expect
to see this risk trend decrease. However, the current pressures on the national labour market throughout the retail

sector has increased our risk over the period.

Risk Trend and .
Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitig
Failure to attract, retain or develop talent across our businessand + Continued development of strong trainee management and
T implement effective succession planning might impact our ability apprenticeships programmes supports our future
to achieve business and strategic objectives and the efficiency of talent pipeline.

our growth transformation.

We recruit externally to fill copability gaps necessary for our
growth and transformation.

We prioritise internal development and promaotion wherever
possible and actively encourage cross-functional experience.
A new fearless focus’ appraisal system has been introduced,
with clear expectations for performance, opportunities for
development and broader succession planning.

A six pillar People Framework supporting performance and
talent recognition is now in place across the Group.

An internal recruitment mandate operates, with improvements
in onboarding and applicant tracking.

We have created core principles and o colleogue value
proposition that share the Group's values and ambitions for
our people, with an elevated and re-energised website to
attract talent.

A new recoghition and bonus structure has been launched,
recognising and rewarding people who continually adopt our
core principles.

The Workers' Representative is a Boord Director, who supports
communication channels and gives our people a voice at the
highest level in our business.

We have a strong strategy for diversity and inclusion and
people support.

We have made significant investment into leaming and
development, supporting internal progression ond overall
ongonisational capability.



Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG)

Tackling climate change is a global imperative and the resulting increase in regulation is a key focus area for

the Group.
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Meuasures which support climate change initiatives and our wider ESG agenda continue to be key components of our
strategic direction, supporting sustainability, the broader social agenda and consumer choice.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

Risk

Controls and Mitigations

—

Failure to maximise our position and value relating to ESG factors

might impact our ability to achieve our growth, value, reputation
and strategic ambitions.

We have Board-level engagement and an Executive sponsor
of our ESG agenda.

Sustainability continues to be embedded throughout the
business and is a continued area of focus for the Graup.

Dedicated operational leadership continues to drive project
and progromme initiatives and engagement through our
supply chair.

Appointing our Group Carbon Reduction Manager shows our
commitment to tackling climote change.

We have evaluated our risks and opportunities around climate
change and our TCFD disclosures provide further details
on this.

We have an environmental policy in place, which has been
reviewed and approved by the Board,

We have energy efficiency targets, monitoring and
measuremnent, with external specialist support and league
tables with reward mechanisms to drive this forward.

We continue to launch ranges and products that drive
responsible and sustainable purchasing decisions.

Our community initigtives support the provision of vouchers to
schools and organisations to allow purchases of
discounted sportswear.

Review and ongoing development of the Group Code of
Conduct supports our values and colleague engagement and
includes a standardised framework for supplier onboarding.

We are constantly working with our partner brands and
suppliers to encourage more sustoinable practices.
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Property

The retail landscape continues to see significant changes with a high volume of retail properties vacant due to the
high leve! of retail insolvencies and retailers moving away from bricks and mortar to e-commerce due to the shift in
consumer behaviour, which has further increased due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

As a result of the above, both the value and value in use of retail properties has declined.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

Risk

Controls and Mitigations

l

There is a financial risk to the Group if our commitment to a
lease or the value of our freehold properties decline, where high
vacancy rates make the area less attractive for our consumers
and drive less footfall to our stores.

For new store leases we octively engage and werk with our
landiords to support rents that are flexible and linked to
store turnover.

We aim to align rent free packages and capital contributions
from landlords to reflect the elevated store fit outs,

As retoil units become more affordable, we look to move

into more prime locations with more footfall and consurner
resilience,

We are actively reviewing our lease portfolio and looking to
renegotiate with landiords in relation to underperforming stores.
The freehold estate is octively managed by the property team
and we will look to dispose of sites which are not aligned with
the Group's strategy or where there is a commercial benefit to
the wider Group.

The Strategic Report has been approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Chris Wootton

Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022
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VIABILITY STATEMENT

The 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code requires the
Board to express its view of the long-term viability of
the Group and assess the Company's prospects, capital
management and principal risks.

Accordingly, the Baard regularly carries out thorough
and robust assessments of the risks, including stress
testing the Group's resilience to threats to its business
model, strategy, future performance and liquidity

and the risks identified in the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties section of this Report, together with the
steps the Group has taken to mitigate them. In addition,
the Board regularly reviews the performance and
financing position of the Group and its projected funding
position and requirements.

The Group continues to face the challenges that the
pandemic, Brexit, supply chain issues and changing
consumer behaviour are having on the retail industry.

The Board chose to review these over a three-year
period to 27 April 2025, This period is covered by the
Group's combined term loan and revolving credit

facility {on the assumption the extension is granted).
Management is satisfied that a three year period is
appropriate to review performance, as it best reflects the
short-term budgeting and planning process of the Group,
the longer-term forecasting and the expected timescales
for strategy implementation. The process adopted to
prepare the model for assessing the viability of the
Group involved input from a number of departments
across the business to model a conservative scenario.

The Board has considered all the risks included within
our Principal Risks section as they could all have an
impact on performance. However, with regards to
viability, we have focused on those which are the
greatest risk:

Global Macro-economic Conditions,
Events {(Pandemic) or Political factors
We have:

«  reviewed the continuing impact of the pandemic
cn the Group's sales and margin in relation to both
store and online revenue; and

«  reviewed the continuing impact on costs due
to Brexit.

Third-party Brand Relationships, Key
Suppliers and Supply Chain Management

We have:

«  tested the business model's resilience to changes in
the retail market and responses to variability in soles
and margins;

. taken into account turther consumer shift from
bricks and mortar to online;

»  forecast the impact of key suppliers going direct
to consumer;

«  reviewed the arrangements with key suppliers; and

. forecast and modelled increased costs associated
with supply chain issues.

Treasury, Liquidity and Credit Risks
We have:

. reviewed the Group facility and its suitability for the
Group's cash flow cycle and liquidity requirements;
ond

«  reviewed the Group's hedging strategy.

Viability has been assessed by performing sensitivity
analysis and stress testing of the Group's FY23 budget
and forecast for the viability period prepared by
management. This comprised a recent review by the
Board of a number of scenarios in which the Group's
income staternent, balance sheet and cash flow
forecasts were stress tested to determine how much
the Group's trade would need to be affected in order
to breach the Group's covenants {being interest cover
and net debt to EBITDA ratios). These scenarios, the
occurrence of which are deemed to be highly

remote, include:

Scenario 1:

The Frasers Group operations as a whole are impacted
by & material and unexpected reduction in demand {e.g.
future pandemic), we materially fail to monage brand
partner relationships resulting in trade being impacted
for a period of time (e.g. loss of key suppliers) or there

is a significant impact due to the economic downturn
globally due to reduced customer confidence resulting in
lower spending.
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Assumptions:

+  afurther decrease in sales of 10%, margin remaining
consistent with original budget and direct costs
falling in line with sales,

Scenario 2:

Our supply chain continues to be affected across

the Group by the impact of Covid-19 and Brexit,

with logistics costs significantly increased for both
ourselves and our suppliers who pass on the increased
costs impacting our margin or there is a significant
impact due to the economic downturn globally due to
customers being more price sensitive,

Assumptions:

- the gross margin percentage reducing by a further
2% across the Group, with other assumptions
remaining consistent with the original budget.

Scenario 3;

. this is a combination of scenarios 1 and 2 above and
is seen as the worst-case and highly unlikely.

This scenario testing indicated that the business could
withstand a sustained decline in sales and gross margin
and, through the use of mitigating actions, remain within
its financing facilities and covenants,

On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing
borrowings and entered into a combined term loan and
revolving credit facility of £930.0m for a period of three
years, with the possibility to extend this by a further two
years. This facility increased to £340.0m as at 24 April
2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end.

The Group has consistently created strong operating
cash flows from underlying trading and has an
appropriate hedging strategy to meet currency risks.
There hove been no post balance sheet changes

to liquidity.

The impact on the projected cash flow as o result of

the conservative model has been reviewed, if required
management has a number of mitigating actions which
could be taken such as putting on hold discretionary
spend, liquidating certain assets on the balance sheet, or
reductions in labour and marketing costs.

Based on its assessment, the Board has a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue
operating and be able to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for o period of approximately three years,

The Viability Statement was approved by the Board on
20 September 2022, and signed on its behalf by:

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022




GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Chair's Introduction

As Chair, my primary role is to ensure that the Board
effectively sets and implements the Company's direction
and strategy. | am responsible for leading the Board

to make decisions that will benefit the Group and
ultimately its stakeholders. My role is to ensure that we
adhere to high standards of corporate governance that
will facilitate the continued sustainability of the Group.

Our Non-Executive Directors have a great depth

of experience, remain independent throughout all
discussions and are rigorous in challenging the
Executives in the best interests of the Group. Our
Executive Directors understand the Group's values and
behaviours. They work tirelessly to retain and grow
shareholder value, engage our workforce and promote
the Group's strateqy.

The Board and the Committees continue to work
effectively and collaboratively to ensure the decisions
being made drive the Group forward. | would like to
thank Board members for their commitment

and diligence.

We have continued our efforts to work on improving our
environmental impact and sustainability as well as the
difference we make in the communities we serve. Further
details are included in our ESG report at page 33.

The Board and Audit Committee have worked with

the sustainability team as well as external advisors in
relation to TCFD reporting. The Board and Committee's
have also worked with the Group to set stretching

but achievable targets for the Group during the FY23
financial year. The TCFD report is at page 40.

We have also continued to strengthen our governance
as part of our ongoing Elevation strategy. Further
information regarding our compliance with the Code
can be found in our Corporate Governance Statement
at page 65.

David Daly
Naon-Executive Chair of the Board
20 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

This Corpaorate Governance Report and Statement sets
out how the Company has applied the principles in the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code during its financial
period ended 24 April 2022. A copy of the Code is
available at www.frc.org.uk.

Disclosures in relation to DTR 7.2.6 {share capital) and
DTR 7.2.8 (diversity) are set out in the Directors’ Report
on page 95 and in the Nomination Committee Report
on page 75.

The Board considers that it complied with the majority of
the principles and provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code for the period ended 24 April 2022,
One area in which the Board was not fully compliant
was Code Provision 36 which requires that remuneration
schemes should promote long-term shareholdings

by Executive Directors that support alignment with
long-term shareholder interests and that share awards
granted for this purpose should be released for sale on
a phased basis and be subject to a total vesting and
holding period of five years or more. The Executive
Share Scheme approved by 86.6% of shareholders’
voting at the 2021 AGM has a total five-year vesting
period as suggested by the Code but could permit 50%
of share awards to vest after four years if our stretching
share price targets (@ minimum £12 or £15 as relevant
maintained for 30 dealing days) are attained within 4
years of the commencement of the plan.

Board Leadership and Company Purpose
The Board

Board changes during the year were minimal, with one
director resignation due to a conflict of interest. Despite
this, the Board remains stable and well resourced. We
are reviewing the Board's size, composition and skillset
on a regular basis to ensure that it continues to be fit
for purpose and address areas where we can make the
most effective changes.

Business Model

Information on the Group's business model and strategy
can be found in the Strategic Report on pages 12 to 16.
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Culture

During the year the Board, and the Remuneration
Committee in particular, met reguiarly with the Group
Head of People to assess and monitor the culture of the
Group, especially as seen from outside the Group. This
led to a social media strategy to raise the reputotion and
profile of the Group to bring in potential future talent.
The Group has also developed a newsletter to provide
more regular and consistent messaging to colleagues.

Further information on the Group's culture can be found
on page 33.

Stokeholder Engagement

Like most companies, the Group has to balance

the needs of multiple stakeholders. Stakeholder
engagement is integral to the growth and sustainability
of the Group. We aim to ensure that we capture the
views of as many stakeholders as possible. Whilst we

try to accept commendation where appropriate and
address criticisms when necessary, we are mindful that
this may not always be possible. We recognise that the
most important objective in our approach to stakeholder
engogement is to balonce stakeholder views against
other competing factors and accept that it may not
always be possible to achieve a satisfactory outcome for
all stakeholders. During the year, the Board has made
decisions based on the Board papers, presentations
from senior executives and discussions with and reports
from external consultants. The principal decisions in
relation each of stakeholders is contained in the 5.172
statement on page 48.

Employees

Please see the Director's report for details of employee
engagement.

Shareholders

The AGM provides shareholders with an avenue to have
direct access to the Board and senior leadership. The
Group resumed physical AGMs in FY21 but also offered
shareholders the ability to submit questions prior to

the meeting.

Comments from our shareholders are passed to the
Board and relevant committees for consideration and
analysis. The Executive Directors are also available

for questions at all our result presentations and
shareholders’ opinions are closely monitored through
analyst and broker correspondence. Our larger
shareholders also have regular engagement with senior
executives and a number have visited our Shirebrook site
during the financial year. Shareholders also have access
to other key representatives of the Group, by using the
investor relations contact on the Group's website.

Customers

The Group continues in its effort to provide an elevated
customer experience. Our efforts aim to act upon and
improve customer feeclback. Customers now have the
ability to reach out to us through numerous channels
and we have started the roll out of self-service options
in selected fascios. There have also been improvements
to the online help centre to encourage first-time
resolutions for the customers who make contact and we
have adopted a flexible-working approach to address
customer demand during peak times.

The Group has invested in an Operational Excellence
proegramme which is focused on supporting, developing
and empowering the Customer Service teams to
provide them with the right tools to meet the highest
standards of customer service and satisfaction. We
have also invested in increasing our Customer Service
capacity by establishing an inhouse contact centre in
one of the overseas territories in which we operate. The
Group has also made significant investments in our
digital capabilities and approach to customer service
management which we are confident will yield improved
results for FY23.

The acquisition of Studio Retail Group, which had a very
strong consumer credit team, has also ensured that we
can accelerate our proposition of offering our customers
more flexible payment options, by utilising this expertise
for the rest of the Group.

Suppliers

We aim to engage with suppliers who have compatible
values to those of the Group and who provide value for
money and high-quality goods and services. The Group
prides itself on fostering long-term relationships with
our key brand partners to ensure ongoing continuity

of supplies to our customers. This includes, where
appropriate, making strategic investments in brand
partners such as Mulberry and Hugo Boss.

Our own-brand products continue to be produced and
supplied by our two gateway suppliers with whom we
have a longstanding relationship.

We are currently undertaking a review of our
procurement process and policies, to assess our suppliers
to ensure that we can meet our ESG commitments and
achieve our TCFD targets. Further information can be
found in our ESG report.



Regulators

The Group makes every endeavour to comply with its
legislative and regulatory obligations. We regularly
lfaise with HMRC, the FRC and the FCA in an open and
transparent manner. The Finance team and the Board
have established regular communications with tax
authorities internationally. Qur internal tax team has a
dedicated contact at HMRC and we have dedicated
contacts at other Government bodies, such as

Trading Standards.

Lenders

Alongside attending all Board meetings, the CFO is
always availoble to inform the Board of any updates in
relation to financial lenders. With the assistance of the
Finance team, the CFO ensures that the Group complies
with the terms and conditions in its credit facility
agreements, The CFO regularly liaises with the Chair of
the Remuneration Committee and the Chair of the Audit

Committee, to discuss the Group's financial performance.

Updates on the Group's financial performance are
provided at every Board meeting.

During the year, the Group entered into a new term loan
and revalving credit facility that is valid for three years
at a value of £930 million with the option to increase
the value up to £1.2 billion. As at the date of the release
of this Annual report the Group facility was at a value of
£980m. This replaces the previous £913m facility.

Community

Details of our engagement with the community can be
found in our ESG report on page 33.

Worlkdorce Concerns

Cally Price remains the voice of workers on the Board
and provides a direct link with the workforce and Board.
She regularly provides the Board with an update on the
workforce and brings any pertinent issues to

their attention.

The workforce is able to raise awareness of any issue
they face by speaking with their line managers or HR.
They con also send an e~mail to the whistleblowing
inbox if they have concerns around wrongdoing or
they can report issues anonymously through the “Your
Company, Your Voice' hotline, which is monitored by
Cually Price. There is also an anonymous whistleblowing
e-mail address to voice concerns, which the Company

Secretary has access to and is responsible for monitoring.

Whistleblowing is an agenda item at each Board
meeting so thot any concerns can be raised to the
Board. In addition, the Chair has regulor meetings with
the Company Secretary on an informal basis, where any
whistleblowing reports can be discussed.

Colleagues also have access to confidential wellbeing
advice and support through the Retail Trust.
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Director Concerns

During the year, no concerns were raised by the Board,
or any current or former directors, regarding the
operation of the Board or the management of

the Group.

Conflicts of Interest

Details of procedures regarding Directors’ conflicts of
interest, including the Relationship Agreement with Mike
Ashley as the controlling shareholder, can be found in
the Directors’ Report.

Anouska Kapour was appeinted to the Board in
September 2021, but subsequently took the decision

to resign from the Board in December 2021 due to a
conflict of interest. No further conflicts from other Board
members became apparent throughout the year.

The Board considered whether Nicola Frampton's
appointment as Chief Operations Officer of Dominc's
Pizza Group created a conflict of interest. It was
unanimously agreed that as Domino's operates in a
separate sector to the Group, that this was not a conflict.
Nicola continues to be able to dedicate encugh time to
her role as a Non-Executive Director, as shown by her
Board and Committee attendance throughout the year.

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has continued with the elevation of its
corporate governance framework. The Group has
re-drafted and published numerous policies including
our Whistleblowing and Anti-Bribery & Corruption
policies to strengthen our current internal controls. This
work will continue into the next financial year. The
Internal Audit team has drafted an audit timetable

for the FY23 financial year, reviewing various different
departments to ensure internal controls are appropriate.

Division of Responsibilities
The Chair

The Chair leads the Board, ensuring constructive
communications between Board members and that

all Directors are able to play a full part in the Board's
activities. The Chair sets Board agendas and ensures
that Board meetings are effective and that all Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information.

The Chair communicates with shareholders effectively
and ensures that the Board understands the views of
major investors. The Chair also provides advice and
support to both the Executive and Non-executive
Board members. The Chair continues to meet the
independence criteria set out in provision 10 of the
Corporate Governance Code.
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The Chief Executive

The Chief Executive provides leadership to the senior
leadership team in the day-to-day management of the
Group, with an emphasis on long-term goals, growth,
profit, and return on investment. He is instrumental in
formulating and implementing the Group's strategy.
He is the main point of contact between the senior
leadership team and the Board and facilitotes effective
communication and flow of information with the
Non-Executive Directors. Michael Murray became Chief
Executive on 1 May 2022. Mike Ashley and Michael
Murray worked together for o number of months, to
ensure a smooth transition into the role.

The Senior Independent Director

Richard Bottomiey, OBE, is the Senior Independent
Non-executive Director. He works closely with the
Chair and provides support to both him and the other
Non-Executive Directors. He is also an alternative point
of contact for shareholders ond is able to assist when
necessary if they have concerns. He is also responsible
for ensuring that the annual appraisal of the Chair's
performance is completed and is supported by the
other Non-Executive Directors in this respect and for
overseeing the succession planning for the role of the
Chair. Richard is also chair of the Audit Committee and
has regular contact with the internal finance team and
the external auditor.

Role of the Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors have extensive experience
from a wide range of sectors. Their role is to understand
the Group in its entirety, to constructively challenge
strategy and management performance, set executive
remuneration and ensure appropriate succession
planning is in place. The Non-Executive Directors

must also ensure they are satisfied with the accuracy

of financial information ond that effective risk
management and internal control processes are in place.

independence

There are currently three independent Non-Executive
Directors, as well as a Non-executive Chair of the Board,
a Non-executive Workforce Director, and three Executive
Directors, with the appointment of Michael Murray

as CEO on 1 May 2022. All Non-Executive Directors,
other than the Non-executive Workforce Director,

were considered independent upon appointment. The
Non-executive Workforce Director is not considered to
be independent as she is employed by the Group.

Delegation of Responsibilities

The Board has three sub-committees, nomely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. The Committees are governed by their
Terms of Reference, which provide details of matters
delegated to them. The Terms of Reference are available
on the Group's website at frasers.group/financials/
corporate-governance and are reviewed annuaily to
ensure they remain fit for purpose. The roles of the
Chairman, Chief Executive and Senior Independent
Director are clearly defined and set out in writing.



Remuneration
Committee

Remuneration
policy

Remuneralion
schemes

Service contracts
for senior executives
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Key Board
Responsibilities

Approving budgets

Setting the Group's values and standards

Approving strategic aims and objectives
Approving acquisitions and disposals

Approving the appointment or removal of
Board members

Approving foreign exchange and commodities
transactions above a material level

Audit
Committee

External audit
Financial reporting
Internal audit
Risk management

Compliance
and fraud

Nomination Committee

Composition of the Board

Succession planning

Matters reserved for the Board

There is a formal schedule of matters that require

Board approval before any action is taken by the senior
leadership team. The matters reserved for the Board
could have significant strategic, financial or reputational
impact on the Group so are subject to extra scrutiny. The
schedule of matters is reviewed annually and updated
by the Board when necessary.

Board and Committee Performance

Board, Cormmittee and individual director performance
are evaluated annually in line with the requirements

of the Corporate Governance Code 2018, The
Non-Executive Directors, led by Richard Bottomley,
review the perforrmance of the Chair, taking into
account the views of Executive Directors. The outcome
of the review is relayed to the Chair, with constructive
comments to improve his future performance.

During the period, the Chair reviewed the performance
of all Non-Executive Directors, to ensure their
performance remains effective and that they are
committed to and capable of performing the role. The
Chair has discussed with each Non-Executive Director

how they can improve their knowledge, behaviour and
skills, in order to be better equipped for the rale. A skills
matrix is in the process of being produced to allow
objective analysis of where Board performance can be
improved. It will also be used as a tool in our succession
planning when recruiting new directors. The Board

and Nomination Committee had numerous meetings
throughout the year to discuss the appointment of
Michael Murray as CEQ. These meetings reviewed his
performance during his property consulting role and as
Head of Elevation and identified the skills that he could
bring to the Board.

There was a thorough independent external evaluation
of the Board and its committees in FY21. The
performance of the board and its committees have
been discussed in the individual Boord appraisals taking
into account the recommendations and comments
arising from the review in FY21.

Following the appointment of the new CEO in May
2022, the Boord is intending to consider again the
recommendations of the external review and see
whether there are any further steps to take.
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In addition to the evaluation of the Non-Executive
Directors, the performance of the Executive Directors
was also reviewed by the Chair and performance
objectives set. During the period, the Chair held informal
meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the
Executive Directors present.

Director Commitment

Prior to accepting Board positions, prospective
Directors are informed that following induction, they
are required to dedicate between 15 and 20 days per
annum to fulfit the role of a Non-executive Director.
Non-Executive Directors are aware that scheduled and
unscheduled meetings may take place, as well as other
events including site visits, shareholder meetings and
strategy meetings. The time commitment specified in
Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment has
been reviewed by the Nomination Committee and is
considered appropriate. Regular training is offered to all
Directors and this is further considered during

Director evaluations.

The Directors are expected to attend all scheduled
Board meetings and are asked to use best endeavours
to attend unscheduled meetings. To assist with
managing their commitments, the Non-Executive
Directors are given prospective annual Board calendars
early in the second half of the preceding year. During
the year, there were six scheduled and six unscheduled
Board meetings.

Appointment Documentation

Details of Executive Directors' service contracts,
ond of the Chair's and the Non-Executive Directors’
appointment letters, are given on page 81.

Copies of service contracts and appointment letters are
available for inspection at the Company's registered
office during normal business hours and at the Annual
General Meeting. None of the Executive Directors hold o
directorship of another FTSE 350 company.

Meeting Documentation

A detailed agenda is established for each scheduled
meeting and appropriate documentation is provided to
Directors in advance, Regular Board meeting agenda
items include reports from the Chief Financial Officer,
reports on the performance of the business and current
trading, and specific proposals where the Board's
approval is sought. The Board monitors and questions
performance and reviews anticipated results. The Board
also receives reports from the Non-Executive Workforce
Director, who attends all Board meetings.

During Board meetings, presentations are made on
business or strategic issues where appropriate, where the
Board considers the Group's strategy at least annually.
Minutes of Committee meetings are circulated to ali
Board members for agreement.

Copies of analysts' reports and brokers’ notes are
also provided to Directors. The Board also receives
presentations from industry experts when necessary.

Board Meeting Attendance

The Board has a formal schedule of regular meetings
that is agreed and circulated in advance. Scheduled
meetings are used to approve standard regulatory
matters and maoke significant decisions and also provides
an opportunity for the Board to exercise its expertise to
advise and influence the business. The Board has the
capacity to meet on other occasions if decisions need to
be taken outside the scheduled meetings.

The Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee
meetings during the year, and the total number of
meetings that they could have attended, are set out in
the table below. Attendance was high for all Directors,
who attended all meetings unless prevented from doing
so by a prior commitment, There was an ongoing need
for unscheduled meetings during the year, to discuss
nurmercus decisions and matters outside the scheduled
Board meetings.
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Board Maeetings Board Meetings Audit Committes Remuneration Nomingation
Scheduled Unscheduled Meetings Commititee Meetings Committee Meetings

Mike Ashley - 6/6 &/9

~ David Brayshaw 6/6 8/9 5/5 4/4 3/3
David Daly 6/6 9/9 5/5* 4/4 3/3
Nicola Frampton 5/6 9/9 3/5 474 3/3
Richard Bottomley 6/6 8/9 5/5 Va4 33
Cally Price 6/6 8/9 /4 3
Chris Wootton 6/6 9/9 5/5* /4*
Ancuska Kapur** 2/6 0/9

{attended 2/2 meetings  (attended 0/% meetings

during her tenure) during her tenure)
* Not a committee member but attended mesting,

** No onger @ member of Lne Baard
Company Secretarial Support

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and may take independent
professional advice at the Company's expense, subject
to prior notification to the other Non-Executive Directors
and the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary ensures that the Company
maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of its
Directors and Officers. He also advises the Board on
corporate governance matters.

The Group Position and Prospects

The Board takes responsibility for the preparation of
the Annual Report and Accounts for FY22, and is in
agreement that taken as a whole, they are fair, balanced
and understandable. for the Board's statement on this
matter please refer to page 92. We are confident that
the Annual Report and Accounts provide sufficient
detail and that our shareholders have been provided
with the necessary information on the Group's position,
performance, business model and strategy. Further
details on this can be found in the Strategic Report on
page 10. Detailed information on the financiol position
and performance can also be located in the Group
Financial Statements located on pages 113 to 117.

As a result of its findings, the Board has adopted a

going concern statement for FY22, and full details of this
can be found in the Directors’ Report at page 95. The
Directors have also assessed the prospects of the Group
over a three-year period and the Viability Statement can
be found at page 63.

Risk Management

The Board's responsibilities and procedures for
managing risk and the supporting systems of

internal control are set out in the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties section of the Strategic Report. Further
information is included in the Audit Committee Report.

Controls in respect of financial reporting and the
production of the consolidated financial statements
are well established. Group accounting policies are
consistently applied and review and reconciliation
controls operate effectively, Standard reporting
packages are used by all Group entities to ensure
consistent and standard information is available for the
production of the consolidated financial statements.

The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the
Groups' emerging and principal risks in the period and
further detail can be found in the Strategic Report and
Principal Risk and Uncertainties section as noted above.
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THE BOARD

David Daly

Non-Executive Chair of the Board, Chair of the
Nomination Committee

Appaointed: 2 Qctober 2017
Committees: Nomination and Remuneration
Committees

Previous roles:

David has held a number of positions during a 30-year
international career with Nike, where his primary focus
was the business of football. He started in o sales role in
1986 later becoming sales director for Nike UK/Ireland.
He retired in 2015 as a Senior Director for Nike's Club
and Federation business, where he was responsible for
global merchandising business for all of Nike's leading
football clubs.

Present roles:

David is a Non-Executive Directer of Fulham
Football Club.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

David has significant knowledge of the sporting goods
industry having worked at Nike for 30 years. He has
worked in senior roles in sales, marketing, product
development and general management, which has
given him a thorough understanding of consumer
trends and behaviour. He has spent 18 years working
outside the UK and this international experience

has proven crucial to the Board. David joined the

Group as a Board member in October 2017, gaining a
much-needed understanding of the business, before
being appointed as Chair in October 2018. His focus has
been on improving best practices, corporate governance,
promoeting diversity and driving the Elevation strategy.
He ensures the Board functions effectively by facilitating
an open and productive debate and providing
constructive challenge.

Michael Murray
Chief Executive Officer

Michael Murray is Chief Executive of Frasers Group; he
will accelerate the Group's strategy to achieve its vision:
'to serue our customers with the World's best sports, premium
and fuxuny brands.

Michael has had a relationship with the Group dating
back to 2015 when his consultancy services (through MM
Prop Consultancy Limited} commenced.

He was first tasked with rethinking and implementing
the elevation of the Group's national and international
property portfolio. As part of that strategy, the Group
pursued a £1bn investment strategy, reinvigorating

the Group's estate, transforming customer in-store
experience, and repositioning the Group in the eyes of
key stakeholders and brands, This work was to form the
bedrock of the Group's future Elevation strategy.

Through the implementation of the property Elevation
strategy Michael demonstrated a clear vision for future
business growth and also the potential for a full scale
re-imagining of the market identity of the Group. This
encouraged the Group to completely re-evaluate its
intended future consumer offering, ultimately leading to
the decision of the Group to rebrand from Spotts Direct
International plc to Frasers Group Ple.

Building on the success of the property Elevation
strategy Michael was tasked by the Group with using his
vision to provide non-property elevation services to the
Group, encompassing investing in brands, technology,
retail environments and 360 digital innovation. Michael's
unrivalled vision, and willingness to shake up the industry,
dllows the Group to continue its uniquely impressive
trajectory and to pioneer the business's development.

Michael has been instrumental to the growth and
continued success of FLANNELS - the muiti-category
retailer that has reinvented luxury retail and revived
in-store expetiences across the UK. Stocking the biggest
names in luxury fashion and beauty, FLANNELS has
become one of the most exciting players in the industry.
During his time working with the Group, Michael has
also revolutionised Sports Direct, by evolving the product
offering, investing in physical store experiences, and
establishing the business’ identity as the leading sports
destination - championed by an ali-new aesthetic and
brand mission.



Mike Ashley
Director
Appointed:

Previous roles:

1982 {founder)

Mike established the business of the Group on leaving
school in 1982 and was the sole owner until the Group's
listing in March 2007. He was Executive Deputy Chair
prior to being appointed Chief Executive in September
2016 before handing over the role to Michaet Murray on
T May 2022

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Mike was the founder of the Group and has the
necessary skills for formulating the vision and
commercial strategy of the Group. With over 30 years
in the sports retail business with Sports Direct, he

is invaluable to the Group. Mike's knowledge and
experience in all areas of retailing, buying, warehousing
and logistics ensures that he is crucial to the effective
and efficient running of operations. With the continuing
challenges in the macro-economic environment his
decisive leadership has meant the Group has remained
resilient and in good health and will be able to take
advantage of future opportunities.

Chris Wootton

Chief Financial Officer

Appointed: 12 September 2019
Previous roles:

Chris worked at PwC for the early part of his accounting
career in the assurance practice, including work on large
corporates and listed entities.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Chris is a Chartered Accountant and has provided key
support in the transition to the new leadership team.

He continues to improve the skills, experience and
capabilities of the Frasers Group Finance team. Chris is
a key driver of the Group's accounting principles, namely
being conservative, consistent and simple.

Chris was instrumental in negotiating the recent renewal
of the Group's combined term loan and revolving credit
facility during the financial year.
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Cally Price

Non-Executive Workforce Director and Workers'
Representative

Appointed: 1 January 2019

Previous roles:

Cally began her career with Sports Direct as a cosual
sales assistant in our Aberdare store in 2007

Present roles: Company's Workers' Representative

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Cally has been with the Group for over 13 years,
commencing on the shop floor working as a casual
assistant. Cally continues to manage the Cardiff

Sports Direct store giving her a unique insight into the
challenges of the retail sector from those on the ground.

Richard Bottomley OBE

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, Chair of
the Audit Committee

Appointed: 1 October 2018
Committees:  Audit and Nomination Committees
Previous roles:

Richard has over 25 years' experience working with listed
companies during his time as a senior partner at KPMG,
and continues to be a member of the Audit Committee
Institute. Until recently Richard was o Non-Executive
Director of Newcastle Building Society, where he chaired
the Audit Committee.

Present roles:

Richard is a Non-Executive Director of MSL Property
Care Services Ltd, Marsden Packaging Limited and
Jessgrove Limited.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Richard has strong experience in corporate governarce,
corporate finance and strategy. He has been influential
in the recruitment and appointment of a Head of
Internal Audit, ensuring that risks are propetly assessed
and mitigated.
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David Brayshaw

Independent Non-Executive Director, Chair of the
Remuneration Committee

Appointed: 8 December 2016

Committees:  Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees

Previous roles:

David is a very experienced senior investment and
commercial banker. He has over 30 years' experience
with organisations such as Barclays Capital, HSBC,
Citigroup and Pilkington plc.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

David graduated from Oxford in 1975 with a Master
of Arts in Chemistry. He has spent a long career in
the field of corporate financing for a number of major
financial institutions and was also the Group Treasurer
of Pilkington plc. David spent 15 years of his career at
Barclays Capital, advising FTSE 350 companies on all
aspects of corporate, syndicated, and capital markets
funding, together with interest rate, foreign exchange
and balance sheet hedging. He has funded countless
public company acquisitions and still remains involved
in an advisory role with several corporates and banks in
_a private capacity. He has a proven track record in the
finance and acquisitions sector, providing sound advice
in line with the Group's Elevation strategy.

Nicola Frampton

independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed: 1October 2018

Commiittees:  Audit and Remuneration Cornmittees
Present roles:

Nicola has spent the majority of her recent career in
senior executive management roles and has recently
been appointed to a new senior executive role with
Domino's Pizza Group, where she is Chief
Operations Officer.

Previous roles:

Pricr to joining Domino's Pizza Group, Nicola was the
Managing Director of William Hill's UK Retail division
from April 2010, working closely with William Hill's Board,
Executive Committee and operctional monagement.
During her time ot Williamn Hill, Nicola led a number of
successful major innovation and transformation projects.
Before switching to an executive management career,
Nicola spent the previous ten years working in the
professional services industry, most recently as a Director
ot Deloitte.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Nicola has extensive experience in risk management,
assurance and corporate governance across a wide
range of industries, having specialised in these areas
of corporate activity at both William Hill and prior to
that whilst at Deloitte. The Board also benefits from
Nicola's current and previous retail expetience running
large, non-competing retail businesses. Nicola serves
as a Trustee Board member for a number of charities
and brings an informed perspective on corporate
responsibility to the Board.



FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder

To meet the Group's needs, the Nomination Committee
must ensure that the Board remains competent, diverse,
well balanced and equipped to deal with any present
or future issues which may arise, 1t is also important
that the Nomination Committee both supports and
challenges the decisions of the Executive Directors,
which includes reviewing the Group's leadership and
making recommendations regarding the appointment
of new Directors and extending the term of office of
existing Directors.

Biographica) details of each Committee member are
shown in the Board of Directors’ profiles on pages 72
to 74.

The Nomingtion Committee usually meets formally
twice a year, although additional meetings take place
when appropriate. The Committee formally met three
times during FY22, with meetings returning to physical
meetings following the end of Covid-19 restrictions.

All members of the Nomination Committee are
Non-Executive Directors and, with the exception of the
Chair, are considered to be independent.

The Responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee Include:

. reviewing the leadership needs of the Group, looking
at both Directors and senior management;

. reviewing the composition, structure and size of
the Board, and recommending adjustments to the
Board, having regard to diversity, skills, knowledge
and experience;

«  reviewing the time the Non-Executive Directors are
required to spend discharging their duties;

»  identifying and nominating, for the approval of the
Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and
when they arise;

+  considering successicn planning for Directors
and senior management, taking into account the
challenges and opportunities facing the Group and
the skills and expertise therefore needed on
the Board;

+  formally documenting the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors;

+  identifying potential candidates for senior posts, and
making recommendations to the Board; and

+  considering the recormmendations to shareholders
for re-electing the Directors, under the annual
re-election provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code.

A full list of the Committee's responsibilities is set out in
its Terms of Reference which are available on the Group
Website: www.frasers.group.

What has the Committee Done During
the Year?
Board Nominations

+  The Committee considered and recommended to
the Board the reappointment of Nicola Frampton
and Richard Bottomley.

. The Committee considered and recommended the
election or re-election of all Directors at the AGM,
following consideration of their effectiveness
and commitment.

Composition of the Board

The Committee has reviewed the Board's composition
and we continue to look to add talented people to the
Bodard, who will bring appropriate skills and experience.
The Committee has begun work on preparing a skills
matrix that will identify key areas in which Board
members have experience in order to identify the areas
in which board knowledge could be strengthened, This
is being updated to take into account the skills that
Michael Murray brings to the Board. The results will be
used to influence future Board appointments. The Board
continues to have dialogue with external recruitment
agents, a number of which specialise in recruiting
diverse candidates.

Annual Performance Appraisals

All Board members, both Executive and Non-Executive,
went through on annual performance review during
FY22 and each Director engaged fully in the process.
This included setting objectives for each individual. 1
led these appraisals, as Chair of the Board and the
Nomination Committee. This process will be repeated
annually. Richard Bottomley, Chair of the Audit
Committee and Senior Independent Non-executive
Director, led my performance appraisal and

objective setting.

The Directors will take into account any development
needs identified in their appraisals and will be
challenged on how they have taken action against these
objectives during their next annual appraisal.

The results of appraisals will be used to influence
Board appointments.
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Diversity and Inclusion

At the period end the Board had two female Directors,
representing 29% of the Board. There is currentiy no
representation from ethnic minority backgrounds on the
Board. However, the Board is conscious of the targets set
by the FCA which apply for the FY23 financial year and
its reporting requirements in respect of this.

The Group's objectives in relation to Board diversity and
inclusion are:

+  To ensure that the Board has an appropriate mix of
skills, experience and knowledge, to ensure a variety
of perspectives are represented on the Board and
enable the Board to effectively oversee and support
the Group's growth and management.

. Te maintoin Board representation from the worldorce,
which brings the voice of colleagues into the
boardroom, supports our strategy of investing in our
people and enables the Board to effectively oversee
and support the Group's growth and management.

. To increase female representation and
ethnic minority representation at both senior
monagement and Board level, in line with the FCA's
recommendations.

The Group achieved its Diversity policy objective in
respect of gender and age, by having a strong gender
balance in senior management and their direct reports,
and a varied representation of ages in middle and senior
management. When reviewing candidates who may
become potential Board members, the Committee has
regard to factors including professional experience, skills,
education, gender, ethnicity and background, to ensure
a variety of perspectives are represented at Board

level. As discussed above, we have been working with

a recruitment agent specialising in diverse condidates.
The Board is conscious that to successfully deliver the
strategic goals of the business, our people, including the
Board of Directors must reflect the diverse cultures and
values of our customer base.

The Committee recognises the advantages of having

a diverse team and has therefore reviewed the
composition of the senior management team, including
their direct reports, A number of senior management
roles were held by women ot period end, including the
Chief Marketing Cfficer, Head of Sustainability, Head of
Consumer Credit, Head of PR and Communications and
the UK Group Financial Controller.

The table below shows the gender diversity of our
workforce at the period end. Approximately 54% of

our workforce is female, including 36% of our senior
management (FY21: 35% UK workforce). We aim to
ensure that both male and female candidates are
provided with equal opportunities to apply for and work
in all positions across the Group.

Female Male
Directors 29% 1%
Other senior managers and
direct reports 36% 64%
Other employees 55% 45%

We were pleased that our most recent Gender Pay Gap
Report showed that we have maintained a 0% gender
pay gap.

Further detdils on diversity and inclusion are set out in
the Qur People section.

David Daly
Chair of the Nomination Committee
20 September 2022
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DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION

REPORT

Dear Shareholder,

As the Chair of the Remuneration Committee (the
Committee), | am pleased to present our Directors’
Remuneration Report for the period ended 24 April 2022,
This report is split into three parts: this Annual Statement,
a summary of our Directors' Remuneration Policy for
FY22-FY25 and the Annual Report on Remuneration.

As a first item, the Remuneration Committee wishes

to thank our shareholders for the support which they
gave to the resolutions on remuneration matters at

our September 2021 AGM. Each of the three AGM
resolutions, which were to approve our revised

Directors’ Remuneration Policy, to approve our Directors'’
Remuneration Report and to approve the establishment
of the Executive Share Scheme (‘ESS’) was approved by
shareholders at levels of voting which indicted strong
support from both our full shareholder base and also by
our independent shareholders who voted.

Board Changes

As shareholders will have seen, on 1 May 2022 Michael
Murray became our new Chief Executive Officer. Details
of Michael's pay arrangements as our CEQ {and which
are consistent with information already provided to
shareholders when this appointment was announced

in Summer 2021) are set out in this report. On 1 May
2022, Michael was formally granted an award under

the ESS, the terms of which had been communicated

to shareholders as part of the arrangements for the
approval of the ESS at our September 2021 AGM.

Mike Ashley remains on our Board as a director. Mike
receives no compensation for this role and he received
no compensation in relation to his stepping down

as Group CEO. On 20 September 2022 the Group
announced that Mike Ashley would not be standing for
re-election as o director at this year's Annual General
Meeting ("AGM") and that he will therefore step down
from the Board upon the conclusion of the AGM.

Actions Taken in FY22 and Impacts on Pay

Notwithstanding the several aspects of positive
Company performance in FY22, the Remuneration
Committee has not awarded an annual cash bonus for
the year to our CFO.

The Committee exercised what it regards as normal
commercial judgement in respect of Directors'
remuneration throughout the year {and in all cases in
line with the Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy).

There were no other exercises of judgement or discretion
by the Committee save as detailed in this report.

Operation of Remuneration Policy in FY23

It is the Commiittee’s intention to operate the
Remuneration Policy in FY23 consistent with how the
policy was operated in FY22.

. our Executive Directors’ salaries for FY23 are
unchanged {CEO: £1,000,000; CFO £250,000);

+  inline with our shareholder approved Directors’
Remuneration Policy, our FY23 annual bonus for
our Executive Directors will be operated with a
maximum pay-out potential of 200% of base salary;
ard

»  there will be no further awards of LTIPs made
to the Executive Directors in FY23 {other than
implementation of the ESS awards for our CEO
which were approved at our FY21 AGM]).

Format of the Report and Matters to be Approved at
Our 2022 AGM

At the FY22 AGM, shareholders will be asked to approve
the Directors’ Remuneration Report for FY22. This will be
the normal annual advisory vote.

| hope that our shareholders remain supportive of our
approach to executive pay at Frasers and vote in favour
of the resolutions on remuneration matters to be tabled
ot the FY22 AGM.

David Brayshaw
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
20 September 2022
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report contains the material required to be set out
as the Directors’' Remuneration Report for the purposes
of Part 4 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) {Amendment)
Regulations 2013, which amended the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 {the DRR Regulations).

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Directors' Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the 29 September 2021 AGM. The full
Remuneration Policy as approved by shareholders can
be found on pages 52 to 57 of the 2021 Annual Report, a
copy of which is also available on the Group's corporate
website at hitps./www.frasers.group. for ease of
reference, we have set out below the Future Policy Table
for Executive Directors, as included in the approved
Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
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Future Policy Table
The table below describes each of the elements of the remuneration package for the Executive Directors.
Changes To
Element of Purpose / N i
Operation Maximum Performance Measures Palicy Approved
Remuneration Link To Strategy At The 2021 AGM
BASE SALARY Fixed element of the Base salaries are normally  Although salaries for Not applicable. No change.
remuneration package, reviewed annually. Executive Directors (other
where tl:\e balance of ﬁ:fed Mike Ashley does not than Mike Ashley, who-
c:md _vanoble remunerutloq currently receive a salary for does not currently receive
is aligned to the commercial e ole. a salary) are set at levels
strategy of long-term below the amounts typically
profitable growth and paid by similar-sized
reflects the Company companies, the Committee
remuneration philosophy retains discretion to set
of gearing reword to salaries at levels considered
performance, with a sharing appropriate for the business,
of risk between Executive considering its size and
Directors and shareholders. complexity.
BENEFITS With the exception of a The current Executive Although the Remuneration  Not applicaoble. No change.
20% colleague discount Directors do not receive Committee has rot set an
on products purchosed ony benefits other thon the  absolute maximum Jevel of
from the Group's retail colleague discount, which benefits Executive Directors
stores, which is available is not available for Mike may receive, the Company
to Executive Directors Ashley. retains discretion to set
other than Mike Ashiey, : benefits at a level which the
no additional benefits ﬁ,ﬁ?::t:‘;:o;ab;;rg:iteze Rem‘unerution Cot_'nmittee
are generally availabie to to recruit a new Executive con;nders appropriate
Executive Dlrec‘tors. Tl'te Director taking into account against the market Gl:!d
same level of discount is individua! circumstances. to support the on-going
availoble to cll colleagues. g, a1y benefits may include strategy of the Company.
relocation expenses.
RETIREMENT Provide post-employment  The Executive Directors are  The current maximum Not applicable. No change.
BENEFITS benefits to recruit and retain  entitled to participate in a employer contribution to the
individuals of the calibre stakeholder pension scheme, stakeholder pension scheme
required for on the same basis as other  is 3%.
the business. employees. The Committee may
On request, this benefit increase employer
may be paid as a salary contribution rates to
supplement in lieu of reflect changes in the
pension contribution, auto enrolment employer
as necessary. contribution rotes.
ANNUAL Rewards the Executive Executive Directors, other The maximum bonus that Any bonus epportunity shall  No change.
BONUS Directors for parformance than Mike Ashley, may eam  an Executive Director may be assessed against one or
which supports the Group's  a bonus, Any bonus earned  earn shall be 200% of salary  more metrics determined
strategy and performance in excess of 100% of solary  in respect of any by the Committee and
in role. would be deferred into financial year. linked to the Company’s
shares for a period of two strategy and/or the
years, unless the amount performance of the
to be deferred would be Executive Directors in role,
less than £10,000. The with the weighting between
Committee olso retains o the metrics determined

discretion not to operate
deferral in an exceptional
case and where salary paid
in the year was £250,000
or less.

Any bonus paid would be
subject to clawback for

a period of three years
following its determination,
in the event of gross
misconduct, material
misstotement of the
Company’s financial
statements or corporate
failure,

by the Committee, if
relevant. Bonuses will be
determined between 0%
and 100% of the maximum
opportunity, based on the
Committee's assessment of
the applicable metrics.

The annual bonus plan is a
discretionary arrangement
and the Committee

retains a standord power
to apply its judgement

to adjust the outcome of
the annual bonus plan for
any performance measure
{from zero to ony cap)
shouid it consider that ta be
appropridte,
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Element of Purpose / Operation Maximum Performance Measures g:llymxgomv.d
Remuneration Link To Strategy At The 2021 AGM
LONG-TERM  To motivate and incentivise  Executive Directors, other For awards with a £15 share  Awards will vest subject Intreduction of the
INCENTIVES  delivery of sustained than Mike Ashley, may price target, the maximum  to an absolute share price Executive Share
performance over the receive awards under the opportunity for an Executive target of either £12 or £15. Scheme, which is
long-term, and to promote  Executive Share Scherme. Director will be an aword The share price must be our new long-term
alignment with shareholders' Awards may be granted over 6,711,409 shares. over the target for any incentive plan that
interests, the Company as nominal cost options or For awards with g £12 share period of 30 consecutive will reward our
intends to operate an conditional share awards, price target, the maximumm dealing days during the senior executives
Executive Share Scheme. which vest to the extent the opportunity for on Executive four-year performance for achieving
performance conditions are  pirector will be an award period, sustained
satisfied over a period of over up to 600,000 shares.  The Committee may set performance over
four years. additional performance the long term.

The Committee shall have
discretion to reduce the
nurnber of shares subject

to an aword granted under
the Executive Share Scheme
by an amount equal to

the aggregate gross salary
received by o participant
during the performance
period.

Clawback and malus
provisions apply to awards
granted under the Executive
Share Scheme. Any
omounts received under the
Executive Share Scherme
may be subject to clowback
for a period of three years
following the end of the
performance period, in the
event of gross misconduct,
material misstaterment of
the Company's financial
staternents, corporate failure
or reputational damage.

As is normal, the
Committee retains power
to settle awoards in cash in
exceptional cases oniy.

conditions on awords under
the Executive Share Scheme,
as it considers appropriate.
For information: there are
two underpins applying
which relate to satisfactory
performance ratings for
each participant, and
enticipated delivery of our
Elevation strategy.



Service Contracts and Policy on Payments
for Loss of Office

The Company's policy is for Executive Directors to be
employed on the terms of service contracts which may
be terminated by either the Company or the Executive
Director on the giving of not more than 12 months’
notice. All Directors are subject to annual re-election.

Executive Directors

Details of the current service contract for each Executive
Director are set out below:
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Details of the Non-Executive Directors’ letters of
appointment are set out below:

Contract Unexpired Term Governing
Date / Notice Period Law
Mike Ashley 1/02/2007 12 months* Englond &
Wales
Michael Murray  20/09/2022 6 months England &
Wales
Chris Wootton 06/03/2077 6 months Englond &
Wales

“Tne Company may termingte Mr Ashley's service controct by giving six months' notice if
he 1s unable to perform his duties for over 120 days In any consecutive 12 months

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors enter into an agreement
with the Group for a period of three years, other than
the Chair whose agreement continues until terminated
in accordance with its terms. The appointments of

the Non-Executive Directors may be terminated

by either party on one month's written notice and

in accordance with the Articles of Association of

the Company. Termination would be immediate in
certain circumstances (including the bankruptcy of the
Non-executive Director).

Non-Executive Directors (other than the Non-executive
Workforce Director) do not and are not entitled

to participate in any bonus or share scheme. The
Non-executive Workforce Director is entitled to
participate in employee bonus and share schemes for
employees, including all-employee schemes.

The approach to determining Non-Executive Directors'
pay is to benchmark ourselves against other companies/
retailers within the FTSE 250 with remuneration
ultimately a Board responsibility.

Non-Executive Directors are subject to confidentiality
undertakings without limitation in time. Non-Executive
Directors are not entitled to receive any compensation
on the termination of their appointment.

Position Date of Letter  End Date of
1o of Appointment Appointment
Nor-executive
David Daly Chair of the 16 July 2020 1 October 2023
Board
Non-executive . 7 December
David Brayshaw Di . 23 April 2020 2022
Nicola Non-executive 30 September
Framot Director 1 October 20718 2024'
Richard Non-executive 30 September
Bottomley Director 10ctober 2018 5054
Non-executive
Cally Price Workforce 6 October 2020 5 October 2022
Director

M The criginal three year terms of oppointment for Nicola Frompton aond Richard
Bollomley have been extended for o further three years, subject to continuing
onnuat re-election at the AGM,

Copies of the service contracts of Executive Directors
and of the appointment letters of the Chair and
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at
the Company's registered office during normal business
hours and at the AGM.

Engagement with Shareholders

The Committee consults major shareholders and
representative groups where appropriate concerning
remuneration matters. General representations have
been received from investors regarding overall FTSE
remuneration. The Committee has due regard to the
Investment Association principles, and is always happy
to receive feedback from shareholders. There have been
no changes to the Remuneration Policy or outcomes as
a result of shareholder engagement.

Colleague Reward

It is worth reminding shareholders that our UK
colleagues {excluding the Executive Directors) who

have participated in our share schemes have received,
subsequent to any IPO bonus payments, a total value of
£250m (FY21: £250m) of awards since their introduction.

In addition to share schemes, the Company operates
other bonus and incentive awards for its workforce. By
way of recent example, in FY22 the Group paid awards
and incentives of approximately £15.0m {(FY21: £5.4m). A
significant proportion of these other bonus and incentive
awards was paid to our casual retail workers.

During FY21, the Company launched the Frasers
All-Employee Omnibus Plan (known as ‘Fearless 1000")
following approval by shareholders at the 2020 AGM.
The Fearless 1000 plan is available to all eligible and
qualifying Fraser Group employees (except for the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Commercial
Officer and Chief Operating Officer} and is intended to
provide a significant one-off reward for employees if a
stretching share price growth target is achieved within a
five year period measured to October 2025,
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There are two related but distinct parts to the Fearless
1000 plan as follows:

»  share awards to those 1,000 eligible and qualifying
employees in the business who most demonstrate
aoutstanding service and performance consistent
with the Company's values; and

s cash bonuses to eligible and qudlifying employees
in the Company's Group, to reward them for their
loyalty and hard work.

A similar incentive plan is also available for our
non-employee Group workers.

The Remuneration Committee remains committed to
transparent and simple remuneration for Executive
Directors, based upon reward for significant financial
and personal performance only. The Committee also
remains committed to appropriately rewarding our large
and loyal workforce.

Our Workforce-nominated Director, Cally Price engages
with colleagues through regular and multi-channel
communication mechanisms. This enables colleagues to
understand the strategy of the Company, the vital role
all colleagues play in contributing to the overall success
of the Group and how this is rewarded and to raise any
questions directly with a Board member. Cally has been
directly involved in the review of retail colleague pay
during FY22. The Committee has reviewed the salaries,
other remuneration and other employment conditions of
senior and middle managers throughout the Group and
has taken them into account in considering Directors’
salaries. The Committee has considered pay and
employment conditions of colleagues (other than the
Directors) and has aligned pension contributions and
colleague discounts of the Directors with employees.

Whilst the Company has not directly consulted with
employees on Directors’ remuneration, the views of
colleagues can be expraessed by the Workforce Director.

Annual Report on Remuneration

This part of the Directors' Remuneration Report sets
out the actual payments made by the Company to its
Directors with respect to the petiod ended 24 April 2022
and how our Directors’ Remuneration Policy will be
applied in the year commencing 25 April 2022,

;

Base Salary and Fees

Michael Murray's salary will be £1,000,000 per annum,
with effect from the start of his employment on 1 May
2022. Chris Wootton's salary will remain at £250,000 per
annum (no change from FY22}.

Mike Ashley does not receive a salary for his role.

Fees for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors ore
normally reviewed annually. In respect of fees for FY23,
David Daly will receive an annual fee of £200,000
{FY22: £150,000) for his role as Chair. Richard Bottomley
will receive £75,000 for his role as Senior Independent
Director (FY22: £65,000). David Brayshaw and Nicola
Frampton will each receive a fee of £65,000 (no change
from FY22) for their roles as Non-Executive Directors,
Cally Price will receive a fee of £15,000 (no change from
FY22} for her role as Non-executive Workforce Director.

Pension

The contribution rate for Michael Murray and Chris
Wootton will be 3% of salary, capped at £50,000 of
solary, being the maximum employer contribution rate
available under the Company stakehelder pension
scheme. No Director participates in a defined benefit
scheme [FY21: none}.

Mike Ashley is not eligible to receive employer
contributions under the Company stakeholder
pension scherne.

Annual Bonus Scheme

Michage! Murray and Chris Wootton will be eligible to
earn a bonus in respect of FY23. Any amount earned
shall be determined by reference to one or more
performance metrics determined by the Committee and
linked to the Company’s strategy and/or the Executive
Director's performance in role, The Committee will
provide appropriate and relevant levels of retrospective
disclosure of the assessed criteria applied to the FY23
bonus. Any such bonus shall be of up to 200% of salary, !
and any bonus eamed in excess of 100% of salary may
be subject to deferral.

Mike Ashiey shall not be eligible to earn a bonus in
respect of FY23.
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Long-Term Incentives

Michael Murray and Chris Wootton are both eligible to participate in the new Executive Share Scheme (which was
approved by shareholders at the 2021 AGM). Chris Wootton received an award over 600,000 shares in FY22 and
Michael Murray received an award over 6,711,409 shares as soon as practical after he joined the Board in FY23.

Awards under the Executive Share Scheme are due to vest after a four-years performance period ending in October
2025, subject to a stretching absolute share price performance target (£15 for the proposed award to Michael Murray
and £12 for the award made to

Chris Wootton).

In addition to the share price performance measure, awards under the Executive Share Scheme will be granted subject
to two underpins requiring:

i. satisfactory performance ratings for the Executive Director during the term of the award; nnd

i, anticipated delivery of the Company’s
Elevation strategy.

Mike Ashley is not eligible to be granted awards under the Executive Share Scheme.
Single Figure Table (Audited)

The aggregate remuneration provided to individuals who have served as Directors in the period ended 24 April 2022 is
set out below, along with the aggregate remuneration provided to individuals who have served as Directors during the
prior financial year.

Director Salaries Other Long-term Totolfixed  Total variable

Bonus incentive Pension™ Total "
and fees benefits schemaes remunerotion remuneration

FYzz F£YX FY22 FYZ' FY22 FY21 FY22 FY21 FY22 FY2Z1 FY22 FY21 FY22 Fy21 Fy22 FYa1
£000 EQOO0 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E0Q0  £000

Executive Directors

Mike Ashley - . B . - - - - - - - - - - - -
Chris Wootton 250 150 - - - 100 - - 1 1 251 251 251 151 - 100
Non-Executive Directors

David Daly 150 100 - - - - - - - - 150 100 150 100 - -
David Brayshaw 65 50 - - - - - - - - 65 S0 65 50 - -
Nicola Frampton 65 50 - - - - - - 1 1 66 51 66 51 - -
Richard Bottomley 65 50 - - - - - - - - 65 50 65 50 - -
Cally Price 15 15 - - - - - - - - 15 15 15 15 - -
Anouska Kapur 22 - - - - - - - - - 22 - 2 - - -
Total 632 415 - - - 100 - - 2 2 633 517 633 a7 - 100

11 Pensions are provided via a defined contribution to the Campony stakehalder pension scheme [see note 38)
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Further Information on the FY22 Annual
Bonus (Audited)

Chris Wootton received a bonus of £nil in respect of
FY22 (FY21: £100k).

Payments for Loss of Office and Payments
to Former Directors (Audited)

No payments for loss of office or payments to former
Directors were made in FY22 [FY2%: nil).

Statement of Directors’ Shareholding and
Share Interests {Audited)

The beneficial interests of the Directors who served
during the year and of their connected persons, in
both cases at the beginning of the financial year, or at
the date of appointment if later, and at the end of the
financial year, or ot the date of resignation if earfier, in
the share capital of the Company are shown below:

in addition, Executive Directors hold outstanding scheme
interests under the Executive Share Scheme as follows:

Ordinary Ordinary

Shares held ot Shares held at

24 April 2022° 25 April 2021°

Mike Ashiley 330,000,000 330,000,000

Chris Wootton - -

David Daly 31,563 24,205

Nicola Frampton 5732 5732

David Brayshaw 31611 3161

Richard Bottomley 10,000 10,000
Cally Price -

Anouska Kapur - -

or if earlier the date of resignation

There has been no change to the interests reported
above between 24 April 2022 and 20 September 2022
(being the latest possible date for inclusion in the 2022
Annual Report). The Company did not receive any
notifications under DTR 5 between 24 April 2022 and 20
September 2022

As at 24 April 2022 and the reporting dote, Michael
Murray held an equity derivatives contract which is the
economic equivalent of the holding of 6,851,120 Frasers
Group Plc ordinary shares.

Awards Awards
. Awards held Awards held
Executive o6 aprit  OFanted lapsed at 24 April
Director™ 2021 during the during the 2022
yeari2id year
Chris 600000 - 600,000
1l Mike Ashley 15 not eligib'e te participate in the Executive Share Schems
(2} Awards are granted in the form of o conaitional share award
(31 The award te Chris Wootton was granted on 14 October 2021 and has o face value
of £3 8m. based on a ctosing share price of 632 pence per share on the date
of grant

Awards under the Executive Share Scheme are subject
to a stretching share price target measured over a four-
year performance period to October 2025. In the case of
the award to Chris Wootton, the share price target is £12
per share for 30 consecutive trading days. In addition,
each award is subject to underpins relating to:

i. achievement of satisfactory performance ratings for
each participant; and

ii. anticipated delivery of the Company’s Elevation
strategy.
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Performance Graph and Table

The following graph shows the Company's performance measured by total shareholder return compared with the
performance of the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts).

—#— Frasers Group plc
—&8—— FTSE 250 x Investment Trusts
FTSE 100
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The Committee considered these as appropriate indices against which to compare the Company's performance.
They are widely accepted as national measures and include the companies that investers are likely to consider as
alternative investments.

Total Chief Executive Remuneration and Performance-Related Pay

The table below shows details of the total remuneration and performance-related pay for the Company’s Chief
Executive over the last ten financial years.

Total H Long term incentive scheme vesting as a % of

maximum opportunity

FY22 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY21 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY20 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY19 - Mike Ashley Nil N/
FY18 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY17 - Mike Ashley" Nil N/A
FY17 - Dave Forsey? £62,500 N/A
FY16 - Dave Forsey £150,000 N/A
FY15 - Dave Forsey £150,000" Q%
FY14 - Dave Forsey £150,000 N/A

1 Mike Astley was appointed as Crief Executive with effect from 22 Septemier 2016

12y Dave Forsey resignag witn effect from 22 Septemibser 2015. His total remuneration is his remunerction earmed

N the period from 25 Apri 7016 entis the dote his resignation took effect
131 The figures for FY15 reflect Dove Forsey's decision on 6 June 2016 to forege an award over 1miflion shares

whichk would ptrerwise have been due to vest on & September 207,




FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Chief Executive to Employee Pay Ratio

In line with reporting requirements, the Company is required to disclose ratios which compare the total remuneration
of the Chief Executive to the remuneration of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile of the Group's UK employees. The
Company has not disclosed these ratios and associated supporting information on the basis that Mike Ashley who
was the CEO during FY22 is not remunerated by the Company.

Annual Percentage Change in Remuneration of Directors and Employees

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of the Directors and employees of the business
between FY21 and FY22 and between FY20 ond FY21,

% Change From FY21 To FY22 % Change From FY20 To FY21
Salary or fees Benefits Bonus Salary or fess  Benefits Bonus

Employeest 23% 3% % {13%) (21%) 8%

Executive Directors

Mike Ashley™ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Chris Wootton 67% 0% (100%} 70% 0% 100%

Non-Executive Directors

David Daly 50% N/A N/ 0% 100%) {100%)

Nicola Frampton 30% N/A N/A 0% 0% N/A

David Brayshaw 30% N/A N/A 0% {100%) N/A

Richord Bottomley 30% N/A N/A 0% (100%} N/A

Cally Price 0% N/A N/A 50% N/A N/A

1M Employees 1s been bosed on total numper of employees, the decreased petween FY20 and FY21 15 due to the impoct of Covid-1G,

(2] Mike Ashley receives no remuneration

Disclosure for all Directors in addition to the CEO has Fy22 FYat Percentage
been added this year in line with the new requirements Change
under the EU Sharehelder Rights Directive I} and over Distributions to
time a five-year comparison will be built up. Frasers ;h:y’i*;‘jﬁfge:zs £193200000 i 100%
Group Plc does not have any employees and therefore a and share
subset of the Group's employees has been used. buybacks
The table above shows how the percentage increase/ nvestment” £504200000 _ £231200,000 9%
decrease in faach [_)irector’s salary/fees, taxable benefits f;::rﬁ’;‘i't";': onpay 532900000  E7PI00,000 3%
ond annual incentive plan between 2021 and 2022 for all employees
compares with the average percentage increase in Share price 690.0 5185 33.9%
each of those components of pay for the UK-based {pencel™
employees of the GI’OUp as a whole. * Camprises of increcses in working capital acquisitzans and capial expenditure in the

year [see Conso.aacted Case Flow Statement and note 33 Cash inflow from operc{l'\g

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay e ot e of tne Grows
The table below sets out the Group's distributions to "o e ot v share e fr 122 e oo 7 121 oo e
shareholders by way of dividends and share buybacks, werking omys pricr to the oeiod ends

investrnent (calculated as set out below) and total
Group-wide expenditure on pay for all colleagues (os
reported in the audited financial statements for FY22
and FY21) and the Company's share price {calculated
as at the close of business on the last day of FY22
and FY21). We have included information on both
investment in the business in the year and share price
performance. These are indicative of actual shareholder
value being generated and the continuing steps being
taken to position the business for future generation of
sharehoider value.




Remuneration Committee

During FY22, the Remuneration Committee consisted

of David Brayshaw and Nicola Frampton, who are
considered independent and the Chair of the Board,
David Daly. The purpose of the Committee, as previously
outlined, is to assist the Board to ensure that Executive
Directors and senior executives receive appropriate
levels of pay and benefits.

Attendance at the meetings held during the year is
detailed on page 71.

The members of the Committee have no personal
financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the
matters to be decided, no actual or potential conflicts
of interest arising from other Directorships and no
day-to-day operational responsibility within

the Company.

Adyvisers to the Committe_e

Mike Ashley, the Chief Executive, and Chris Wootton,

the Chief Financial Officer, have advised or materially
assisted the Committee throughout FY22 when
requested. Executive Directors are not present during,
nor do they take part in, discussions in respect of matters
relating directly to their own remuneration.

FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP ('FIT) act as adviser
to the Committee. FIT is a founder member of the
Remuneration Consultants’ Group and adhere to its
code of conduct. Fees totalling £75,889 plus VAT have
been paid for its services during the year (FY21: £127,184
plus VAT) for the provision of advice to the Committee
on various aspects of remuneration including advice

on the Remuneration Policy and implementation of
incentive schemes. The Committee has reviewed the
quality of the advice provided and whether it properly
addressed the issues under consideration and is satisfied
that the advice received during the year was objective
and independent. FIT has no personal connection to the
Company or its Directors.

Total Remuneration

The Committee considers that the current remuneration
arrangements promote the long-term success of the
Company within an appropriate risk framework and are
suitably aligned to the Company's objective of delivering
fong term sustainable growth in total shareholder returms
given bonuses are discretionary.

Remunergtion Principles

A key priority is to ensure that cur Remuneration Policy

is aligned with strategy to achieve the Jong-term

success of the Group. The Committee ensures that

it complies with the requirements of regulatory and
governance bodies including, but not limited to, the UK
Corporate Governance Code, whilst meeting stokeholder,
shareholder and workforce expectations.
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The Remuneration Committee and Board remain
committed to a fully transparent and simple
Remuneration Policy that is aligned with the interests

of all its shareholders. In the operations of the
Remuneration Committee, we reiterate our commitment
to the following key principles:

. Clarity: We provide open and transparent
disclosures regarding our executive remuneration.

»  Simplicity: Our Remuneration Pelicy for our
Executive Directors is straightforward and
understood by both Directors and shareholders.

+  Predictability: Most components of Director
remuneration are either fixed or subject to individual
caps set by reference to base salary. Through the
use of a share price measure under the Executive
Share Scheme, performance outcomes are
predictable and highly aligned to the experience of
our shareholders.

. Proportionality: Our Executive Director salaries are
amongst the lowest in the FTSE 250. Variable pay
awards are ‘at-risk’ and linked to delivery of our
strategy and long-term performance, to ensure that
poor performance is not rewarded.

+  Risks and behaviours: We ensure that in our
operations we identify and mitigate reputational
risks arising frorn our remuneration arrangements
and behavioural risks related to incentive targets.

«  Alignment to culture: Increases to pay and
bonuses are only awarded where the Executive
Director demonstrates high-level behaviours and
performance consistent with Company purpose,
values and strategy.

Responsibilities of the Committee

The Committee is responsible for:

+  determining the Company's policy on Executive
Director's remuneration, including the design of
bonus schemes and targets, share schemes when
appropriate, together with payments under them;

- determining the level of remuneration of the Chair
and each of the Executive Directors;

»  setting the remuneration for the first layer of
management below the Board level, including the
Company Secretary;

+  monitoring the remuneration of senior management
and making recommendations in that respect;

- agreeing any cormpensation for loss of office of any
Executive Director; and

+  ensuring that the Company’s Remuneration Policy
remains fit for purpose and takes note of any new

regulatory requirements.
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What Has the Committee Done
During the Year?

. Put in place an Executive Share Scheme for the
CEQ, CFO, COQ ('Chief Operating Officer’) and

CCO (‘Chief Commercial Officer). This was voted on

by shareholders at the 2021 AGM and will reward
executives based on a stretching share price target
of £12 for all executives apart from the CEO and o
share price target of £15 for the CEO.

. Worked with senior leaders in the business to

explore long service awards for colleagues with five,

ten, and twenty years' service.

. Reviewed the Fearless 1000 share scheme to spread

points more evenly around the business. Regional
managers now have 1,000 points (the same as
senior leaders) as they have a large amount of the
workforce reporting to them. The Committee is
satisfied thot the points distribution in the Fearless
1000 is fairly split between head office, retail

and warehouse.

- Worked with HR to introduce exit interviews to
establish colleagues’ reasons for departure.

Shareholder Voting

The Remuneration Committee meets several times g
year, with four formal meetings and a number of ad hoc
meetings held in FY22,

During the year, the Cornmittee considered its
obligations under the UK Corporate Governonce Code
ond concluded that:

+  the Directors’ Remuneration Policy supports the

Company'’s strategy (including in the performance
measures chosen), considers other external
remuneration guidance/benchmarked ogoinst other
FTSE companies and pay ratios and worked as
intended in FY22; and

»  taking into consideration Company performance

during FY22, remuneration for our Directors
remains appropriate.

The following table sets out actual voting in respect of the resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the period ended 25 April 2021 at the 2021 AGM and the resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

at the 2021 AGM.
Votes Voles
Votes for % for against % aguainst  Total votes cast withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period
ended 25 April 2021 391,676,959 86.27 62,315,356 1373 453992315 14,649
Directors’ Remuneration Policy 385,510465 8452 68480849 15.08 453991314 15,650

David Brayshaw

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
on Behalf of the Board

20 September 2022




FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit
Committee {the Committee) for the 52-week period
ended 24 April 2022. The report sets out the Commiittee's
work and areas of focus during the year, which has
continued to have the shadow of uncertainty cast by
Covid-19 and the emergence of new variants along with
supply chain risks and well-publicised macroeconomic
factors. [he Committee has therefore focused on and
discussed the Group's performance, and the impacts of,
and response to these external factors. Our performance
as a business has remained strong in these challenging
circumstances. It has been impressive to see the
continued strength and depth of experience across all
our business teams and their ability to withstand and
manage the significant risks that materialised.

We monitored the Group's ongoing viability and going
concern positions, reviewing cashflow forecasts and
scenario modelling. We have kept the Group risk
profile and emerging risks under continued review and
had clear oversight of the activities of the executive
Compliance & Risk Group. We have also monitored the
Group's response to opportunities and acquisitions, to
ensure we come through the period stronger and on
track to meet our strategic targets.

On behalf of the Board, the Committee monitors the
Group's financial reporting processes and the integrity
of its financial statements and ensures high standards

of quality and effectiveness in the external audit

process. The Committee also reviews and monitors the
effectiveness of the Group's systems of risk management
and internal control, governance and compliance.

We have built a strong and productive working
relationship with RSM UK Audit LLP {RSM') since its
appointment in 2019 as our External Auditor and we
value the integrity, strength and depth of its audit
and approach.

We have continued to make strong progress against

our continuous improvement assurance agenda across
governance, risk and control. We have c¢losely monitored
the Government's audit and governance reform agenda
and await their response to this.

The Cornmittee values the ongoing work of the Group's
Internal Audit and Risk Team, Retail Support Unit and
Digital Risk teams and continues to seek assurance that
their wark remains a strength in our Group.

Taking its responsibilities as a whole, the Committee is
satisfied that the going concern basis of accounting is
appropriate (see further detail at page 99) and that the
Group is viable over its assessment period (see page 63).

t would like to take the opportunity to thank all our
colleagues for their valuable commitment, contributions
and support towards our Group performance.

Membership

During the year, the Audit Committee comprised three
Non-Executive Directors, David Brayshaw, Nicola
Frampton and myself as Chair. Biographies of each
Committee member are set out in the Directors' profiles
on pages 72 to 74 of this Annual Report.

As Chair of the Audit Committee and Senior
Independent Non-executive Director, | am satisfied
that the Committee's membership includes Directors
with recent and relevant financial experience and
competence in accounting, risk management and
governance, and that the Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the retail sector in which the
Group operates.

Meetings

The Committee met five times during the year, as

we have extended our agenda to accommodate our
assurance requirements. Non-Committee members
of the Board and the executive management team
attended Committee meetings at my invitation to
ensure the Committee is kept informed of important
developments in the business and the risk and control
environment, Attendance by members of the executive
management team also helps to reinforce a strong
culture of risk management within the business.
Non-Committee members do not participate in Audit
Committee decision making.

QOur External Auditor attended all Committee meetings
during the year. The Committee meets privately with

the External Auditor at least annually. In my capacity as
Chair, | have regular meetings with the External Auditor
prior to each Committee meeting during the audit
planning process and as the audit progresses, to address
issues early and to avoid any surprises. | am also in
continuous contact with the Board Chair, Chief Executive,
Chief Financial Officer, External Audit Lead Partner and
our Head of Internal Audit & Risk Management, who has
an independent reporting line to me.
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The Main Responsibilities of the
Audit Committee

The Committee’s main responsibilities, as delegated by
the Board, remained unchanged during the year and
are set out in the Committee’s Terms of Reference. These
include oversight, assessment and review of:

Financial Statements and Reporting:

+  the integrity of the Group's financial reporting as a
whole and any formal announcements relating to
the Group’s financial performance, including any
significant judgements contained in them; and

+  the Group's assessment of its going concern and
longer-term prospects and viability.

External Auditor

+  the effectiveness of the external audit process
taking into consideration relevant UK professional
and regulatory requirements;

« developing and implementing policy on the supply
of non-audit services by the External Auditor and
appraving any such work; and

*  reviewing and monitoring the Externol Auditors’
independence and chjectivity.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

« the effectiveness of the Group's internal financial
controls, risk management and internal control
systems, including the monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of activities of the Internal Audit
function, and driving an agenda of continuous
improvement;

+  identifying and assessing principal and emerging
risks and risk exposures; and

- the effectiveness of whistleblowing arrangements.

In addition, the Committee:

- supports the Beard in discharging its responsibilities
for Corporate Governance Code compliance;

+  advises the Board on the outcome of the external
audit and whether it considers the Annual Report
and Accounts, when taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide
information necessary to shareholders to assess the
Group's position and performance, business model
and strategy;

- makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment or removal of the
External Auditor;

+  approves the External Auditor’s fees and terms
of engagement;

+  maintains strong relationships with the Board,
executive management, the External Auditor and
Internal Audit, in the execution of their respective
responsibilities; and

+  reports to the Board on how the Committee has
discharged its responsibilities during the year.

Activities During the Period

The Committee focused on a number of significant areas
of internal control {including financial, operational and
complionce controls). During the period, the Committee:

- reviewed the Group's financial statements and
assessed whether suitable accounting policies have
been adopted and whether management has made
appropriate estimates and judgements;

reviewed the detailed scenarios and assumptions
behind the going concern basis of accounting and
enhanced viability, including the worst

case scenario;

- assessed the effectiveness of the external audit
process and considered the reappointment of RSM
as the External Auditor for FY23;

- monitored the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and
received detailed reports and presentations on
principal risks management;

«  received regulor updates on ESG matters, including
TCFD requirements, climate-related risks
and opportunities;

reviewed its Terms of Reference; and

+  together with the Board, considered the
Committee's own effectiveness.



Risk Management and Internal Controls

Information on our approach to risk management

and internal control is set out in the risk section of the
Strategic Report and the conclusion of cur review is set
out on page 51. Our plans for continuous improvement
of our risk management and internal control systems
remained in place during the year and our Group
Internal Audit & Risk Management function has
reinforced our progress. The work of our Retail Support
Unit is central to the Group's system of internal control.
The Unit provides internal assurance on the efficacy of
controls over our retail operational procedures

and systems,

In the year, the Committee focused on a number of
significant areas of internal control, including:

- climate risk and the Group’s environmentai, social
and governance agenda, supporting Taskforce for
Climate-related Financial Disclosures reporting.
Further details can be found on page 40;

«  key legislative and regulatory obligations, including
data protection and oversight of Government plans
for audit and governance reform - strengthening
controls over financial reporting;

+  cyber risk and data loss prevention, including
strengthening of our information security capability;

+  the enhancements made to IT general controls
(1ITGC), including a review of a critical business
database’s access to ensure that it was
proportionate to the needs of the business as well as
meeting the robust security standards required of a
critical database. The process is now being scaled
and aligned across all key systems to ensure access
is appropriate;

+  updates on the governance policies review
and reporting;

+  reviewing significant accounting judgements
and estimates;

+  the valuation of assets and stock and the
calculation of associated provisions;

+  the effectiveness of hedge accounting and the
management of foreign currency exposures;

. property and the systems in place to ensure
impairments are recognised on a timely basis;

+  reviewing and communicating the Group's
Whistleblowing policy, ensuring concerns can be
raised via telephone, via email to a dedicated
whistleblowing address or directly to the Company
Secretary or CFQ;

+  HR review of control processes for managing
starters, movers and leavers;

+  business continuity, IT disoster recovery and incident
response; and

«  the Group's banking arrangements.
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Audit Quality

The Committee received comprehensive updates from
RSM and the business in response to outlined reform
proposals in the current Government consultation:
restoring trust in audit and corporate governance.

Building on the three significant reviews in the last
couple of years -the Competition and Markets Authority
{CMA) Market Study, the Kingman Review and the
Brydon Review - the UK audit sector, the audit profession,
audit regulation, and the quality of the audit product,
have never been under greater scrutiny.

The Committee will continue to oversee the development
of plans for compliance readiness in response to the
current BEIS consultation and we look forward to
Government's decision in due course, The Group has
responded to the Government consultation.




FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

External Auditor

The Committee was pleased to recommend the
reappointment of RSM as External Auditor for FY22
following a robust external audit review of FY21. The
length of tenure of RSM as external auditors is
three years.

RSM has reported to the Committee that, in its
professional judgement, it is independent within the
meaning of regulatory and professional requirements
and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner
and audit staff is not impaired. The Audit Committee
has assessed the independence of the auditor and
concurs with this statement.

The Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the
external ocudit process on an ongoing basis and makes
recommendations annually to the Board on the External
Auditor's reappointment. The External Auditor is then
proposed for reappointment {as applicable) each year
at the AGM.

In making its recomnmendations to the Board, the
Committee considers a number of factors relating to
the level of service provided by the External Auditor, the
quality of its work and its independence, These include:

+  the quality and scope of the planning of the external
audit, including the External Auditor's assessment of
risks and how it intends to evolve the audit plan to
respond to changes in the business;

= the quality and timeliness of the External Auditor’s
reports to the Committee and the Board during
the year;

«  the level of understanding that the External Auditor
has demonstrated in relation to the Group's
businesses and the retail sector;

. the objectivity of the Externol Auditor's view on any
deficiencies in internal control which came to its
attention during the course of its audit work, and the
robustness of challenge and its findings on areas
which require management judgement;

« the contents of any external reports or regulatory
statements published in respect of the External
Auditor; and

+  the nature and scope of non-audit services provided
by the External Auditor and the level of fees charged
for these services.

We have a stringent policy and approval process in
place in respect of non-audit services and our view

is to keep this type of engagement minimal unless in
exceptional but reasonable circumstances, and in line
with Group policy. No non-audit services have been
provided by the External Auditor in the financial year
{other than agreed upon procedures in relation to the
interim financial statements).

Opinion on the Annual Report
and Accounts

The Board has asked the Committee to advise it on
whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as
a whole, are fair, bolanced and understandable ond
provide the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Group's position, performance, business
model and strategy.

The Committee has reviewed the process for
preparing this Annual Report in order to assess
whether other information contained in it is
consistent with the Group's financial statements for
the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022. This process has
included the following key elements:

. reviewing new regulations and reporting
requirements with external advisers to identify
additional information and disclosures that may
be appropriate;

»  preparing a detailed timetable and allocation of
drafting responsibility to relevant internal teams with
review by an appropriate senior manager;

+  providing an explanation of the requirement for the
Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, to
be fair, balanced and understandable, to those with
drofting responsibility;

- monitoring the integrity of the financial statements
and other information provided to shareholders
to ensure they represent a clear and accurate
assessment of the Group's financial position
and performance;

«  reviewing significant financial reporting issues and
judgements contained in the financial statements;

+  review of all sections of the Annual Report by
relevant external advisers;

. review by the senior manager working group
responsible for the Annual Report process; and

. overall review of the contents of the Annual Report
and Finarcial Statements for the peticd under review.

The Committee has advised the Board that it considers
the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the
pericd ended 24 April 2022, when taken as a whole, to
be fair, balanced and understandable and that they
provide the necessary information to assess the Group's
position, performance, business model and strategy.
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Significant Financial Reporting Issues

The Committee has considered the following areas of significance during the period and held discussions with
managerment and the External Auditor in reviewing these matters. The Committee is satisfied with how each of these
matters has been discussed and addressed.

Going concern and viability

The Audit Committee has held extensive talks with management on going concern and viability, and the Committee as a
whole has reviewed ond challenged management analysis and assumptions used in both these assessments, This includes
reviewing cash flow forecasts, sensitivity analysis, finance facilities and future funding plans. We considered areas of ongoing
uncertainty in respect of Brexit, supply chain issues, cost of living and the broader economic downturn.

The Group has successfully refinanced a combined term loan and revolving credit facility (RCF) which currently totals £980m
for a period of three years with the possibility to extend for a further 2 years.

On this basis, the Committee is sotisfied that the going concem basis of accounting is appropriate and the Group is viable
over its assessment period. Further information is included within the Viability Statement and the Directors’ Report.

Invertory

The Committee has considered the work performed on inventory valuation and provisioning and has reviewed
maonagement’s methodology.

The Commiittee is satisfied the approach is consistent with the prior periods and takes account of ony related supply chain
and macroeconomic risks,

The Committee is satisfied with the approach taken on inventory valuation and provisioning for Studio Retail, due to the
spacific risks associoted with inventory within thot business.

Impgirment of right-of-use
assets; property, plant

& equipment; freehold
property and reiated
property provisions

The Committee reviewed and challenged management’s impairment testing, including the key assumptions and
methodologies used. The projected cash flows, discount rates and third-party valuations used in the evaluation were
considered appropriate, within the context of the changes in consumer behaviour and economic uncertainties.

Forward currency contracts

The Committee reviewed and discussed with management the valuation methodology used and accounting treatment
applied to derivative contracts. The Cornmittee also review delegated authorities in place for the execution of such
transoctions and is satisfied these are appropriate.

Accounting for investments
ond associates

Investments: the Committee considered management’s work on presentation and classification risk, in respect of investment
shareholdings in excess of 209%. This work involves management judgement on whether or net the Group has significant
influence over these entities. The Committee discussed with management ond reviewed its representations in determining
significant influence.

Associates: the Committee also considered management’s work on presentation and classification risk in relation to
associates. The Committee has similarly discussed with management and reviewed its representations in determining
whether the Group has control over its associates.

Related parties

The Committee has evalucted the appropriaoteness of related-party disclosures through discussions with management ond
review of papers outlining the valuation of the loan to Four Holdings Limited and the FY22 payments in respect of MM Prop
Consultancy Limited and M.PM Elevation Limited. The Committee is satisfied that the disclosures, payment and approach
are appropriate.

Legal and other provisions
and accruals

The Committee has reviewed and discussed with manogement its judgements and determinations in respect of jegal
provisioning and accrual for tax-related matters at the period end. Given the inherent levels of uncertainty and estimation in
these areas, the Cormmittee has carefully considered and chollenged management's conclusions and reviewed independent
third-party reports where available. As a result, the Committee is satisfied that the valuation of amounts recognised within
legal and other provisions are appropriate.

Impairment allowance on
trade receivables (Studio
Retail Ltd)

The Committee challenged managements judgernents and estimates on provisioning levels. The Committee is satisfled the
underlying approach is consistent with Studic Retail's prior periods and has been adequately updeated to toke into account
related supply chain and macroeconormic risks. Furthermoare, the committee is satisfied with the approach for the post model
economic overlay.

Business combination
accounting

The Committee reviewed the work performed by management in respect of the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited,
specifically, in relation to the valuation of net assets at the date of acquisition, accounting for the defined benefit pension
scheme, fair value of intangibles and the fair value of the credit purchased impaired assets. The Committee is satisfied
that the ccquisition and presentation of Studio Retail Limited represents a true and fair view and that the date of control,
estimates and judgements used by management are appropriate.
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Review of the Committee's Effectiveness

The Committee has improved its governance and annudl
planning cycle in the year and will continue to build on
this in FY23. } monitor and assess the effectiveness of
the Committee regularly as Chair and invite input from
the External Auditor on this.

Key Objectives for FY23
The Committee’s key objectives for FY23 are to:

. oversee the development of plans in response to the
Government’s reform proposals: restoring trust in
audit and corporate governance;

«  monitor continuous improvement of the Group's
systems of risk management and internal controf;

. maintain a strong relationship with our External
Auditor and engagement on the delivery of a robust,
efficient and effective external audit; and

. strengthen assurance activity ocross the Group
based on the three lines model, (accountability,
actions, assurance).

Richard Bottomley

Chair of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

20 September 2022
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors of Frasers Group Pic present their Annual
Report and Accounts for the period ended 24 April 2022,
The Group's Corporate Governance Statement is set out
on page 65 and forms part of the Directors’ Report.

Principal Activities and Business Review

The Chief Executive's Report and Business Review on
page 18 provides a detailed review of the Group's
rurrent activities and potential future developments,
together with matters likely to affect future development,
performance and conditions. Principal risks and
uncertainties likely to affect the Group are set out on
page 50. The financial position of the Group, its cash
flow, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are
described in the Financial Review on page 28. The
Strategic Report on page 10 covers environmental
matters, including the impact of the Group's businesses
on the environment, the Group's workforce, and on
community engagement.

The principal activities of the Group during the
period were:

- retailing of sports and leisure clothing, footwear and
equipment, premium and luxury apparel;

»  retailing through department stores, shops
and online;

»  wholesale distribution and sale of sports and leisure
clothing, footwear and equipment, premium and
luxury apparel;

+  production of apparel under Group-owned or
licensed brands; and

+  licensing of Group Brands.

Frasers Group Plc, through various subsidiaries, has
established branches in a number of different countries
in which the business operates.

Further information on the Group's principal activities
is set out at the front of this report and in the Chief
Executive's Report and Business Review on page 18

Results for the Period and Dividends

Revenue for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022 was
£4,805.3m and profit before tax was £335.6m compared
with £3,625.3m and £8.5m in the pricr period. The
trading results for the period and the Group's financial
position as at the end of the year are shown in the
attached finoncial statements and discussed further in
the Chief Executive's Report and Business Review and in
the Financial Review on pages 18 and 28 respectively.

The Board has decided not to propose a dividend in
relation to FY22 (FY21: nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility, facilitating
future investments and other growth opportunities.

Share Capital and Control

As at 20 September 2022, there are 640,602,369 ordinary
shares of 10p in issue and fully paid, of which 163,124,612
were held in treasury. As at the period end there were
151,240,174 ordinary shares held in treasury.

Further information regarding the Group's issued share
capital can be found in note 25. Details of our share
schemes are also set out in note 25.

There are no specific restrictions on the transfer of shares,
which are governed both by the general provisions of
the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation.

The Directors are not aware of any agreements between
holders of the Company’s shares that may result in
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

Authority to Issue Shares

The Directors were authorised to allot shares in the
capital of the Group up to an aggregate nominal
amount of £17,068,843 {being approx. one third of the
then issued share capital) for the period expiring at the
end of the 2022 AGM.

In line with guidance from the Association of British
Insurers, the Company was also granted authority to
issue a further third of the issued share capital to a total
nominal amount of £34,137,686, in connection with o
rights issue.

An authority to allot shares up to a maximum nominal
value of £2,560,326 (being approx. 5% of the then issued
share capital) as if statutory pre-emption rights did not
apply, was also approved. In addition, the Directors were
granted a further authority to allot up to a maximum
nominal value of £2,560,326 (being approx. 5% of the
then issued capital) as if statutory pre-emption rights
did not apply when such allotment was for the purposes
of financing (or refinancing, if the power is used within
six months of the original transaction} a transaction
which the Board determined to be an acquisition or
other capital investrnent of a kind contemplated by

the Pre-emption Group's Statement of Principles on
disapplying pre-emption rights.
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The Group was authorised to make market purchase of
ordinary shares of 10p each in the Company of upto a
maximum aggregate number of 76,758,587, representing
14.99% of the Company's issued ordinary share capital
at the 2021 AGM. The above authority expires at the
close of the next AGM of the Company.

Whilst authorities expire at the close of the next AGM

of the Company, a contract to allot shares under these
authorities may be made prior to the expiry of the
authority and concluded in whole or part after the AGM,
and at that meeting other authorities will be sought
from shareholders.

Share Buybacks

During the period to 24 April 2022 the Company
purchased 29,979,999 under the Share buyback
programmes that commenced on 4 May 2021, 6 August
2021, 4 October 2021, 13 December 2021 and 1 April 2022.
The nominal value of the shares purchased was 10p for a
consideration of £193.2m, Up to 20 September 2022 the
Company has purchased 11,884,438 additional shares
with a nhominal value of 10p for consideration of £79.9m.
No shares have been disposed of by the Company to
this date. The purpose of the Programme is to reduce
the share capital of the Company.

Shareholders

No shareholder enjoys any special control rights, and,
except as set out below, there are no restrictions in the
transfer of shares or of voting rights.

As a controlling shareholder Mike Ashley has entered
into a written and legally binding Relationship
Agreement with the Company. This agreement
ensures that the controlling shareholder complies with
the independence provisions set out in Listing Rule
6.5.4. Under the terms of the Agreement, Mike Ashley
undertook that, for so long as he is entitled to exercise,
or to control the exercise of, 15% or more of the rights
to vote at general meetings of the Company, he will:
conduct all transactions and relationships with any
member of the Group on arm’s length termsand on a
normal commercial basis; exercise his voting rights or
other rights in support of the Company being managed
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the principles
of good govermnance set out in the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code and not exercise any of his voting or
other rights and powers to procure any amendment to
the Articles of Association of the Company; and other
than through his interest in the Company, not have any
interest in any business which sells sports apparel and
equipment, subject to certain rights, after notification
to the Company, to acquire any such interest of less
than 20% of the business concerned, and certain cther
limited exceptions, without receiving the prior approval
of the Non-Executive Directors; and not solicit for
employment or employ any senior employee of

the Company.

The Company has complied with this Agreement's
independence provisions during the period and, as far as
the Company is aware, the controlling shareholder and
his associates have also complied with them.

As at 24 April 2022, the Company had been advised
that the foltowing parties had an interest in 3% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to Rule 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules (‘DTR');

Percentags
of issued
Numbar of Ordinary Noture of
shares held  share capital holding
with voting
rights heid
Mike Ashley ™ 330,000,000 67.0% Indirect
Phoenix Asset
Management 35727677 7.0% Direct
Partners Limited 2
Odey Asset .
Managerent LLP® 28,694,940 53% Direct

aH Mike Ashiey held the shares througn bwo companies namery MASH Bela Limited
and MASH Haldmgs Limited which held 303507460 ordinary shares (81 65% of
the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the Company) and 26,492 540 ordingry shares
(% 38% of the 1ssued orginary share copital of the Company] respectizely,

12) These figures are as ot 06 Octaber 2021 being tne last dote or which the
Comoeny was notfied of g chenge in the percentoge of shores

i3y These flaures are os at 14 December 2018, being the last aate on whuch the
Compony waos nptfied of o change in the percentoge of shores

Between 25 April 2022 and 20 September 2022 (being
the latest practicable date prior to the publication of
this Report) Mike Ashley's shareholding increased to
69% held via MASH Beta Limited and MASH Holdings
Limited, which hold 303,507,460 ordinary shares (63.46%
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company;}
and 26,492,540 ordinary shares (5.54% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company) respectively.
There have been no other netification of changes in the
interest held by the above parties.



ADR Programmes

We are aware of unsponsored American Depository
Receipt (ADR) programmes established from time to
time in respect of our shares. We have not sponsored or
authorised their crection and any questions should be
directed to the relevant depository.

Frasers Group has not and does not intend to offer or
sell its ordinary shares or other securities (in the form

of ADR or otherwise) to the general public in the United
States nor has it listed or intend to list its Ordinary
Shares or other securities on any national securities
exchange in the United States or to encourage the
trading of its Ordinary Shares on any over-the-counter
market located in the United States. The Group does
not make arrangements to permit the voting of ordinary
shares held in the form of ADRs and its publication of
periodic financial and other information is not intended
to facilitate the operation of any unsponsored ADR
programme under Rule 12g 3-2(b) of U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or otherwise.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association may only be
amended by special resolution at a general meeting of
shareholders. The articles were last amended at the 2021
AGM. Subject to applicable laws and the Company's
Articles of Association, the Directors may exercise all
powers of the Company.

Takeovers

The Directors do not believe that there are any
significant contracts that may change in the event of a
successful takeover of the Company.

Share Schemes

Details of the Executive share scheme are set out in

the Directors' Remuneration Report on page 77. The
Fearless 1000 share scheme remains in place and is due
to benefit collecagues in 2025, should the parameters of
that scheme be met.

Colleague Involvement

The Group currently has approx. 30,000 colleagues in its
stores, offices and warehouses.

The workforce is notified of announcements and major
changes in the business via Company emails, SLACK,
social media and our intranet, as well as information
being communicated through iine managers. The
Company has elected a Workers' Representative, Cally
Price, who attends all Board meetings and provides
feedback from employees to the Board, The Company
also has the 'Your Company, Your Voice' scheme

which enables colleagues to raise issues of concern

via suggestion boxes. The contributions are read by
senior management and the Workers' Representative,
who provides the Board with an overview and replies
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to colleagues as appropriate. A selection of questions
received, and answers given by management, are
displayed in communal areas for colleagues.

The Group has invested heavily in a new e-learning
platform that provides colleagues with access to
courses and opportunities to keep up to date with the
latest developments of the Group as well as personal
development opportunities, Our new Leadership
Academy also invests in colleagues who wish to

grow within the business and provides them with the
opportunity to shape the polices and future direction of
the business.

Our retail conferences offer attendees an oppeortunity
to celebrate their successes, receive updates on how
the Group's strategy is progressing, and for them to
judge how the Group is performing via the ‘Confident or
Concerned’ questionnaire.

Our monthly nominations for 'Frasers Champion’
provides colleagues with the opportunity to individually
recognise and reward the hard work of their fellow
colleagues. Winners of the monthly champion awards
win an additional month's salary as well as 10 points
under the Fearless 1000 bonus scheme. A total of 98
colleagues were ‘Frasers Champions' in the year.

There are various colleague incentives available to

our retail colleagues. These incentives include our 5
Star Commission Scheme, Turnover Bonus, PBT Bonus,
Stocktake Bonus and other commission schemes. These
schemes vary between fascias.

Further information on relationships with our people and
the principal decisions taken by the Group during the
period having regard to colleague involvement can be
found in the Directors’ Report on page 97 and page 13 of
the Our People section.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group's recruitment policy is to match the
capabilities and talents of each applicant to the
appropriate job. Factors such as gender, race, religion or
belief, sexual orientation, age, disability or ethnic origin
are ignored, and decisions are made with regard to
candidates irrespective of these factors. Discrimination
in any form is not tolerated within the Group.

Applications for employment by persons with any
disability are given full and fair consideration for all
vacancies and are assessed in accordance with their
particular skills and abilities.

The Group endeavours to meet its responsibilities
towards the training and employment of disabled
people, and to ensure that training, career development
and promotion opportunities are available to all.

The Group makes every effort to provide continuity
of employment when our people become disabled.
Attempts are made in every circumstance to provide
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employment, whether this involves adapting the current
job role and remaining in the same job, or moving

to a more appropriate role. Job retraining and job
adaptation are just two examples of how the Group
works in the interests of its workforce to promote equal
opportunities, in order that an individual's employment
within the Group may continue. The Group values the
knowledge and expertise that our people have gained
throughout their time with us, and therefore does not
wish to lose valued colleagues.

Further information on our approach to diversity can be
found in the Strategic Report on page 34.

Business Relationships

Details of our relationships with business partners are
detailed in our 5.172 statement, within the
Strategic Report.

Research and Development

The Group designs some clothing and footwear for our
in-house brands for sale in stores. The Group is currently
investing in research that will enable us to produce more
sustainable products and processes that will help us
meet our ESG targets.

External brands are purchased from third-party suppliers,

although we do work with them to agree on the specific
pieces which we sell in-store.

Charitable and Political Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations
of £6.6k {2021 £3K) in the UK. The Group also made
donations in kind such as clothing, sleeping bags and
sportts equipment to various organisations and charities.
No political donations were made (2021: nil). Further
information on our charitable donations and community
initiatives can be found in our ESG report.

Directors

Details of current Directors, dates of appointment,

their roles, responsibilities and significant external
commitments are set out on page 72. The membership
of the Board of Directors has largely remained the
same throughout FY22 with the exception that Anouska
Kapour who was appointed on 29 September 2021,
subsequently resigned on 21 December 2021 due to

a conflict that arose during her tenure, and Michael
Murray was appointed to the Board on 1 May 2022.

Aithough the Company’s Articles of Association require
retirement by rotation of ene third of Directors each
year, the Group complies with the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code and at each AGM all of the Directors
will retire and stand for reappointment.

Information on service contracts and details of the
interests of the Directors and their persons closely
associated in the share capital of the Company at 24
April 2022, and at the date of this Report, are shown in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 77.

Copies of the service contracts of Executive Directors
and of the appointment letters of the Chair and
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at
the Company's registered office during normal business
hours and at the AGM,

No Director has a directorship in common or other
significant links with any other Director.

Director appointments are governed by the Companies
Act 2006, the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and
the Group's Articles of Association.

The Directors confirm that:

. so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware; ond

+  the Directors have taken all steps that they ought
to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
auditor is aware of that information.

Directors’ Conflicts of Interest

The Board has formal procedures to deal with Directors’
conflicts of interest. The appointment letters of
Non-Executive Directors state that they agree to consult
with the Chair prior to accepting any directorships

in publicly quoted companies or any major external
appointments. Also, if any Non-executive Director
becomes aware of any potential conflict of interest, the
Chair and Company Secretary must be notified as soon
as possible.

During the period, the Chair and the Company Secretary
were made aware of an arising conflict of interest in
relation to Anouska Kapur as a Director, As a result of
this conflict, Anouska elected to stand down from her
role. No other conflicts or additional appointments for
other Non-Executive Directors became apparent.

The independence of Non-Executive Directors is
reviewed by the Board annually. All Directors complete
an annual questionnaire to record any potential conflicts
of interest. No conflicts were disclosed for the FY22
questionnaire.

The Company has entered into a Relationship
Agreement with Mike Ashley, whose wholly-owned
companies, MASH Holdings Limited and MASH Beta
Lirmited, currently hold approx. 5.54% and 61.65%
respectively of the issued share capital of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at 24 April 2022, This
agreement is described in the Directors’ Report on
page 95.



Directors’ Indemnities

The Group has qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions within the meaning given to the term by s234
and s235 of the Companies Act 2006 for the Directors.
This is in respect of any potential exposure of liability in
their capacity as a Director of the Company and of any
company within the Group. Such indemnities were in
force throughout the financial period and will remain

in force.

Sports Direct Employee Benefit Trust

We note that the Trustees of the Sports Direct Employee
Benefit Trust have waived their right to receive dividends
on the ordinary shares comprised in the trust fund. No
dividends were paid by the Company for the pericd
ended 24 April 2022 nor for the period ended

25 April 2021,

Disclosures Required Under UK Listing

Rule 9.8.4

The information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4 is set out in
the table below:

Applicable sub-paragraph within Disclosure provided

LR 9.8.4

{1) Interest capitalised by the Group N/A
{2) Publication of unaudited financial A
information NA

(3) Requirement deleted from the
Listing Rules

{4} Detuails of long-term incentive

schemes only involving a Director N/A

(S} Waiver of emoluments by N/A

a Director

{6) Waiver of future emoluments by A

a Director N/

{7} Non pro-rata allotments for cash NA

{issuer} 1/

{8} Non pro-rata allotments for cash

[major subsidiaries) N/A
P t particiogtion | y

(9) Parent participation in a placing NA

by a listed subsidiary

(10} Contracts of significance N/A

{1} Provision of services by a

controlling shareholder poge 81
{12) Shareholder waivers of dividends page 95
{13} Sharehalder waivers of N/A
future dividends A
(14) Agreements with controlling 96
shareholders page
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Annual General Meeting

Details on the date, time and format of the AGM will
follow shortly after the finalisation of this Annual Report
and Accounts. Information will be easily accessible on
the Group's website.

Going Concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors
likely to affect its future developrment, performance and
position are set out in the Chief Executive's Report and
Business Review.

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described
in the Financial Review. In addition, the financial
stotements include the Group's objectives, policies

and processes for managing its capital, its financial

risk management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group is profitable, highly cash generative and

has considerable financial resources. The Group is able
to operate within its banking facilities and covenants,
which run until November 2024 with a two-year option
to extend, and is well placed to take advantage of
strategic opportunities as they arise. As a consequence,
the Directors believe that the Group is well placed

to manage its business risks successfully despite the
continued uncertain economic outlook.

Management has assessed the level of trading and has
forecast and projected a conservative base case and
also a number of even more conservative scenarios,
including taking into account the Group's open positions
in relation to Hugo Boss options. These forecasts and
projections show that the Group will be able to operate
within the level of the current facility and its covenant
requirements (being interest cover and net debt to
EBITDA ratios). Management also has a number of
mitigating actions which could be taken if required
such as putting on hold discretionary spend, liguidating
certain assets on the balance sheet and paying down
the revolving credit facility. See the Viabkility Statement
for further details.

Having thoroughly reviewed the performance of the
Group and Parent Company and having made suitable
enquiries, the Directors are confident that the Group and
Parent Company have adequate resources to remain in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, which

is at least 12 months from the date of these financial
statements. Trading would need to fall significantly
below levels observed during the pandemic to require
mitigating actions or a relaxation of covenants.
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Furthermore, as per the outlook statement, the
Directors are confident of achieving an Adjusted
PBT of between £450m to £500m during FY23. On
this basis, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis for the preparation of the Annuc|
Report and Financial statements.

Accountability and Audit

A statement by the External Auditor can be found on
page 102, detailing its reporting responsibilities. The
Directors fulfil their responsibilities, and these are set out
in the Directors’ Responsibilities Staterment on page 101.

Auditor

RSM UK Audit LLP will be proposed for reappointment
at the AGM. In accordance with 5.489(4) of the
Companies Act 2006, resolutions to determine
remuneration are to be agreed at the AGM.

Post Balance Sheet Events
See note 37 to the Financial Statements.

Future Developments

Future developments are discussed throughout the
Strategic Report.

Financial Risk Management

Financial risk management is discussed in note 3 of the
financial statements.

By Order of the Board
Robert Palmer
Company Secretary
20 September 2022
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY

STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the

Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report, the separate Corporate
Governance Statement and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and reguiations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare

Group and Company financial statements for each
financial year. The Directors have elected under
company law and are required under the Listing Rules
of the Financial Conduct Authority to prepare Group
financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards. The Directors have
elected under company law to prepare the Company
financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdorm Generaily Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable low),

The Group financial statements are required by law and
UK-adopted International Accounting Standards to
present fairly the financial position and performance of
the Group; the Companies Act 2006 provides in relation
to such financial statements that references in the
relevant part of that Act to financial staternents giving a
true and fair view are references to their achieving a

fair presentation.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Group for that period.

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

A.  select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

B. make judgements and accounting estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;

C. for the Group financial statements, state whether
they have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted International Accounting Standards;

D. for the Company financial statements, state
whether applicable UK accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
Company financial statements;

E. prepare the financial stotements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and the Company will continue
in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequaote
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's and the Company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ Statement Pursuant to the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are
listed on pages 72 to 74 confirm that, to the best of each
person's knowledge:

A. the financial statements, prepared in accordance
with the applicable set of accounting standards,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial pesition and profit of the Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as d whole; and

B. the Strategic Report contained in the Annual
Report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position
of the Company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FRASERS GROUP PLC

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Frasers
Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries
{the '‘Group') for the period ended 24 April 2022 which
comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cashflow
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes

in Equity, the Company Balance Sheet, the Company
Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the Group
financial statements is applicable taw and United
Kingdom adopted International Accounting Standards.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in the preparation of the parent company financial
staternents is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion;

+  the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group's and of the parent
company’s affairs as at 24 April 2022 and of the
Group's profit for the period then ended;

+  the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted International Accounting Standards;

+  the parent company financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

. the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the
Cornpanies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our qudit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) {(ISAs (UK)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
Group and parent company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit

of the financial statements in the UK, including the
FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the
Audit Committee,

Summary of Our Audit Approach

Key audit matters

Group - Recurring risks Valuation of inventory.
Impairment of property
related ossets.
Property, Legal and
Other Provisions.

Group - event driven risks Impairment of Studio Retail

trade receivables.

Accounting for the acquisition
of the trade and certain assets
of Studio Retall Group.

Materiality Group
Overall materiality: £17.0million.

Performance materiality:
- £11.0million.

Parsnt Compony
Overall materiality: £5.4miflion.

Performance materiality:
£3.5million,

Scope Qur Group audit procedures
covered 83% of revenue, 86%
of total assets and 91% of profit
before tax.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
Group and parent company financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks
of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These motters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of
our audit of the Group and parent company financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Valuation of inventory

Key audit matter description

At 24 April 2022, the Group Consolidated Balance Sheet records inventory of £1,277.6rm (2021; £1,096.6m). This
amount is net of an inventory provision of £236.7m (2021: £219.8m).

As described in note 2 to the financial statements, management use a forward looking inventory provisioning model
which calculates a provision by cateyury of inventory based on historical experience, pricing ond discounting
strategies and management’s assessment of risk.

There is significant estimation involved in the calculation of inventory provisions to ensure that inventory is held at
the lower of cost and net realisable volue. This involves consideration of expected future losses on sale of inventory
including assessing the likely impacts of macro~economic factors, inventory obsolescence and the additional costs
to sell which need to be included in calculating the net realisable value of inventory.

Due to the factors explained above, we have identified the valuation of inventory as a key audit matter.

How tha matter was addressed in
the cudit

In respect of inventory valuation we:

Assessed the appropriateness of management's inventory provision calculations, including testing the accuracy
and completeness of the doto used ond the mathemctical occurocy of the provisioning model.

+  Critically challenged the assumptions made in the inventory provision model in respect of the expected level of

discounting and the expected costs of sale, including:
+  The basis on which expected discounts were calculated and whether calculated discounts were reqglistic
based on histerical experience and the current troding environment,
+  The assumptions regarding the expected volume and allocated costs of redistributing (tunnelling) and
repricing product.
*  Whether different assumptions and estimates should be applied for different fascias given the
differentiated product mix.

+  Considered management's strategic options for addressing demand in the uncertain retail economic

environment resulting from current mocro-economic factors, including discounting levels and further

development of on-line retail chonnels,
As a result of our findings frem challenging management’s model, we independently developed an alternative
model that applied historic inventory loss experience to calculate a provision agoinst current out of season and
clearance inventory and inventory that would be expected to remain unsold and fall into those categories In future
periods. In oddition, we recalculated the expected future tunnelling and repricing costs to take account of our
assessment of the likely future costs of these activities in relation to products that would have a net realisable value
which wos below cost.

We then formed an assessment, based on discussions with management and available market data, to reflect the
expected impact of current macro-economic factors and expected changes in custormer disposoble income. This
included consideration of forecast future sales performance, expected margin decline, the increased risk of inventory
becoming out of season and adjustments considered relevant for specific fascias, where the risk of inventory
obsolescence was considered to be higher. Our alternative model aliowed us to develop an estimate of the level of
provision we considered appropricte and suppeortable against which we were able to assess manogement's estimates.

Our audit work on inventory valuation, ond in particular the development of our own alternative provision model, did
not identify any material misstatement in the valuation of inventory.
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Iimpadirment of property related astets

Key audit matter description

As a result of the macro-economic foctors, reduction in consumer disposable income and changing patterns of retail
consumer behaviour, particularly in relation to physical stores, the Group identified that there were indications of
impairment in relation to freehold property interests, right of use assets and related PPE {"property related assets”).
As required by LAS 36 {Impairment of Assets) the Group has performed an impairment review of all such assets,

As a result of this review, impairments in relation to freehoid property (£106.5mj, right of use assets (£76.8mj and
related PPE (£40.7m) have been made in these financial statements.

As described in note 2 to the financia! staternents, the impairment review invelves management judgements and
estimotes in relation to the volue in use of the property reloted assets [(being the net present volue of the forecost
related cashflows) and, in the ¢ase of freehold property, comperison of calculated value in use to internal and
external property valuations. The values derived are then compared to the book value of the related assets to
determine whether impaimment is required. In making this assessment management determined each property or
store to be a cash generating unit (CGU]J.

The value in use calculations involve significant assumptions regarding future cashflows, the long term growth rate in
like for like sales, an assessment of the propensity for customers to switch to online purchases, pressure on margins
and determination of an appropricte discount rate and an assessment of the likely impact of high inflation and
reduced consumer disposable income. in the case of freehold property, valuations are dependent on assumptions
regarding the ability to relet property, the length of void and rent free periods and future rentals achievable.
Accordingly we determined that the valuation of property related assets had a high degree of estimation uncertainty.

Due to the factors explained above, we have identified valuation, presentation and disclosure of property related
assets as a key audit matter.

How the matter was addressed in
the audit

We obtained an understanding of how management performed their impairment testing of property related assets
and their approach to valuation.

We critically assessad the methodology applied by management with reference to the requirements of IAS 36 and
tested the integrity of the value in use calculations and the calculated impairments by CGU.

in the case of freehold property, in addition to assessing the value in use calculations, we evaluated the approach
to the valuation of freehold interests with input from an independent external retail property valuation expert and
critically challenged the underfying assumptions.
In particulor we challenged the significant assurnptions within management's models through:-
+  Evaluating management's assumptions through consideration of historical and current trading performance and
external date points.
+  Sensitised the ossumptions in management’s impairment models.
= Tested the reconciliation between the cashflows used in the value in use calculations with those used to assess
going concern and vicbility to ensure they were consistent.
»  Critically challenging whether it was appropriate to exclude properties from the impairment model and assessing
whether the reasons for exclusion were supportable - for example where specific properties were
under redeveloprment.
»  Challenging whether previous impairments should be reversed.
+  Comparing the discount rate used with that independently calculated by our internal valuation expert.
We assessed whether the disciosures within the financial statements are consistent with IAS 36.

Key observations

Qur audit work in respect of the impairment of property related assets concluded that the related balances were not
materially misstated and the disclosures management have made cre appropriate,
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Property, Legal and Other Provisions

Key audit matter description

The Group makes provision for liabilities where it identifies there is a present obligation s a result of a past event
and where it is probable that there will be a resultant outfiow of resources that can be reliably measured.

The Group has a significunl provision in relation to legal and regulatory matters and property related provisions.
As detailed in note 29 to the financial statements, the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes provisions of £230.2m
{FYZ21: £215.8m) relating to legal and regulatory matters, £161.2m (2021: £144.9m) relating to property provisions which
principally comprise pravisions for dilapidations on leasehold properties and £41.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the
financiol services business of Studic Retuii.

The dilapidation provision requires significant judgements to be made as to future omounts payable based on
historical experience, external advice and evelving conditions within the property sector.

Additionally, the Group foces a number of legal, tox and other commercial claims and significant judgement is
required in determining whether a provision should be recorded and for what amount.

As a result of the Group's acquisition of Studio Retail it has recognised a provision of £41.6m in respect of a matter
which is subject to a high degree of estimation uncertainty. This is discussed further in the key oudit matter dealing
with the acquisition of trade and certain assets of Studio Retail Group and in note 29 to the financial statements.
Due to the amounts involved and the significant judgements required in quantifying and assessing provisions

we have identified existence, accuracy, completeness, presentation and disclosure of property legal and other
provisions as o key oudit matter.

How the matter was addressed in
the audit

Our audit work included the following:

+ Considering management’s assessment in respect of provisions and assessing whether the recognition criteria of
1AS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets had been met.

+ Challenging the assumptions made in the dilapidation provision model in respect of the expected level of
dilapidations on a store by store basis. As a result of our findings from chollenging menagement’s model, we
independentily developed an alternative model that applied historic dilapidation costs and relevant factors
such as geography and property type as well as considering the impacts of likely future changes in the property
market. Cur alternative mode! allowed us to develop an estimate of the level of provision we considered
appropriate and supportable against which we were able to assess monagement's estimates.

+  Challenging provisions and related assumptions with key management outside the finance function, including

members of the property and legal teams and obtaining corrobeorative evidence from third parties in relation to
material ongoing legal and tax matters.

+  Auditing the movernent in provisions and checking for completeness through the review of ongoing claims for

dilapidations and through circularisation of legal advisors in relation to other claims.

Key observations

Our audit work in respect of Property, legal and cther previsions concluded that the related balances were not
materially misstated, albeit subject to a high degree of estimation uncertainty as regards the Studio retail provision,
and the disclosures management have made are appropriate.

Impairment of Studio Retcil trade receivables

Key oudit matter description

Frasers Group acquired Studio Retail Limited {SRL) on 24 February 2022.

SRL has significant trade receivables os a result of credit focilities which are offered to customers. These are
recovered through instalments. These trade receivables make up a significant proportion of Frasers Group's total
assets at 24 April 2022. An appropricte allowance for expected credit losses in respect of these trode receivables is
required to be derived from estimates and underlying assumptions such as the Probability of Defauit and the Loss
Given Default, tuking into consideration forword looking macro-economic assumptions. Changes in the assumptions
applied such as the value ond frequency of future debt sales in calculating the Loss Given Default, and the
estimation of customer repayments and Probability of Default rates, as well as the weighting of the macroeconomic
scenarios applied to the impoirment model could have a significant impact on the carrying volue of these trade
receivables.

We determined that credit risk is a highly judgemental area due to the use of subjective assumptions and a high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The impairment provision relating to the Studio Retail trade receivables required
the Directors to make judgements over the ability of customers to make future repayments. Since the recoverability
of trade receivables has a high degree of estimation uncertainty, with a potential range of possible cutcomes, we
consider this to be a key audit matter.

How the matter was oddressed in
the audit

Qur audit work in relation to the acquired trade receivables within SRL included:-

«  Reviewing the work of the component auditor in assessing the design and implementation, ond testing the
operating effectiveness, of the key controls in relation to the impairment and provision model and forming our
own assessment based on this review and discussions with management.

»  Assessing the overall methodology against the requirements of IFRS 9.

+  Reviewing the work of the component auditor in performing testing on the data within the model and verifying
this to underlying source documentation. Utilising experts to assist the oudit team in assessing the validity of
the model and challenging management’s forecasting and weighting of key model drivers (macro-economic
variables) and expected future debt scle prices {ultimate recoveries).

Key observations

Baosed on the work performed, we considered the methodologies and modelled assumptions used to value trade
receivables expected credit losses to be reasonable and in line with IFRS 9.
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Acquisition of the trade and certain assets {including credit impaired assets) of Studio Retail Group

Key oudit moatter description On 24 February 2022, the Group acquired digital retailer, Studio Retail Limited (SRL) and certain other assets of
Studio Retail Group ple (in administration) (SRG). The consideration for the transaction, which totalied £28.3m,
comprised of cash and the release of SRG from its liabilities to the lending banks under its revolving credit facilities.
The Company also agreed to oct as guarantor of certain payments in respect of the SRG group pension scheme to
the satisfaction of the Trustees. Details of the acquisition are given in note 32 to the financial statements.
Judgernent is applied by management in assessing the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the business
combingtion, including any intangibles in occordance with IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement.

Management have applied a number of key judgements and estimates in order to account for this acquisition in
both the Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations and
FRS 102 Section 19. These include:
- Considering whether this constitutes a step acquisition on the bosis of the Group's holding in SRG
pre administration.
= Considering whether the debt purchase is a separate transaction.
- Determining the carrying value of net assets In the acquisition balance sheet of SRL, in particular relating to the
carrying vaiue of trode neceivables.
+  Determining the fair values assigned to determine the separately identifiable intangibles at the acquisition date.
«  Determining any other fair value odjustments required at the acquisition date and the quantum of these,
inciuding specifically in relation to the purchase of credit impaired assets.
+  Estimating the provision required at acquisition in relation to the ongoing review of probable remediation actions
required in respect of past lending and collection activities and referred to in note 26.
Due to the nature of the judgements and estimates involved and in particular the estimation uncertainty relating
to the costs of remediation, we have identified business combination and occquisition accounting together with
accounting for credit impaired assets as a key audit matter for both the accuracy and waluatien assumptions.

How the matter wos addressed in Our qudit work in relation to the acquisition accounting included:
the audit

«  Obtaining and reviewing management's acquisition cecounting paper in relation to the acquisition of SRL
to verify that the treatment of the acquisition entries and any fair value adjustments are appropriate and in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations and FRS 102 Section 19.

+  Concluding that the conditions for recognising a step acquisition were absent given that the Group's shares in
Studio Retail plc became worthless at the date of that company's administration.

Checking accounting entries to purchase and cther agreements and bank statements.

+  Performing testing on the net assets at the acquisition date including on the expected credit loss provisions in
respect of SRL's trade receivables.

+  Critically challenging management's judgements in relation to fair value adjustments and recognition of
saparately identifiable intangible assets.

+  Reviewing and challenging management assumptions and estimates applied in accounting for the Purchase of
Credit Impaired Assets (trode receivables) in accordance with IFRS 9.

+  Reviewing and challenging the methodology adopted by management in determining the initial estimate of the
provision recognised under IFRS 3 in relation to potential liabilities arising from the review described in note 29 to
the financial statements.

+ Inspecting financial statement disclosures in relation to the acquisition and considering in particular the
adequacy of the disclosure and sensitivities applied in relation te the recognition of provision referred to above.

Key observations We found the approach to accounting for the acquisition, inciuding the judgements made in the recognition and
valugtion of acquired assets and liabilities to be acceptable.

In relation to the provision recognised in connection with the ongoing review of probable remediation actions
required in respect of past lending and collection activity and referred to in note 29, we consider the approach
odopted by the Group in moking o provisionol estimate, in occordance with IFRS 3, of the quentum of provision and
the associated disclosure to be reasonable but draw attention to the high degree of estimation uncertainty with

a potential range of reasonably possible cutcomes greater than our materiolity for the finonciol statements os o
whole and possibly many multiples of that amount.

There are no key audit matters relating to the parent company.
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Changes to Key Audit Matters

In the prior year we reported a key audit matter in respect of the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and going concern
in the light of the uncertainties surrounding the impact of the pandemic on the retail sector. However, due to the UK's
recovery from the pandemic and the strong performance of the business in the post pandemic period. We have not
deemed going concern to be a key audit matter although it remains an area of focus in the audit.

We also included, in the prior year, a key audit matter regarding the classification of investments where the Group

held mare than 20% but less than 50% of the voting share capital of the investee but where the Group had rebutted
the presumption that significant influence existed. Since the only remaining such investment at the period end was in
Mulberry Group plc (36.9%) which has a significant shareholder with a beneficial interest in excess of 55% of voting
share capital, we no longer consider our assessment of management'’s judgements in this area to be a key audit matter.

Our Application of Materiality

When establishing our overall oudit strategy, we set certain thresholds which help us to determine the nature, timing
and extent of our audit procedures. When evaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both individually and
on the financial statements as a whole, could reasonably influence the economic decisions of the users we take

into account the qualitative nature and the size of the misstaterments. Based on our professional judgement, we
determined materiality for the financial statements as follows:

Group Parent company

Overall materiality £17.0 million {2021 £11.Imillion} £5.4million (2021: £11.0rmillion)

Basis for determining overall materiality 5% of profit before tax (2021: 2.8% of 1% of totol assets (capped ot an allocation of
undertying EBITDA) overall Group materiality)

Rationals for benchmark applied During the year the Group changed the basis The Parent Company does not trade and
on which market guidance was given to a profit therefore total assets is considered to be the most

before tax based measure {adjusted profit before  appropricte benchmark.
tox) rather than the underlying EBITDA measure
applied previously on the basis thot o measure
which included the impaoct of depreciation,
armottisation and IFRS 16 was more appropriote
given the Group's increased investment

in properties.

We applied a lower level of materiality to the audit
of components and, in accordance with ISA 320, in
relation to certain classes of transactions, account
bolonces and disclosures.

Performance moteriality £11.0m (2021: £7.2m) £3.5m (2021 £7.1m)
We set performance materiality at a level We set performance materiality at a level
lower than overall matericlity for the financial lower than overall materiality for the financial
statements as a whole to reduce to an statements as a whole to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that, appropriately low level the probability that,
in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstotements exceed overall materiality. misstatements exceed overall materiality.
The factors we considered in deterrnining The factors we considered in determining

performance materidglity included; our knowledge  performance materiality included; our knowledge
of the Group, the pressures within the retoil sector  of the Group, the pressures within the retail sector

und the level of misstatements in prior periods. dnd the level of misstatements in prior periods.
Basis for determining performance materiality  65% of overall materiality (2021, 65% of 65% of overall materiality (2021: 65% of

overall materiality) overall materiality}
Reporting of misstatements to the Misstatements in excess of £0.85million and Misstatements in excess of £0.56million and
Audit Committee misstatements below that threshold that, in our misstatements below that threshold that, in our

view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.  view, wamanted reporting on qualitative grounds.




The operations that were subject to full-scope audit
procedures made up B2% of consolidated revenues,
84% of total assets and 91% of profit before tax.

The operations that were subject to targeted audit
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An Overview of the Scope of Our Audit

Our oudit approach was based on a thorough
understanding of the Group's business and is risk based,
and in particular included:

Evaluation of identified components to assess the
significance of each component and to determine
the planned audit response based on a measure
of materiality. This included significance as a
percentage of the Group's revenue, total assets and
adjusted profit before tax;

For those components that were evaluated as
significant, or likely to include significant risks,
either a full-scope or targeted approach was taken
based on their relative materiality to the Group,
and our assessment of the audit risk. For significant
components requiring a full-scope approach, we
evaluated controls over the financial reporting
systems identified as part of our risk assessment
and addressed critical accounting matters.
Substantive testing was performed on significant
classes of transactions and balances, and other
material balances, determined during the Group
scoping exercise;

Full scope audit procedures have been performed
on the financial statements of Frasers Group

plc, and on the financial information of the main
trading companies within the UK Retail component;
(Sportsdirect.com Retail Limited, Wareshop 2
Limited, Sports Direct International Holdings Limited,
House of Fraser Limited, The Flannels Group
Limited), and on the SDI Property component and
GAME Retail Limited.

in refation to the significant overseas component in
Spain and the International component; comprising
Austrig, Belgium, Ireland and the United States, we
engaged RSM member firms to perform full scope
component audits, Additionally, RSM member firms
attended inventory counts in a number of locations;

In relation to Studic Retail Limited, component
auditors were engaged to perform full scope audit
procedures covering the post acquisition period.

The Group engagement teom reviewed the

work performed by the component auditors. We
determined the level of involvement we needed to
have in their audit work at those reporting units te
be able to conclude whether sufficient, appropriate
audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our
opinion on the Group financial staternerits as

a whole.

Further specific audit procedures over the Group
consolidation and areas of significant judgement
including impairment of property related assets,
leases, taxation and treasury were performed by the
Group engagement team.

procedures made up 1% of consolidated revenues, 2% of
total assets and 0% of profit before tax; and

The remaining operations of the Group were subject

to analytical procedures over the balance sheet and
income statements of the relevant entities with a focus
on applicable risks identified above. This made up 7%
of consolidated revenues, 14% of totat assets and 9% of
profit before tax.

The coverage achieved by our audit procedures was:

Net Assets Profit Before Tax

M Foiscopr [l Torgeted Audn [ ]

Full scope audits were performed for 7 components
(some of which included a number of legal entities which
were combined for group reporting purposes), targeted
audit procedures for 7 components and analytical
procedures at group level for the remaining components.

Number of A Profit
components R Total before tax
Full scope
audit 7 82% 84% 91%
Torgeted audit
procedures 7 % % 0%
Total " 83% 85% 1%

Analytical procedures at group level were performed for
the remaining components.

The Group team visited two component locations

in the UK and attended video conference calls and
performed remote file reviews for components in
Austria, Belgium, Ireland, Spain, the UK and the USA.
At these meetings the findings reported to the Group
team were discussed in more detail, and any further
work required by the Group team was then performed
by the component auditor.

The parent company was subject to a full scope audit
for the purposes of the Group and Parent Company
financial staterments.



The Impact of Climate Change on the Audit

In planning our audit we have considered the potential
impact of the risk arising from climate change on the
Group's business and its financial statements,

Further information on the Group’s commitments is
provided in the Group's Task Force for Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures {*TCFD") disclosures on page 40.

As part of our audit we have performed arisk
assessment, including making enquiries of management,
reading board minutes and applying our knowledge of
the Group and the sector within which it operates, to
understand the extent of the potential impact of climate
change on the Group's financial statements. Taking
account of the nature of the business and the extent

of the headroom in impairment testing. We have not
assessed climate related risk to be significant to our
audit. There was no impact on our key audit matters.

We have read the Group's TCFD and considered
consistency with the financial statements and our
audit knowledge.

We have not been engaged to provide assurance over
the accuracy of the climate risk disclosures set out on
pages 40 to 45 in the Annual Report.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded
that the Directors' use of the going concern basis

of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.

Cur evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the
Group's and parent company’s ability to continue to
adapt the going concern basis of accounting included:-

*  Obtaining an understanding of management’s
going concern models, discussing key assumptions
with management and assessing whether those
assumptions were consistent with those applied
elsewhere, such as in relation to inventory valuation
and the assessment of property related provisions.

+  Checking the mathematical accuracy of
management’s cashflow models, and agreeing
opening balances to 24 April 2022 actual figures,

+  Checking management's covenant compliance
caleulations to determine whether there is a risk
of breach and assessed whether the assumnptions
in management's base model appeared realistic,
achievable and consistent with other internal and
external evidence.

. Comparing forecast sales with recent historical
information to consider the accuracy of forecasting.

«  Considering post year end sales potterns to assess
whether they were consistent with those assumed in
the base model.
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+  Critically assessing and testing management's
sensitivity analysis and performing our own analysis
based on further sensitising of the models to take
account of reasonably possible scenarios that could
arise from the risks identified.

+  Chdllenging management regarding their
identification of discretionary spend that could be
reduced should mitigating actions become necessary.

. Reviewing agreements and correspondence relating
to the availability of financing arrangements.

. Evaluating the Group's disclosures on going concern
against the requirements of IAS 1.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may

cast significant doubt on the Group's or the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the financial
stotements are authorised for issue.

in relation to the Directors’ reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation
to the Directors' statement in the financial statements
about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
Directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report.

Other Information

The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report on pages 1 to 101 other
than the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the annual report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our cudit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements

or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a moterial misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact,

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the part of the Directors' remuneration
report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit:

- the information given in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report for the financial period for
which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial staterments and those
reports have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements;

« the information about internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capital
structures, given in compliance with rules 7.2.5
and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Rules and Transparency
Rules sourcebook made by the Financial Conduct
Authority (the FCA Rules), is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements; and

. information about the company’s corporate
governance code and practices and about its
administrative, management and supervisory bodies
and their committees complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3
and 7.2.7 of the FCA Rules.

Matters on which we are Required to
Report by Exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in:

+  the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report; or

the information about internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capital
structures, given in compliance with rules 7.2.5 and
7.2.6 of the FCA Rules.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

+  adequate accounting records have not been kept
by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

«  the parent company financial statements and the
part of the Directors' remuneration report to be
audited are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration
specified by law are not made; or

+  we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our qudit.

Corporate Governance Statement

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement in relation to
going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the parent
company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review by
the Listing Rules,

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we
have cencluded that each of the following elements
of the Corporate Governonce Stotement is materiolly
consistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained during the audit:

+  Directors’ statement with regards the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern
basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 99;

Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the
Group's prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why this period is appropriate set out on
page 63;

+  Director's statement on whether it has a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meets its
liabilities set out on page 99;

. Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and
understandable set out on page 92;

+  Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks set
out on page 50;

- The section of the annual report that describes the
review of effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems set out on page 71; and,

= The section describing the work of the audit
committee set out on page 89.



Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 101, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal control as

the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors

are responsible for assessing the Group's and the

parent company’s ability to continue as a going

concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or the parent company or to cease operations,
or have no redlistic alternative but to do sc.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial staterments as g whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonaoble assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements,

The Extent to which the Audit was
Considered Capable of Detecting
Irregularities, Including Fraud

Irregularities are instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations. The objectives of our audit

are to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding compliance with laws and regulations that
have a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to
perform audit procedures to help identify instances of
non-compliance with other laws and regulations that
may have a material effect on the financial statements,
and to respond appropriately to identified or suspected
non-compliance with laws and regulations identified
during the audit.

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are to
identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of
the financial statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient
appropriate oudit evidence regarding the assessed
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risks of material misstatement due to froud through
designing and implementing appropriate responses and
to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud
identified during the audit.

However, it is the primary responsibility of management,
with the oversight of those charged with governance,

to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted in
accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations
and for the prevention and detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material
misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud, the Group audit engagement teom ond
component auditors:

«  obtained an understanding of the nature of

the industry and sector, including the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the Group and parent
company operates in and how the Group and
parent company are complying with the legal and
regulatory frameworks;

« inquired of management, and those charged with

governance, about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities, including
any known actual, suspected or alleged instances
of fraud;

applied analytical review procedures to identify
unusual or unexpected relationships.

discussed matters about non-compliance with
laws and regulations and how fraud might occur
including assessment of how and where the
financial statements may be susceptible to froud
having obtained an understanding of the
control environment.

As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks
involved gaining an understanding of the effectiveness
of the control environment including the controls
established to mitigate the risks of fraud and the
procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

All relevant laws and regulations identified at a Group
level and areas susceptible to fraud that could have

a material effect on the financial statements were
communicated to component auditors. Any instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations identified
and communicated by component auditors were
considered in our audit approach. We remained alert to
any indications of fraud throughout the audit.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
Group for fraud and identified the greatest potential for
fraud in those areas in which management is required
to exercise significant judgement. In common with

all audits under 1SAs (UK) we also performed specific
procedures to respond to the risk of management
override and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition.
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These procedures included :-

= testing the appropriateness of journal entries
and other adjustments based on risk criteria and
comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation.

«  assessing whether the judgements made in
making accounting estimates were indicative of
potential bias.

- evoluating the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normaf
course of business.

+  testing the operating effectiveness of the manual
controls in relation to the completeness, accuracy,
and existence of cash sales.

. investigating transactions posted to nominal ledger
codes outside of the normal revenue cycle identified
through the use of data analytics tools.

The Group is subject to laws and regulations which
directly affect the material amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The most significont laws and
regulations were detertmined to be as follows:-United
Kingdom adopted International Accounting Standards
and FRS 102, the UK Companies Act, Financial Conduct
Authority regulations, including the Listing Rules and

tax legislation.

In addition, the Group is subject to other laws and
regulations which do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid
material penalties. We identified the following areas as
those most likely to have such an effect: competition
and anti-bribery laws, data protection, employment,
environmental and health and safety regulations.

In response to the above, audit procedures performed by
the audit engagement team included:

+  reviewing financial statement disclosures and
testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and
regulations described as having a direct effect on
the financial stotements.

+  enquiring of management, the Audit Committee
ond in-house legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims.

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
correspondence with HMRC,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: http:/www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Other Matters Which We Are Required
to Address

Following the recommendation of the audit committee,
we were appointed by the Audit Committee and the
Board on 18 November 2019 to oudit the financial
statements for the year ending 26 April 2020 and
subsequent financial periods.

The period of total uninterrupted consecutive
appointments is 3 years covering the years ending 26
April 2020 to 24 April 2022.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent
company and we remain independent of the Group and
the parent company in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee.

Use of Our Report

This report is made sclely to the company's members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose, To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company's members as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinicns we have formed.

Other Matter

in due course, as required by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA} Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rule (DTR) 41.14R, these financial statements will form
part of the European Single Electronic Forrmat (ESEF)
prepared Annual Financial Report filed on the National
Storage Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with
the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (‘ESEF RTS').
This auditor's report provides no assurance over whether
the annual financial report will be prepared using the
single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

Mark Harwood (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP.
Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

25 Farringdon Street
London
EC4A AAB

Date: 20 September 2022.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
52 weeks anded 52weeksended 52weeksended 52weeksended 52weeksended 52 weeks ended
Note 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 April 2021 25 Aprii 2021
[E'm) (E'm} {(£'m) (£'m) {£'m) {E'm)
Revenue 46729 14.2 47871 35073 118.0 3,625.3
Credit account interest 18.2 - 18.2 - ~ -
I:: :tr:::::. nt( iir:‘ctl.u':;tn}g 4 4,691.1 14.2 4,805.3 35073 118.0 36253
Cost of sales (2,6472) (56.1) {2703.3) {2,023.4) rgh)] {2,094.5)
cumomer recometles 4 133) - (123) - - -
Gross Profit 2,030.6 58.1 2,088.7 1483.9 46.9 1530.8
oszlrlrllr:glsfrlzi?v:u:f:e:rs‘gs 01,5573} (31.5) (1588.3) (12616} {37.4) (1.319.0)
Other operating income 5 454 25 48.0 333 is 36.8
oy reiated 718 (2270) - (227.0) (317.0) . 31.0)
Exceptional items 6 (1.3) - a.3) (16) - (1.6)
Profit on sale of properties 7 10.8 - 10.8 Q7 - 9.7
Operating Profit/{Loss) 48 3012 29.2 3304 (73.3) 130 (60.3)
Investment income 10 438 - 438 1037 - 103.7
investment costs 1 {197 - {19.7) 77 - a7n
Finance income 12 303 - 30.3 9.0 - 9.0
Finance costs 13 (48.9) {0.3) (49.2) (32.9) 3.3 (36.2)
Profit/{loss} before toxation 3067 289 335.6 1.2} 9.7 8.5
Taxation 14 {75.5) 32) (18.7) (85.4} {8)] (86.5)
Profit/{loss) for the period 4 2312 257 256.9 (86.6) X ) (78.0)
W“
Equity holders of the Group 2241 257 2498 {96} 8.6 {83.0)
Non-controlling interests FA| - 7 50 - 5.0
Profit/(loss) for the period 4 2312 25.7 2569 {86.6) 8.6 (78.0)
Pence pershore Pence pershare Pence pershare Pencepershore Pence pershare  Pence per share
Basic earnings per share 15 475 54 529 (18.2) 17 (16.5}
Diluted earnings per share 15 475 54 529 {18.2} 17 {16.5)

Discontinued operations relate to the Group's US retail businesses which were disposed of post year-end (see note 16}.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2011

(E'm) {E'm)
Profit/(loss) for the period 4 256.9 {78.0)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS
Fair value movement on long-term financial assets P4l 81 773
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme 38 (26.8) -
Deferred tax on remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme 28 6.7 ~

ITEMS THAT WILL BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 26 68 {499
Fajr value movemnent on hedged contracts - recognised in the period 26,30 521 04
Faiir value movement on hedged contracts - reclassified and reported in sales 26,30 - (2.8)
Fair volue movement on hedged controcts - reclassified and reported in inventory/cost of sales 26,30 75 (172.9)
Fair value movement on hedged contracts - taxation taken to reserves 26,30 (15.8) 30

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD, NET OF TAX 224 ny

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 2793 {66.3)
- -~~~ - " ]

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Equity holders of the Group 2722 .3

Non-controlling interest 71 5.0

2793 (66.3)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 24 April 2022
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(E'm) (E'mn)
ASSETS - NON CURRENT
Property, plant and equipment 7 101.0 11649
Investment properties 18 89.2 141
Intangible assets 19 120.6 120.5
Long-term financial assets 21 206.6 2633
Retirement benefit surplus 38 22 -
Deferred tax assets 28 100.8 66.8
' 1,530.4 1,629.6
ASSETS - CURRENT
Inventories 22 1277.6 10966
Trade and other receivables 23 8414 546.5
Derivative financial assets 30 16.5 55.4
Cash and cash equivalents 24 336.8 4570
25723 21555
Assets in disposal groups classified as held for sale 16 40.0 -
TOTAL ASSETS 41427 3,785.1
EQUITY
Share capital 25 641 641
Shcre premium 8743 8743
Treasury shares reserve 26 (488.9) {2657
Permanent contribution to copital 26 01 01
Capital redemption reserve 26 8.0 BO
Foreign currency translation reserve 26 35.6 288
Reverse combination reserve 26 (987.3) (987.3)
Own share reserve 26 {66.8)} (66.7)
Hedging reserve 26 553 1.5
Share based payment reserve 141 13
Retained eamings 17781 1554.5
Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent 1,286.6 11929
Non-controlling interests 2.0 18.1
TOTAL EQUITY 1,308.6 121.0
LIABILITIES - NON CURRENT
Lease liability 27 5036 534.2
Borrowings 27 8279 7059
Retirement benefit obligations 16 19
Deferred tax liabilities 28 404 270
Provisions 29 433.0 3612
1,806.5 1,630.2
LIABILITIES - CURRENT
Derivative financial liabllity 30 1072 19.2
Trade and other payables E} 729.8 6463
Leose Jiability 27 170 188.5
Current tax ligbilities 50.9 899
1,004.9 9439
Liabilities in disposal groups classified as held for sale 16 227 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 28341 2,5741
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 41427 37851

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements. The Financial Statements
were approved by the Board on 20 September 2022 and were sighed on its behalf by:

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
Company number: 06035106
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{E'm} {E'm}
Cash inflows from operating activities kx) 628.9 578.3
Income taxes paid {121.0) {59.3)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 5079 519.0
Proceeds on disposal of property, plont and equipment and investment property 320 206
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions 95 -
Proceeds on disposal of intangibles assets - 75
Proceeds on disposal of listed investments " ril 2384 70
Proceeds in relation to equity derivatives™ 4 481
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking 10 -
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 32 {02} 394}
Purchase of property, plont and equipment and investment property 17,18 {323.2) (219.4)
Purchase of intangible assets 19 - 1.0}
Purchase of listed investrments Pyl (1984} (113.3}
Investment income received 1.0 Q5
Finance income received 6.3 9.0
Net cash outflows from investing activities {116.2) (280.4)
Lease poyments {176.2) 78.0)
Finonce costs paid (32.8) (31.6}
Borrowings drawn down 27 13744 11281
Borrowings repaid 27 {1484.4) {1,323.6)
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions 15 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1.3) (0.9}
Purchase of own shares (193.2) (4.3}
Net cash outflows from financing activities {512.0) (310.3)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivatents including overdrafts (120.3) n.n
Exchange mavement on cash balarces 01 (5.3)
Cash and cash equivalents including overdralfts at beginning of period 457.0 534.0
Cash and cash equivalents including overdrafts at the period end 24 2358 457.0

Bl Proceeds in relotion to equity dervatives 1n both the currert and prior penods hove been shown separately from proceeds on disposai of listed investments
This has no impacl oh net —osk autflows from investing activities or net cask,

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

Total
Share Foreign Own attributable
Share Share Treasury scheme currency share Retained to owners  Non-controlling
capital premium®™  shares reserve translation reserve earnings Other®  of parent interests Total
(£'m) {E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm)  {£'m}) (E'm) (E£'m} {E'm) (£'m} (£'m)

At 27 April 2020 641 8743 (295.7) - 719 (670} 15649 (9512) 1,267.3 13.0 12803
Acquisitions - - - - - - - - - 1.0 10
Share scheme - - - 13 - 03 {47 - 3. - 31
Dividends paoid to
non-controlling interests - " - - - - - - - (c.9) {09
Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners . - - 13 - 03 47 - (3.1 01 (3.0)
{Loss)/profit for the financial
poriod - - - - - - 830) - (83.0) 50 (78.0)
Other comprehensive income
Cashflow hedges - recognised
in the period - - - - - - - 04 04 - 04
Cashflow hedges - reclassified
and reported in sales - - - - - - - (2.8) (2.8} - 2.8)
Cashflow hedges - reclassified
and reported in inventory/cost - - - - - - - (71 (171 - (17
of sales
Cashflow hedges - taxation - - - - - - - 30 30 - 30
Fair value adiustment in respect
of long-term financial assets - - - - - - - 773 - 173 - 773
recognised
Translation differerces - Group - - - - {491 - - - (49.1) - {49.1)
Total comprehensive loss for
the period o . - - - (49.1) - 57 (165 (71.3) 50  (66.3)

At 25 April 2021 64.1 8743  (2957) 13 288 {667) 15545 (9617) 11929 181 1210
Acquisitions - - - - - - 19 - 19 {1.9) -
Share scheme - - - 128 - {0.3) 0.1 - 12.8 - 12.8
Dividends paid to

non-controling interests - - - " B B B ) ” n3) (1-3)
Transactions with owners in

their capacity as owners - - - 128 - {0.1) 20 - 1“7 {3.2) 1ns
Profit for the financial period - - - - - - 249.8 - 2498 71 2569
Other comprehensive income

Purchase of own shares - - {1932} - - - - - {193.2) - 1932)
Cashflow hedges - recognised

in the period - - - - - - - 521 521 - 521
Cashflow hedges - reclassified

and reported in inventory/cost - - - - - - - 75 75 - 75
of sdles

Cashflow hedges - taxation - - - - - - - {15.8) (15.8) - {15.8)
Fair value adjustment in respect

of long-term finoncial assets - - - - - - - 81 - 8.1 - (8.1}
recognised

Remeasurements of defined

benefit pension scherme - - - - - - (26.8) - (26.8) - (268}
Deferred tax on

remeasurements of defined - - - - - - 6.7 - 67 - 6.7
benefit pension scheme

Translation differences - Group - - - - 68 - - - 6.8 - 6.8
Total comprehensive income

for the period - - {1932 - 6.8 - 226 438 790 71 86.1
At 24 April 2022 64.1 8743  {488.9) 14.1 35.6 {66.8) 17781 (921.9) 1,286.6 220 13086
1 The chore premiurn account 15 used to record the excess proceeds over nominal vaiug on theissue of shares
24 Other "eserves comprises permaonent contrbution to copitol copitol redemphion -esarve reverse combinatian reserve ond Lhe hedmng reserve

Al movements IN the period related ta the hedging reserve {note 26)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Frasers Group Plc {Company number: 06035106} is a
company incorporated and domiciled in the United
Kingdom, its shares are listed on the London Stock
Exchange. The registered office is Unit A, Brook Park
East, Shirebrook, NG20 8RY. The principal activities and
structure of the Group can be found in the Directors’
Report and the 'Our Business' section.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of

the Companies Act 2006 and in accordance with
international financial reporting standards adopted by
the UK Endorsement Board. This change in the basis of
preparation is required by UK company law for financial
reporting as a result of the UK's exit from the European
Union on 31 January 2020 and the cessation of the
transition period on 31 December 2020. This change
does not constitute a change in accounting policy, rather
a change in framework which is required to group the
use of IFRS in company law. There is no impact on the
recognition, measurerment or disclosure between the two
frameworks in the period reported. The consolidated
Financial Statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified to include fair
valuation of certain financial assets and derivative
financial instruments.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods in these Financial Statements
and have been applied consistently by all Group entities.
Certain subsidiaries have been consolidated based on a
calendar year-end date of 30 April 2022,

The numbers presented in the Financial Statements have
been rounded to the nearest million,

Going Concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors
likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out in the Chief Executive's Report and
Business Review.

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described
in the Financial Review. In addition, the financial
statements include the Group's objectives, policies

and processes for managing its capital, its financial

risk management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group is profitable, highly cash generative and

has considerable financial resources. The Group is able
to operate within its banking facilities and covenants,
which run until November 2024 with a two year option
to extend, and is well placed to take advantage of
strategic opportunities as they arise. As a consequence,
the Directors befieve that the Group is well placed

to manage its business risks successfully despite the
continued uncertain economic outlook.

Management have assessed the level of trading and
have forecast and projected a conservative base case
and also a number of even more conservative scenarios,
including taking into account the Group's open positions
in relation to Hugo Boss options. These forecasts and
projections show that the Group will be able to operate
within the level of the current facility and its covenant
requirements (being interest cover and net debt to
EBITDA ratios). Management also has @ number of
mitigating actions which could be taken if required
such as putting on hold discretionary spend, liquidote
certain assets on the Balance Sheet and pay down the
Revolving Credit Facility. See the Viability Statement for
further details.

Having thoroughly reviewed the performance of the
Group and Parent Cormpany and having made suitable
enquiries, the Directors are confident that the Group
and Parent Company have adequate resources to
remain in operational existence for the foreseeable
future which is at least 12 months from the date of
these financial statements. Trading would need to fall
significantiy below levels observed during the pandemic
to require mitigating actions or a relaxation of covenonts.
Furthermore, as per the outlook statement the Directors
are confident of achieving an Adjusted PBT for FY23 of
between £450m to £500m during FY23. On this basis,
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis
for the preparation of the Annual Report and financial
statements which is a period of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of these financial statements.



Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) each year.
Control is achieved when the Company:

+  has the power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

»  has the gbility to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

»  the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

«  potential voting rights held by the Company, other
vote holders or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

. any additional facts and circumstonces that
indicate that the Company has, or does not have,
the current ability to direct the relevant activities ot
the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous sharehclders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the
results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during

the year are included in profit or loss from the date

the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between the members of the Group are eliminated
on consolidation.
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Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group's equity therein. Those
interests of non-controliing shareholders that are
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
o proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation
may initially be measured at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests
are initialty measured at fair value. Subsequent to
acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of
subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that

do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group's
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received

is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value

of any retained interest and (ii} the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted

for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to ancther category of equity
as required/permitted by applicable IFRS Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded

as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under IFRS 2@ when applicable, or the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture,
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Business Combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of assets transferred to the Group, liabilities incurred

by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 12 and |AS 19 respectively;

+  liahilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of

the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liobilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of

the acquisition-date omounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

For business combinations achieved in stages, the Group
remeasures its previously held equity interest in the
acquiree at its acquisition date fair value and recognises
the resulting gain or lass, if any, in the Income Statement
as appropriate.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary

nor an interest in o joint venture. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies,

The results and assets and liabilities of associates

are incorporated in these Financial Statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is recognised initially in the consolidated Balance Sheet
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group's share of
losses of an associate or q joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is occounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the

investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair volue
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee

is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group's investment in on
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal} with its carrying amount. Any reversa! of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with 1AS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as

its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount

of the associate at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or
foss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group



accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate wouid be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or

loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the associate is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proporlion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if
that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
When a group entity transacts with an associate

of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group's conselidated Financial
Stotements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue with customers is measured based on the
five-step model under IFRS 15: 'Revenue from Contracts
with Customers"

1. identify the contract with the customer;

2. identify the performance obligations in the contract;
3. determine the transaction price;
4

allocate the transaction price to separate
performance obligations in the contract; and

5. recognise revenues when (or as) each performance
obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received, or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes. Customers
have a right of return within a specified period and this
gives rise to variable consideration under IFRS 15, The
right of return asset is recognised within inventory, with
the refund liability due to customers on return of their
goods recognised within trade and other payables.

In the case of goods sold through retail stores, revenue
is recognised when we have satisfied the performance
obligation of transferring the goods to the customer at
the point of sale, less provision for returns. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide for such
returns at the time of the sale. Retail sales are usually in
cash, by debit card or by credit card.
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In the case of goods sold on the internet where the
custoimer has opted for delivery, revenue is recognised
when we have satisfied the performance obligation

of transferring the goods to the customer, which is at
the point of delivery to the customer. Transactions are
settled by credit card or debit card. Provisions are made
for internet credit notes based on the expected level of
returns using the expected value method, which in turn
is based upon the historical rate of returns, In the case
of internet click and collect orders which are collected
in store, the performance obligation is deemed to have
been satisfied when the goods are dispatched from
the warehouse.

In the case of goods sold to other businesses via
wholesale channels, revenue is recognised when we
have satisfied the performance obligation of transferring
the goods to the customer upon delivery. Payment terms
are generally 30-60 days with no right of return.

In the case of income generated from trademarks and
licences, revenue is recognised based either on a fixed
fee basis or based on sales with specified minimum
guarantee amounts in accordance with the relevant
agreements. If the sales-based royaity is not expected
to clearly exceed the minimum guarantee threshold,
revenue is recognised over the rights period measured
on the basis of the fixed guaranteed consideration.
Revenue above the minimum guarantee threshold is
recognised as earned based on the contractual royalty
rate applied to the saies.

Revenue from Gym membership fees is stated exclusive
of value added tax and comprises monthly membership
fees, non-~refundable joining fees and longer term
membership fees recognised during the period.

Membership income is recognised and spread over

the pericd to which it relates, being the period of the
Group's performance obligations, with any subscriptions
in advance of the period to which they relate being
recognised as contract liabilities. Joining fee income

is recognised over time, on a straight-line basis over

the expected duration of the membership. Gym retail
income is recognised at the point of sate. Other revenue
includes various ancillary revenue streams, which are
recognised in the period to which they relate. Total
revenue frorm gyms recognised in FY22 is £47.4m (FY21:
£14.0m} and is recognised in the UK Retail segment.

In the case of revenue from third party commission on
concession sales within the House of Fraser department
stores this is recognised when goods are sold to the
customer. As we act as the agent this is stoted at the
value of the commission that the Group receives on the
transaction rather than the gross revenue from the sale
of the concessionaires’ goods.
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The Group operates layalty programmes which alfow
members to accumulate points on purchases and
receive exclusive offers and benefits. The fair value of
the points awarded to customers is determined relative
to the total transaction price and accounted for as a
separate identifiable component of a sales transaction.
Revenue is deferred to match the estimated value of
earned loyalty points. Deferred revenue is adjusted

for the value of points that are not expected to be
redeemed by customers based on histerical redemption
rates. When the points are redeemed and the Group
fulfiis its obligations pursuant to the programmes, the
revenue that was deferred is recognised. In the UK
points awarded expire following a period of 12 months
of inactivity, in Spain they are valid until the end of the
following calendar vear.

Revenue from gift cards and vouchers is recognised
when the cards or vouchers are redeemed by the
customer, breakage is recognised when the likelihood
of the card or voucher being redeemed is remote or
has expired. for gift cards monies received represent
deferred revenue prior to the redemption.

Credit account interest revenue related to interest
charged on trade receivables in Studio Retail Limited
is determined using the effective interest method.
Credit account interest revenue is calculated on the
gross carrying arnocunt of the financic) asset unless the
financial asset is impaired, in which case the interest
revenue is calculated on the amortised cost, after
allowance for expected credit losses. Credit account
interest revenue is recognised over time.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in the Income
Statement at their fair value in the period in which
they become receivabile.

The Group has received Government support in the
current and prior period relating to business rates refief
and in the prior period relating to the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme (CJRS) as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic. The amount received by the Group (including
the UK) in the period in regard to the CJRS (or equivalent
where received in non-UK territories) was £nil (FY21:
approx. £80.0m). The amount of business rates relief
received by the Group in the period (or equivalent where
received in non-UK territories) wos approx. £38.2m (FY21:
£97.5m). Government grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss

as a deduction against the related expense over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs.
The amounts quoted have been recognised in Selling,
distribution and administrative expenses in the period.

Exceptional items

The Group presents exceptional items on the face of

the Income Statement. These are significant items of
income and expense which, because of their size, noture
and infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit
separate presentation to allow shareholders to better
understand the elements of financial performance in the
yedar, so as to facilitate comparison with prior pericds
and assess trends in financial performance more readity.

Finance Income

Finance income is reported on an accruals basis using
the effective interest method.

Taxation

Tox expense comprises of current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the Income Statement, except
to the extent it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. The
income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current periods taxabte income,
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused losses.

Deferred taxation is calculated using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in

the consolidated Financial Statements. However, if

the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or initial recognition of an asset or liability ina
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction offects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred
tax on temporary differences associated with shares in
subsidiaries is not provided if reversal of these temporary
differences can be controlled by the Group and it is
probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable
future. In addition, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other income tax credits to the Group
are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and lows that
have been enacted (or substantively enacted) by the
balance sheet date and ore expected to opply when the
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax
liability is settfed.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full.

Deferred tox assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.



Deferred tax assets are offset where there is o legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to
the samie tax authority.

Changes in current and deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised as a component of tax expense in the
Income Staternent, except where they relate to items
that are recorded in other comprehensive income

or charged or credited directly to equity in which

case the related deferred tax is also charged to other
comprehensive income or credited directly to equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Goodwill

Goodwili arising on consolidation is recognised as an
asset and reviewed for impairment at least annually or
when o change in circumstances or situgtion indicates
that the goodwill has suffered an impairment loss.

The need for impairment is tested by comparing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (CGU)
to which the goodwill balance has been allocated, which
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use, to the carrying value of the goodwill balance. Any
impairment is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement. impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed, Gains and losses on the disposal of a business
include the amount of goodwill relating to that business.

When the non-controlling interest of an existing
subsidiary is acquired the carrying value of the
non-centrolling interests in the Balance Sheet is
eliminated. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid is recognised directly

in equity.
Other Intangible Assets

Brands, tradermarks, licences and customer related
intangibles that are internally generated are not
recorded on the Balance Sheet. Acquired brands,
trademarks, licences and customer related intangibles
are initially carried on the Balance Sheet at cost. The
fair value of brands, trademarks, licences and customer
related intangibles that are acquired by virtue of a
business combination is determined at the date of
acquisition and is subsequently assessed as being the
deemed cost to the Group.

Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is
recognised as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation is provided on brands, trademarks, licences
and customer related intangibles with a definite life

on a straight line basis over their useful economic lives
of between 1to 15 years and is accounted for within

the selling, distribution and administrative expenses
category within the Income Statement.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation less any recognised impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributoble to the acquisition or construction of these
items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the costs can be measured reliably.

All other costs, including repairs and maintenance costs
and labour costs are charged to the Income Statement
in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and
equipment other than freehold land and is calculated
on a straight-line basis, whichever Is deemed by the
Directors to be more appropriate, to allocate cost
less assessed residual value, other than assets in the
course of construction, over the estimated useful lives,
as follows:

. Freehold buitdings - 15 years - straight line

. Leasehold improvements — 5 years or over the term
of the lease, whichever is shortest - straight line

+  Plant and equipment - between 5 to 10 yeors -
straight line

A full year of depreciation is charged on all additions

in property, plant and equipment in the period. The
assets’ useful lives and residual values are reviewed and,
if appropriate, adjusted at each balance sheet date.
The gain or loss arising on disposal or scrapping of an
asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds, net of selling costs, and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in the Income Statement.

Property, plant and equipment where the carrying
arnount is recovered principally through a sales
transaction and where a sale is considered to be highly
probable are stated at the lower of carrying value and
fair value less costs to sell,

Investment Properties

Investment properties, which are defined as property
held for rental income or capital appreciation, are
initially measured at cost being purchase price and
directly attributable expenditure. Where the intention is
to hold property as owner occupied, this is recognised as
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequently investment properties are held at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Investment properties are deprecioted between 15 years
straight line, other than the land element which is not
depreciated.

Fair values of the investment properties are disclosed.
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Impairment of Assets Other Than Goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Directors review the
carrying amounts of the Group's tangible and intangible
assets, other than goodwill, to determine whether

there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset in its current condition
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs. With respect to
property, plant and equipment, each store is considered
to be a CGU and reviewed for impairment whereby
changes in circumstances indicate that the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying value,

The recoveroble amount is the higher of fair volue less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGUJ is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a re-valued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to
the original historic cost and then as an expense.

Impairment losses recognised for CGU's to which
goodwill has been allocated are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment
loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset [CGU) excluding goodwill,
is incregsed to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset {CGU) in prior periods. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement
immediately.

Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately and measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts immediately prior to their
classification as held for sale and their fair vaiue less
costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale, the assets
are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.

Discontinued Operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business that represents a separate major line of
business or gecgraphical area of operations that has
been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification
as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified
as a discontinued operation, the results are presented
separately in the consolidated financial statements and
the comparative income statement is restated as if the
operation had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative period.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes the purchase price of the
manufactured products, materials, direct labour and
transportt costs. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value is based on
the estimated selling price less all estimated selling costs.

The Group receives trade discounts and rebates from
suppliers based upon the volume of orders placed in

a given time window, Typical discounts and rebates
received by the Group include early settlement discounts,
volume rebates on inventory purchases, supplier rebates
based on faulty goods, and marketing support. Where
there is sufficient certainty that a discount or rebate

will be received in the future that relates to historic
purchases this is reflected in the cost of inventories.
Where the receipt of rebates is uncertain, the cost of
inventories is held at full cost price until the rebate is
received. Recognised rebates are released to the Income
Statement to the extent that the stock has been sold.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held on call, together with other short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Finoncial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the Group's Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at foir volue, Tronsaction costs thot are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities ot foir value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial fiabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs



directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial fiabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability

is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial Assets
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

. amortised cost
+  fair valye through profit or loss (FVTPL)

+  fair valye through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or finance income, except for impairment
of trade receivables and amounts due from reloted
parties which are presented within selling distribution
and administrative expenses. Impairment losses in
respect of credit customer receivables are disclosed
separately on the face of the Income Statement.

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of
the business model in which a financial asset is held at
a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to
maonagement. The information considered includes:

»  The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio
and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management's strategy
focuses on earning contractual interest income or
realising cash flows from the sale of assets;

»  How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated
and reported to the Group's management;

«  The risks that affect the performance of the business
model and how those risks are managed;

»  How managers of the business are compensated;
and

+  The frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is

defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the
time value of meney and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount cutstanding during a
particular period of time and for other basic lending risks
and costs (e.q. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as
well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains
a contractual term that could change the timing or
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would
not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers:

+  contingent events that would change the amount or
timing of cash flows; and

«  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate.

Subsequent Measurement of
Financial Assets

Financial assets at amotrtised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

+  they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

+  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest

method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into
this category of financial instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than 'hold to collect’ or 'hold to collect and
sell' are categorised at fair value through profit and
loss. Further, financial assets whose contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedge accounting requirements apply

(see below).
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Assets in this category are measured at fair value with
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values
of financial assets in this category are determined

by reference to active market transactions or using a
valuation technique where no active market exists.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

On initial application of [FRS 9 the Group made the
irrevocable election to account for long term financial
assets at fair volue through other comprehensive
income (FVOCQC)) given these are not held for trading
purposes. The election has been made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, only qualifying
dividend income is recognised in profit and loss,
changes in fair value are recognised within OCl and
never reclossified to profit and loss, even if the asset
is impaired, sold or otherwise derecognised.

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-
locking information to recognise expected credit losses -
the 'expected credit loss (ECL) model'. Instruments within
the scope of the requirements include trade receivables,
other receivables, amounts due from related parties,
loan commitments and some financial guarantee
contracts [for the issuer) thot are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Other receivables and amounts due from related parties

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on
the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead
the Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected
credit losses, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the
expected collectability of the future cash flows of

the instrument.

In applying this forward-locking approach, a distinction
is made between:

. financial assets that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk ('Stage 1;

- finoncial assets that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initiol recognition and whose
credit risk is not low {'Stage 2); and

. financial assets where the credit risk has increased
to a point at which it is considered credit impaired
(‘'Stage 3}

"12-rmonth expected credit losses’ are recognised for the
first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are
recognised for the second and third categories.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is

determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in
accounting for trade receivables and records the loss
allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These

are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point during
the life of the finoncial instrument. In calculating, the
Group uses its historical experience, external indicators
and forward-looking information to calculate the
expected credit losses using a provision matrix.

Credit customer receivables

12-month ECLs are used for Stage 1 performing assets
and a lifetime ECL is used for stages 2 and 3. An asset
will move from Stage 1to Stage 2 when there is evidence
of significant increase in credit risk since the asset
origingted and into Stage 3 when it is credit impaired.
Should the credit risk improve so that the assessment of
credit risk at the reporting date is considered not to be
significant any longer, assets return to an earlier stage in
the ECL model.

A financial asset is considered to have experienced a
significant increase in credit risk since initiaf recognition
where there has been a significant increase in the
remaining lifetime probability of default of the asset. The
Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due, has been placed on an arrangement to pay less
than the standard required minimum payment {except
where o payment holiday was granted in response to
Covid-19) or has had interest suspended.

In line with IFRS 9, a financial asset is considered to be
in default when it is more than 90 days past due and/or
when the borrower is unlikely to pay its obligations in full,

Days past due are determined by counting the number
of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect
of which the minimum payment has not been received.
Due dates are determined without considering any
grace period that might be available to the borrower,

When determining whether the credit risk of o
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit ossessment
including forward looking information.



The key assumptions in the ECL calculations are:

+  Probability of Default {"PD") - an estimate of the
likelihood of default over 12 months and the
expected lifetime of the debt;

. Exposure at Default {*EAD") - an estimate of the
exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the
reporting date, including repayments of principal
and interest, whether scheduled by the contract
or otherwise and accrued interest from missed
payments; and

+  Loss Given Default (“LGD") - an estimate of the
loss arising in the case where o default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the
Group would expect to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The key areas of
estimation are around the value that the Group will
recover in respect of the defaulted debt and the
timing of such recoveries.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into
its measurement of ECLs. This is achieved by developing
four potential economic scenarios and modelling ECLs
for each scenario. The outputs from each scenario

are combined; using the estimated likelihood of each
scenario occurring to derive a probability weighted ECL.

Management judgement is required in setting
assumptions around probabilities of default and the
weighting of economic scenarios in particular which
have a material impact on the results indicated by the
ECL model.

Acquired loans that meet the Group's definition of
default {i.e., those that are more than 90 days post

due and/or when the borrower is unlikely to pay

its obligations in full) ot acquisition are treated as
purchased or ariginated credit-impaired {*POCI") assets.
These assets attract a lifetime ECL allowance over the
full term of the loan, even when these loans no longer
meet the definition of default post acquisition. The
Group does not originate credit-impaired loans.

Loss allowances for financial assets are deducted
from the gross carrying amount of the asset.
Impairment losses related to Studic Retail's

trade receivables are separately disciosed in the
consolidated income statement.
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Financial Liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings and
lease liobilities, trode and other payables and derivative
financial instruments.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or iess (other than derivative
financial instruments that are designated and effective
as hedging instrumenits),

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, fair value
changes in currency derivative instruments that are
reported in profit or loss are included within finance
costs or finance income. Fair value changes in equity
derivative financial instruments are recognised in
investment income or investment costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for

at fair vatue through profit and loss (FVTPL) except
for derivatives designated as hedging instruments

in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a
specific accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge
accounting, the hedging retationship must meet all of
the following requirements:

«  there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument;

- the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

+  the hedge ratic of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the
quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Written option contracts do not qualify for hedge
accounting and fadir value moverments are recognised
directly in the Income Statement.

For the reporting periods under review, the Group

has designated certain forward currency contracts as
hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships.
These arrangements have been entered into to mitigate
foreign currency exchange risk arising from certain
highly probable sales and purchases transactions
denominated in foreign currencies.




FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge
accounting ore recognised initially at fair value ond
reported subsequently at fair value in the Balance Sheet.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in

the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income and included within the cash
flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the
hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss,

any gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity

to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income.
However, if a non-financial asset or liability is recognised
as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are included in the initial measurement of the
hedged item.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, any related gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred immediately
to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceoses
to meet the effectiveness conditions or when the
relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued and
the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve
until the forecast transaction occurs.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a resuit of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settie the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The Group provides for its legal responsibility for
dilopidation costs following advice from chortered
surveyors and previous experience of exit costs. The
estimated cost of fulfilling the leasehold dilapidations
obligations is discounted to present value and analysed
between non-capital and capital components. The
capital element is depreciated over the life of the

asset. The non-capital element is taken to the Income
Statement in the first year of the lease where the cost

it represents is of no lasting benefit to the Group or

its landlord. "Wear and tear’ costs are expensed to

the Income Statement. Provisions for onerous lease
contracts are recognised when the Group believes the
unavoidable costs of meeting the lease cbligations
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received
under the lease. Legal provisions (including settlements
and court fees) are recognised based on advice from the
Group's lawyers when it is probable that there will be an
outfiow of resources and a reliable estimate can

be made.

Other provisions include management's best estimate of
restructuring, employment reloted costs and other claims.

Any reimbursement that the Group is virtually certain to
collect from a third party with respect to the obligation
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset
may not exceed the amount of the related provision,

No liability is recognised if on outflow of economic
resources as a result of present obligations is not
probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent
liabikities unless the outflow of resources is remote.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains

a lease, at inception of the contract. Lease liabilities
are measured at the present value of the contractuai
payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with
the discount rate determined by reference to the rate
implicit in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this
is not readily determinable, in which case the Group's
incremental borrowing rate on commencement of

the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only
included in the measurement of the lease liability if they
depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial
measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable
element will remain unchanged throughout the lease
term. Other variable lease payments such as revenue
linked property leases are expensed in the period to
which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease
liabifity also includes:

«  amounts expected to be payable under any residucal
value guarantee;

. the exercise price of any purchase option granted
in favour of the Group if it is reasonably certain that
the option will be exercised; and

+  any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if
the term of the lease has been estimated on the
basis of the termination option being exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement fease liabilities
increase as a result of interest charged at the effective
rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for
lease payments made.



Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount
of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives
{payments made by a lessor to a lessee associated

with a lease, or the reimbursement or assumption by a
lessor of costs of a lessee) received or impairment, and
increased for:

*  lease payments made at or before commencement
of the lease;

. initial direct costs incurred; and

*+  the amount of any provision recognised where
the Group is contractually required to dismantle,
remove or restore the leased asset, providing it
meets the Group's property, plant and equipment
capitalisation policy.

When an indication of impairment is identified,
right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 by comparing the recoverable
armount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. The right-of-use
assets are presented within property, plant and
equipment in the consolidated Balance Sheet.

Subsequent to initial measurement, right-of-use
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease or over the remaining
economic life of the asset if this is judged to be shorter
than the lease term.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of

any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted at a revised discount
rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is revised using
the original discount rate when the variable element of
future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is
revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made
to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with

the revised carrying amount being amortised over the
remaining {revised) lease term.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of
d lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the
nature of the modification:

+  if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the
additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification
is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance
with the above policy

* inall other cases where the renegotication increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the moedification
date, with the right-of use asset being adjusted by
the same amount
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+  if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the
scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the
lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced
by the same proportion to reflect the partial or
full termination of the lease with any difference
recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is
then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments
over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease
payments discounted at the rate applicable on the
modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted
by the same amount.

Sale and leaseback

On entering into a sale and leaseback transaction

the Group determines whether the transfer of the

assets qualifies as a sale (satisfying a performance
obligation in IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’). Where the transfer is a sale and providing
the transaction is on market terms then the previous
carrying amount of the underlying asset is split between:

- aright-of-use asset arising from the leaseback
(being the proportion of the previous carrying
amount of the asset that relates to the rights
retained)}, and

+  therights in the underlying asset retained by the
buyer-lessor at the end of the leaseback.

The Group recognises a portion of the total gain or loss
on the sate. The amount recognised is calculated by
splitting the total gain or loss inte:

. an unrecognised amount relating to the rights
retained by the seller-lessee, and

« @ recognised amount relating to the
buyer-lessor's rights in the underlying asset ot the
end of the leaseback.

The leaseback itself is then accounted for under IFRS 16.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group
acts as a lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Treasury Shares

The purchase price of the Group's own shares that

it acquires is recognised as 'Treasury shares’ within
equity. When shares are transferred out of treasury

the difference between the market value and the
average purchase price of shares sold out of treasury is
transferred to retained earnings.
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Employee Benefit Trust

An Employee Benefit Trust has been established for the
purposes of satisfying certain share-based awards. The
Group has 'de-facto’ control over the special purpose

entity. This Trust is fully consolidated within the accounts.

The cost of shares acquired by the Sports Direct
Employee Benefit Trust is recognised within 'Own Share
reserve’ in equity.

Share-Based Payments

The Group issues equity-settied share-based payments
to certain Directors and employees. These are measured
at fair value at the date of grant, which is expensed to
the consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with the corresponding
credit going to equity.

Non-market vesting conditions are not taken into
account in determining grant date fair value. Instead,
they are taken into account by adjusting the number of
equity instruments to vest. At the end of each reporting
period the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based on the non
market vesting and service conditions. Any revisions, if
any, are recognised in profit and loss with an adjustment
to equity.

Fair value is calculated using an adjusted form of

the Black-Scholes model which includes a Monte
Carlo simulation model that takes into account the
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of
dilution {where material), the share price at grant date
and the expected price volatility of the underlying
share, the expected dividend yield, and the risk-free
interest rate for the term of the scheme. The expected
staff numbers used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management's best estimate, for the

effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations,

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the
Group measures the services received and the liability
incurred at the fair value of the liability. Until the tiability
is settled, the Group remeasures the fair value of the
liability ot the end of each reporting period and at

the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value
recognised in the Income Statement for the period.

The credit for the share based payment charge does

not equal the charge per the income Statement os it
excludes amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet in
relation to the expected national insurance contributions
for the shares.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences

a residual interest in the assets of the Group ofter
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of any direct issue costs.

Foreign Currencies

The presentational currency of the Group is sterling. The
functional currency of the Company is also sterling.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into sterling
using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. Exchange differences of the Company
arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on

the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the
Income Statement for the period.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in the Income Statement for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income. for such
non-monetary items, any exchange component of

that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income. Monetary assets and liobilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at

the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retransiated.
Non-monetary items that are held at valuation are
transloted ot the foreign exchange rate at the date of
the valuation.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign
operations which have a functional currency other than
sterling are translated into sterfing at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues
and expenses of these subsidiary undertakings are
translated at average rates applicable in the period. All
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and documented in a separate
component of equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, the cumulative
exchange differences that have been recognised as
a separate component of equity are reclassified from
equity to the Income Statement when the disposal

is recognised,

In order to mitigate its exposure to certain foreign
exchange risks, the Group enters into forward and option
contracts (see Chief Executive's Report and Business
Review and the cash flow hedging accounting policy).

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group's
Financial Statements and as a deduction from equity in
the period in which the dividends are declared. Where
such dividends are proposed subject to the approval of
shareholders, the dividends are regarded as declared
once shareholder approval has been obtained and they
are no longer ot the discretion of the Company.



Materiality

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Board
considers both quantitative and qualitative factors in
forming its judgements, and related disclosures, and
are mindful of the need to best serve the interests of its
stakeholders and to avoid unnecessary clutter borne of
the disclosure of immaterial items.

In making this assessment the Board considers the
nature of each item, as well as its size, in assessing
whether any disclosure omissions or misstatements
could influence the decisions of users of the
Financial Statements.

Post-employment obligations

For defined benefit pians, obligotions are measured at
discounted present value {using the projected unit credit
method) and plan assets are recorded at fair value.

The operating and financing costs of such plans are
recognised separately in the Group Income Statement
and actuarial goins and losses are recognised in the
Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss).

Payments to defined contribution schemes are
recognised as an expense when they fall due,

Share buybacks

Share buybacks are undertaken from time to time.
Shares purchased are typically held in as Treasury
shares at the total consideration paid or payable. The
Group also uses contingent share purchase contracts
and irrevocable closed period buyback programmes;
the obligation to purchase shares is recognised in

full at the inception of the contract, even when that
obligation is conditional on the share price. Any
subsequent reduction in the obligation caused by the
expiry or termination of a contract is credited back
to equity at that time. No gain or loss is recognised
on the purchase, sale, issue or canceliation of the
Group's own equity instruments.

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations
and Amendments Adopted By The Group

The Group has not early adopted any new accounting
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been
issued but is not effective. The Group has applied for the
first time the following new standards:

. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 —
amendments to IFRS §, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16.

= COVID-19 related rent concessions beyond 30 June
2021 - amendment to IFRS 16.

+  Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement (IAS 38 Intangible Assets) —
Agenda Paper 2.

+  Amendments to IFRS 3, JAS 37, Annual improvements
cycle 2018-2020.
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By adopting the above, there has been no material
impact on the Financial Statements.

International Financial Reporting
Standards ("Standards”) in Issue but not
Yet Effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
Financial Statements, there are no standards in

issue from the International Accounting Standards
Board ("IASB") or International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Cormmittee {*IFRIC") which are effective
for annual accounting periods beginning on or after
25 April 2022 that will have a material impact on these
Financial Statements.

2. CRITICALACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Climate Change

We have considered the potential impact of climate
change in preparing these financial statements,
Tackling climote change is a global imperative, measures
which support climate change initiatives and our

wider ESG agenda continue to be key components of
our strategic direction, supporting sustainability, the
breader social agenda and consumer choice. The risks
associated with climate change have been deemed to
be arising in the medium to long term, however we are
working to mitigate these risks as detailed within the
TCFD section of this annual report.

We have considered climate change as part of cur
cash flow projections within going concern, impairment
assessments and viability, and the impact of climate
change is not deemed to have a significant impact on
these assessments currently and therefore they are not
deemed to be a key source of estimation uncertainty.
The Group will continue to monitor the impacts of
climate change over the coming years.

The critical accounting estimates and judgerments made
by the Group regarding the future or other key sources
of estimation, uncertainty and judgement that may have
a significant risk of giving rise to a material adjustment
to the carrying volues of assets and liabilities within the
next financial period are:
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Critical Accounting Judgements
Determining Related Party Relationships

Management determines whether a related party
relationship exists by assessing the nature of the
relationship by reference to the requirements of IAS 24,
Related Party Disclosures, This is in order to determine
whether significant influence exists as a result of control,
shared directors or parent companies, or close family
relationships. The level at which one party may be
expected to influence the other is also considered for
transactions involving close family relationships.

Control and Significant Influence Over
Certain Entities

Under IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures if an entity holds 20% or more of the voting
power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has
significant influence, unless it can clearty demonstrate
that this is not the case. During the period the Group
has held greater than 20% of the voting rights of Studio
Retail Group Plc (Studio Retail Limited and certain
assets of Studio Retail Group Plc were acquired out of
administration during the period) and Mulberry Group
Ple, whereby management consider that the Group
does not have significant influence over these entities for
combinations of the following reasons:

. The Group does not have any representation on
the board of directors of the investee other than a
Frasers Group representative having an observer
role on the board of Studic Retail Group Plc before
it was acquired. Management have reviewed the
terms of the observer arrangement for the period
before acquisition and have concluded that this
did not give them the right to participate in or
influence the finoncial or operating decisions of
Studic Retail Group Plc. Studio Retail Group Plc
could terminate this arrangement at any time, and
could determine which parts of the Board meetings
the representative could be present at and what
information they were given access to. It should
be noted the Frasers Group representative did not
attend any board meetings in full or part during the
reporting period;

«  There is no participation in decision making and
strategic processes, including participation in
decisions about dividends or other distributions;

There have been no material transactions between
the entity and these investee companies;

There has been no interchange of managerial
personnel;

. No non-public essential technical management
information is provided to the investee

In assessing the level of control that management have
over certain entities, management will consider the
various aspects that allow management to influence
decision making. This includes the level of share
ownership, board membership, the level of investment
and funding and the ability of the Group to influence
operational and strategic decisions and effect its returns
through the exercise of such influence. If management
were to consider that the Group does have significant
influence over these entities then the equity method

of accounting would be used and the percentage
shareholding multiplied by the results of the investee in
the period would be recognised in profit or loss.

The Group hoids 49% of the share capital of Four
(Holdings) Limited which is accounted for as an
associate using the equity method. The Group does

not have any representation on the board of directors
and no participation in decision making about relevant
activities such as establishing operating and capital
decisions, including budgets, appointing or remunerating
key management personnel or service providers and
terminating their services or employment. However, in
prior periods the Group has provided Four (Holdings)
Limited with a significont loan. At the reporting daote, the
amount owed by Four {Holdings) Limited for this loan
totalled £60.0m {£21.6m net of amounts recognised in
respect of Joss allowance). The Group is satisfied thot
the existence of these transacticns provides evidence
that the entity has significant influence over the investee
but in the absence of any other rights, in isolation it is
insufficient to meet the control criteria of IFRS 10, as the
Group does not have power over Four (Holdings} Limited.



Cash Flow Hedging

The Group uses a range of forward and option contracts
that are entered into at the same time, they are in
contemplation with one another and have the same
counterparty. A judgement is made in determining
whether there is an economic need or substantive
business purpose for structuring the transactions
separately that could not also have been accomplished
in a single transaction. Management are of the view
that there is a substantive distinct business purpose for
entering into the options and a strategy for managing
the options independently of the forward contracts.

The forward and nptions contracts are therefore not
viewed as one instrument and hedge accounting for the
forwards is permitted.

Under IFRS 9 in order to achieve cash flow hedge
accounting, forecast transactions {primarily Euro
denominated sales and USD denominated purchases)
must be considered to be highly probable. The hedge
must be expected to be highly effective in achieving
offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the
hedged risk. The forecast transaction that is the subject
of the hedge must be highly probable and must present
an exposure to variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect profit or loss. Management have
reviewed the detailed forecasts and growth assumptions
within them and are satisfied that forecasts in which

the cash flow hedge accounting has been based meet
the criteria per IFRS 9 as being highly probable forecast
transactions. Should the forecast levels not pass the
highly probable test, any cumulative fair value gains and
losses in relation to either the entire or the ineffective
portion of the hedged instrument would be recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Management considers various factors when
determining whether a forecast transaction is highly
probable. These factors include detailed sales and
purchase forecasts by channel, geographical area and
seasonatity, conditions in target markets and the impact
of expansion in new areas. Management also consider
any change in alternative custemer sales channels that
could impact on the hedged transaction.

If the forecast transactions were determined to be
not highly probable and all hedge accounting was
discontinued, amounts in the Hedging reserve of up to

£55.3m (FY21: £11.5m) would be shown in Finance income.

Recognition of Defined Benefit
Pension Surplus

At 24 April 2022, the Group section of the Findel Group
Pension Fund (of which Studio Retail Limited is the
sponsoring employer) showed a surplus of £2.2m. This
surplus has been recognised in the Group's consolidated
balonce sheet. In recognising the surplus, management
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exercised judgement as to whether Studio Retail Limited
{as sponsoring employer} has an unconditional right to
benefit from any pension surplus at sorme point in the
future (through refunds of surplus or reductions in future
contributions), in accordance with the requirements of
IFRIC 14. Management concluded that this was the case.

Key Estimates

Provision for Obsolete, Slow Moving or
Defective inventories

The Directors have applied their knowledge and
experience of the retail industry in determining the level
and rates of provisioning required in calculating the
appropriate inventory carrying values. Specific estimates
and judgements applied in relation to assessing the

level of inventory provisions required are considered in
relation to the following areas:

A. Continuity inventory

B. Seasonal inventory lines — specifically seasons that
have now finished

Third party versus own brand inventory
Ageing of inventory

Sports Retail or Premium Lifestyle
Local economic conditions

Divisional specific factors

I eGmMmDPoO

Increased cost of inventory and lower margins with
the devaluation of the Pound

Qver-stock and out of season inventory as a result of
macro-economic factors

Provision estimates are forward looking and are formed
using o combination of factors including historical
experience, management's knowledge of the industry,
group discounting, sales pricing protocols and the
overall assessment made by management of the risks
in relation to inventory. Management use a number of
internally generated reports to monitor and continually
re-assess the adequacy and accuracy of the inventory
provision. The additional cost of repricing inventory
and handling charges in relation to relocating inventory
(tunnelling) are considered in arriving at the appropriate
percentage provision. The assessment involves
significant estimation uncertainty, therefore in order

to check that the assumptions applied remain valid,
monagement produces a range of outcomes and the
provision is set within this range.
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Key assumptions used to create the estimates are:

. Discounting ~ Based on historical experience and
managements anticipated future discounting
including the continuing impact of the pandemic,
Brexit, global supply chain challenges and
macro-economic factors

+  Tunnhelling — Cost of handling stock for reworking
and repacking

. Repricing - Labour cost associated with repricing
units of stock

»  Shrinkage — Stock lost through damage and theft

Total Group inventory provision at 24 April 2022 is

15.2% (FY21: 16.6%) of gross inventory. A 1% change

in the provision as a percentage of gross inventory
would impact profit before tax by approx. £15.5m {(FY21:
£13.2m). Management do not consider it appropriate to
disclose sensitivities for key assumptions in isolation as
in practice changes in one assumption would lead to an
offset in another.

Property Related Provisions

Property related estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience, external advice and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Dilapidations

The Group provides for its legal responsibility for
dilapidation costs following advice from chartered
surveyors and previous expetience of exit costs
{including strip out costs and professional fees).
Management use a reference estimate of £100,000

{FY21: £100,000) for large leasehold stores, £50,000 (FY21:

£50,000) for smaller leasehold stores {£25,000 per store
for Game UK and Game Spain stores] and $/€50,000
[FY21: $/€50,000) for non-UK stores. Management do
not consider these costs to be capital in nature and
therefore dilopidations are not capitalised, except for

in relation to the sale and leaseback of Shirebrook for
which a material dilapidations provision was capitalised
in FY20.

A 10% increase in dilapidation cost per store would
result in an approx. £8.5m [FY21: £8.0m} reduction in
profit before tax.

Other Provisions

Provisions are made for items where the Group has
identified a present legal or constructive obligation
orising as o result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Legal and regulatory provisions relate to management's
best estimates of provisions required for legal and
regulatory claims and ongoing non-UK tax enquiries.
Other provisions relate to management’s best estimates
of provisions required for restructuring, employment and
commercial. Where applicable these are inclusive of any
estimated penalties, interest and legal costs.

In relation to the non-UK tax enquiries management
have made a judgement to consider all claims
collectively, applying the following key estimates to the
gross amounts (excliuding re-imbursement assets):

+  10% penalty (FY21: 10%). A 5% increase to 15%
would result in approx. £6.5m increase in the
provision (FY21: approx. £6.5m increase).

. 3% interest on the liability (FY21: 3%). A 1% increase

to 4% would result in approx. £14m incregase in the
provision (FY21: approx. £11.5m increase).

Management are satisfied thot the judgement to
consider all claims collectively is the only reasonable
approach because they are all dependant on the
outcome of a court ruling on the interpretation of the
non-UK tax enquiries. Management are satisfied that
with regard to timing, a reasonable range of outcomes
are all greater than one year and so are satisfied with
including the provisions as non-current.

Detailed disclosures and sensitivities with regards to
financial services related provisions can be found in
note 29.

Other Receivables and Amounts Owed by
Related Parties

Other receivables and omounts owed by related

parties are stated net of provision for any impairment.
Management have applied estimates in assessing the
recoverability of working capital and loan advances
made to investee companies, Matters considered
include the relevant financial strength of the underlying
investee company to repay the loans, the repayment
period and underlying terms of the monies advanced,
forecast performance of the underlying borrower, and
where relevant, the Group’s intentions for the companies
to which monies have been advanced. Management
have applied a weighted probability to certain potential
repayment scenarios, with the strongest weighting given
to expected default after two years,



impairment of Assets
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A. IFRS 16 right-of-use assets and associated plant and equipment

IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with the options to extend or
terminate a lease, if the lessee were reasonably certain to exercise that option. The Group will assess the likelihood
of extending lease contracts beyond the break date by taking into account current economic and market conditions,
current trading performance, forecast profitability and the level of capital investment in

the property.

IFRS 16 states that the lease payments shall be discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate where the
rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. Accordingly, all lease payments have been discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate {IBR). The IBR has been determined by using a synthetic credit rating for the Group
which is used to obtain market data on debt instruments for companies with the same credit rating, this is split by
currency to represent each of the gecgraphicul areas the Group operates within and adjusted for the lease term,

The weighted average discount rates based on incremental borrowing rates used throughout the period across the
Group's lease portfolio are shown below. The discount rate for each lease is dependent on lease start date, term

and location,
Lease Term UK Europe Rest of World
Upto 5 years 1.4% - 26% 0.8% - 1.0% 1.5% -~ 2.9%
Greater thon 5 years and up to 10 years 2.2% - 3.2% 12% - 1.9% 24% - 41%
Greater than 10 years and up to 20 years 25% - 34% 14% - 2.2% 29% -43%
Greater than 20 years 2.8% - 3.5% 1.7% - 2.5% 3.5% - 4.6%

The right of use assets are assessed for impairment

at each reporting period in line with 1AS 36 to review
whether the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. For impairment testing purposes the Group
has determined that each store is a separate CGU. The
recoverable amount is colculated based on the Group's
latest forecast cash flows which are then extrapolated
to cover the period to the break date of the lease taking
inte account historic performance and knowledge of the
current market, together with the Group's views on future
profitability of each CGU.

The key assumptions in the calculations are the sales
growth rates, gross margin rates, changes in the
operating cost base and the pre-tax discount rate
derived from the Group's weighted average cost of
capital using the capital asset pricing model, the inputs
of which include a risk-free rate, equity risk premium
and a risk adjustment (Beta). Given the number of
assumptions used, the assessment involves significant
estimation uncertainty.

Impairments in the period have been recognised for the
amount of £115.9m (FY21: £174.9m) due to the ongoing
challenges in the retail sector on the forecost cash
flows of the CGU, including supply chain issues and the
anticipated cost of living squeeze on customers. This is
broken down as follows:

+  £76.8m {FY21: £168.2m} against the right-of-use asset

(£50.7m UK Sports Retail segment, £9.5m Premium
Lifestyle segment, £15.6m Eurcpean Retail segment,
and £1.0m Rest of the World Retail segment}; and

. £39.1m (FY21: £6.7m) against plant and equipment

(£28.7m UK Sports Retail segment, £10.4m Premium
Lifestyle segment).

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to
each CGU, in the cash flow projections used to support
the carrying amount of the right of use asset are
consistent with the cashfiow projections for the Freehold
land and Buildings impaimment assessment.

In line with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, management
have considered whether any amounts should be
recognised for the reversal of prior period impairment
losses with £nil (FY21: £nil} being recognised in the period.
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A sensitivity analysis has been performed in respect of sales, margin and the new store exemption as these are
considered to be the most sensitive of the key assumptions:

Forecast: Impact of change in assumption: Impdirment increase / (decrease) (£'m)
" 10% improverment

Sales decline year 1 to 0% (21.8)
. 10% reduction

Sales decline yeor 1 to 20% 179

Existing gross margin year 1> 40% 100bps - improvernent 4.2}

Existing gross margin year 1 > 40% 100bps - reduction 27
. Change from

0

New store exemption 1o 2 years Q7.2
. . Change from

Operating costs increase year 1 £% to 10% 39

i} Stores which have bean open for less than ane yeor are not reviewsd for impaeirnent

B. Freehold land and buildings, long-term leasehold, investment property and associated plant

and equipment
Freehold land and buildings and long-term leasehold assets are assessed at each reporting period for whether there is
any indication of impairment in fine with 1AS 36,
An asset is impaired when the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. (AS 36 defines recoverable
amount as the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use,
the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU.

Impairments in the period have been recognised in the amount of £111.1m (FY21: £117.9m) due to the ongoing
challenges in the retail sector on the forecast cash flows of the CGU. This is broken down as follows:

£106.5m [FY21: £84.4m) against freehold land and buildings (£19.8m UK Sports Retail segment, £83.4m Premium
Lifestyle segment, £2,1m European Retail segment, and £1.2m Rest of World Retail segment);

«  £2.0m (FY21: £3.9m) against long-term leasehold (£2.0m UK Sports Retail segment);

. £1.6m (FY21: £29.0m) plant and equipment (£1.2m UK $ports Retail segment, £0.2m Premium Lifestyle segment,
£0.2m European Retail segment); and

. £1.0m (FY21: £0.6m} investment property (all UK Sports Retail segment).

In line with 1AS 36 Impairment of Assets, management have considered whether any amounts should be recognised
for the reversal of prior period impairment losses with £nil (FY21: £nil} being recognised in the period.

Value In Use (VIU)

The value in use is calculated based on a five year cash flow projections. These are formulated by using the Group's
forecast cash flows of each individual CGU, taking into account historic performance of the CGU, and then adjusting
for the Group's current views on future profitability of each CGU. The key assumptions in the calculations are the sales
growth rates, gross margin rates, changes in the operating cost base and the pre-tax discount rate derived from the
Group's weighted average cost of capital using the capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include a risk-free
rate, equity risk premium and a risk adjustment {Beta). Given the number of assumptions used, the assessment involves
significant estimation uncertainty,

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to each CGU, in the cash flow projections used to support the
carrying amount of the freehold iand and buildings were as follows:

Key azsumptions Yeaar1 Year2 Yeor3 Yeard Year$
Sales decline 0% -5% -4% -3% 2%
Existing gross margin > 40% -200bps  -17Sbps  -150bps  -125bps  -100bps
Operating costs incregse per anrmm 6% 3% 3% 3% %
Discount rote 7.5% 7.5% 75% 7.5% 7.5%

Terminal growth rate of 2%

A sensitivity analysis has been performed in respect of sales and margin as these are considered to be the most
sensitive of the key assumptions.
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Forecast: Impact of; Impairment increase / (decrease) (£'m)
Sales yeor 1 0% '"’P""":;“g;‘; 1%6.8)
Sales year 1 10% redtg?é?; 255
E’:'z)t(;zg gross margin year 1 100bps - improvement {5.2)
E’j;tci,zg gross margin year1 100bps - reduction 67
Operating costs increase year 1 Ch:qr;g; f;g;ne o1

Fair ualue less costs of disposal

For those CGUs where the value in use is less than the carrying value of the asset, the fair value less costs of disposal
has been determined using both external and internal market valuations. This fair value is deemed to fall in to Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 13. The property portfolio consists of vacant, Frasers Group occupied and
third party tenanted units, one property can include all three types. The following valuation methodology has been

adopted for each:

Scenario

Valuation methodology

Key assumptions

Vacant units

Estimated Rental Volue {ERV) and suitable reversionary yield applied
to reflect the market to generate a net capital value, A deduction to
the capital value generated is then made based on the void period
with applicable rates payable for the unit and rent-free incentive.

Void period ond rent free band - two bonds
applied depending on circumstances:

»  1year void, 2 years rent free; or
+ 2 vyears void, 3 years rent free.
Yield bands - ranging from 5.5% - 14.0%

Frasers Group occupied

Will be assumed the unit is vacant given there is no legally
binding inter-company agreement in place. Therefore, a void
and rent free incentive period assumed, the cost amount then
deducted from the capital value generated by the ERV and
reversionary yield. Although we consider the commercial reality
is that fair value less costs to sell will be higher than vacant
possession this very conservative assumption is in line with both
technical accounting rules and that of our management experts.

Void period and rent free band - two bands
applied depending on circumstances:

+  1year void, 2 years rent free; or
« 2 vyears void, 3 years rent free.
Yield bands - ranging from 5.5% - 14.0%

Third party tenanted

An ERV is applied using a percentage band on the passing rent. An
appropriate reversionory yield is applied reflecting the risk of tenant
and renewdl to generate a capital value. This will also provide a net
initicl yield based off the current passing rent.

ERV is opplied reflecting the market for the
applicable unit. An appropriate reversionary yield is
applied reflecting the risk of tenant and renewal to
generate a capital value, This will also provide a net
initial yield based off the current passing rent.

A 10% increase in the market valuation amounts used in the impairment calculations would result in a decrease in
impairment of £5.0m (FY21: £7.5m).

The total recoverable amount of the assets that were impaired at the period end was £105.9m {FY21: £170.0rm), with
£47.3m (FY21: £87.0m) of this being based on their fair value less costs of disposal and £58.6rm (FY21: £83.0m) being
based on their value in use.
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Credit Customer Receivables

Studic Retail Limited's credit customer receivables are
recognised on balance sheet at amortised cost (i.e. net
of provision for expected credit loss), At 24 April 2022,
trade receivables with a gross value of £372.7m were
recorded on the balance sheet, less a provision for
impairment of £138.5m.

Fair value considerations

Management has concluded that the fair value of trade
receivables acquired broadly equated to their book
value and therefore that the difference on a go-forward
basis will not be material given that the nature of the
loan preduct offered (a revolving credit account) means
that the portfolio has a relatively short life {i.e. loans
with customers are repaid and replaced with fresh
loans under the revolving account). As a result of this,
management has concluded that it is appropriate to
recognise the trade receivables portfolio at the gross
book value less associated expected credit losses
{calculated by Studio Retail Limited) at acquisition, and
to apply the accounting policies for expected credit loss
that were in place at the point of the acquisition in the
Studio business on a go-forward basis.

Expected credit loss

An appropriate allowance for expected credit loss in
respect of trade receivables is derived from estimates
and underlying assumptions such as the Probability
of Default and the Loss Given Default, taking into
consideration forward looking macro-economic
assumptions. The assessment involves significant
estimation uncertainty. Changes in the assumptions
applied such as the value and frequency of future debt
sales in calculating the Loss Given Default, and the
estimation of customer repoyments ond Probability
of Default rates, as well as the weighting of the
macro-ecaonomic scenarios applied to the impairment
model could have a significant impact on the carrying
value of trade receivables. These assumptions are
continually assessed for relevance and adjusted
appropriately. Revisions to estimates are recognised
prospectively. Sensitivity analysis is given in note 23.

Post model adjustment

The impairment model was not designed to take into
account changes to customer payment and default
performance arising as a result of the current cost

of living crisis where levels of price inflation greatly
exceed income growth, as the existing model uses
unemployment rates as the principal determinant

in considering forward looking macro-economic
assumptions.

It is our expectation that SRL's customer base has seen
and will continue to see a significant reduction in real
earnings as a result of the current cost of living crisis,
and that this will adversely impact payment and arrears
performance. It is also management’s view that these
anticipated impacts are not adequately reflected in

the output of the impairment model. Judgement has
therefore been exercised in applying a post modei
adjustment of £40.0m to the output of the impairment
model in arriving at the provision. This adjustment was
inctuded in the credit customer receivables provision

on acquisition of SRL and has been retained at period
end as this reflects management's best estimate based
on the information available to them. The post model
adjustment was formulated based on an assessment

of the anticipated length of the cost of living crisis,
anticipated changes to default behaviour over that time
horizon, and credit bureau data assessing the level of
customer indebtedness.

The purpose of the post model adjustment is to ensure
that the probability weighted macroeconomic scenarios
adequately reflect the risks to customer payment and
default performance described above.
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In arriving at the £40.0m estimate, a number of macro-economic scenarios were modelled based cn the
considerations noted above and a probability weighting was applied to each scenario as follows:

Probabllity weighting
Scenario Ciualitative explanation applied
Upside Although real incomes are under pressure, households spend freely on haspitality, holidays and 20%

entertainment, given the savings they've accumulated over the last 2 years, throughout the pandemic.
Those that were struggling before high infiation are likely experiencing financial difficulty. The
expectation Is that the cost-of-living crisis is shorter under this scenario at between 12 and 18 months.

Boseline The cost-of-living crisis intensifies with real incomes expected to be much lower in 2022 than they were 60%
in 2021, The continued war in Ukraine puts prolonged pressure on global maorkets keeping inflation high,
with the expectation inflation will continue to rise throughout 2022 The longevity of the cost-of-living
crisis is assumed to lust over 2 years.

Downside The economy underperforms and the UK goes into a recession. The Bank of England continue totry  10%
to address inflationary pressures with regular increases in base rate, pushing more households into
financial difficulty. Hiyher costs in Manufacturing and other sectors most exposed to the conflict in
Ukraine see a wave of insolvencies and subsequently an increase in unemployment. The impact is
expected to last up to 3 years,

Stress The conflict in Ukraine escalates and economic sanctions damage western economies. With continued 0%
labour shortages and problemns in supply-chains, this perfect storm of shock sees inflation rise sharply. As
well as the impact on real incomes, the rise in inflation unsettles markets and leads to a crash in asset
values. Whilst not explicitly modelled this scenario would also cover another emerging Covid-19 variant,
more resistant to vaccines leading to a severe outcome and further lockdowns. The Impact is expected to
last over 3 years.

We note that the unprecedented level of uncertainty around the cost of living and the UK econormy as a whole,
and the impact this will have on Studio's custormer base, will continue cause challenges in assessing bad debt on a
forward-locking basis.

£9.1m of the trade receivables acquired were categorised as Stage 3 by Studio and would likely meet the Group's
definition of purchased credit-impaired {*POCI". On the basis of materiality, and that the loans would attract a
lifetime ECL allowance whether categorised as Stage 3 or POCI, we have chosen to continue to apply Studio's
classification and measurement of these loans as Stage 3 in the consolidated financial statements,
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3. FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group's current activities result in the following
financial risks ond set out below are management's
responses to those risks in order to minimise any
resulting adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
principally via:

A. Transactional exposure from the cost of future
purchases of goods for resale, where those
purchases are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the purchasing company.
Transactional exposures that could significantly
impact the income statement are hedged. These
exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency

contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges.

The notional and fair value of these contracts is
shown in note 30;

B. Transactional exposure from the sale of goods,
where those sales are denominated in o currency
other than the functional currency of the selling
company. Transactional exposures that could
significantly impact the income statement are
hedged. These exposures are hedged via forward
foreign currency contracts which are designated
as cash flow hedges. The notional and fair value of
these contracts is shown in note 30;

C. Loans to non-UK subsidiaries. These are hedged
via foreign currency transactions and borrowings
in matching currencies, which are not formally
designated as hedges, as gains and losses on
hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset; and

D. The Group uses currency options, swaps and spots
for more flexibility against cash flows that are less
thon highly probable ond therefore deo not qualify
for hedge accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Exposures in respect of written
options to sell Euros or buy USD are explained in
the Financial Review. These are not hedged and
movements in fair value could significantly impact
the Income Statement in future periods. See note 30.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group has net borrowings, which are principally

at floating interest rates linked to bank base rates

or SONIA. The Group uses interest rate financial
instrurmnents to hedge its exposure to interest rate
movements using interest rate swaps although hedge
accounting is hot applied. The Group regularly monitors
and reacts accordingly to any exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates and the impact on its monetary assets

and fiabilities.

Credit Risk

The Directors have a credit policy in place and the
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group does
not require collateral in respect of financial assets.

At each balance sheet date, there were no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The maximum expeosure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the balance sheet,

Investments of cash surpluses, borrowings and derivative
instruments are made through banks and companies
which must fulfil credit rating and investment criteria
approved by the Board.

Liquidity Risk

The Group has sufficient liquid resources to manage
the operating requirements of the business and it does
this through utilisation of its revolving credit facilities
together with equity and retained profits thereby

achieving continuity of funding and short-term flexibility,
while keeping interest to a minimum.

Management regularly review forecasts to ensure there
is adequate headroom on the facilities and to ensure the
Group is operating within its financial covenants.



Price Risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of
its long term financial assets {in relation to listed
company shares).

The price risk relates to volatility in the market, ond

how other comprehensive income and equity would
have been affected by changes in market risk that were
reasonably possible at the reporting date, If the quoted
stock price for these securities increased or decreased,
other comprehensive income and equity would have
changed. The listed securities are classified as long term
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income so there would be no effect on profit or loss.

The investments in listed equity securities (long-term
financial assets) are considered medium to long-term
strategic investments. In accordance with the Group's
policies, no specific hedging activities are undertaken in
relation to these investments.

Capital Management

A description of the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital are included in note 30.

4. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Management has determined to present its segmental
disclosures consistently with the presentation in the 2021
Annual Report. Management considers operationally
that the UK Retail divisions (UK Sports Retail and
Premium Lifestyle} are run as one business unit in terms
of allocating resources, inventory management and
assessing performance. Under IFRS 8 we have not at
this reporting date met the required criteria with enough
certainty to aggregate these operating segments. We
will continually keep this under review at subsequent
reporting dates. We continue to monitor the impacts

of Covid-19, Brexit, and the continued uncertainties

this has brought relating to the political and economic
environments, and market and currency volatility in

the countries we operate in. European countries have
been identified as operating segments and have

been aggregated into a single operating segment as
permitted under IFRS 8. The decision to aggregate
these segments was based on the fact that they each
have similar economic characteristics, similar long-term
financial performance expectations, and are similar in
each of the following respects:

»  The nature of the products;
+  The type or class of customer for the products; and
«  The methods used to distribute the products.
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In accordance with paragraph 12 of IFRS 8 the Group's
operating segments have been aggregated inte the
following reportable segments:

1. UK Retail:

i. UK Sports Retaqil - includes core sports retail
store operations in the UK, plus all the Group's
sports retail online business {excluding Bob's
Stores, Eastern Mountain Sports, Malaysia
and Baltics), the gyms, the Group's Shirebrook
campus operations, freehold property owning
companies excluding Premium Lifestyle
fascia properties, GAME UK stores and
online operations, Studio Retail Limited (from
acquisition on 24 February 2022) and retail
store operations in Northern Ireland.

ii. Premium Lifestyle - includes the results of the
premium ond luxury retail businesses Flannels,
Cruise, van mildert, Jack Wills, House of Fraser
and Sofa.com along with related websites, and
freehold property owning companies where
trading is purely from Premium Lifestyle fascias.

2. European Retail - includes all the Group's sports
retail stores, management and operaticns in Europe
including the Group's European Distribution Centres
in Belgium and Austria, European freehold property
owning companies, as well as GAME Spain stores
and Baltics online.

3. Rest of World Retail - includes the results of US
based retail activities, Asia based retail activities
along with their e-commerce offerings.

4. Wholesale & Licensing - includes the results of
the Group's portfolio of internationally recognised
brands such as Everlast, Karrimor, Lonsdale
and Slazenger.

It is management's current intention to run the Group
as four operating segments being UK Retuil (including
UK Sports Retail and Premium Lifestyle), European
Retail, Rest of World Retoil and Wholesale & Licensing.
Management is satisfied that the UK Sports Retail and
Premium Lifestyle will meet the criteria permitted under
IFRS 8 to aggregate as one segment in due course.

The FY21 numbers have been re-categorised due to
changes in the reporting segments, with freehold
property owning companies where trading is purely
from Premium Lifestyle fascias being moved from UK
Sports Retail to Premium Lifestyle. Adjustments for IFRS
16, which were previously reported as a recenciling
item, have been included within Operating profit before
foreign exchange, exceptional items and property and
other related impairments to be consistent with the
presentation adopted for FY22,
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Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:

Premium UKRetail European Rest of Tot! Wholesale & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retoil Licensing Eliminations Total
(E'm} {£'m) (E'm} (£'m) (E'm} (E'm) (E'm} {E'm) (E'm)
Sales to external customers 2,640.1 1,056.6 3,696.7 7902 150.3 4,6312 168.1 - 4,8053
Sales to other segments - - - - - - 80.1 809 -
Revenue 26401 1,056.6 3696.7 790.2 1503 46372 248.2 {80.1) 4,805.3
Gross profit 11368 4748 1611.6 3373 767 20256 631 - 20887
QOparating profit befors foreign
:"nf,h:r":;;’;‘:ﬁ'zfﬂ o 2894 1240 434 1008 M4 5576 69 - 5645
impairments
Exceptional items {1.3) - 1.3} - - _1.3) - - 1.3)
;m“f,:p“g:nﬂ;ﬁ;s (1034) (0350 {2068 79) 22 (2270 - -z
Realised foreign exchange loss {11 (C.1} (1.2} (2.9) (0.8} {4.9) (G.9) - {5.8;
Operating profit 183.6 204 204.0 89.0 314 3244 6.0 - 330.4
Investrent income 438 - 43.8 - - 43.8 - - 438
Investment costs (19.7) - 19.7) - - (8.7) - - 9.7
Finance income™ 36.8 - 368 1.0 10 38.8 - (8.5 303
Finance costs ™ (42.8) (10.0)  {528) 44 {0.5} (52.7) - 8.5 (49.2}
Proftt before taxation 2017 104 221 85.6 ny 329.6 6.0 - 3356
Taxation (18.7)
Profit for the period 256.9

1 Includes inter-company telated firance mcame m UK Sports Reta:l and the equivalent finance cost in Prernium Lifestyle that eliminates on consaldaton

Following the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited, sales to external customers includes credit account interest of £18.2m,
and gross profit includes impairment losses on credit customer receivables of £13.3m, both of which are recognised in
the UK Sports segment. The gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited of £4.8m
{see note 32} has been recognised in gross profit in the UK Sports segment.

Other segment items included in the income statement for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:

Pramium UKRetail Europeon Rest of Total Wholescle &

UK Sports  Lifestyla Total Retail  World Retail Retail Licersing Total

{E'm) (E'm}) (£'m) {E'm) (E'm) {E'm) (E'm) {£'m)

Property, plant & equipment depreciation 1222 229 1451 20.2 24 167.7 13 169.0
Property, plant & equiprment impairment 51.7 4.0 1457 23 12 149.2 - 149.2
IFRS 16 ROU depreciation 47.8 64 54.2 199 31 T2 04 716
IFRS 16 ROV impairment 50.7 95 60.2 156 10 76.8 - 76.8
Investment property depreciation 5.9 - 59 - - 59 - 59
Investment property impairment 1.0 - 1.0 - - 1.0 - 1.0
Lﬁmimﬂ and modification/remeasurement 142 39 181 02 10 283 B 283
Intangible amortisation 10 - 1.0 - - 1.0 6.5 7.5
intongible impairment 13 - 13 - ~ 13 44 57
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Information regarding segment assets and liabilities as at 24 April 2022 and capital expenditure for the 52 weeks
then ended:

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total

{£'m) {£'m) {£'m} {E'm} (E'm) {E'm} (E'm) (E'm) (£'m)

Total assets 41619 10021 5164.0 4855 844 57339 3497 {19409) 43427

Total liabilities (23089)  (1,0989)  {4,007.8) {681.4) 76 [4,681.6) {93.4) 19409  (2,834.1)

Tangible asset additions 2983 636 2917 29.4 13 3224 08 - 3232

Right of use asset additions 27.8 250 52.8 430 4.7 100.5 0.4 - 100.9
L - " -]

Intangible assets acquired 70 - 70 - - 7.0 - - 70

Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 2021":

Premium UK Retail Eurcpean Rest of Total Wholesale & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail  World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total
{E'm) {E'm)} {E'm} {E'r} {E'm} {E'm} {E'm) {E'm) {E'm)
Sales tg external customers 19685 7356 2,704.1 615.2 1527 3472.0 153.3 - 3,625.3
Sales to other segments - - - - - - 95.4 (95.4) -
Revenue 19685 735.6 _ygl..i 615.2 152.7 3.472.0 248.7 (95.4) 3,625.3
Gross profit 829.3 330.3 _1159.6 239.7 64.0 1,463.3 67.5 - 1,530.8
?x?h':r:ing proﬂttli:ef:’r- itf.oreigrl
and proparty and other reluted 110 M43 2253 205 186 2644 202 - e
impairments
Exceptional items 31 {1.6) 15 (3.0) - (1.6} - - {1.6)
oo forelgn exchange (loss 202 02 (04 08 a4 @210 53 - 263)
i':“mpz?:hye?-ur: other related (2019} (409} (242.8) (F1.6§ (2.6} (317.0) - - (317.0}
Operating {lossy/profit (28.0) {8.4) {36.4) (53.4) 14.6 752 14.9 - {60.3)
Investment income 103.7 - 103.7 - - 103.7 - - 103.7
Investment costs 70 - @.n - - o.n - - a.n
Finance income 6.5 - 65 25 - 9.0 - - 9.0
Finance costs {28.1) (12)  (29.3) (2.7} (3.8] (35.8) (0.4) - (36.2}
Profit before taxation 464 (96) 368 {53.6) 10.8 {6.0) 14.5 - 8.5
Taxation {86.5)
Loss for the period (78.0)
I The FY21 numbpers have been re-categorised due to changes in the reporting segments. with freehold property owning companies where trading 15 purely from

Premium Litestyle fascios being moved from UK Sports Retail to Premium Lifestyle
Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a 10% mark-up.
Other segment items included in the income statement for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 20217;

UK Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale Group

Sports Lifestyle Total Retall  World Retail Retail & Licensing Total

{£'m) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm) {£'m) {E'm)

Property, plant & equipment depreciation 1319 42.3 742 353 57 215.2 1.2 2164
Property, plant & equipment impairment 87.2 204 107.6 40.6 - 148.2 - 148.2
IFRS 16 ROU depreciation 51.5 6.4 579 219 23 821 - 821
IFRS 16 ROU impairment 141 20.5 134.6 310 2.6 168.2 - 168.2
Investment property depreciation 19 - 19 - - 19 - 19
nvestment property impairment 0.6 - 0.6 - - 0.6 - 0.6
L’;T:;sl: iadsgﬁi:ci::sund madification/remeasurerment (20,0} (56) (25.6) 14) ©7 270 _ n
intangible amortisation - - - 0.5 - 0.5 66 71
Intangible impairment 37 23 6.0 3 - 91 - 91

i The FY21 aurmbers nave been re-categarised oJde o chunges in the reporting segments, with freehold property owning companies wne-e tracing is purely from
Fremium {ifestyle fascus beimg moved from UK Sports Retail to Pratmium Lifestyle
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Information regarding segment assets and ligbilities as at 25 April 2021" and capital expenditure for the
52 weeks then ended:

Premium UKRetall Eurcpean Rest of Total Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Totut Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total

(£'m) {E'm) (E'm) (£'m) {E'm) (E£'m) (E'm) (E'm) (£'m)

Total assets 33059 668.0 3973.9 £70.8 158.6 4803.3 3447 (1,3629) 3,785.1

Total liabilities (2,357.8) {499.6) 2,857.4) (857.0) [(95.1)  (3.809.5) 127.5) 1,3629 {2,574.1

Tangible asset additions 1634 331 196.5 174 30 2169 25 - 2194

Right of use asset additions 775 141 91.6 24.3 24 118.3 05 - 1.8
- "~

Intangible asset additions/acquired 37 23 60 - - 6.0 1.0 B 7.0

Y] The FY21 numbers have been re-cotegorised due to changes in the reporting segments, with freehold property owning companies where trading is purely fram

Premium Lifestyle fascias being moved from UK Sparts Retall o Premium Lifestyle

Geographic Information
Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:
114 Europe USA Asia Eliminations Total

(E'm}) (£'m) {E'm) (£'m) (E'm) {E'm)
Segmental revenue from
external customers 37148 8230 2230 445 - 48053
Total capital expenditure 2917 294 0.9 1.2 - 323.2
MNon-current segment
assets” 962.2 1303 1260 A5 - 1223.0
Total segmental assets 5486.8 3813 176.3 392 1,940.9} 40427

"Exciudes defermed tax and financial nstraments.

Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 2021:

UK Europe USA Asla Eliminations Total
(E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm} {E'm} (£'m)
Segmental revenue from
external customers 2707 646.2 237 437 - 36253
Totol capital expenditure 196.5 174 32 23 - 2194
Non-current segment
assets® 10523 149 1277 46 - 12995
Total segmental assets 42647 589.2 2562 379 {13629) 37851

“Excludas deferred tax and ‘inancial instruments,

Material non-current segmental assets — by a non-UK country:

USA Belgium Austria Estania treland Spain

(€'m) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm) (E'm) {E'm)

FY22 126.0 58.4 195 07 13.3 334
Fran 1277 468 224 - 129 399

Material segmental revenue from external customers - by a non-UK country:

USA Belgium Austria Estonia treland $pain

{£'m) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm} {£'m) {E'm}
FY22 2230 133 383 185 1726 2294
FY2 037 931 421 967 954 2083

Note the Group has no individual customer which accounts for more than 10% of revenue in the current or prior period.
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The following tables reconciles the Profit Before Tax to the Adjusted PBT as it is one of the main measures used by the
Chief Operating Decision Maker when reviewing the performance of the segment:

Reconciliation of Reported PBT to Adjusted PBT for the 52 week period ended 24 April 2022:

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Totol Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail Workd Retail Retuil Licensing Total

(E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm} (E'm) {(E'm} (£}

Reported PET _201.6 104 2120 85.7 39 3296 6.0 3356

Exceptional ltems 13 - 13 - - 13 - 13

Fair value adjustments to derivative

finoncial instruments (6] B (2.6) B ) (2.6) ) 7€)
Fair value (gains)/losses and profit on disposal

of equity derivatives (95} B (9.9) ) ) (9:9) ) 193

Redlised FX loss 1.1 a1 1.2 29 08 4.9 0.9 3.8

Share scheme 10.4 - 10.4 - - 104 4.2 14.6

Adjusted PET 196.9 105 2074 88.6 327 3287 na 3198

Reconciliation of Reported PBT to Adjusted PBT for the 52 week period ended 25 April 2021

Premium UKRetail European Rest of TJotal Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail  World Retail Retail Licensing Total

{E'm) [E'm) (£'m) {E'm) (E'm) (£'m) (E'm} {E'm)

Reported PBT 46.4 (9.6) 36.8 {53.6) 10.8 {6.0) 14.5 85
Exceptional items {31 16 {1.5) 31 - 1.6 - 16
ket s i € - 4 - e .
:f:qf#ﬁ:ﬁﬁ’:‘e‘ and profit on disposal (822) - (822) . - (822) - (822
Redlised FX loss / (gain} 20.2 0.2 204 {0.8) 14 21.0 53 26.3
Share scheme 13 - 1.3 - - 1.3 - 1.3
Adjusted PBT {12.8) 7.8) (20.6) (51.3) 122 (59.7) 198 (39.9)

] The FY21 numbers have been re-categorised due Lo changes in the reporting segments, witk freenold property owning companies wnere trading is purely from
Pramium Lifestyle Fascios being moved from UK Sports Retail to Premiurm Lifestyle.

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 201

{Em) {Em)

Rent receivable 273 16.1
Other 207 207
48.0 358

Other operating income relates to charges for aircraft, lease surrender premiums, ad hoc income and sundry charges
to third parties.
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6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {£m)

Impairments 1.3} A
Profit on disposal of intangible assets - 75
(1.3} (1.6}

The impairment in both the current and prior period relates to goodwill, whereby the discounted present value of
future cash fiows do not support the full volue of the assets. The profit on disposal of intangible assets in the prior
period relates to the sale of certain [P relating to the BELONG business.

7. PROFIT ON SALE OF PROPERTIES

52 () Adad 52 L A

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {Em)

Profit on sale of properties 108 97

The profit on the sale of properties in the current period includes gains on the sale of UK properties
(FY21: European properties).

8. OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

Operating profit/({loss) for the period is stated after charging/{crediting):

52 weeks ended 52 weeks anded

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) (€m}
Foreign exchange loss 5.8 263
Depreciction and amortisation of non-current assets:
- Depreciation of property, plont & equipment (incl. right-of-use asset) 246.6 2985
- impairment of property, plant & equipment (incl. right-of-use asset) 226.0 316.4
- Depreciation of investment properties 59 19
- Impaiment of investment properties 1.0 0.6
- Amortisation of intangible assets 75 71
- impairment of intangible assets 5.7 9.1
IFRS 16 leases:
Profit on disposal and modification/ remeasurement of lease liabilities (28.3) (27.7)
Variable lease payments 14.0 255
Short term and low vaiue
250 3.6

lease expenses
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Services Provided by the Group's Auditor

The remuneration of the auditors, RSM UK Audit LLP, and associated firms, was as detailed below:

52 weeks snded 52 weaks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 201
(Em) {Em)

AUDIT SERVICES
Audit of the Group and company - recurring 18 15
Audit of the Group and company - non-recurring - 01
Audit of subsidiary componies 1.0 0.8
28 2.4

There were no non-audit services provided by RSM UK Audit LLP and associated firms in either the current or
prior period.

9. PAYROLL COSTS

The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Directors, employed by the Group during the
period was:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
Retail stores 2397 2122
Distribution, administration and other 6,382 4374

30,353 26,496

The increase in employees is mainly due to acquisitions and the ongoing organic growth of the business.

The aggregate payroll costs of the employees, including Executive Directors, net of amounts received from
Government grants, were as follows:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{£m) {Em)

Wages and salories 4915 3422
Social security costs 49 293
Pension costs 6.5 56
5329 317

Aggregate ermoluments of the Directors of the Company are summarised below:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Aggregate emoluments 06 05

Further details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors' Remuneration Report. Details of key manogement
remuneration are given in note 35
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10. INVESTMENT INCOME

52 weel ded 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

[Em) (Em)

Profit on disposal of equity derivatives 232 274
Prernium recelved on equity derivatives 13.2 13.3
Fair value gain an equity derivatives 6.4 625
Dividend income 10 0.5
438 103.7

The profit on disposal of equity derivatives mainly relates to Hugo Boss contracts for difference. The fair value gain on
equity derivatives mainly relates to Hugo Boss options. The premium received on equity derivatives mainly relates to

Huge Boss options.

11. INVESTMENT COSTS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em} {Em)

Fair value loss on equity derivatives 19.7 77
197 7.7

The fair value loss on equity derivatives in the current period mainly relates to Hugo Boss contracts for difference.

12. FINANCE INCOME

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {Em}

Bank interest receivable 4.5 35
Interest. on retirement benefit obligations. 01 -
Other finance income 17 5.5
Fair value adjustment to derivatives 240 -
303 9.0

The fair value adjustment to derivatives largely relates to movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps.
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13. FINANCE COSTS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em)

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 136 11
Other interest 7.0 8.6
Interest on retirerment benefit obligations - 0.1
IFRS 16 lease interest 12.2 ne
Fair value adjustment to derivatives 16.4 46
49.2 36.2

The fair value adjustment to derivatives relates to differences between the fair value of forward foreign currency
contracts and written options that were not designated for hedge accounting from one period end to the next.

14. TAXATION

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 Aprl 2021
{Em) {Em)
Current tox 862 832
Adjustment in respect to prior periods {5.7) 13.6
Total current tox B80.5 96.8
Deferred tax {8.5) (10}
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 6.7 (0.2}
Total deferred tax (see note 28} {1.8) {10.3)
78.7 86.5
Profit before taxation 3356 85
Taxation at the standard rate of tax in the UK of 199% (2021: 19%) 638 16
Non-taxable income (14.4) 39)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 624 770
Other tax adjustments 115.6) 1.6)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods - current tax (5.7) 13.6
Adjustments in respect of prior periods ~ deferred tax 67 {0.2)
Changes in deferred tax rate {18.5) -
78.7 86.5

Non-taxable income largely relates to differences between capital allowances and depreciation which are not
timing differences on which deferred tax is provided. Expenses not deductible for tax purposes largely relates to
non-qualifying depreciation and impairments not qualifying for tax allowances.
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15.

OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY

SHAREHOLDERS

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM TOTAL AND CONTINUING

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributoble to ordinary sharehclders of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares, 471,975,282 (FY21: 501,955,281), is adjusted to
assurne conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares under the Group’s share schemes, being nil (FY21: 88,605},
to give the diluted weighted average number of shares of 471,975,282 (FY21: 502,043,886). In FY21, as there was a loss
for the period, the effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares was anti-dilutive, and therefore the weighted average
number of shares for the Diluted EPS calculation was kept the same as for the Basic EPS calculation. There is therefore
no difference between the Basic and Diluted EPS calculations for both periods.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

52 weeks snded 52 L ded 52 ) ded 52 A ded 52 weeks ended 52 weaks ended
24 April 2022 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 April 2021 25 April 2011
Basic and diluted,  Basic and diluted, Basic and diluted, Basic and diluted,  Basic and diluted,  Basic and diluted,
continuing discontinued total continuing discontinued total

opercations operations operations opsrations
{(Em) {E'm} _{Em) (E'm) [£'m) (E'"m)
Profit for the period 22471 257 2498 {91.6) 8.6 {83.0)
Number in Numberin Number in Number in Number in Number in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands

Weighted average number

of shares 47575 4N 975 471975 50,955 501955 501955
Pence par share Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share
Earnings per share 475 54 529 {18.2) 17 16.5)

Adjusted Earnings Per Share

The adjusted earnings per share reflects the underlying performance of the business compared with the prior pericd
and is calculated by dividing adjusted earnings by the weighted average number of shares for the period, Adjusted
earnings is used by management as o measure of profitability within the Group. Adjusted earnings is defined as profit/
{loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent for each financial period but excluding the post-tax
effect of certain non-trading items. Tax has been calculaoted with reference to the effective rate of tax for the Group.

The Directors believe that the adjusted earnings and adjusted earnings per share measures provide additionaf useful
information for shareholders on the underlying performance of the business and are consistent with how business
performance is measured internally. Adjusted earnings is not a recognised profit measure under IFRS and may not be
directly comparable with adjusted profit measures used by other companies.

52 weeks anded 52 weeks ended 52 waeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 April 2021
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
(Em) {E'm) _iem) {Em)
Profit / (loss) for the period 2498 249.8 (83.0) 83.0)
Pre-tax adjustments to profit / (loss) for the period for the following items:
Exceptional items 13 13 16 16
Fair value adjustment to derivatives included within
Finance (incc:me) / costs (76) (6} 46 46
Fair value gains and profit on disposal of equity derivatives (9.9) {99} (82.2) (822)
Realised foreign exchange loss 58 5.8 263 263
Share scheme 146 14.6 13 13
Tax adjustments on the above items 03 03 (59) (5.9)
Adjusted profit / (losx) for the period 2543 2543 (137.3) {137.3)
Number in Number in Numberin Number in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
Weighted averoge number of shares 471975 41975 501,955 501,955
Pence per share Pence per shore Pence per share Pence per share
Adjusted Eormings per share 539 539 27.3) {27.3)
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16. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Subsequent to the period end, on 24 May 2022, the Group disposed of its US retail businesses trading as Bobs Stores
and Eastern Mountain Sports for cash consideration of $70.0m (approx. £56.1m}. The disposal took place through sale
of 100% of the share capital of Roberts 50 USA LLC and its subsidiaries to GoDigital Media Group. These businesses
are reported as part of the Rest of World operating segment.

As per IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, this disposal group has been classified as
held for sale and as a discontinued operation. A profit on disposal of approx. £30.0m will be recognised in FY23.

The following major classes of assets and liabilities relating to the disposal group have been classified as held for sale
in the consolidation balance sheet as at

24 April 2022
24 April 2022
{E'm}
Inventories 377
Trade and other receivables 23
Assets held for sale 40.0
Trade and other payables 10.6
Provisions 32
Lease liabilities 89
Liabilities heid for saie 227

The Cash Flow Statement includes the following amounts relating to this discontinued operation:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(E'm) (E'm)

Operating activities 42 69
Financing activities 6.1) (9.9)
Net cash outflow from discontinued operations (1.9) (3.0)
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Short-tarm
Right of Freehold fand and Long-term lsasehold Plant and
use asset Buildings L hold Impr nts Equipment Total
(E'm) (E'm} (E'mj (E'm] {€'m) {€'m]
COST
At 26 April 2020 524.4 8.9 706 1316 726 24181
Acquisitions 23 05 - - 29.0 316
Additions 188 843 43 20 128.8 3382
Eliminated on disposals (48.1) [16.5) [0.7) {6.0) (57.4) {128.7)
S:ﬁ':f;ﬁf;’;:‘;::s/m 76.4 [79.4) 792 01 87 850
Exchange differences {4.5) (2.4) 09 0.3} {29 (10.2)
At 25 Apwil 2021 6691 9054 153.3 1274 878.8 27340
Acquisitions (see note 32} 56 70 - - 69 19.5
Additions 1009 793 4.1 25 195.3 382
Elimincted on disposals (759 (42.0) (12) 4.7) (82,0 (205.8)
Exchange differences 7.7 2.3) {0.5) o1 (3.0) (13.6)
At 24 April 2022 686.6 904.0 155.7 1251 995.8 28672
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 26 April 2020 {218.7} {153.3} {16.7) {13.9} {567.9} {1,070.5}
Charge far the period 823) (74.5) (n.6) {1.5) (n8.8) {298.5)
Irmpairment (168.2} (84.4) (3.5} [0.9) (59.8) {316.4)
Eliminated on disposals 415 nz2 03 &7 544 1201
Redclassiications /| - 181 79) . ®8) 8.6)
Exchange differences 21 02 a1 01 23 48
At 25 April 2021 {419.4) (282.7) 49.7) {1a.n (698.6) {1,569.1)
Charge for the period (77.6) (479) (12.4) (3.6) (1051} {246.6}
Impairment 76.8) (1065} {20) - {407 (226.0)
Eliminated on disposals 759 157 11 18 793 1736
Exchange differences 60 0.3 a1 a.2 19 85
At 24 ApHl 2022 {491.9) (420.5) (63,0) (121.4) (759.4) {1,856.2)
NET BOOK VALUE
At 24 April 2022 194.7 4835 92.7 a7 2364 10n.0
At 25 April 201 249.7 6227 103.6 87 180.2 11649
Al 26 April 2020 305.7 765.6 539 77 204.7 13476
Ui R Y21 0 mumber of proocrties were inertfied that ware previously © assifiec within Fresnoid Lant a~d Bu.dings bat mansgement oelieve

it t¢ pe move oporoonate to ¢ assify witrin Long-term Leasesld Tnese nave tnerefore beea odjasted in e prior penoa as rec 054 iconens,
L2 Curing the perod gssels ware genofed Lhat were previcusy © assifien within Progerty. Plant and Equipment but mancgement baheve it o be

more apprasrate ta class Sy within Investrment Praperties Trese bave tnerefore peen adjusted 17 the senod oi redassfizations
Note 2 provides further detail on the property related impairments (relating to ROU assets and freehold land
and buildings).
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Lecases

The Group only has property leases within the scope of IFRS 16, including retail stores, offices and warehouses. Leases
are largely for a period between 1 - 15 years typically with break clauses. It is management's intention to continue to
enter into turnover linked leases in the future.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’, the same line item as it presents underlying assets of the same nature that it owns. The carrying amount
and movements in the period can be seen in the table above.

Lease liabilities are presented separately within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The maturity analysis of lease
liabilities is shown in note 30(f). Interest expense on the lease liability is presented as a component of finance costs os
per note 13, Cash payments for the principal portion and the interest portion of the lease liability are presented in the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement with further details given in note 27.

The Group is party to a number of leases that are classed as short term leases and with variable lease payments.
These are typically property leases on turnover bosed rents. Note 8 discloses variable lease payments and short term
and low value lease expenses incurred in the period. Cash flows in the period relating to variable lease payments,
short term lease payments, and leases for low volue assets were approx. £33m (FY21: approx. £24m). It is expected that
future cash flows will not be materially different to the FY22 cash flows.

Leases to which the Group is committed but have not yet commenced at period end are not considered to
be material,

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Total
{E'm)

COsT

At 26 April 2020 458
Eliminated on disposals (7.6
At 25 April 2021 38.2
Additions 420
Reclassifications 434
At 24 April 2022 123.6
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 26 April 2020 (26.9)
Charge for the period (1.9
Impairment [0.6)
Eliminated on disposals 53
At 25 April 2021 {24.1)
Charge for the period (59)
Impairment (1.0
Reclassifications (34)
At 24 April 2022 (34.4)
NET BOOK VALUE

At 24 April 2022 89.2
At 25 April 201 a1
At 26 April 2020 189
M During the period assels wore identified thet were previously clasufied within Property Plont and Equipment but monogement beileve it te be more

appropticte to clossify witmin Investment Properties Trnese have Lharefore been sdjusted in tme period a3 reclassifications.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 24 April 2022 and 25 April 2021 were estimated as being
materially in line with carrying values. The valuations were calculated by the Group's internal property team who are
appropriately qualified chartered surveyors and follow the applicable valuation methodology of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors. Note 2 provides further detail on the property related impairments.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks
Goodwill and licenses Brands  Customer related Total
(E£'m) (E'm) (£'m}) [£'m) (E'm)

COST
At 26 April 2020 1734 4.0 904 - 3578 ‘
Acquisitions 6.0 - - - 6.0
Additions - 1.0 - - 1.0
Disposals - (3.3} - - {3.3)
Exchange adjustments 87) (1.0) (9.8} - (19.5)
At 25 April 2021 1707 907 80.6 - 3420
Acquisitions 13 - - 57 70
Exchange adjustments 438 04 6.4 - né6
At 24 April 2022 176.8 2.1 87.0 5.7 360.6
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 26 April 2020 (119.3) (89.1) (6.0} - (214.4)
Amortisation charge (0.3} 1.3) (5.5) - 71
impairment 91 - - - 91)
Disposals - 33 - - 33
Exchange adjustments 47 04 0.7 - 58
At 25 April 2021 (124.0) (86.7) (10.8) - (221.5)
Amortisation charge - {0.5) (6.0) no) 7.5
Impairment (57) - - - {57
Exchange adjustments 27 03 {2.5) - (5.3)
At 24 April 2022 (132.4) (87.3) {19.3) 1.0} (240.0)
At 28 April 2022 444 38 67.7 47 120.6
At 25 Aprit 2021 467 4.0 698 - 120.5
At 26 April 2020 S4.1 49 844 - 134

Amortisation is charged to selling, distribution and administrative expenses in the consolidated Income Statement.

The majority of the net book value of intangible assets relates to the £86.5m purchase of Everlast in 2007.

The carrying value of geodwill and brands that are considered to have an indefinite life are allocated to the Group's
operating segments before aggregation. With the exception of Everlast, none of the individual cash-generating units
(CGUs) are considered material to goodwill or indefinite life intangibles. The carrying value of goodwill and brands

allocated to the Group's CGUs {as aggregated except in the case of Everlast} is shown below:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Goodwill Brands Goodwill Brands
em) (E'm) (E'm) {£m) !

Wholesale & Licensing {excl. Everlast} 99 - 143 -
Everlast 345 677 324 69.8 ,
444 617 46.7 9.8 I




The Group tests the carrying amount of goodwill and
assets with on indefinite life annually for impairment

or more frequently if there are indications that their
carrying value might be impaired. The carrying amounts
of other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment if
there is an indication of impairment.

Impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying
amounts to the value in use derived from discounted
cash flow projections for each CGU to which the
intangible assets are allocated. A CGU is deemed to

be an individual fascia or brand and these have been
grouped together into similar classes for the purpose

of formulating operating segments as reported in note
4. The total recoverable amount of all CGUs in relation
to the above intangible assets was £228.1m of which
£128.3m related to Everlast. The recoverable amount
relating to Everlast is based on a value in use calculation
that includes expected cash flows from new commercial
negotiations. Based on management's forecasts if these
new commeércial negotiations are unsuccessful there
could be a need for a full impairment review of Everlast's
intangible assets. Due to the ongoing challenges with
the retail sector, part of the Wholesale & Licensing
goodwill was impaired in the period with an impairment
charge of £4.4m (FY21: £3.1m) being recognised where
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the discounted present value of future cash flows did not
support the full value of the asset.

Value in use calculations are based on five-year
management forecasts with a terminal growth rate
applied thereafter, representing management's estimate
of the long-term growth rate of the sector served by

the CGUs.

Total impairments of £5.7m (FY21: £8.1m) have been
recognised in relation to goodwill on loss making
companies and are individually immaterial to each CGU
that has been written down. These impairments include
an element of the Wholesale & Licensing goodwill

and the goodwill from acquisitions in the period. The
impairment of goodwill from acquisitions in the period of
£1.3m has been recognised in Exceptional Items,

see note 6,

The Everlast brand is amortised over a 15 year period
within the selling, distribution and administrative
expenses category within the income statement. The
amount charged to the income statement in the period
is £6.0m (FY21: £5.5m), the future ameortisation charge is
expected to be approximately £6.0m per annum for the
remaining 12 year amortisation period (FY21: 13 year).

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to each CGU, in the cash flow projections used to support the

carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

As ot Wholesale & Licensing

24 April 2022 {excl. Everlast) Everlast
Terminal sales growth 20% 20%

5 year forecast growth™ {4.4%) (0.6%)

Discount rate 7.5% 13.5%

As at Wholesale & Licensing

25 April 2021 European Retall (excl. Everlast) Everlast
Terrninal sales growth 20% 2.0% 20%
& year forecast growth™ (3.5%} (5.3%) {1.6%)
Gross margin 30% - 40% - -
Discount rate 6.3% 6.3% 121%

v The 5 year growth rates ore bosed on the average growth over & years

Historically the same pre-tax discount rate was used in European Retail and Wholesale & Licensing (excl. Everlast) as
these CGU's were considered to have similar risk profiles. A specific discount rate is used for Everlast as this business
operates in a different market and has different characteristics.

The key assumptions are based on market data and management’s historical experience and future plans for

each CGU.
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Sensitivity Analysis

A reasonably possible change in any key assurmnption would not cause the carrying value of the Everlast or Wholesale
& Licensing (excluding Everlast) CGU to exceed its recoverable amount, the table below shows the amount of
headroom and the revised assumption required in order to eliminate the headroom in full.

Wholescle &

Licensing
{excl. Everiast) Evetiast
Recoverabie amount of CGU {E'm) 998 128.3
Current headroom: (£'m) 899 137
Revised 5-year forecast growth rate % {6.0%) 0.1%
Revised terminal growth rate % < [1000%) (0.1%)
Revised discount rate % §5.0% 149%

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS

The Group uses the equity method of accounting for associates and joint ventures in accordance with IAS 28. The
following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's investment in associates and joint ventures:

Associates
(£'m}
At 25 April 2021 and 24 April 2022 .

The Group currently holds a 49.0% share of Four (Holdings) Limited (FY21: 49.0%), the carrying amount of this
investment is £nil {(FY21: £nil). Detailed disclosures have not been presented as the results are immaterial. The Group
is owed £62.4m from the group of companies headed by Four (Holdings) Limited {£24.0m net of amounts recognised
in respect of loss allowance) (FY21: £64.9m, £26.5m net of loss allowance), see note 23 for further detoils. The group of
companies headed by Four (Holdings) Limited made a profit of £11.5m in the period (FY21: profit of £8.1m).

21. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group is not looking te make gains through increases in market prices of its long-term financial assets, therefore
on initial application of IFRS 9 the Group made the irrevocable election to account for long term financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The election has been made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, only qualifying dividend income is recognised in profit and loss, changes in fair value are recognised within OCI
and never reclassified to profit and loss, even if the asset is impoired, sold or otherwise derecognised. The mgjority of
long-term financial assets are recognised in the UK Sports segment.

The fair value of the long-term financial assets is based on bid quoted market prices at the balance sheet date or
where market prices are not available, at management's estimate of fair value.

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's financial assets during the period:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {£m)

At beginning of period 2633 838
Additions 198.4 113.3
Disposals {238.4} (7.0}
Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income 81) 773
Exchonge differences (8.6} (41
206.6 2633

included within fong-term financial assets at the period ended 24 April 2022 are the foliowing direct interests held by
the Group:

+  369% (FY21. 36.8%)] interest in Mulberry Group pic
. 28.9% (FY21: 35.6%)} interest in Studio Retail Group plc
. 2.2% (FY21: 5.1%) interest in Hugo Boss AG

*  Various other interests, none of which represent more than 5.0% of the voting power of the investee
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The following table shows the fair value of each of the Group's long-term financial assets {all listed):

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em)

Mulberry Group ple 65.3 52.0
Studio Retail Group ple - 897
Hugo Boss AG 68.4 18.7
Other 729 29
At end of pericd 206.6 2633

These holdings have been assessed under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and categorised as long-term financial assets,
as the Group does not consider them to be associates and therefore, they are not accounted for on an equity basis,
see hote 2,

Our strategic investments are intended to allow us to develop relationships and commercial partnerships with the
relevant retailers and assist in building relationships with key suppliers and brands.

22. INVENTORIES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em} {Em}
Goods for resale 12776 10966

As at 24 April 2022, goods for resale include a right of return asset totalling £3.2m (FY21: £4.5m). Amounts written off in
the period relating to stock was £59.8m (FY21: £24.3m).

The following inventory costs have been recognised in cost of sales:

52 weeks ended 52 waeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) {Em)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 27033 20945

The Directors have reviewed the opening and closing provisions against inventory and have concluded that these are
fairly stated. The Group has reviewed its estimates and assumptions for calculating inventory provisions at 24 April
2022. Overgll provisions have increased from £219.8m in FY21 to £236.7m as at 24 April 2022, with this £16.9m change in
provision being recognised as a charge in cost of sales.

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em} (Emn}

Gross credit customer receivables 3727 -
Allowance for expected credit loss on credit customer receivables (138.5} -
Net cradit customer receivables 234.2 -
Trade receivables 56.4 57.2
Deposits in respect of derivative financiat instruments 2439 1310
Amounts owed by related parties (see note 35) 24.2 26.8
Other receivables 170.2 2469
Prepaymentsy nzs 846
8414 546.5

Following the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited (see note 32), credit customer receivables now make up a significant
element of trade and other receivables. Further disclosure with regards to the credit customer receivables and the
associated allowance for expected credit loss can be found at the end of this note.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of asset above, plus any cash
balances. Other receivables also include unremitted sales receipts.
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Deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments are collateral to cover margin requirements for derivative
transactions held with counterparties. The collateral requirement changes with the market {which is dependent
on share price, interest rates and volatility) and further purchases / sales of underlying investments held.

Included within other receivables is the reimbursement asset totalling £88.3m (FY21: £118.3m} in relation to the Group's
ongoing non-UK tax enquiries, for further information see note 29.

The majority of the Group's trade receivables are held within the Wholesale & Licensing businesses, each customer's
creditworthiness is assessed before payment terms are agreed.

Under IFRS 9, the Group has applied the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses for trade
receivables, using the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on credit risk characteristics, representing management's view of the
risk, and the days past due. The credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired is considered to be good. The
Group considers a debt to be defaulted at the point when no further amounts are expected to be recovered. Financial
assets are written off when there is no reascnable expectation of recovery. If recoveries are subsequently made after
receivables have been written off, they are recognised in profit or loss.

The amounts owed by related parties mostly relates to the group headed by Four (Holdings) Limited, for further details
see note 35.

Exposure to credit risk of trade receivables:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em})

Current, 242 318
C-30 days past due 14.2 120
30-60 days post due 46 4.0
60-90 days past due a0 24
Owver 90 days past due 104 7.0
564 572

The credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired is considered to be good.

The movement in loss allowance relating to trade receivables and amounts owed by related parties can be analysed
as follows:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em} {Em)

Opening position 683 462
Amounts charged to the income statement 6.6 223
Amounts written off as uncollectable - {01}
Amounts recovered during the period - [{sR)]
Closing position 749 68.3

Included in the below table is the loss allowance movement in amounts due from related parties as follows:

52 waaks ended 52 waeks snded

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em)

Opening position 384 3338
Amounts charged to the income staterment - 46
Closing position 384 384

The gross carrying amount of the balance due is £62.6m (FY21: £65.2m). The charge in the prior period was recorded in
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses. £17.6m of the gross amounts due from related parties balance is due
in less than one year with the remaining being due in more than a one year (FY21: £12.4m due less than one year).

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of customers. The
loss allowance / charges have been determined by reference to past default experience, current / forecasted trading
performance and future economic conditions.

Deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments and prepayments are not considered to be impaired.



Credit Customer Receivables

Certain of the Studio's trade receivables are funded
through a securitisation facility that is secured against
those receivables. The finance provider will seek
repayment of the finance, as to both principal and
interest, only to the extent that collections from the trade
receivables finonced allows and the benefit of additional
collections remains with the Group. At the period end,
receivables of £287.2m were eligible to be funded via the
securitisation facility, and the facilities utilised

were £143.6m.

Other information

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 219
days. On average, interest is charged at 3.5% per month
on the outstanding balance.

Studio will undertake a reasonable assessment of the
creditworthiness of a customer before opening a new
credit account or significantly increasing the credit
limit on that credit account. Studio will only offer credit
limit increases for those customers that can reasonably
be expected to be able to offord and sustain the
increased repayments in line with the affordability and

Allowance for expected credit loss
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creditworthiness assessment. There are no custormers
who represent more than 1% of the total balance of the
Group's trade receivables,

Where appropriate, the Group will offer forbearance
to allow customers reasonable time to repay the debt.
Studio will ensure that the forbearance option deployed
is suitable in light of the customer’s circumstances
{paying due regard to current and future personal and
financial circumstances). Where repayment plans are
agreed, Studio will ensure that these are affordable to
the customer and that unreasonable or unsustainable
amounts are not requested. At the balance sheet date
there were 24,711 accounts (acquisition date: 23,396)
with total gross balances of £16.2m (acquisition date:
£15.1m) on repayment plans. Provisions are assessed as
detailed above.

During the current pericd, overdue receivables with

a gross value of £5.3m were sold to third party debt
collection agencies. As a result of the sales, the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these
assets were transferred to the purchasers. Any gain or
loss between actual recovery and expected recovery is
reflected within the impoirment charge.

The following tables provide information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables from

individual custormers as at 24 April 2022

24 April 2022 24 Februory 2022
Trade receivables Trade receivables
oh forbearance on forbearance
Trade receivables arrongemaents Total Trade receivables arrangements Total
[£'m) {£'m} (E'm) {E'm} (E'm) {E'm)
Ageing of trade receivables
Not past due 2721 143 286.4 2984 13.6 3120
Past due:
0-60days 367 18 385 368 1.5 333
60-120 days 200 01 201 149 - k%)
120+ days ' 277 - 277 78 - 78
Gross trade receivables 356.5 16.2 327 3679 151 383.0
:rllez\;clg:: for expected 127.3) {(12) (138.5) {118.5) {10.5} (129.0)
Carrying value . 2292 50 2342 2494 4.6 254.0
24 February 2022 to 24 April 2022
Stoge 1 Stoge 2 Stoge 3 Total
{E'm) (E'm) (E'm}) (E'm}
Gross trade receivables 248.6 599 64.2 g
Allowance for doubtful debts:
Acquisition balance (611) (25.7) (42.2) (129.0)
Impaimnent charge 06 - (14.8) (14.2)
Utilisation in period 01 - 46 47
Closing balance (60.4) (25.7) (52.4) (138.5)
Carrying value 188.2 34.2 1ns 2342

Analysis of impairment charge:
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24 February 2022 to 24 April 2022

(E'm)
Impairment charge impacting on provision (14.2)
Recoveries 11
Other 0.2)
Impairment charge (12.3}

Sensitivity analysis

Management judgement is required in setting assumptions around probabilities of default, cash recoveries and the
weighting of macro-economic scenarios applied to the impairment model, which have a material impact on the
results indicated by the model.

A 1% increose/decrease in the probability of defoult would increase/decrease the provision amount by
approximately £2.2m.

A 1% increase/decrease in the assumed recoveries rate would result in the impairment provision decreasing/increasing
by approximately £1.1m.

Changing the weighting of macro-economic scenarios so that the base-case scenario's weighting is halved to 30%
(with upside increasing to 30% and both downside and severe increasing to 20%) would result in the impairment
provision reducing by approximately £1.7m.

These sensitivities reflect management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes to key assumptions which could
result in a material adjustment to the level of provision within the next financial year.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em} {Em)
Cash in bank and in hand - Sterling 1354 1441
Cash in bank and in hand - US dollars {4.7) 974
Cash in bank and in hand - Euros 1764 192.5
Cash in bank ond in hand - Other 257 230
Cash ond cash equivalents including overdrafts at period end 3368 457.0
25. SHARE CAPITAL
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) (Em)
AUTHORISED
999,500,010 ordinary shares of 10p each 100.0 100.0
ALLOTTED, CALLED UP AND FULLY PAID
640,602,369 (2021 640,602,369) ordinary shares of 10p each 641 64.1
SHARE CAPITAL
At 24 April 2022 and At 25 April 2021 641 641

The Group holds 151,240,174 shores in Treasury as at period end (FY21: 121,260,175).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends os declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per ordinary share at general meetings of the Company.

We are aware of unsponsored American Depository Receipt {ADR) programmes established from time to time in
respect of our shares, We have not sponsored or authorised their creation and any gquestions should be directed to the
relevant depositary.

Frasers has not and does not intend to offer or sell its Ordinary Shares or other securities (in the form of ADR or
otherwise} to the general public in the United States nor has it listed or intends to list its Ordinary Shares or other
securities on any national securities exchange in the United States or to encourage the trading of its Ordinary Shares
on any over the counter market located in the United States. Frasers does nat make arrangements to permit the




vating of Ordinary Shares held in the form of ADRs

and its publication of periodic financial and other
information is not intended to facilitate the operation of
any unsponsored ADR programme under Rule 12g3-2(b)
of U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

or otherwise.

Contingent Share Awards
Share Schemes

The 2011 Share Scheme was a four year scheme

based upcn achieving underlying EBITDA (before the
costs of the scheme) of £215m in FY12, £250m in FY13,
£260m in FY14 and £300m in FY15 coupled with the
individual participating employee’s satisfactory personal
performance and continued employment. All of the
above targets were met meaning that approx. 11.6m
shares vested in September 2017 and approx. 4m shares
vested in September 2015.

Between 26 April 2021 and 24 April 2022, 24,361 shares
sold by porticipants following exercise of awards under
the Group 2011 Share Scheme were acquired by Estera
Trust [Jersey) Limited, as Trustee of the Sports Direct
Employee Benefit Trust (Trustee), with the acquisition
being funded by a loan advanced by the Company

of £0.2m. The shares were acquired ot prices of
between 603.5 and 683.5 pence per share in off-market
transactions. The weighted average purchase price was
658 pence per share (FY21: 365 pence per share).

The Group holds 17,386,913 shares in the Own Share
Reserve as at period end (FY21: 17,386,913).

Fearless 1000 Bonus Scheme
FY21scheme launch

At the annual general meeting in October 2020, our
shareholders gave approval for the Fearless 1000 bonus
scheme. Under this scheme shares may be issued by the
Group to employees for no cash consideration. All Group
employees (excluding Executive Directors, their farmily
associates, and the Head of Commercial) are eligible to
participate in the scheme. Under the scheme, 10 million
shares are gwarded to eligible employees if certain
market conditions are achieved. This would equate to
£100m worth of fully paid ordinary shares in Frasers
Group Plc that could be paid to eligible employees if our

share price reaches £10 any time over the next four years.

The share price must stay above £10 for 30 consecutive
trading days to trigger the vesting of shares at the end
of the four year vesting period. 50% of the shares are
granted after 4 years and the remaining 50% after 5
years. One thousand eligible employees will receive the
shares with a potential value ranging from £50k to £1m if
the share price is at £10 at the vesting dates. In all other
respects the shares rank equally with other fully paid
ordinary shares on issue.
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The share element of the scheme is deemed to be an
equity-settled scheme os defined by IFRS 2 Share-based
payment. In line with the accounting policy in note 1,
the fair value at the date of grant is expensed to the
Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, with the corresponding credit
going to equity.

The assessed fair value at grant date of the shares
granted during the period ended 25 April 2021 was
165.69p per share for the 4 year vesting period and
165.95p per share for the 5 year vesting period. The

fair value at grant date is independently determined
using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model
which includes a Monte Corlo simulation model thot
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the
option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the
underlying share, the expected dividend vield, and the
risk-free interest rate for the term of the scheme. The
model inputs for shares grented during the period ended
25 April 2021 included:

- exercise price; £nil

«  grant date: 10 February 2021, being the date the
Deed of Grant was executed

«  expiry date: 7 October 2024 and 7 October 2025
«  share price ot grant date: 450p

«  expected price volatility of the Company’s
shares: 38.8%

«  expected dividend yield: 0%
. risk-free interest rate: 0.1%

The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the remaining life of the scheme),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
due to publicly available information.

A charge in the Consolidated Income Statement of
£0.8m was recognised in the FY21 period in relation to
the equity-settled element of the scheme resulting in
£0.8m being held in equity.

The scheme also has a cash-settled benus for all other
eligible employees who do not qualify for the Fearless
1000 share scheme. The cash bonus at the end of the
4 year period is based on the employee tenure and
has been accounted as an other long-term employee
benefit as defined by IAS 19 Employee Benefits. A
charge in the Consolidated Income Statement of
£0.5m was recognised in the FY21 period along with a
corresponding liability.

FY22 update

At the annual general meeting in October 2021, our
shareholders gave approval for an extension to the
performance pericd for the Fearless 1000 plan up
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to five years. This is seen to benefit participants as it
provides an additicnal period to achieve the £10 share
price target given that the difficulties associated with
the Covid-19 pandemic have impacted the business in
the first year of the plan. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee can now allow all awards to vest early if o
£15 share price target is achieved.

As per IFRS 2 Share-based payments, the original fair
value charge for the equity-settied scheme will continue
to be taken over the original peried. In addition, an
incremental charge is being taken that represents the
additional value provided to participants by making
these amendments and this additional charge is being
taken over the new modified period.

The total assessed fair value of the amendment at grant
date is £1.1m which is being recognised over the 4 and 5
year vesting periods.

A charge in the Consoclidated Income Statement of
£0.15m has been recognised in the period in relation
to the modification with an equivalent £0.15m being
recoghised in equity.

For the equity-settled element of the FY21 Fearless 1000
plan, a charge in the Consolidated Income Statement
of £4.1m has been recognised in the period Iin relation to
the scheme with an equivalent £4.1m being recognised
in equity.

For the cash-settied element of the FY21 Fearless 1000
plan, a charge to the Consolidated Income Staterment
of £2.4m has been recognised in the period along with a
corresponding increase in liability.

Executive Share Scheme

At the annual general meeting in October 2021, our
shareholders gave approval for the Executive Share
Scheme. Under this scheme shares may be issued by
the Group to Chris Wootton (CFO), Sean Nevitt (Chief
Commercial Officer) and David Al-Mudadallal ({COQ) for
no cash consideration, Under the scheme, 600,000 \
shares per person are awarded to the individuals if
certain market conditions are achieved. The share price
must stay above £12 for 30 consecutive trading days to
trigger the vesting of shares at the end of the four year
vesting period, or the Remuneration Committee can
now allow all awards to vest early if a £15 share price
target is achieved. 50% of the shares are granted after
4 years and the rernaining 50% after 5 years. In all other
respects the shares rank equally with other fully paid
ordinary shares on issue.

The scheme is deemed to be an equity-settled scheme
as defined by IFRS 2 Share-based payment. In line with
the accounting policy in note 1, the fair value at the
date of grant is expensed to the Consolidated Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with the corresponding credit going to equity.

The assessed fair value at grant date of the shares

granted during the period ended 24 April 2022 was

364.22p per share for the 4 year vesting period and

368.44p per share for the 5 year vesting period. The ‘
fair value at grant date is independently determined

using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model

which includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that

takes into account the exercise price, the term of the

option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share

price at grant date and expected price volatility of the

underlying share, the expected dividend vield, and the

risk-free interest rate for the term of the scheme. The

model inputs for shares granted during the period ended ;
24 April 2022 included:

+  exercise price: £nil

»  grant date; 14 October 2021

+  expiry date: 7 October 2025 and 7 October 2026
»  share price at grant date: 632p

. expected price volatility of the Company's
shares; 39.85%

- expected dividend yield: 0%
. risk-free interest rate: 0.54%
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The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the scheme), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

A charge in the Consolidated Income Statement of £0.8m has been recognised in the period in relation to the scheme

with an equivalent £0.8m being recognised in equity.

26. OTHER RESERVES

Pesrmanent Capital Reverse

contribution redemption combination Hedging Total other

to capital reserve resarve reserve reserves

{E'm) {E'm) (E'm) {E'm} {£€'m)

At 27 April 2020 01 8.0 (987.3) 280 (951.2}
Cash flow hedges

- recognised in the period - - - 04 04

-tr::I:asls;:‘led in the period and reported in _ _ ~ 2.8) 2.8)

- reclassified and reported in cost of sales - - - (171 (71)

- taxation - - - 30 3.0

At 25 April 2021 01 8o {987.3) ns (967.7)
Cash flow hedges

- recognised in the period - - - 521 521

- reclassified and reported in cost of sales - - - 75 1.5

- taxation - - - {15.8} (15.8)

At 24 April 2022 01 8.0 {987.3) 553 {923.9)

The permanent contribution to capital relates to a cash
payment of £50,000 to the Company on 8 February
2007 under a deed of capital contribution.

The capital redemption reserve arose on the redemption
of the Company’s redeemable preference shares of 10p
each ot por on 2 March 2007.

The reverse acquisition reserve exists as o result of

the adoption of the principles of reverse acquisition
accounting in accounting for the Group restructuring
which occurred on 2 March 2007 and 29 March 2007
between the Company and Sports World International
Limited, Brands Holdings Limited, International Brand
Management Limited and CDS Holdings SA with Sports
World International Limited as the acquirer.

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount
of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised

in the income statement only when the hedged
transaction impacts the income statement.

Other Balance Sheet Reserves

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arising from the translation of

the Financial Statements of foreign subsidiaries and
associates.

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in
Frasers Group Plc purchased in the market and held by
Frasers Group Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy options
under the Group's share options scheme. The treasury

reserve represents shares held by the Group in treasury.

The Group holds 17,386,913 shares in the Employee
Benefit Trust as at period end (FY21; 17,386,913).

The non-controlling interests of the Group mostly
relates to Sportland International Group AS and its
subsidiaries. This company is incorporated in Estonia
with the principal places of business being a number of
Baltic countries in Europe. The non-controlling interests
hold 40% of the share capital of Sportland International
Group AS. During the period £5.6m profit (FY21: £3.0m)
has been allocated to the non-controlling interests

of Sportland International Group AS, resulting in an
accumulated non-controlling interests at the end of the
period of £18.0m (FY21: £12.4m). A dividend of £1.3m was
paid to the non-controlling interest in the period (FY21:
£0.9m). The group of companies headed by Sportland
International Group AS has total assets of £68.6m {FY21:
£67.8m) and total liabilities of £23.4m (FY21: £14.6m)}.
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27. BORROWINGS

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em] (Em}

Current:
Lease liabilities 117.0 188.5
Non-Current 29.7 230
Bank and other loans 8279 7059
Lease liobilities 503.6 5342
14485 14286

An analysis of the Group's total borrowings other than bank overdrafts is as follows:

24 April 2022 25 Aprii 2021
{Em) {£m)
Borrowings - sterling 8279 7059

Group borrowings {excluding Studio Retail Limited) are at a rate of interest of 2.0% (FY21: 1.3%) over the interbank
rate of the country within which the borrowing entity resides. As part of the Studio Retail Limited acquisition, a
securitisation loan was acquired which had a balance at 24 April 2022 of £143.6m. The average interest rate paid on
the securitisation loan was 3.23%.

Reconciliation Of Liabilities Arising From Financing Activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows:

Non-current Curment

borrowings borrowings Total

{Em) {Erm) {Em)

At 26 April 2020 1,376.2 1479 15241

Cash-flows:

- Borrowings drawn down 11281 - 11281

- Borrowings repaid {1,323.6) - (1,323.6)

- Borrowings acquired through business combinations 14 - 1.4

L -

Lease liabifity:

- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - cash-flows - {78.0) (78.0)

- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - modifications/remeasurements, transfers from non-current £0.3) %81 578

to current, and foreign exchange adjustments (40, . )

- IFRS 16 Lease Liobilities - new leases 98.3 20.5 18.8
-~ -~ "]
At 25 April 2021 1,240 188.5 14286
[ == = - ]

Cash-flows:
- Borrowings drown down 1,374.4 - 1.374.4
- Borrowings repaid (1484.4) - {1484.4)
- Borrowings acquired through business combinations [note 32) 2320 - 2320
L L R R e = e e e
Lease liability:
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - cash-flows - {176.2) {176.2)

- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - modifications/remeasurements, tronsfers from non-current

to current, and foreign exchange adjustments (136.7) 11 (45.6)
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - new leases 901 14 105
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - acquired through business combinations {note 32) 16.0 22 18.2

At 24 April 2022 13315 70 14485
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On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing borrowings and entered into a combined term lean and
revolving credit facility of £930.0m for a period of 3 years, with the possibility to extend this by a further 2 years. This
facility increased to £940.0m as at 24 April 2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end. Given the revolving

credit facility is available for a minimum of 3 years and the limited restriction of lending under the facility, the balance
is classified as hon-current on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Group continues to operate comfortably within its banking facilities and covenants and the Board remains

comfortable with the Group's available headroom. The carrying amounts and fair value of the borrowings are not
materially different.

Reconciliation of Net Debt:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em)

Borrowings (1448.5) (1428.6)
Add back:

- { ease liabilities 620.6 727
Cash and cash equivalents 336.8 457.0
Net debt {451.1) (248.9}

28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accounts
depreciation Bonus Forward Falr valus Retirement Cther
exceeding tax Tax losses share currency adjustments benefit temporary
IFRS16  depreciation recoverable  scheme contracts tointangibles obligations differences Total
{E'm) {£'m}) {E'm) {£'m} {£'m) {£'m) (E'm) {£'m) (E'm)
At 26 April 2020 28.5 19.6 - - (80) (17.5) - 18 24.3
Credited/{charged) to the
income staternent 146 A - ) 20 0 i 7.4) 103
Charged to reserves - - - {0.3) - 2.5 - - 2.2
Credited to hedging reserves - - - - 30 - - - 3.0
At 25 April 2021 431 237 - {0.3) {7.0) (14) - (5.6) 39.8
Acquired through business
combinations {see hote 32) ) 82 226 - i 0y 6.8) 32 264
Credited/(charged) to the
income staternent 1045 {12.6) - 25 - 15 (0.5) 08 1.8
Charged to reserves - - - 35 - 1.7} 67 - B.5
Credited to hedging reserves - - - - {15.8) - - - (15.8)
At 24 April 2022 53.2 19.3 26 537 (22.8) {15.4) {0.6) (1.6) 60.4
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em) {Em}
Deferred tax assets 100.8 656.8
Deferred tax liabilities {40.4) {27.0)
Net deferred tax balance 60.4 398

The tax rates used to measure the deferred tax assets and liabilities was 25% (FY21: 199%), on the basis that this was the
tax rate that was substantively enacted at the balance sheet dote.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable on the basis
of the Group's current expectations of future taxable profits. The Group has approx. £122m of taxable losses not
recognised as & deferred tax asset (approx. £30m deferred tax asset).
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29. PROVISIONS

Legal and Property Financial
reguiatory related services related Other Total
(Em) {Em) (£m) {Em} (Em)
At 26 April 2020 2254 107.9 - 2.7 336.0
Amounts provided 73 415 - - 48.8
Amounts utilised / reversed (16.9) (5.3} - 1.4) (23.6)
At 25 April 2021 2158 1441 - 1.3 361.2
mu:;; glzr,ough business combinations 7 27 424 B 522
Amounts provided 7 537 - - 4
Amounts utilised / reversed (10.4) (39.3) {0.8) 1.3) [51.8}
At 24 April 2022 230.2 161.2 416 - 433.0

Legal and regulatory provisions relate to management's
best estimate of the potential impact of claims including
legal, commercial, regulatory and ongoing non-UK tax
enquiries. The timing of the outcome of non-UK tax
inquiries and legal cloims made against the Group is
dependent on factors outside the Group's control and
therefore the timing of settlement is uncertain. After
taking appropriate legal advice, the cutcomes of these
claims are not expected to give rise to material loss

in excess of the omounts provided. Included within
Legal and regulatory provisions, are amounts relating
to Studio Retail Limited's ongoing discussions with
HMRC with regard to agreeing a new Partial Exemption
Special Method {the means by which the recovery of
input VAT on costs relating to the company’s financial
setvices activities is restricted). As at 24 April 2022, the
company held a provision of £6.9m which represents
management’s best estimate of the likely increase in
the level of restriction on the recovery of input VAT over
and above that which has already been restricted in
the company's quarterly VAT returns. We note that
management’s best estimate is one of a number of
different outcomes so the amounts provided may differ
to the final costs incurred by the company in respect of
this matter.

A reimbursement asset of £88.3m [FY21: £118.3m) has
been recognised separately within debtors relating to
ongoing non-UK tax enquiries.

Included within property related provisions are
provisions for dilapidations in respect of the Group's
retail stores and warehouses. Further details of
managements estimates are included in note 2.

Other provisions relate to provisions for restructuring and
employment {non-retirement related).

Included above is a provision of £41.6m for probable
outflows in respect of the financial services business.

As a requlated business, Studio Retail Limited has an
obligation to proactively review its business to ensure
that appropriate outcomes were delivered to customers.

Based on work undertaken as at the balance sheet date
it is considered likely that some level of remediation will
be required to fully satisfy this obligation.

The provision recognises the inherent uncertainties in
any such remediation including the number of customers
who might have been impacted, the proportion of those
who were adversely affected by the legacy decisions,
the possible remediation payabie, and overlays these
uncertainties with a risk-based consideration of the
proportion of the population identified above that
suffered adverse outcomes, and the period over which
such adverse outcornes may have been suffered.
Assumptions have been overlaid in respect of the timing
and mechanism for undertaking any remediation.

At this stage a detailed analysis of the relevant customer
cohorts has not yet been completed and as such

there are a range of outcomes which could result in a
settlement which is significantly lower or higher than the
amount estimated. This variation could be significant
and therefore highly material for a user of these
accounts. This range of outcomes is expected to narrow
as the work to substantiate each of the uncertainties set
out above is completed. It is anticipated this work will be
completed within the 12 month fair value measurement
period in line with IFRS3,

The timing of any potential outflows is also uncertain, but
we have assumed that these take place within two years.

The recognition of a provision by the Group is not an
admission of liability for the payment of this amount,
but rather to comply with the Directors’ obligations to
prepare financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the performance and financial position of the
Group in accordance with IFRS.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A. Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category and Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities, which are principally denominated in Sterling or US Dollars,
were as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Other Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS - 24 April 2022 (E'm) {E'm) (E'm) (£'m} (E'm)
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables® - - - 704.7 704.7
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 3368 336.8
Amounts owed by related parties - - - 24.2 24.2
mw
Long Term Financial Assets (Equity Instruments) - designated 206.6 - - - 206.6

Derivative financial ossets (FV):
Foreign forward purchase and sales contracts, and interest rate swaps - 16.5 - - 116.5

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 24 April 2022

Amortised cost:
Non-current borrowings - - - (827.5) (827.9}
Trade and other payables** - - - 721.1 {71.7)
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities - - - {620.6) {620.6)
L~ - - "~ "]
Derivative financial liabilities (FV):
Foreign forward and written options purchase and sales contracts - Unhedged - (31.3) - - (31.3)
Derivative financial ligbilities - contracts for difference & equity options - 75.9) - - {75.9)
- (107.2) - - {107.2)
‘Prepayments of £112 5m are not included as a financal asset
**Other taxes ineluding social security costs of £81m are not included as o financal hobility
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Other Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS - 25 April 2021 (E'm) (E'm} (£'m) (E'm) (E'm)
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables* - - - 4351 4351
Cash and cash equivalents - - = 4570 457.0
Amounts owed by related parties - - - 26.8 26.8
e e - - - _____________ " - _______________— ]
FVOCL:
Long Term Finoncicl Assets (Equity Instruments) - designated 2633 - - - 263.3
[ TR AR RREROARRRE R AL mememeewees s - —— "~ ]
Derivative financiol assets (FV):
Foreign forward purchase end sales controcts - 35.3 - - 35.3
Derivative financial assets - contracts for difference & equity options - 201 - - 20.1

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 25 April 2021

Amortised cost:

Non-current borrowings - - - (705.9) {705.9)
Trade and other payables** - - - {620.1) {620.1)
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities - - - (722.7) (722.7)

Derivative financiol liabilities (FV):

Foreign forward and written options purchase and sales contracts - Unhedged - (17.5) - - (17.5)
Derivative financiol liabilities - contracts for difference & equity options - (1.7) - - {1.7)
- (19.2) - - (19.2}

‘Prepayments o' £84.6m are net included as a fnancior osset

TtOtner taxes mcluding sacial secunty costs of £26.2m are nat included as o finanaicl haoilits
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B. Financial Assets and Liabilities Sensitivities by Currency

The Group's principal foreign currency exposures are to US Dollars and Eurcs. The table below illustrates the
hypothetical sensitivity of the Group's reported profit and equity to a 5% increase and decrease in the US Dollar /
Sterling and Eurc / Sterling exchange rates at the year-end date, assuming aff other variables remain unchanged.
The figures have been calculated by comparing the fair values of outstanding foreign currency contracts, assets and
ligbilities at the current exchange rate to those if exchange rates moved os illustroted. The income statement figures
include the profit effect of any relevant derivatives which are not in a designated cash flow hedge. The impact on US

Dollar and Euro related hedging instruments is included in equity.

The analysis has been prepared using the following assumptions:

1. Existing assets and liabilities are held as at the period end; and

2. No additional hedge contracts are taken out.

SENSITIVITY
usp EUR

GBP & Other usD EUR Total -5% +5% -5% +5%
FY22:
Trode and Other Receivables 648.6 245 316 104.7 (1.2) 1.2 {1.6) 16
Cash and cash equivalents 243.2 19.2 74.4 336.8 (1.0 1.0 {3.7) 37
Trade and Cther Payobles (6140) (15.0) [92.7) .7 0.8 so.a) 4.6 (a5}
FY21:
Trode and Other Receivables 3701 252 398 4351 (1.3} 13 (2.0 20
Cash and cash equivalents 3534 494 54.2 451.0 szS) 25 {21 2.7
Trade and Other Payables {489.0) (24.5) (106.8} {620.1 1.2 ) 53 {5.3}

There is no difference between fair value and carrying value of the above financial instruments (FY21: £nil).

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

+  Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.

Contracts for difference are classified as Level 2 as the
fair value is calculated using quoted prices for listed
shares and commodities at contract inception and the
period end.

Foreign forward purchase and sales controcts and
options are classified as Level 2, the Group enters into
these derivative financial instruments with varicus
counterparties, principally finoncial institutions with
investment grade credit ratings. Foreign exchange
forward contracts and options are valued using
valuation techniques, which employ the use of market
observable inputs. The most frequently applied
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap
models using present value calculations.

The models incorporate various inputs including the
credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot
and forward rates, and yield curves of the respective
currencies.

Long-term financial assets such as equity instruments
are classified as Level 1 as the fair value is calculated
using quoted prices.

The fair value of equity derivative agreements are
included within the derivative financial assets balance
of £nil {FY21: £20.1m} and derivative financial liabilities
balance of £75.9m {FY21: £1.7m). The derivative financial
assets and derivative financial liabilities as at 24 April
2022 relate to strategic investments held of between
0.8% and 22.4% of investee share capital.

Sold options are classified as Level 2 as the fair value
is calculated using other techniques, where inputs are
observable.

Trade receivables / payables, amounts owed from
related parties, other receivables / payables, cash and
cash equivalents, current / non-current borrowings, and
lease liabilities are held ot amortised cost.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as ot 24 April 2022
and at 25 April 2021 is the carrying value of each class
of asset in the Balance Sheet, except for amounts owed
from related parties which is the gross carrying amount
of £62.6m (FY21: £65.2m).



C. Derivatives: Foreign Currency Forward Contracts
{<)(i) Hedging

The most significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations relates to purchases made in foreign
currencies, principally the US Dollar and online sales in
Euros. The Group's policy is to reduce substantially the
risk associated with foreign currency spot rates by using
forward fixed rate currency purchase contracts, taking
into account any foreign currency cash flows. The Group
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes, however if derivatives, including
both forwards and written options, do not qualify for
hedge accounting they ore accounted for as such and
accordingly any gain or loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement. Management are of the view
that there is a substantive distinct business purpose for
entering into the options and a strategy for managing
the options independently of the forward contracts. The
forward and options contracts are therefore not viewed
as one contract and hedge accounting for the forwards
is permitted.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at inception of

the hedge relationship and at every reporting period
end through the assessment of the hedged items and
hedging instrument to determine whether there is still an
economic relationship between the two.

The critical terms of the foreign currency forwards
entered into exactly match the terms of the hedged
item. As such the economic relationship and hedge
effectiveness are based on the qualitative factors and
the use of a hypothetical derivative where appropriate.
Hedge ineffectiveness may arise where the critical terms

The fair value of hedged contracts as at 24 April 2022 was:
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of the forecast transaction no longer meet those of the
hedging instrument, for example, if there was a change
in the timing of the forecast sales transactions from
what was initially estimated or if the volume of currency
in the hedged item was below expectations leading

to over-hedging. Differences can arise when the initial
value on the Hedging instrument is not zero.

The hedged items and the hedging instrument are
denominated in the same currency and as a result the
hedging ratio is always one to che,

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge
accounting are recognised initiolly ot fair value and
reported subsequently at fair value in the statement

of financial position. To the extent that the hedge

is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow
hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income
and included within the cash flow hedge reserve in
equity. Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss,

any gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity

to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income. If a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any
related gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the
hedging relationship ceases to meet the effectiveness
conditions then hedge accounting is discontinued and
the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve until
the forecast transaction occurs.

24 April 2022 25 April 2024
(Em} (Em)
Assats
US Dollar purchases - GBP 329 24
US Dollor purchases - EUR 54.2 23
Euro sales 128 30.6
Total 999 35.3
Liabilities
US Dollar purchases - GBP - 7.3

US Dollar purchases - EUR

Total
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The details of hedged forward foreign currency purchase contracts and contracted forward rates were as follows:

24 April 2022 25 April 201
{E'm) (E'm)
Currency GBP Currency GBP
US Dollar purchases 480.0 340.4 720.0 5231
Contracted rates USD / GBP 141 1.36-141
Weighted average contracted rates USD / GBP 14 138
US Dollar purchases 120.0 78.6 1200 B39
Contracted rates USD / EUR 1.26-1.31 121-13
Weighted averoge contracted rotes USD / EUR 128 126
Euro sales {600.0) (574.5) (240.0) (242.4)
Contracted rates EUR / GBP 0.9%-1.08 0.99
Weighted average contracted rates EUR / GBP 104 099
The timing of the contraocts is as follows:
Currency Hedging ugainst Currency value Timing Rates
UsD/GBP USD inventory purchases USD 480m FY23 141
USD/EUR USD inventory purchases USD 120m FY23 - FY24 126-1.31
EUR/GBP Euro sales EUR 600m FY23, FY25 0.99-1.08

The foreign currency forwards and options are denominated in the same currency as the highly probably future
inventory purchases and sales so the hedged ratio is ¥:1. Hedge ineffectiveness may arise where the critical terms of
the forecast transaction no longer meet those of the hedging instrument, for example if there was a change in the
timing of the forecast sales transactions from what was initially estimated or if the volume of currency in the hedged

item was below expectations leading to over-hedging.

24 April 2022 25 April 202%

(Em) (Em})

Change in discounted spot value of cutstanding hedging instruments since inception of the hedge (775} {14.5)
Change in value of hedged item used to determine hedge ineffectiveness {104.5) 281
24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{E'm) {E'm)

Chonge in the Change in the Change in the Change in the

fair value of the fair value of the fair value of the fair value of the

currency forward hedged item  cumency forward hedged tem

US Doflars purchases - GBP 305 30.5 (4.8) (4.6
US Doliars purchases - EUR 97 97 21 21
Eure soles ne n9 31 31

At 24 April 2022 £574.5m of forward sales contracts (FY21: £242.4m) and £419.0m of purchase contracts (FY21: £607.0m)
qudlified for hedge accounting and the gain on fair valuation of these contracts of £52.1m (FY21: £0.4m) has therefore

been recognised in other comprehensive income.

At 24 April 2022, £38 6rm hedged purchase contracts had a maturity of greater than 12 months (FY21: £210.5m of purchase
contracts) and £332.1m of hedged sales had a maturity of greater than 12 months (FY21: £242.4m of sales contracts).




E

The movements through the Hedging reserve are:
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Total Total
USD/GBP EUR/GBP USD/EUR  hedge movement Deferred tax hedging reserve
(Em} {£m) (Em} {Em) {Em) {Em)
As at 26 April 2020 - 16.6 17.2 338 {5.8) 28.0
Recognised {49} 32 21 C4 - c4
Reclassified in sales - {2.8) - (28) - (28}
Reclassified in i 1t
cost of sales inventory / - - (171 (174) - {17.)
Deferred Tax - - - - 30 3.0
S
As at 25 April 2021 {4.9) 17.0 22 14.3 {2.8) 1.5
L - - -~ - ]
Recognised 305 ne 97 521 - 52.1
Reclassified in inventory /
cost of sales 74 - 01 75 - 15
Deferred Tax - - - (15.8) {15.8)

As ot 24 April 2022 33.0 289

(c){ii) Unhedged

120 139 (18.6) 55.3

The sterling principal amounts of unhedged forward contracts and written currency option contracts and contracted

rates were as follows:

24 Aprit 2022 25 April 2021

(£m) (Em)

US Dollar purchases 786 403
Contracted rates USD / EUR 126131 1.3
- Euro sales (7159 (383.8)
Contracted rates EUR / GBP 0.99-1.08 099

Included within finance costs, classified within fair value adjustment to derivatives, is a loss on fair value of unhedged
forward contracts, written currency option contracts and swaps of £28.9m (FY21: loss of £4.6m).

At 24 April 2022, £78.6m of unhedged purchase
contracts had a maturity at inception of greater than 12
months {FY21: £nil purchase contracts) and £715.9m of
unhedged sales had a maturity at inception of greater
than 12 months (FY21: £335.4m of sales contracts),

These contracts form part of the Treasury management
activities, which incorporates the risk management
strategy for areas that are not reliable enough in timing
and amount to qualify for hedge accounting. This
includes acquisitions, disposals of overseas subsidiaries,
related working capital requirements, dividends and loan
repayments from overseas subsidiaries and purchase
and sale of overseas property. Written options carry
additional risk as the exercise of the option lies with the
purchaser. The options involve the Group receiving a
premium on inception in exchange for accepting that
risk and the cutcome is that the bank may require the
Group to sell Eurcs. However, the Group is satisfied that
the use of options as a Treasury management tool

is appropriate.

FY22 value excludes short term swaps of USD/GBP of
USD 40.0m and EUR/USD of EUR 40.0m which were

required for cash management purposes onty. In FY21
there are nil short term swaps at period end.

D. Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements on its bank
borrowings. The Group has two contracts in place that
fix interest payments on variable rate debt. The first
contract covers a notional amount of £250.0m and fixes
the interest rate at 0.985% per annum until 29 May
2026. The second contract covers a notional amount of
£100.0m and fixes the interest rate at 0.45% per annum
until 2 September 2024, The fair value of these interest
rate swaps is an asset of £16.6m (2021: liability of £7.4m).
The fair value gain has been recognised in finance
income classified as fair value adjustment to derivatives.
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E. Sensitivity Analysis

The Group's principal foreign currency exposures are to US Dollars and Euros. The table below illustrates the
hypothetical sensitivity of the Group's reported profit and equity to a 10% increase and decrease in the US Dollar /
Sterling and Euro / Sterling exchange rates at the year-end date, assuming all other variables remain unchanged. The
figures have been calculated by comparing the fair values of outstanding foreign currency contracts at the current
exchange rate to those if exchange rates moved as illustrated. The income statement figures include the profit effect
of any relevant derivatives which are not in a designated cash flow hedge. The impact on US Dollar and Euro related
hedging instrumenits is included in equity.

Positive figures represent an increase in profit or equity:

Income statement Equity
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 24 April 2022 25 Aprii 2021

{E'm} (E'm) (E'm) (E'm)
Sterling strengthens by 10%
US Dollar 29) 81 (22.6} (17.4)
Euro (39.4) 234 10.0 109
Sterling weakens by 10%
Us Dollar 35 (9.9) 276 213
Euro 481 {30.8) (12.3) (13.4)

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's reperted profit and equity to a 0.5% increase or decrease in
interest rates, assurning all other variables were unchanged.

The analysis has been prepared using the following assumptions:

. For floating rate assets and liabilities, the amount of asset or liability outstanding at the balance sheet date is
ossumed to have been outstanding for the whole year.

. Fixed rate financial instruments that are carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate risk for the
purpose of this analysis.

Positive figures represent an increase in profit or equity:

Incoma stotement Equity
24 April 2022 26 April 2021 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm)
Interest rate increase of 0.5% (2.6) {30} (26) (3.0)
Interest rate decrease of 0.5% 26 30 26 30

Long term Investments Sensitivity Analysis
The following table iliustrates the sensitivity of price risk in relation to long term investments held by the Group:

24 April 2022

Equity

{E'm)

Share price increase of 10% 202
Share price decrease of 10% {20.2)
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F. Liquidity Risk

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows of the Group's non
derivative liabilities and foreign currency derivative financial instruments:

Lessthaniysar 1to2years 2to5years OverSysars Total
{E'm} (£'m} {£'m} {E'm} {E£'m}
2022
Non derivative financial liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafts - - B279 - 82719
Bank loans and overdrafts interest 26.5 273 28.2 - 82.0
Trade and other payables 7 - - - 7
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities 131.5 93.6 182.4 4264 833.9
Derivative financial instruments:
Cash inflows (1,008.7) {38.5) {71.5) - {1,758.7)
Cash outflows 10797 45.1 7024 - 1827.2
950.7 121.5 10294 4264 2,534.0
201
Non derivative financial liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafts - 705.9 - - 705.9
Bank loans and overdrafts interest - 9.9 - - 9.9
Trade and cther payables 620, - - - 6201
{FRS 16 Lease liabilities 196.6 112.7 196.8 6709 1177.0
Derivative financial instruments: __
Cash inflows {396.5) (766.9) (80.6) - {1.244.0)
Cash outfiows 389.1 7985 81.5 - 1,269.5
809.3 8605 977 6709 25384
Capital Management The ratio for net debt to Reported EBITDA (pre IFRS 16) is
0.6 (FY21: 0.5). The objective is to keep this figure below
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity 3.0 (FY21: 3.0).

attributuble to the equity holders of the parent
company, comprising issued share capital {less
treasury shares), share premium, retained earnings
and cash and borrowings.

Based on this analysis, the Board determines the
appropriate return to equity holders whilst ensuring
sufficient capital is retained within the Group to meet
its strategic objectives, including but not limited to,

It is the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital acquisition opportunities.

base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain the development of

the business.

These capital management policies have remained
unchanged from the prior period.

In